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Report of the Executive Board 
 
 
 
General 
 
Aegon Nederland N.V., incorporated and domiciled in the Netherlands, is a public limited liability 
company organized under Dutch law. Aegon Nederland N.V. (‘Aegon Nederland’) is a wholly-
owned subsidiary of Aegon N.V., The Hague. Aegon Nederland and its subsidiaries offer life 
insurance, pensions, savings and investment products, mortgages, accident and health 
insurance, non-life insurance, banking, asset management, pension administration and 
intermediary activities. 
 
Vision, strategy, objectives 
 
In recent years and again in 2014, Aegon Nederland has summarized its objective and policy in a 
vision: “We believe we have a responsibility for people’s financial awareness and development. 
We offer understandable solutions in honest dialogue so that customers can make conscious 
decisions on their financial future”. 
 
The strategy rests on four pillars: profitable growth, loyal customers, proud employees and an 
effective business. Aegon Nederland wants to grow by reinforcing its distribution strengths, 
innovation and optimum use of capital. Aegon Nederland wants to create loyal customers by 
exceeding their expectations, working on retaining customers and restoring trust. Having proud 
employees is a significant objective for Aegon Nederland. Developing employees and people-
focused leadership will contribute to achieving this objective. By structuring the organization in a 
customer-focused way and aiming for better service at lower cost, Aegon Nederland creates an 
environment that helps employees and suppliers to provide good service to customers. 
 
Recalibrating the strategy  
In 2008, Aegon Nederland introduced the Aegon Fan Strategy, which places customers at the 
heart of its strategy. A key goal of this strategy was to remodel the organization in line with 
customer processes. In the first quarter of 2012, Aegon Nederland implemented an 
organizational transformation which included a substantial restructuring. Key goals of this 
transformation were to reduce costs and, even more important, to create an organization which 
is able to fully (and more quickly) adopt the Aegon Fan Strategy. The remainder of 2012 and 
early 2013 were used to rethink the core elements of Aegon’s business model. As a result, 
management established that Aegon’s strategy should be recalibrated, based on the most recent 
(external) developments and (internal) insights. This recalibration process was executed during 
the second and third quarter of 2013. In 2014 key elements of that strategy were implemented. 
 
The vision of Aegon still has customers at its heart: “We exist to help people take responsibility 
for their financial future”. 
 
By providing clear information and understandable products and services, Aegon Nederland 
empowers people to make better financial decisions. Aegon Nederland has shown that it can 
adapt to a new environment by transforming our risk profile, maintaining our strong capital base 
and reducing costs. Aegon Nederland is well prepared to meet the rapidly changing demands of 
aging populations and an increasingly affluent developing world. 
 
To fulfill this mission, the focus is on the domains that matter most for the financial future of  
customers: Income (Inkomen) and Housing (Wonen). Within these domains, Aegon aims to offer 
comprehensive value propositions that fulfill our customers’ needs at every stage of their life. 
These value propositions will combine products and services across different business lines. Data 
and digital technology will play a fundamental role to ensure customer needs are translated in 
the right products and services at the right time. 
 
Course of events during the financial year 
 
Changes in the legal structure 
 
On February 6, 2014 Nedasco B.V. (a direct subsidiary of Aegon Nederland N.V.) incorporated a 
new subsidiary: Be Suitable B.V. Nedasco B.V. holds 100% of the shares. 
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On May 7, 2014 HerstelVerzekerd B.V., (a 20% subsidiary of Aegon Schadeverzekering N.V.), 
dissolved and ceased to exist.  
 
On June 30, 2014, Aegon Innovation Investments B.V. (a direct subsidiary of Aegon Nederland 
N.V.) acquired the remaining 50% of the shares in the capital of NewDutch B.V. from a third 
party and now holds 100% of the shares in New Dutch B.V.   
 
On July 22, 2014, Aegon Nederland N.V. sold 100% of the shares in Aegon Custody B.V. to 
Aegon Asset Management Holding B.V.  
 
On September 23, 2014, Aegon Innovation Investments B.V. sold all the shares in Figlo Holding 
B.V. to a third party buyer.  
 
On October 1, 2014, Nederlandse Investeringsinstelling N.V. was incorporated. Aegon 
Levensverzekering N.V. holds 10% of the shares.  
  
On December 20, 2014, Aegon Schade Beleggingen B.V. and  Heideland Beheer B.V, ceased to 
exist as a consequence of a merger with holding company Aegon Schadeverzekering N.V.  
 
Implementation of recalibrated strategy 
 
Focus for Aegon Nederland is on value propositions around ‘Income’ (Inkomen) and ‘Housing’ 
(Wonen) , enabling clear choices and better response to customers’ needs across their different 
stages in life. This means building our brand, developing and packaging products and services 
cross- product lines and cross- channel.  
 
Reorganization of marketing, product management, strategy, online into one department 
In order to ensure more customer centricity across product lines and channels, marketing and 
product management teams were centralized into one commercial department that works across 
business lines. Within this department, the strategy and ‘online’ now play a pivotal role to ensure 
cross-channel/ cross-product thinking. Also the customer intelligence team has been upgraded 
with more analysis capacity to ensure the right data is utilized better. A separate department of 
‘Customer Focus’ ensures Aegon translates customer needs in everything it does, as an 
independent challenge institution. 
 
Key principles for brand positioning and distribution across channels identified 
Brand positioning: As interaction with consumers (including pension participants) becomes more 
important, Aegon Nederland is building a recognizable and differentiating Aegon brand across all 
touch points. As such we have defined a clearer brand promise with a clear link to our purpose, 
which will be the foundation of all customer interactions going forward. For instance, Aegon.nl 
has been upgraded with this new brand position and customer needs as basis. 
Simultaneously, the distribution is cross-channel. Customers choose the channel through which 
they want to do business with Aegon. Hence, any channel conflict should be diminished so that 
our channels reinforce one another to increase value for customers. In order to ensure this, a set 
of common distribution principles has been established. 
 
Maximize simplification through product and portfolio rationalization  
Maximizing simplification is crucial to be able to serve customers in an efficient and transparent 
way. Rationalizing our product portfolios, administrative processes, service delivery and 
communication is essential for ultimately improving our performance. As such, a fundamental 
rationalization is key to being able to offer customers the value and quality they demand. In 
2014 we have continued to rationalize our product portfolio. 
 
Listening to customers 
Aegon Nederland as a customer driven company is a learning organization. Aegon Nederland 
aims to improve its services every day based on input from employees and customers. For both 
programs are managed to collect input for structural improvement. Aegon Nederland also asks 
customers to give feedback and a ‘net promoter score’ based on the experience of their last 
contact with Aegon Nederland.  
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Innovation and new initiatives 
 
Aegon Nederland continues to invest in innovations in customer interaction and distribution. We 
want to get to know our customers better by using new technology, through which contacts are 
generated more often, earlier and at appropriate times. We also want to become a genuinely 
customer-oriented company with the associated conduct, communications and propositions which 
will allow Aegon Nederland to differentiate itself from its competitors. 
 
CRM system implementation (Salesforce) 
Aegon Nederland wants to get to know existing and potential customers better and assist them 
as one Aegon with the sometimes complicated choices and changes they face during their lives. 
These changes are artificially reconstructed through the eyes of the imaginary ‘Douma family’.  
 
All relevant information about individual customers is available in the CRM system ‘Salesforce’. 
Services are developed on events and changes that affect our customers, such as moving house, 
death or an insurance claim, with the purpose to help them out in a single smooth process. To a 
large extent, rollout is based on services. This means providing a better and more proactive 
service based on a 24-hour target. In 2014 Salesforce has become available to all customer-
facing employees. 
 
Kroodle 
The Kroodle website and its Facebook page went live in 2013. Kroodle is an initiative of Aegon 
Nederland and Unirobe Meeùs Group and is designed towards a specific target group through fast 
and simple insurance using Facebook. This way we are continuously learning about customer 
interaction online and via social media, and the role that (big) data plays. 
 
Alliance with eyeOpen and Onna Onna 
eyeOpen is one of the first online mortgage advisers and has been an autonomous subsidiary of 
Aegon Nederland since the second quarter of 2013. eyeOpen helps consumers to make financial 
choices and offers online mortgage advice. This independent advice can save consumers a lot of 
time and money. 
Onna Onna is an online insurer that targets women in its marketing. Onna Onna provides Aegon 
Nederland with knowledge on digital interaction, process efficiency and targeted marketing. 
 
Knab 
Knab (Bank written backwards with the K of Klant - customer - first) was launched mid 2012 as 
an online bank that puts customers first in everything it does. From Knab, Aegon Nederland 
learns much about financial tooling for insight and oversight, segmented marketing and retail. 
Knab has been growing at a fast pace during 2014.  
 
Regulation on the financial sector oath or promise 
 
Since January 1, 2013 executives in the Dutch financial industry are obliged to take an oath. This 
obligation was introduced by the Regulation on the financial sector oath or promise (Regeling eed 
of belofte financiële sector) which applies inter alia to banks, insurers and financial service 
providers, therefore including Aegon Nederland and a number of its subsidiaries. 
 
The regulation stipulates that the oath or promise is taken by policymakers and members of 
supervisory bodies of the entities to which it applies. All members of the executive and 
supervisory boards of the Aegon Nederland entities to which the regulation applies took the oath 
or promise. 
 
Gender diversity (article 2:166 Dutch Civil Code) 
 
The Executive Board of Aegon Nederland consists of a limited number of members. As a result, 
the balanced gender diversity is not easy to achieve and has not been achieved in 2014. 
Moreover, selection and appointment of members of the Executive Board is based on expertise, 
skills and relevant experience. The Executive Board does consider gender diversity in view of the 
aim of balanced Executive Board composition. 
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Aegon Levensverzekering N.V. 
 
Pensions 
Aegon is well positioned to capture the opportunities in the pension market because of scale and 
a good track record in asset management. Pension business had record premium income and 
value creation despite the challenging economic background. The low interest rates and less tax 
deductibility of pensions affect the market. The second set of adjustments that had to be made to 
the portfolio because of the effects of the political agreement on the pension system was carried 
out successfully. The coverage ratio problems in the market meant that there were limited 
opportunities for value transfers of pension rights. Successes were achieved in the fourth quarter 
as a result of contract renewals by existing customers and contracts entered into with several 
large and attractive new customers. Progress was also made in the SME market. As we 
differentiate between products and the related services, our customers choose and only pay for 
what they actually take. Important steps were taken on service levels to customers by 
eliminating various backlogs and rationalizing products and portfolios. Finally, the changing trend 
from a market dominated by defined-benefit products to a market dominated by defined-
contribution products continued.  
 
The boards of the Mijnfondsen AMF and BFM (Pension Funds for former mine workers) decided 
after careful negotiations to transfer the pensions of their participants to Aegon 
Levensverzekering. Participants were provided more certainty about the level of their pensions 
and an increase of the indexation level in January 2015 with more than eight respectively ten 
percent. With this step, the pensions of nearly 29,000 people are now and in the future 
guaranteed. This transaction has been the largest known buy-out by an insurer in Dutch history. 
 
Life 
2014 was marked by a further decline in the market for endowment products and a shrinking 
portfolio. There is almost no new business in this market. The trend towards bank-savings 
products is continuing unabated. Working closely with Aegon Nederland’s banking business, 
Aegon Levensverzekering N.V. offers customers integrated solutions whenever possible. There 
are still active markets for more traditional products, such as term and whole life insurance, but 
these are also considerably smaller markets. On the other hand, Aegon  continues to see new 
opportunities for adjustment of more traditional life insurance business in future given the 
expected long-term developments in society, legislation and longevity. Aegonmanages the 
existing life portfolio as proactively as possible and optimize it from customers’ and Aegon’s 
perspectives. A major step in this respect is the MijnAegon online portal which gives customers a 
complete overview and insight into their Aegon products. Aegon actively tries to mobilise 
individual concerned customers to encourage them to assess the performance of their product in 
relation to their objectives. Goal is to solicit an informed decision by these customers whether to 
continue the product, make changes to the product or terminate the product (this process is 
called ‘activating customers’). Finally, with the introduction of the online financial check Aegon is 
also helping customers to test whether their Aegon products still meet their needs and personal 
situation. 
 
Aegon Spaarkas N.V. 
 
This portfolio has been closed for some time. No new savings and/or active products are being 
introduced by Aegon Spaarkas N.V. (‘Aegon Spaarkas’) and the portfolio is steadily decreasing in 
size.  Aegonmanages these large portfolios as proactively as possible and optimize them from the 
customers’ and Aegon’s perspectives. Important for this objective is the online financial check 
which helps customers understand their financial health and also provides proof of our vision. See 
also the Koersplan and unit-linked products sections. 
 
Aegon Schadeverzekering N.V. 
 
In 2014 the main objective was again to improve the profitability of the Object, Income and 
Proxy portfolios. In the Proxy portfolio Aegon executed several improvement plans and 
terminated some long running relationships. The overall adverse trend in claim ratio's in the non-
life market, largely due to the economic situation, continued in 2014. There was continued focus 
on claims management, fraud and prevention. Non-life markets have been saturated for some 
time with still too many suppliers on the object side which leads to price and margin pressure on 
'simple' products like car and household insurance. The online channel for consumer object 
insurance is still increasing. At the same time we noticed market wide a remarkable movement 
from regular underwriting to proxy providers. Aegon introduced a new model for the Income 
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market called 'de Gezonde Aanpak’ ( ‘the healthy approach'). This means an integrated vision 
and approach towards more claims prevention and better claims management. Major products 
were also redesigned to better meet the customer demands on the one hand and profitability on 
the other. In the consumer and Income market Aegon invested in improving the digital process 
and straight through processing. In the Proxy market, the results of the profitability measures 
are taking some time to materialize. In the Income market Aegon introduced this new model on 
the individual AOV portfolio with a positive result. Aegon increased prices in the income market 
which resulted in a higher number of cancelled contracts but the total portfolio only slightly 
decreased. Especially in the WGA/ERD market most corporate companies went to the UWV due to 
extreme lower premium levels. Finally, cost efficiency and the optimization of the chain from 
customer to provider are important in the non-life market and will become more important in the 
coming years. 
 
Aegon Hypotheken B.V. 
 
The year 2014 showed a very positive picture of new, profitable business for Aegon in the 
mortgage loan market, created by focusing on segments where Aegon can add value as an 
insurer (including long-term fixed-interest periods). Defaults were limited despite trends in the 
market and in the economy in general. The new Mortgage Fund, specially designed to provide 
third-party funded mortgages in cooperation with Aegon Asset Management was very successful.  
 
Aegon Bank N.V. 
 
The year 2014 is clearly a tipping point for Aegon Bank N.V. (‘Aegon Bank’). The strategy for 
2011-2015, which focuses on continuing to serve our customers optimally and making Aegon 
Bank more operationally and financially robust, pays off. Aegon Bank achieved promising 
commercial and financial results. The new asset class, the portfolio of consumer loans, added to 
the balance sheet in 2013, made a significant contribution to the financial results. Aegon Bank is 
a solid bank, amply meeting solvency and liquidity standards. The focus in 2014 was on loyal 
customers and innovation in online services. Aegon Bank serves its customers through two 
business units: Aegon Bank and Knab. 
 
Aegon Bank 
Aegon Bank continued with further improvements to our service to customers. The market for 
accumulation and at retirement bank-savings products continued to be competitive. Aegon Bank 
decided not to follow competition in the pricing. As a result, the net inflow to our bank-savings 
products decreased. The intermediary channel and direct sales to Aegon Bank customers with 
expiring capital made a significant contribution to the inflow. 
 
Knab 
Knab was introduced in 2012. Knab wants to be the most customer-oriented bank helping 
entrepreneurial people to better understand their finances. We want to enable our customers to 
make their own choices on their personal financial situation and to achieve their financial goals. 
Knab reflects the core of the Aegon’s vision. Knab offers its customers insight and overview of 
their finances through its financial planning tools and alerts. Furthermore, Knab offers a wide 
range of banking products with a focus on wealth accumulation and payment services. In 2014 
Knab successfully focused on its commercial expansion.  
Aegon ispleased that so many customers decided to join Knab in 201. The introduction of the 
banking account for small businesses and the introduction of Knab social (transfer money using 
Facebook or sms) also contributed to this success. Aegon was able to continue to deliver good 
quality: the banking services operated well and customer satisfaction remained high. The net 
promoter score was also substantial higher than before. Knab received several awards among 
others the ‘Gouden Stier’ for an investment product and the ‘Gouden Spaarrente’ for the Knab 
savings account.  
 
Aegon PPI B.V. 
 
Aegon PPI B.V. (a Premium Pension Institution) was very successful in 2014. Its 
‘Pensioenabonnement’ product responds to employers’ needs on responsibility towards their 
employees with a transparent and accessible defined-contribution scheme. Many new customers, 
large  and small, and intermediaries have discovered this modern pension proposition. The Aegon 
Pensioenabonnement offers simplicity and cost effectiveness. Aegon PPI B.V. (‘Aegon PPI’) also 
stands out with its rapid response times and attention for the members. The product is designed 
to implement major legislative changes, such as raising the retirement age to 67, effectively and 
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quickly for our customers. Consequently, Aegon PPI expects further growth of this popular type 
of pension in 2015. With Aegon PPI in its ranks, Aegon is again underlining strong affinity and 
high level of knowledge with respect to pensions. 
 
Optas Pensioenen N.V.  
 
The Dutch court has approved a request filed jointly by Aegon and BPVH – a foundation 
representing Dutch harbor workers and employers – to remove restrictions on the capital of the 
harbor workers’ former pension fund Optas. The restrictions may be removed. This successfully 
resolves a dispute that began when the Optas pension fund was transformed into an insurance 
company, which was subsequently acquired by Aegon in 2007. As per the agreement announced 
on April 14 2014, Aegon made a payment of € 80 million to BPVH, as well as offering harbor 
workers more favorable pension conditions. 
 
TKP 
 
TKP is a professional pension-administration organisation with more than 25 years of experience 
in high-quality services in the area of pension administration and consultancy. A strong focus on 
operational excellence is combined with economies of scale and an exclusive relationship with its 
clients. TKP's core activities are carrying out the complete administration of pension funds and 
supporting and advising Boards of Trustees of pension funds. This applies to company pension 
funds (OPF) and to industry-wide pension funds (BPF). TKP undertakes the insurance and early-
retirement administration for around 1,700,000 (former) members, makes pension payments, 
imposes the premium and supports pension fund governance in the widest sense of the word.  
As of 2015 TKP will deliver her services to two new clients, ‘Stichting Bedrijfstakpensioenfonds 
voor de Detailhandel’ and ‘Stichting pensioenfonds Recreatie’, which results in a growth to 
approximately 2,700,000 members under administration. Pension funds are able to realize 
benefits as to governance and expenses by cooperation or mergers. Within the TKP portfolio 
large pension funds have shown interest in other funds. We support these pension funds actively 
in their consolidation strategy. We provide them with information and knowledge on processes 
and the implementation of arrangements in the existing pension fund administration. As to 
technology TKP makes use of the ICT system PPS (Pensioen Producten Systeem). This system is 
characterized by flexibility as to pension processes. We will continuously try to enhance efficiency 
en ensure PPS is future proof. In 2014 several initiatives with regard to information security and 
performance were executed. Furthermore, the processing of employers data was accelerated. In 
2015 digital services will be further expanded for participants as well as employers. More pension 
funds will make use of the digital possibilities we are able to offer. We will continue to innovate 
and digitalize our processes. The trend is crystal clear: our future will be mainly digital. 
 
UMG 
 
Unirobe Meeùs Groep (UMG) is one of the largest independent financial intermediaries in the 
Netherlands in the field of insurance, pensions and mortgages. UMG works for companies, (semi) 
government bodies, retail clients and private persons. Due to a focus on efficient processes and 
cost savings the results in 2014 are slightly better than in 2013. Even though we operate in a 
difficult economic climate and a stabilizing but fragile market, UMG has been able to service their 
clients better. By focusing on intensive cooperation throughout our labels we can offer our clients 
better propositions and services.  
A close cooperation between IAK, Kröller and Meeùs resulted in UMG Assuradeuren. As an 
authorized agent UMG Assuradeuren supports the UMG labels in providing suitable solutions for 
its clients. Rules and regulations, the Product Approval and Review Process and profit and 
solvency requirements will cause a change for the intermediary domain. Through several 
initiatives UMG will anticipate on these changes. For the commercial line UMG will transform to a 
sector orientated organization and market approach. Through close connection with its clients 
UMG helps them reach their ambitions. 
 
  

http://www.aegon.com/en/Home/Investors/News-presentations/Press-Releases/2007/Aegon-completes-acquisition-of-OPTAS-NV-in-The-Netherlands-/
http://www.aegon.com/en/Home/Investors/News-presentations/Press-Releases/2014/harbor-workers-pension-capital/
http://www.aegon.com/en/Home/Investors/News-presentations/Press-Releases/2014/harbor-workers-pension-capital/
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Pending litigation portfolio and product issues 
 
KoersPlan 
In June, 2013, the Dutch Supreme Court denied Aegon Spaarkas’s appeal from a ruling of the 
Court of Appeal with respect to a specific unit-linked product, the “KoersPlan”-product. As a 
result Spaarkas will compensate the approximately 35,000 holders of KoersPlan-products who 
were plaintiffs in the litigation and took a charge of EUR 25 million in the second quarter of 2013.  
 
In June 2014, Aegon announced compensation to holders of KoersPlan products who were not 
plaintiffs in the litigation. The compensation amounts to the difference, if any, between the actual 
premium charged by Aegon and the premium that would be charged by Aegon for comparable 
stand-alone death benefit coverage over the same period. This product improvement is explicitly 
supported by the consumer interest group that initiated the court action over the KoersPlan 
product, Stichting Koersplandewegkwijt. However, another interest group, Stichting 
Woekerpolisproces, already indicated  that it will challenge the scope and magnitude of the 
announced compensation measurement. 
 
Unit-linked products 
Generally speaking media, political and regulatory attention regarding unit linked policies 
(beleggingsverzekeringen) stays. Individual customers as well as policyholder advocate groups 
and their representatives, continue to focus on the fees and charges included in products, as well 
as transparency aspects. Aegon expects this to remain an industry issue for the foreseeable 
future. Exposure and attention will be stimulated by court cases on Dutch and European level. 
The Court of justice of the European Union is expected to render a decision on a unit linked 
related individual case (non Aegon case) during the first half of 2015. In March 2014, consumer 
interest group Vereniging Woekerpolis.nl filed a new claim against Aegon in court. The claim 
relates to a range of unit-linked products that Aegon sold, including products which already have 
been subject of litigation like KoersPlan. There are claims pending with the Klachteninstituut 
Financiële Dienstverelening (KiFiD) filed by individual customers regarding Aegon products which 
arguably include similar allegations. 
 
Securities leasing products (“aandelenlease”) 
The Amsterdam court of Appeal is expected to rule on the 28th of April in the matter brought up 
the Stichting Gesp (a consumer interest group for customers with a Sprintplan). The Dutch 
Supreme Court by ruling of june 2009 already dismissed the claim of  the Stichting Gesp. Gesp 
seeks revision of this earlier decision of the Dutch Supreme court.  
 
Collective Labor Agreement 
 
The process for drawing up a new collective labor agreement, involving the works council and 
trade unions, took place in 2013 and was completed in January 2014. This agreement runs from 
January 1, 2014 to July 1, 2015. There were no other new developments since. 
 
New Pension scheme for (former) employees 
 
In 2014 the new Pension scheme was determined: due to changes in legislation the pension 
accrual changed and a cap of € 100.000 was introduced. Also the indexation policy changed from 
an unconditional, wage-based indexation to a conditional indexation based on the price index.  
 
New independent auditor 
 
Aegon Nederland has changed its independent auditor in 2014. Following a competitive tendering 
process that Aegon conducted in accordance with its corporate governance principles, the 
General Meeting of Shareholders appointed PricewaterhouseCoopers Accountants N.V. as the 
company's independent auditor for the financial statements for 2014 to 2016.  
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Corporate Governance – the Insurers’ Code 
 
Application of the Governance Principles 
 
Aegon subscribes to the importance of the Governance Principles and applies it to its activities. 
Any departures by Aegon from the Principles are explained below (principle 1.1). The Governance 
Principles are available on the website of the Dutch Association of Insurers through the following 
link: 
https://www.verzekeraars.nl/overhetverbond/zelfregulering/Paginas/Gedragscodes/Governance-
Principes.aspx 
 
Accountability 
 
Aegon Nederland presents an account of the application of the Principles in its annual report and 
on its website. This is on behalf of the insurance companies: Aegon Levensverzekering N.V., 
Aegon Schadeverzekering N.V., Aegon Spaarkas and Optas Pensioenen N.V. The accountability 
report also forms part of the insurance companies’ annual reports. References below to ‘Aegon’ 
are to Aegon Nederland and the insurance companies listed above (principle 1.2). 
 
Supervisory Board 
 
Membership and expertise 
The majority of the members of Aegon’s Supervisory Board is formally independent and operates 
independently in accordance with the Principles and the requirements of DNB’s Suitability Policy 
Rule 2012 (Beleidsregel geschiktheid 2012). Given the members’ different professional and 
educational backgrounds, ages and range of knowledge and experience, the Supervisory Board 
has a broadly-based membership. In Aegon’s view, the knowledge and experience also 
complement each other. Aegon has set out the Supervisory Board’s duties in detail in the 
Supervisory Board Charter. Aegon has an up-to-date profile of the Supervisory Board, further 
specifying and recording its vision on the membership. The profile is tailored to Aegon’s nature, 
size and complexity and also incorporates the competences in DNB’s Suitability Matrix for 
Supervisory Boards (principle 2.1.1). 
 
The Supervisory Board has five members. Aegon and the Supervisory Board believe this number 
is appropriate to the nature, size and complexity of Aegon and the insurers in the group. Aegon 
and the Supervisory Board also believe that the size and membership of the committees, such as 
the Risk & Audit Committee, is appropriate (principle 2.1.2). 
 
The members have broadly-based social and commercial backgrounds and experience. As a 
member of Aegon’s Supervisory Board and through other supervisory directorships, they have 
thorough knowledge of the societal role and function of insurance companies and their 
stakeholders. In decision-making and supervision, the Supervisory Board balances the interests 
of all stakeholders affected (including those of customers, distribution partners and employees) 
and where relevant this is recorded in the minutes and this element is part of the self-evaluation 
by the Supervisory Board (principle 2.1.3). 
 
Aegon complies with principles 2.1.4 and 2.1.5. Compliance with principle 2.1.4 is ensured in part 
by the use of the Supervisory Board profile and if a vacancy arises by drawing up an individual 
profile. In addition, Aegon performs an annual check of individual critical abilities against the 
DNB’s Suitability Matrix for Supervisory Boards, regular self-evaluations and a permanent 
education program. If a vacancy arises for the position of chairman, an individual profile is drawn 
up which focuses on the Supervisory Board’s and Aegon’s requirements on expertise and 
experience in relation to the financial sector, familiarity with socio-economic and political culture 
and the social environments of Aegon’s main markets (principles 2.1.4 and 2.1.5). 
 
Experience shows that all members of the Supervisory Board are sufficiently available and 
contactable to perform their duties properly. The importance of this principle is underlined in the 
profile, the Rules of the Supervisory Board and the Aegon Nederland Governance Guide. 
Compliance with it is also checked in the regular self-evaluations (principles 2.1.6). 
 
  

https://www.verzekeraars.nl/overhetverbond/zelfregulering/Paginas/Gedragscodes/Governance-Principes.aspx
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The members of the Supervisory Board receive suitable compensation that is not dependent on 
Aegon’s results. The compensation is set by the general meeting (principle 2.1.7). 
 
Aegon has a permanent education program for members of the Supervisory Board and the 
Executive Board (see below). This program covers national and international developments in the 
financial sector and corporate governance in general and in the financial sector in particular, the 
duty of care towards customers and putting customers’ interests first, integrity, risk 
management, financial reporting and audit. 
 
In 2013, 2014 and 2015 the permanent education program focused and will focus amongst 
others on the following subjects: (i) ethics, ‘moresprudentie’ (combination of moral standards 
and prudency), moral courage and customer interest; (ii) cybersecurity; (iii) managing values, 
behavior and culture in the insurance sector (iv) integrated risk management in the insurance 
industry, including simulation (v) scenario analysis workshop insurance (vi) workshop 
governance, managerial dilemmas and boardroom dynamics; (vii) deepening financial 
frameworks and trends in supervision (viii) deepening financial reporting insurance. In 2014 and 
2015 there was and will be special attention for Solvency II through several e-learning modules 
and insurance products and the processing in IFRS and Solvency terms. Members of the 
Supervisory Board participated and will participate in the whole program or the parts relevant to 
them (principle 2.1.8). 
 
The Supervisory Board assesses the effectiveness of the permanent education program each 
year. In 2014, the Supervisory Board evaluated its own functioning under independent 
supervision. The results were satisfactory and discussed by the Supervisory Board and with the 
Executive Board and actions were taken where necessary (principles 2.1.9 and 2.1.10). 
 
Duties and working methods 
The Supervisory Board’s discussions of risk management decisions are prepared by the Risk & 
Audit Committee. The Risk & Audit Committee Charter has been updated in 2014, paying 
extensive attention to its risk management duties and responsibilities (principle 2.1.2). 
 
The members of the Aegon Risk & Audit Committee have adequate knowledge, experience and/or 
competences to allow sound supervision of financial aspects of risk management, financial 
reporting, internal control and audit (principle 2.2.2). 
 
Executive Board 
 
Membership 
At Aegon, complementarity and diversity within the Executive Board is ensured by the members’ 
different backgrounds, personalities and range of knowledge and experience. The members of the 
Executive Board have equal decision-making authority while the Executive Board aims as far as 
possible to take decisions by consensus. An updated profile for the Executive Board has been 
drawn up in 2014 to underline the importance that Aegon attaches to a proper composition of the 
Executive Board (principle 3.1.1). 
 
The members of the Executive Board have a broadly-based commercial background and 
experience of the financial sector and insurance in particular. With this wide experience they have 
sufficient knowledge of the function of insurance companies and know the interests of 
stakeholders. Each member of the Executive Board also has the thorough knowledge necessary 
to be able to assess and determine the main points of Aegon’s overall policy and to form a 
balanced and independent opinion on the risks that Aegon runs (principle 3.1.2). 
 
The knowledge of the members of the Executive Board is kept up to standard and improved by 
Aegon’s permanent education program managed by the Secretary working with the HR Learning 
& Development department, which also records participation. The program covers the subjects 
listed in the Principles and focused in 2014 and will focus in 2015 on global leadership, business 
model meetings, strategy development sessions and culture change/competence development. In 
2014 and 2015 there was and will be special attention for Solvency II through several e-learning 
modules and insurance products and the processing in IFRS and Solvency terms. Aegon 
Nederland also encourages other employees to follow useful training courses (principle 3.1.3). 
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All the members of the Executive Board took part in (relevant parts of) the program referred to in 
principle 3.1.3 and they also followed relevant additional courses. In 2014, the Supervisory Board 
evaluated the Executive Board, and this included looking at expertise. The evaluation noted that 
the Executive Board was functioning well and that the members were sufficiently expert (principle 
3.1.4). 
 
All Aegon insurance companies present an account of their application of the Principles in their 
annual reports, including implementation of principles 3.1.3 and 3.1.4 as detailed above 
(principle 3.1.5). 
 
The Executive Board takes Aegon’s risk appetite into account in its decisions. The Executive 
Board considers whether the decision to be taken is or is not within the risk appetite thus 
ensuring a careful balance between its commercial objectives and interests and the risks involved 
(principle 3.1.6). 
 
The CFO prepares the discussion of risk management decisions and the Chief Risk Officer (‘CRO’) 
has a significant supportive role in this. The CRO is not a member of the Executive Board but is 
the director of the risk management function (the Risk Management & Compliance department), 
which is organized as the second line (see the Risk Management paragraph below). In this 
capacity, the CRO is closely involved in all decisions with a material impact on Aegon’s risk 
profile. The risk management function focuses on financial stability and the impact that systemic 
risks may have on Aegon’s risk profile. The CRO reports hierarchically to the CFO and also has a 
direct reporting line to the chairman of the Supervisory Board (principle 3.1.7). 
 
The CFO has no individual commercial responsibility and operates independently of other 
commercial areas (principle 3.1.8). 
 
 
Duties and working methods 
In its decision-making, Aegon’s Executive Board carefully considers the interests of all parties 
involved, taking into account its vision, strategy and applicable codes of conduct such as the 
Aegon Code of Conduct and the Insurers’ Governance Principles (principle 3.2.1). 
 
Putting customers and their interests first is at the heart of our vision, strategy and day-to-day 
activities. This is an integral part of all our thinking and operations at every level of the company. 
This means that employees with customer contacts are closely involved in this theme, there are 
training programs and it is part of the recruitment policy. 
 
In Aegon’s vision  it has a responsibility for people’s financial awareness and development. Aegon 
wants to offer easily-understood solutions in a genuine dialogue to enable customers to make 
conscious decisions on their financial future. Aegon wants to present matters as they are. 
Aegonbelieves it is their responsibility to assist customers and explain things in a simple way. 
There are detailed notes on this vision on the website (www.aegon.nl). 
 
The customer really does come first in this strategy and, to this end; the Aegon Fan Strategy was 
developed in 2008. This strategy also aims to carefully balance the interests of customers, but 
also those of all Aegon stakeholders, including the employees. Aegon believes that attention to 
the interests of all stakeholders is in the customer’s interest. 
 
In respect of customers’ interests, the strategy focuses on exceeding expectations and restoring 
trust. Last year and this year there has been and will be focus on the next areas: improvement of 
(i) written communication, (ii) knowledge of customer insights and needs by organizing more 
‘customer arenas’ and ‘customer contact surveys’ and panels (in Aegon’s own ‘customer 
experience lab’), (iii) the quality of processes by making ‘customer journey’s, (iv) the level, 
response time and quality of our complaints processes, (v) Aegon as customer orientated 
organization by learning /using from customer feedback and input from colleagues and creating a 
‘customer’ orientated culture and (vi) the quality of products/propositions by a strong Product 
Approval Process and a yearly review. 
 
The members of the Executive Board act in a careful, expert and fair manner. They keep up to 
date with developments in legislation and regulations, partly through the permanent education 
program. In 2011 the members of the Executive Board signed the ethics statement required by 
the Principles. In 2013 they took the oath or affirmation as required by the Financial Sector Oath 
or Affirmation Regulations (principle 3.2.3) 

http://www.aegon.nl/
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Integrity, care and putting customers’ interests first are guiding principles for all Aegon 
employees. The wording of the declaration referred to in principle 3.2.3 has been interpreted in 
the Aegon Code of Conduct that covers all Aegon employees. The wording of the ethical 
statement and the Aegon Code of Conduct have been placed on: 
http://www.aegon.nl/overaegon/maatschappij/gedragscode/ 
 
Since 2012, contracts of employment have included a specific reference to the Aegon Code of 
Conduct. By signing their contract of employment, employees confirm that they have read and 
accept the codes of conduct applying at Aegon and will comply with them and any future codes of 
conduct applicable at Aegon. Shortly after their appointment, all new recruits go through an e-
learning module that uses questions and answers to introduce the Aegon Code of Conduct, the 
principles in it and the spirit in which it has been drawn up. (principle 3.2.4). 
 
Risk management 
 
The CEO has primary responsibility on the Executive Board for adopting, implementing and 
monitoring the overall risk policy. Our risk policy and its management complied with the 
principles in the Governance Principles in 2013. During 2014 the overall policy on risk appetite 
and risk tolerance was confirmed by the Executive Board and approved by the Supervisory 
Board. There was one adjustment of the risk appetite during the year: the proposed change was 
discussed in the R&AC and was approved by the Supervisory Board on August 11, 2014 (principle 
4.1). 
 
The Supervisory Board supervises the risk policy adopted by Aegon’s Executive Board. The 
Supervisory Board assesses at a strategic level whether the capital allocation and liquidity 
requirement are generally in line with the risk appetite it has approved. The Supervisory Board is 
for this matter advised by the Risk & Audit Committee. The Supervisory Board’s assessment 
shows that Aegon’s commercial activities are in general appropriate in the context of the risk 
appetite it has approved (principle 4.2). 
 
Aegon uses a ‘three lines of defense’ model. The first line is basically the business, and it has 
primary responsibility for managing all risks. The risk management function (the Risk 
Management & Compliance department) is organized as the second line, operates from an 
independent position and has a monitoring role. Aegon has organized the risk management 
function of the insurance companies centrally and independently at the level of Aegon Nederland. 
There are regular consultations with the CRO to ensure that as far as possible the Executive 
Board is aware of any material risks run by the insurance companies in good time so that they 
can be managed properly. The Executive Board takes any decisions that are of material 
significance for Aegon’s risk profile, capital allocation or liquidity requirement (principle 4.3). 
 
To best safeguard customers’ interests, we do not put simply any product on the market. Every 
new and updated product undergoes the product approval process. This was set up in 2010 and 
has been in line with the Governance Principles since 2011. In this process, we carefully balance 
the risks in a product and test it against the duty of care to the customer, financial sustainability 
and suitability within Aegon’s vision, strategy and objectives. A product is not put on the market 
until the approval process has been successfully completed. As well as the product approval 
process, Aegon uses a product assessment process for existing products. Existing products, 
selected using pre-defined risk indicators, also go through this process to best safeguard 
customers’ interests. 
 
Both processes determine whether a product meets Aegon’s current standards, which incorporate 
statutory requirements, and consider whether it is cost efficient, useful, secure and 
understandable to the target group and fits Aegon’s vision, strategy, core values and 
competences. Aegon adjusts the approval process where customers’ interests or the Governance 
Principles require and this is a point of ongoing attention. At year end, Internal Audit Netherlands 
(the internal audit department) performs a risk analysis to determine whether an audit on the 
Governance Principles is required within next year’s audit plan. The risk analysis for 2014 showed 
an audit was not deemed necessary for that particular year (principle 4.5). 
 
  

http://www.aegon.nl/overaegon/maatschappij/gedragscode/
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Audit 
 
As explained above, Aegon is organized in accordance with the ‘three lines of defense’ model. 
Internal Audit Netherlands is organized as the third line and is primarily responsible for 
systematic checks on the management of risks associated with the activities of the Aegon 
insurance companies (principle 5.1). 

 
Internal Audit Netherlands is an independent central department at the level of Aegon Nederland. 
The Internal Audit Netherlands Manual and the Aegon Nederland Governance Guide help ensure 
that the internal audit function meets the Governance Principles. The Manual states that 
independent auditors may not have any operational responsibilities in the first line of defense. It 
also states that the director of Internal Audit Netherlands reports to the CEO and has a reporting 
line to the chairman of the Supervisory Board’s Risk & Audit Committee (principle 5.2). 
 
Governance Principle 5.3 describes a number of duties for the internal audit function and these 
are incorporated in the Internal Audit Netherlands Manual. Internal Audit Netherlands again 
reported its findings to the Executive Board and the Risk & Audit Committee in 2014 (principle 
5.3). 
 
Internal Audit Netherlands has regular contact and consultations with the Supervisory Board’s 
Risk & Audit Committee and the external auditor to discuss the risk analysis and its audit plan 
(principle 5.4). 
 
As part of the engagement to audit the financial statements, the external auditor reports his 
findings on the quality and effectiveness of Aegon’s system of governance, risk management and 
control procedures to the Executive Board and the Supervisory Board (principle 5.5). 
 
Internal Audit Netherlands also engages in frequent contacts with DNB to discuss risk analyses, 
findings and audit plans (principle 5.6). 
 
Remuneration policy 
 
Basis 
Aegon pursues a careful, sound and sustainable remuneraton policy. As Aegon follows the 
Regulation on Sound Remuneration Policies (Regeling beheerst beloningsbeleid), this 
remuneration policy is in line with its requirements. 
 
Aegon Nederland’s remuneration policy covers the members of the Executive Board, senior 
management and other employees and meets applicable national and international regulations 
and the Governance Principles. The policy is in accordance with the Aegon Group Global 
Remuneration Framework (AGGRF) drawn up by Aegon N.V. and has regard for developments in 
society. 
 
The remuneration policy is in line with the Aegon Fan Strategy and Aegon’s vision, core values 
and risk appetite. This means that the level of variable remuneration for employees is discussed 
by the Supervisory Board, the financial performance criteria that apply to variable remuneration 
are adjusted for the estimated risks and cost of capital, the variable remuneration components 
are in line with Aegon’s long-term targets and variable remuneration is capped at 50% of fixed 
income for Board members and 10% for other senior management. The Supervisory Board has 
approved the remuneration policy for senior management and there is a policy on retention, exit 
and welcome packages. In anticipation of the Law on Remuneration Policies for Financial 
Institutions 2014 (Wet beloningsbeleid financiële ondernemingen 2014 – ‘Wbfo’ 2014), that is 
effective from 2015, the total variable remuneration of senior management (including Board 
members) does not exceed 20% of fixed income for the whole group. 
 
Part of the variable remuneration paid to Identified Staff (members of the Executive Board, 
certain senior managers and a number of other employees) is deferred and part is paid in shares. 
The Supervisory Board is authorized, if Aegon Nederland’s or the insurance companies’ financial 
results and situation so require, to suspend or cancel all or part of the variable remuneration for 
all recipients (Executive Board, senior management). Here too, Aegon is following the Regulation 
on Sound Remuneration Policies (principle 6.1.1). 
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Governance 
In accordance with Aegon Nederland’s remuneration policy, the Supervisory Board has the 
following duties and responsibilities: (i) approval of the general principles of the remuneration 
policy, (ii) regular assessment of the general principles of the remuneration policy, (iii) 
responsibility for the remuneration policy of the Executive Board, (iv) review of the remuneration 
of Identified Staff, (v) instructing the Executive Board to implement the remuneration policy and 
(vi) instructing the Remuneration Steering Group and/or Internal Audit to assess the application 
of the policy and procedures in it (principle 6.2.1). 
 
The remuneration policy and its implementation were discussed in meetings of the Supervisory 
Board on several occasions during 2014. The Supervisory Board also discussed the level of 
variable remuneration. No material changes were made to the remuneration policy during the 
year. The Supervisory Board approved the 2014 variable remuneration targets for Identified Staff 
within the framework set in the AGGRF. It also approved payment of the 2013 variable 
remuneration to Identified Staff, with due regard to the assessments required by the AGGRF. 
This remuneration was within Aegon’s remuneration policy. No material retention, exit and 
welcome packages were granted at Aegon Nederland in 2014 (principle 6.2.2). 
 
The total income of members of the Executive Board is regularly assessed against the figure for 
similar positions in financial companies in the Netherlands. When setting the remuneration policy 
for members of the Executive Board, the aim is for a level slightly below the median. The total 
income of members of the Executive Board is in reasonable proportion to the remuneration policy 
(principle 6.3.1). 
 
In 2014 no dismissals in the Executive Board occurred. For 2014 Aegon Nederland complies with 
the principle on severance pay. (principle 6.3.2). 
 
The 2014 variable remuneration targets for the Executive Board include financial targets related 
to the results of Aegon Nederland and Aegon Group. Variable remuneration for the Executive 
Board and other Identified Staff is paid 50% in cash and 50% in Aegon N.V. shares. In 2014, in 
accordance with Aegon Nederland’s Remuneration policy, 40% of the 2013 variable remuneration 
was paid to members of the Executive Board immediately and the remaining 60% was 
conditional. The 60% will be paid in three equal installments over three years unless an ex-post 
risk assessment indicates that there is a reason for not moving to an unconditional grant. This is 
in line with the Regulation on Sound Remuneration Policies (principles 6.3.3 and 6.4.1). 
 
There is a holding period of three years for shares granted to the CEO and of two years for the 
other members of the Executive Board. 
 
For all groups of employees who are entitled to variable remuneration, Executive Board and 
senior management) appropriate limits are established for the variable remuneration in relation 
to the fixed salary. In 2014, none of the members of the board were entitled to a variable 
remuneration of more than 100% of the annual salary (principle 6.4.2). 
 
The 2014 variable remuneration was based on performance on preset targets at the following 
three levels: (i) Aegon NV, (ii) Aegon NL and (iii) personal.  The targets are a mix of financial and 
non-financial performance criteria which are as objective as possible (principle 6.4.3). 
 
The financial criteria were adjusted for estimated risks and cost of capital when 2014 actual 
performance was assessed (principle 6.4.4). 
 
Under the governance provisions in Aegon Nederland’s remuneration policy, the Supervisory 
Board is authorized to reduce variable remuneration granted conditionally to members of the 
Executive Board and other Identified Staff (‘malus clause’) further to the results of an ex-post 
assessment. The malus clause on variable remuneration granted conditionally to members of the 
Executive Board and other Identified Staff was not applied in 2014 (principle 6.4.5). 
 
The governance provisions in Aegon Nederland’s remuneration policy state that the Supervisory 
Board is authorized to recover variable remuneration already paid to members of the Executive 
Board if it had been granted on the basis of inaccurate financial or other information (‘claw back’ 
clause). There was no claw back of variable remuneration from members of the Executive Board 
or other Identified Staff in 2014 (principle 6.4.6). 
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Compliance with legislation and regulations 
 
Aegon has a process to ensure that it is aware of and implements new regulations in good time. 
The Executive Board and the Legal Affairs department execute this process as the first line. From 
the second line the Risk Management department, including Compliance, are involved in this 
process. A third line, Internal Audit has a control role. The process has been further formalized 
and set out in more detail in 2014 (principle 7). 
 
Financial information 
 
Underlying earnings reflect our profit from underlying business operations and exclude 
components that relate to accounting mismatches that are dependent on market volatility or 
relate to events that are considered outside the normal course business. Non-underlying earnings 
are earnings dependent upon market volatility or relate to events that are considered outside the 
normal course of business. 
 
Earnings per line of business 
 
       2014       2013 
in EUR million   
    
Pensions 197 222 
Life  229 204 
Savings 107 39 
Non-life 12 -20 
Distributions 15 18 
Underlying earnings of associates/ joint ventures 1 2 
  ______ ______ 
Underlying earnings before tax  561 465 
   
Fair value items -216 -215 
Gains/(losses) on investments 431 344 
Impairment charges/(reversals) -12 -32 
Other income/(charges) -113 -36 
  ______ ______ 
Non-underlying earnings before tax  91 61 
  ______ ______ 
Income before tax 652 526 
Income tax -165 -122 
  ______ ______ 
Net income  487 404 
 
 
Aegon Nederland’s income before tax in 2014 was EUR 652 million. The underlying earnings 
before tax increased with EUR 96 million, whereas the non-underlying items were 30 million 
higher compared to the prior year.  
 
In the following paragraphs more details on the development of net income are given. 
 
Underlying earnings before tax 
Underlying earnings before tax amounts to EUR 561 million, a 21% increase compared to 2013.   
 
This increase is mainly caused by: 

- Increased production in Pensions, mainly as a result of buy-outs.  
- Cost savings due to continued progress in and improvement on insurance systems and 

processes  
- Improved mortality results  
- Lower financing cost of the mortgage loan portfolio 
- EUR 45 million employee benefit reserve release resulting from legislation changes 

 
Other developments in the 2014 results per line of business are summarized below. 
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Fair value items 
Total fair value items were EUR 1 million lower compared to 2013, mainly caused by a more 
negative market value movement of Aegon’s real estate portfolio and a positive revaluation of 
derivatives due to the implementation OIS discounting. In Q4, Aegon Nederland refined the 
method to measure the past service cost as part of the defined benefit obligation. This 
change in estimate had a positive effect on income before tax. 
 
Gains/(losses) on investments 
Gains on investments increased with EUR 87 million in 2014. This is mainly caused by the 
replacement of a significant part of our (structured) credits and asset backed security portfolio by 
(mainly) Sovereign Bonds, following regular asset liability management. 
 
Other charges 
The increase of other charges is caused by the reached agreement  between Aegon and BPVH – a 
foundation representing Dutch harbor workers and employers in April 2014. The agreement was 
to jointly file a request with  the Dutch Court of Rotterdam to remove the restriction on the 
capital of the harbor workers’ former pension fund Optas. This agreement ends a dispute that 
began when the Optas pension fund was transformed into an insurance company, which was 
subsequently acquired by Aegon in 2007. The Court granted this request on January 13th 2015. 
Accordingly, Aegon recognized a provision of EUR 95 million at December 31, 2014 covering the 
agreed compensation for BPVH and the harbor workers. 
 
Revenues 
 2014 2013 
in EUR million    
    
Pensions 3.165 2.611 
Life 817 904 
Accident and health 233 243 
General insurance 501 487 
  ______ ______ 

Gross premiums 4.716 4.245 
Investment income 2.568 2.309 
Fees and commissions 324 328 
  ______ ______ 

Total revenues 7.608 6.882 
 
Pensions 
Pension production increased in 2014, mainly as a result of buy-outs. The loss in premium 
income due to non-renewed contracts has been compensated by new premium production. TKP 
renewed a number of large contracts and closed a large new contract in 2014. Results over 2014 
have been positively influenced by improved technical results and interest incomeand negatively 
influenced by an additional contribution to the provisions doubtful debts. 
 
Life 
The production of death benefit products lags behind last year’s production. Maintenance of the 
closed book and large improvements projects (GVM) are consuming a large part of IT and 
management capacity. However, overall results of the life LOB are maintained, mainly driven by 
low financing cost of the mortgage portfolio.  
 
Non-Life 
Total income increased by EUR 3 million, mainly caused by increased premium income due to 
repricing measures. Aegon Schadeverzekering N.V. implemented in 2014 several measures in 
order to improve efficiency (higher degree of self service by policyholders as well as agents) and 
profitability (increase of premium). These measures are on track, whilst the amount of contract 
terminations resulting from these measures is less than expected. The portfolio via authorized 
agents became profitable in 2014. The measures implemented to improve the profitability of this 
segment paid off. During 2014, an investigation of the negative results of the proxy channel was 
conducted, resulting in terminating a number of unfavorable proxy contracts and a renegotiation 
of some other contracts. This ongoing process is expected to be finalized in 2015, fully realizing 
the benefit of improving the returns on this portfolio in 2015. 
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Commission and expenses 
 2014 2013 
in EUR million   
   
Commissions 167 171 
Operating expenses – underlying 748 762 
Operating expenses – non-underlying 18 11 
Deferred expenses -10 -5 
Amortization charges DPAC/VOBA 53 57 
 _____ _____ 
Total commissions and expenses 977 996 
 
The decrease in commissions and expenses in 2014 was mainly caused by the effect of cost 
cutting measures. 
 
Production 
 2014 2013 
in EUR million   
   
Pensions – single premiums 1.935 1.427 
Life – single premiums 283 310 
   
Pensions – recurring premiums 25 23 
Life – recurring premiums 4 9 
   
Total recurring plus 1/10 single 251 206 
   
Non-life – premium production 35 50 
Mortgage production 4.758 3.189 
Saving products 2.708 1.338 
 
 
Pensions 
In 2014 single premium production increased due to several large buy out deals and increased 
direct annuities.   
Recurring premium production is in line with last year, but below our expectations. This is partly 
caused by a shift from traditional pension products to PPI and partly due to strong price 
competition, especially in the midmarket segment. 
   
Life 
Recurring premiums were lower than last year and below Aegon’s expectations, mainly due to 
term life pricing in current market and the new fiscal rules for mortgage related products. Pricing 
has been adjusted to become more competitive but the market seem to remain mainly focused 
on the lowest prices. Life single premiums ended slightly lower than expected, and 10% lower 
than last year mainly due to strong competition from bank saving products. 
 
Mortgages 
Mortgage production shows good results compared to 2013, mainly driven by mortgage 
production for fee based business. The mortgage production for fee business increased to more 
than EUR 2 billion in 2014. The mortgage production for own account (EUR  1.9 billion) stayed at 
the same level compared to 2013. 
 
Solvency and financial position 
 
Aegon Nederland manages the solvency of the company using measures consistent with a solid 
financial structure. The objective for shareholders’ equity is to at least meet the local legislation 
and regulation requirements taking into account a surcharge.  Furthermore we endeavor to meet 
the requirements of the relevant local Standard & Poor’s solvency model for very strong 
capitalization. In both cases Aegon Nederland complied with these standards in 2014 and 2013. 
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Shareholders’ equity at December 31, 2014 amounts EUR 5.067 million compared to EUR 3.249 
million at year-end 2013. The increase is mainly caused by net income over 2014 (EUR 487 
million), increase in revaluation reserve caused by decreased market interest rates (EUR 1.816 
million) and the decrease in equity due to remeasurement of the defined benefit obligation 
caused by lower market interest rates (EUR 487 million). 
 
The insurance activities of Aegon Nederland are subject to the European Solvency I directives as 
implemented in the Netherlands. Aegon Nederland’s solvency ratio excluding banking activities 
was 215% at December 31, 2014 (2013: 239%). The solvency ratio declined during 2014, which 
was mainly caused by a refinement in fair value measurement methodology of mortgage loans. 
Aegon Nederland’s insurance and banking subsidiaries held sufficient capital to meet the 
regulators’ requirements during 2014 and 2013.  
 
Mortgage valuation 
In 2014, Aegon updated the fair value calculation of its Dutch mortgage loans based on 
additional market observable data. This resulted in an increase in the discount rate used to 
present value the future cash flows, mainly driven by an increase in the cost of funds. The 
carrying value, at amortized cost, of Dutch mortgage loans on Aegon’s balance sheet has not 
been impacted by the update of the fair value calculation. The adjusted market valuation had a 
negative impact on the Solvency I ratio. We remain committed to the quality of our mortgage 
portfolio and emphasize our continuous positive outlook for this asset class.  
 
Employees 
 
The average number of employees is 4.369, including 287 agents (2013: 4.384, including 307 
agents).  
 
Principal risks and uncertainties 
 
For an insurer, risk management is an inseparable part of day-to-day operations. Aegon faces a 
wide range of risks. Some, such as changes in mortality and morbidity rates and lapse rates, are 
inherent to the insurance business. The greatest risks, however, come from movements in the 
financial markets (such as interest risk,  credit risks and equity market risk). These risks affect 
the value of investments and the liabilities arising from products sold. Note 4 to the financial 
statements addresses Aegon’s risk management approach. 
 
Corporate Social Responsibility (CSR) 
 
Corporate Social Responsibility 
CSR-policy has a strong link with the company’s vision. Primarily we help our clients to secure 
their financial future; in our CSR-activities we extend that effort – most of the time as voluntary 
work - towards people in general. As in previous years we helped people during the 
Pensioen3daagse to understand what they need for their retirement. During the ‘Week van het 
Geld’ we gave lectures on several primary schools to raise children’s financial awareness on 
insurance. Several employees, including management, are helping – disabled or bi-cultural 
entrepreneurs with the start or the enlargement of their business.  
 
Voluntary work in the Collective Labor Agreement 
The offices in The Hague and Leeuwarden organized in 2014 twice a voluntary day to highlight 
the provisions on volunteering in the collective labor agreement. At the first ‘Voluntary Friday’ in 
January 170 employees joined . On the second ‘Voluntary Friday’ in September  230 employees 
joined. In April 2015 our branch in Groningen will also participate.  
More and more departments are doing voluntary work during their yearly teamwork event.  
 
Alzheimer’s 
Attention was again given in 2014 to our main social sponsorship - the Alzheimer’s Center of the 
VU University Medical Center. Employees took part in the Alzheimer’s Rally, the Aegon Bike 
Challenge was organized for the second time and in our office in The Haue we have had a play 
performed about Alzheimer’s disease.  
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Outlook 
 
Outlook in general 
The insurance industry is now in a period of major change, partly as a result of developments in 
the economy, but also because customers, legislators and regulators are demanding it. This trend 
will continue in 2015.  
 
In the pension market, the implementation of the ‘Kunduz-akkoord’ II and the expected 
legislation on ‘Algemeen Pensioen Fonds’ will have a large impact on both our customers and  our 
business practice. The measures on the housing market will have considerable consequences for 
the mortgage market itself, customers and our operations. It is still uncertain if the brittle 
recovery of the economy, the housing market and the trust of consumers will endure in 2015. 
The lack of liquidity in the money markets and persistent low interests rates are still unlikely to 
just reverse, soon and completely. The issues surrounding the affordability of pensions and 
healthcare in Dutch society are driving discussion and developments among customers and 
providers. Intermediation and advice on financial products and services are expected to develop 
and change further in 2015 where more and more cross-channel solutions are expected to 
dominate the market.  
 
As reiterated in recent years, technological developments and the digitization of services are 
accelerating. The traditionally conservative financial world must now take major steps to honor 
the wishes of its stakeholders.  
 
Finally, it should be noted that cost efficiency will remain high on the agenda of the insurance 
industry taken into account the economic conditions, the situation in the financial markets and 
the shrinking insurance market. 
 
Solvency II 
Solvency II, a more risk-based and forward-looking supervision regime of insurance companies, 
will be effective as of January 1, 2016.  
 
As of January 1, 2015 the TSC is replaced by the capital requirement Solvency II (SCR). To 
ensure that insurance companies are well-prepared for Solvency II, the Supervisor applies the 
EIOPA Preparatory Guidelines for Solvency II reporting in 2015 as a transitional regime by means 
of an amendment to the Decree on Prudential Rules for Financial Undertakings (Besluit 
prudentiële regels Wft – Bpr).  
 
In the run up to Solvency II the parent company, Aegon Nederland N.V., participated in 2014 in 
the EU-wide insurance stress test exercise which tests the overall resilience of the insurance 
sector. The results and findings of the EIOPA Stress Test 2014 exercise are set out in detail in the 
report “EIOPA Insurance Stress Test 2014” published by European Insurance and Occupational 
Pensions Authority (EIOPA) on 30 November 2014.  
 
Furthermore, Aegon Nederland performs yearly an Own Risk and Solvency Assessment (ORSA) 
since the pilot in 2011. The ORSA is a continuous process which builds on the existing risk and 
capital management and business planning processes across Aegon Nederland 
 
Upcoming year Aegon Nederland will focus on the internal model approval for Solvency II and the 
uncertainties in the Solvency II regulations which should diminish in 2015. The uncertainties 
mainly relate to the lack of clarity around methodology (e.g. applying matching adjustment, 
volatility adjuster) and the application of a(n) (Partial) Intern model. These uncertainties can 
have significant impact on Aegon’s Solvency II ratio. Aegon is in the process of applying for a 
(partial) internal model for Solvency II, which will be submitted to the local supervisory authority 
(DNB) mid 2015 for approval. 
 
Financial Market outlook 
Our base case macro-economic forecast remains largely in line with last year’s predictions. We 
expect the global economy to grow at a moderate pace with the United States taking a leading 
role together with Europe which is starting to show signs of recovery. Growth will largely be 
driven by three factors: monetary expansion, fiscal policy and reforms. The Chinese economy will 
continue to grow but at a slower pace than what we have been used to. The prospects for 
Emerging Markets vary greatly between countries, especially commodity exporters are facing 
difficult times. Overall we are moderately positive on global economic growth. 
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We expect the European central bank to keep interest rates low until 2017. In our base case, 
inflation will rise to 2% while economic growth increases, this will slowly lead to increasing long 
term interest rates. 
In this scenario Government bond returns will initially be positive but eventually will turn 
negative. The yields on periphery bonds will be higher increasing the average yield somewhat. 
Investment grade bonds have an expected return of 0.5%, ABS 0.9%. The outlook for Dutch 
mortgages remains positive with an expected return of 3.3%. There are three reasons for the 
high spread on mortgages: 1) banks are increasing their capital ratio’s which reduces their ability 
to lend money 2) mortgages are an illiquid asset class which earns them a premium 3) European 
legislation punishes relatively high loan to value ratios which are quite common in the 
Netherlands.  
 
Events after the balance sheet date 
 
Besides the above mentioned approval of the Dutch court of the jointly request by Aegon and 
BPVH to remove restrictions on the capital of the harbor workers’ former pension fund Optas, 
there were no events after the balance sheet date that are of material consequences for Aegon 
Nederland’s financial position as at December 31, 2014. 
 
Composition of the Executive Board 
 
The Executive Board consisted of five members in 2014: Mr. M.B.A. Keim (chair), Mr. M.J. 
Edixhoven, Mr. E.W. Koning, Mr. R.J. Spuijbroek and Mr. R.M. van der Tol. Mr. M.J. Edixhoven 
was appointed at June 1, 2014 and represents the Business Line Pension. 
 
The Hague, April 20, 2015 
 
 
The Executive Board, 
 
 
M.B.A. Keim 
 
 
 
 
M.J. Edixhoven 
 
 
 
 
 
E.W. Koning 
 
 
 
 
 
R.J. Spuijbroek 
 
 
 
 
 
R.M. van der Tol 
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Report of the Supervisory Board 
 
 
 
General 
 
The Supervisory Board, which has five members, has the duty of supervising and advising the 
Executive Board on its management of the company.  
 
The Supervisory Board is involved in the preparation of appointments and dismissals of the 
members of the Executive Board and discusses the company’s quarterly results, accounting 
policies, internal control procedures and strategy. The Supervisory Board is involved in setting 
the remuneration of the members of the Executive Board, the senior management and the 
employees of the company. Amongst other the Supervisory Board approves the general principles 
of the Aegon Nederland remuneration policies, periodically assesses the general principles of the 
remuneration policy and is responsible for the remuneration policy of the Executive Board. 
 
In 2014, we performed our duties in close co-operation with the Executive Board and held 7 
meetings. The average attendance was 94%. 
 
For each of the insurance subsidiaries of Aegon Nederland that are under supervision of De 
Nederlandsche Bank, namely Aegon Levensverzekering N.V., Aegon Schadeverzekering N.V., 
Aegon Spaarkas N.V. and Optas Pensioenen N.V., an independent Supervisory Board is in place 
as of 2011. These Supervisory Boards meet regularly four times a year, simultaneously with the 
Supervisory Board of Aegon Nederland N.V. 
 
Subjects discussed during the meetings 
 
The quarterly reports and figures for Q4 2013 and Q1, Q2 and Q3 2014 and the budget were 
discussed during the regular meetings held in February, May, August and November 2014 
respectively. 
 
Besides the regular items on the agenda attention was paid to the following special subjects (not 
limitative): 
• Solvency II 
• MTP 2015-2017 and budget 2015 
• Capital Management Policy 
• Annual DNB Focus! results 
• AFM ‘Spiegel’ document: feedback Customer Centricity 2013-2014 
• Developments DNB: mortgage portfolio 
• Execution of the strategy and strategic Business Line maps 
• Aegon Nederland Information Technology 
• Unit-Linked Policies including KoersPlan: overview and current events 
• EY Management Letter 2013 
• Annual reports 2013 
• Global Employee Survey 2014 
• Succession planning/talent review  
• Remuneration 
• Changes To Pension Scheme (former) employees Aegon NL 
• Self-evaluation 2013 and external guided self-evaluation 2013/2014 
• PE program 2012/2013 and PE program 2014/2015 
 
Role of the Supervisory Board and the Insurers’ Code  
 
The Supervisory Board wishes to make a contribution to restoring trust in the financial sector. We 
therefore believe that the Insurers’ Code is important and we want to set a good example. The 
Principles of the Code are leading when exercising the Supervisory Board’s role. According to the 
Supervisory Board the entire Code is a way of thinking and operating. For a report of the 
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accountability on the individual principles of the Insurers’ Code please also see the ‘Corporate 
Governance – the Insurers’ Code’ section in the report of the Executive Board. 
 
Gender diversity (article 2:166 Dutch Civil Code) 
 
Aegon Nederland N.V.’s Executive Board consists of a limited number of members. Also the 
stringent and particular requirements have restricting effects when searching for appropriate 
candidates. As a result, the balanced gender diversity is not easy to achieve and has not been 
achieved in 2014. Moreover, selection and appointment of members of the Executive Board is 
based on expertise, skills and relevant experience. The Supervisory Board does consider gender 
diversity in view of the aim of balanced Executive Board composition. 
 
Risk and Audit Committee 
 
The Supervisory Board has formed a Risk and Audit Committee, whose members are Messrs. 
Jongsma (chairman), Vink and Button. 
 
The Audit and Risk Committee met five times during 2014. The CEO and CFO (Mr. Keim and Mr. 
Koning) attended these meetings on behalf of Aegon Nederland N.V., along with the Internal 
Auditor, the manager of Risk Management & Compliance (CRO) and the managers of Capital 
Management & Policies and Financial Information Management & Reporting. On behalf of 
PricewaterhouseCoopers Accountants N.V., Mr. Rondhout and Mr. Vermeulen both attended the 
four regular quarterly meetings. On behalf of EY Accountants – the former independent auditor – 
Mr. Spiessens and Mr. Snoeks attended the first quarterly meeting. 
 
Standing items on the regular quarterly meeting agenda include (i) financial results of the 
previous quarter, quarterly reports on (ii) capital management, and (iii) regulatory 
developments, supplemented with quarterly reports from (iv) Risk Management & Compliance, 
and (v) Internal Audit, and PricewaterhouseCoopers Accountants N.V. quarterly reports. The Risk 
and Audit Committee discussed and approved the audit plans of both Internal Audit and 
PricewaterhouseCoopers Accountants N.V., and discussed the Aegon Nederland Risk Appetite. 
Additional topics discussed during 2014 include amongst other the annual reports, developments 
related to and implementation of Solvency II, longevity hedging, developments with respect to 
accounting standards, mortgage valuation, SOx controls, Aegon’s new pension scheme and 
developments in (and follow up on) KoersPlan related legal proceedings. The Risk and Audit 
Committee reported – partly through the minutes of its meetings – on its findings to the 
Supervisory Board. 
 
Compensation and Nomination Committee 
 
The Compensation Committee, whose members are Mr. Button and Mr. Vink, physically met once 
in March 2014 and there were several conference call meetings. In these meetings the 
remuneration of Executive Board of Aegon Nederland was discussed and approved as well as the 
new general remuneration policy for Aegon Nederland N.V. Furthermore, the Supervisory Board 
approved approved the revised ‘Remuneration Policy 2014’ and the remuneration of ‘Identified 
Staff’ of Aegon Nederland N.V. 
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Members of the Supervisory Board 
 
The Supervisory Board consisted of five members in 2014. 
 
The terms of office of the supervisory directors are as follows: 
 
    Year of first appointment  (Re-) Appointment   Resigns 
J.A.J. Vink   2006     May 8, 2014    2018 
L. Jongsma   2003     June 22, 2012   2016 
D. Terpstra   2007     August, 11, 2011   2015 
G.T. Kepecs   2012     September 1, 2012  2016 
D.D. Button   2013     November 7, 2013   2017 
 
 
 
The Hague, April 20, 2015 
 
The Supervisory Board, 
 
 
J.A.J. Vink 
 
 
 
 
 
L. Jongsma 
 
 
 
 
 
D. Terpstra 
 
 
 
 
 
G.T. Kepecs 
 
 
 
 
 
D.D. Button 
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Annual report 2014 
Aegon Nederland N.V. 

Page 29 of 199 
 

Consolidated statement of financial position 
 
 
 
     Note 31-12-

2014 
 31-12-

2013 
 1-1-2013 

           
Amounts in EUR million           
           
Assets           
           
Intangible assets      70  81  85 
Investments      51.921  45.088  42.939 
Investments for account of policyholders      27.086  24.169  25.094 
Derivatives      23.751  11.804  18.286 
Investments in investment funds      115  195  187 
Investments in associates      19  19  21 
Investments in joint ventures      789  819  854 
Long-term loans and group loans      610  -  - 
Reinsurance assets      30  35  25 
Deferred tax assets      662  636  1.648 
Deferred expenses      114  141  174 
Other assets and receivables      2.533  2.380  2.615 
Cash and cash equivalents      7.271  2.320  5.928 
           
Total assets      114.971  87.688  97.858 
           
           
Equity and liabilities           
           
Equity      5.067  3.249  4.013 
Group equity      5.067  3.249  4.013 
           
           
Insurance contracts      31.821  26.263  24.573 
Insurance contracts for account of 
policyholders 

     28.569  25.853  26.647 

Savings deposits      5.414  4.283  4.386 
Investment contracts      249  259  269 
Investment contracts for account of 
policyholders 

     114  31  2 

Derivatives      22.581  10.196  15.593 
Long-term borrowings and group loans      13.058  10.260  12.063 
Provisions      152  61  82 
Defined benefit liabilities      2.820  2.161  2.235 
Deferred tax liabilities      1.067  499  1.378 
Other liabilities and accruals      4.060  4.572  6.619 
Total liabilities      109.904  84.438  93.846 
           
Total equity and liabilities      114.971  87.688  97.858 
 
 
Amounts for December 31, 2013 and January 1, 2013 have been restated for the changes in 
accounting policies as disclosed in note 2 ‘Summary of significant accounting policies’. 
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Consolidated income statement 
 
 
 
       Note 2014  2013 
           
Amounts in EUR million           
           
Revenues           
           
Premium income        4.716  4.245 
Investment income        2.555  2.300 
Investment income investment funds        11  8 
Fee and commission income        328  331 
Total revenues        7.610  6.884 
           
Income from reinsurance ceded        -2  16 
Results from financial transactions        6.386  -589 
Other income        -  - 
           
Total income        13.994  6.311 
           
           
Charges           
           
Premiums to reinsurers        20  23 
Policyholder claims and benefits        12.034  4.496 
Profit sharing        8  17 
Commissions and expenses        965  988 
Impairment charges / (reversals)        8  29 
Interest charges and related fees        216  191 
Other charges        113  36 
           
Total charges        13.365  5.780 
           
           
Income before share in profit / (loss) of joint 
ventures and associates and tax 

       629  531 

           
Share in profit / (loss) of associates        1  2 
Share in profit / (loss) of joint ventures        23  -7 
           
Income / (loss) before tax        653  526 
           
Income tax        -166  -122 
           
Net income / (loss)        487  404 
           
Net income / (loss) attributable to the parent 
company 

       487  404 

 
 
Amounts for 2013 have been restated for the changes in accounting policies as disclosed in note 
2 ‘Summary of significant accounting policies’.  
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Consolidated statement of comprehensive income  
 
 
 
       Note 2014  2013 
           
Amounts in EUR million           
           
Net income        487  404 
           
Items that will not be reclassified to profit or loss:           
Changes in revaluation reserve real estate held for own use  -1  - 
Remeasurement of defined benefit plans        -654  116 
Income tax relating to items that will not be reclassified        163  -29 
           
Items that may be reclassified to profit or loss:           
Gains / (losses) on revaluation of available-for-sale investments  2.860  -678 
Gains / (losses) on revaluation of investments in investment funds  53  21 
Equity movements of joint ventures        -  3 
Equity movements of associates        1  -1 
Gains / (losses) transferred to the income statement on disposal and     
impairment of available-for-sale investments  -427  -351 
Income tax relating to items that may be reclassified  -668  248 
Other        4  5 
           
Total other comprehensive income for the period        1.331  -667 
           
Total comprehensive income / (loss)        1.818  -263 
           
Total comprehensive income attributable to the parent company  1.818  -263 
 
Amounts for 2013 have been restated for the changes in accounting policies as disclosed in note 
2 ‘Summary of significant accounting policies’.   
 
Total comprehensive income is fully attributable to Aegon N.V., the parent company of Aegon 
Nederland.  
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Consolidated statement of changes in equity 
 
 
 
Amounts in EUR million           
           
           
2014           
           
      Share Share Revaluation Retained Total 
      capital premium reserves earnings  
           
At January 1      24 645 577 2.004 3.249 
           
Net income / (loss) recognized in the 
income statement 

 - - - 487 487 

Other comprehensive income / (loss)  - - 1.816 -486 1.331 
Addition to share premium  - - - - - 
Total comprehensive 
income / (loss) 

     - - 1.816 1 1.818 

           
Dividends paid on common 
shares 

     - - - - - 

           
At December 31  24 645 2.393 2.006 5.067 
           
           
2013           
           
      Share Share Revaluation Retained Total 
      capital premium reserves earnings  
           
At January 1      24 631 1.332 2.026 4.013 
           
Net income / (loss) recognized in the 
income statement 

 - - - 404 404 

Other comprehensive income / (loss)  - - -755 75 -680 
Addition to share premium  - 13 - - 13 
Total comprehensive income / 
(loss) 

 - 13 -755 479 -263 

           
Dividends paid on common shares  - - - -500 -500 
           
At December 31  24 645 577 2.004 3.249 
 
Amounts for December 31, 2013 and January 1, 2013 have been restated for the changes in 
accounting policies as disclosed in note 2 ‘Summary of significant accounting policies’. 
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Consolidated cash flow statement 
 
 
 
Amounts in EUR million       Note 2014  2013 
           
           
           
Income / (loss) before tax        653  526 
           
Results from financial transactions        -6.385  416 
Amortization and depreciation        131  153 
Impairment losses / (reversals)        10  28 
Income from joint ventures        -23  7 
Income from associates        -1  -2 
Remeasurements of defined benefit plans        5  42 
Other        91  -20 
           
Adjustments of non-cash items        -6.173  625 
           
Insurance and investment liabilities        5.553  1.671 
Insurance and investment liabilities for account of 
policyholders 

       2.799  -765 

Accrued expenses and other liabilities        514  -1.628 
Accrued income and prepayments        -177  229 
Other        -230  - 
           
Changes in accruals        8.460  -493 
           
Purchase of investments (other than money market 
investments) 

       -11.798  -11.181 

Purchase of derivatives        -835  -61 
Disposal of investments (other than money market 
investments) 

       8.679  8.061 

Disposal of derivatives        3.537  29 
Net purchase of investments for account of policyholders        290  1.282 
Receivables from group companies        -257  -1.183 
Net change in cash collateral        -79  -240 
           
Cash flow movements on operating items not 
reflected in income 

       -463  -3.293 

           
Tax (paid) / received        -127  81 
Other        -20  201 
           
Net cash flows from operating activities        2.331  -2.354 
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       Note 2014  2013 
           
           
Purchase of individual intangible assets (other than 
VOBA and future servicing rights) 

       -4  -21 

Purchase of equipment and real estate for own use        -19  -15 
Acquisition of subsidiaries, joint ventures and 
associates, net of cash 

       -6  -14 

Disposal of intangible assets           
Disposal of equipment and real estate for own use        -  3 
Disposal of subsidiaries, joint ventures and associates, 
net of cash 

       -  1 

Dividend received from joint ventures and associates        60  47 
Other           
           
Net cash flows from investing activities        32  2 
           
           
Changes in long-term borrowings and group loans        2.391  -619 
Changes in long-term loans and group loans        1.131  -103 
Dividends paid        -  -500 
Net change in repurchase agreements        -934  -34 
           
Net cash flows from financing activities        2.588  -1.255 
           
           
Net increase / (decrease) in cash and cash 
equivalents 

       4.951  -3.608 

           
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year        2.320  5.928 
           
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year        7.271  2.320 
 
Amounts for 2013 have been restated for the changes in accounting policies as disclosed in note 
2 ‘Summary of significant accounting policies’. 
 
 
 
The cash flow statement is prepared according to the indirect method.  
 
Included in the net increase/ (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents are: 
 
 
 
        2014  2013 
           
Interest received        1.974  2.141 
Interest paid        218  168 
Dividend received        303  104 
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements 
 

1. General information 
 
 
 
Aegon Nederland N.V., incorporated and domiciled in the Netherlands, is a limited liability 
company organized under Dutch law and recorded in the Commercial Register of The Hague 
under its registered address at Aegonplein 50, 2591 TV The Hague. Aegon Nederland N.V. is a 
100% subsidiary of Aegon N.V. in The Hague, which is the ultimate parent of the group. 
 
Aegon Nederland N.V. and its subsidiaries are active in life insurance and pensions operations, 
savings and investment products, asset management operations, accident and health insurance, 
general insurance, banking operations, mortgages, pension administration and intermediary 
activities.  
 

2. Summary of significant accounting policies 
 

2.1. Basis of presentation 
 
 
The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International 
Financial Reporting Standards, as adopted by the European Union (IFRS) and with Part 9 of Book 
2 of the Netherlands Civil Code.   
 
 
 
The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the historical cost 
convention as modified by the revaluation of investment properties and those financial 
instruments (including derivatives) and financial liabilities that have been measured at fair value. 
Information on the standards and interpretations that were adopted in 2014 is provided below.  
 
The consolidated financial statements are prepared in euros and all values are rounded to the 
nearest million except when otherwise indicated. The consequence is that the rounded amounts 
may not add up to the rounded total in all cases. All ratios and variances are calculated using the 
underlying amount rather than the rounded amount.  
 
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires management to make 
estimates and assumptions affecting the reported amounts of assets and liabilities as of the date 
of the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses for the reporting 
period. Those estimates are inherently subject to change and actual results could differ from 
those estimates. Included among the material (or potentially material) reported amounts and 
disclosures that require extensive use of estimates are: fair value of certain invested assets and 
derivatives, deferred policy acquisition costs, value of business acquired and other purchased 
intangible assets, goodwill, policyholder claims and benefits, insurance guarantees, pension 
plans, income taxes and the potential effects of resolving litigation matters. Aegon applies fair 
value hedge accounting for portfolio hedges of interest rate risk (macro hedging) under the EU 
‘carve out’ of IFRS.  
 
The consolidated financial statements of Aegon Nederland were approved by the Executive Board 
and by the Supervisory Board on April 20, 2015. The financial statements are put to the Annual 
General Meeting of Shareholders on April 20, 2015 for adoption. The shareholders’ meeting can 
decide not to adopt the financial statements but cannot amend them. 
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2.1.1. Adoption of new IFRS accounting standards 
 
 
New standards and amendments to standards become effective on the date specified by IFRS, 
but may allow companies to opt for an earlier adoption date. In 2014 the following amendments 
to existing standards issued by the IASB became mandatory, but are not currently relevant or do 
not significantly impact the financial position or financial statements: 

• IFRS 10 Consolidated Financial Statements – Amendment Investment Entities; 
• IAS 32 Financial Instruments: Presentation – Amendment Offsetting Financial Assets 

and Financial Liabilities; 
• IAS 36 Impairment of Assets - Amendment Recoverable Amounts Disclosures for Non-

Financial Assets; 
• IAS 39 Novation of Derivatives and Continuation of Hedge Accounting; and 
• IFRIC 21 – Levies. 

 
The above mentioned new standards, amendments to existing standards and interpretations 
have been endorsed by the European Union. 
 

2.1.2. Impact of voluntary changes in accounting policies on the financial statements 
 
 
As of January 1, 2014, Aegon Nederland has amended its policy to account for longevity risk 
assumed by Aegon Nederland. This change provides more current information about the financial 
effects of changes in life expectancy of the insured population. It will supply users of the financial 
statements with more relevant decision making information on the insurance contract liability and 
will improve transparency on the longevity risks assumed by Aegon Nederland. 
 
Mortality tables are updated annually based on the prospective tables taking into account 
longevity trends. The new methodology will take into account the contractual cash flows related 
to the longevity risk assumed. Previously the methodology applied by Aegon Nederland only 
considered realized mortalities based on retrospective mortality tables.  
 
Details of the impact of the adjustments on previous periods of the financial statements are 
provided in the tables presented below. 
 
Aegon NV, the ultimate parent of Aegon Nederland, has adopted one single group-wide 
accounting policy for the deferral of policy acquisition costs as of January 1, 2014. Upon initial 
adoption of IFRS, entities were permitted to continue existing accounting policies for insurance 
contracts even though such policies were often non-uniform between countries. Aegon Nederland 
has adopted the global policy of its ultimate parent.  
Through adoption of this uniform, group-wide accounting policy, Aegon Nederland provides the 
users of the financial statements with more meaningful information. The new policy further 
narrows the acquisition cost eligible for deferral and aligns more with possible future changes of 
the new Insurance contracts accounting standard (still to be finalized).  
 
IFRS 4 neither prohibits nor requires the deferral of policy acquisition costs, nor does it prescribe 
what acquisition costs are deferrable. The previous accounting policy was based on a broader 
definition of costs that could be deferred. 
 
Details of the impact of the adjustments on previous periods of the financial statements are 
provided in the tables presented below. 
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Impact of changes in accounting policies on consolidated income statement 
 
 
       2013 

(previously 
reported) 

Change in accounting policy 2013 
(restated) 

        Longevity DAC  
           
           
Premium income       4.245   4.245 
Investment income       2.300   2.300 
Investment income investment 
funds 

      8   8 

Fee and commission income       331   331 
Total revenues       6.884 - - 6.884 
           
Income from reinsurance ceded       16   16 
Results from financial transactions       -589   -589 
           
Total income       6.311 - - 6.311 
           
           
           
Premiums to reinsurers       23   23 
Policyholder claims and benefits       4.613 -117  4.496 
Profit sharing       17   17 
Commissions and expenses       995  -6 988 
Impairment charges / (reversals)       29   29 
Interest charges and related fees       191   191 
Other charges       36   36 
           
Total charges       5.903 -117 -6 5.780 
           
           
Income before share in profit / 
(loss) of associates and tax 

      408 117 6 531 

           
Share in profit / (loss) of associates  2   2 
Share in profit / (loss) of joint ventures  -7   -7 
           
Income / (loss) before tax       403 117 6 526 
           
Income tax (expense) / benefit       -96 -24 -2 -122 
           
Net income / (loss)       307 93 5 404 

Impact of changes in accounting policies on consolidated statement of comprehensive 
income 
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       2013 
(previously 
reported) 

Change in accounting policy 2013 
(restated) 

        Longevity DAC  
           
Net income       307 93 5 404 
           
Other comprehensive income           
           
Items that will not be reclassified to 
profit or loss: 

          

Changes revaluation res. real estate own use     
Remeasur. defined benefit plans       116   116 
Income tax relating to items that 
will not be reclassified 

      -29   -29 

           
Items that may be reclassified to 
profit or loss: 

          

Gains /(losses on revaluation of 
available-for-sale investments 

      -678   -678 

Gains / (losses) reval. of invest. in investment funds 21   21 
Equity movements of joint ventures       3   3 
Equity movements of associates       -1   -1 
impairment of available-for-sale investments -351   -351 
Income tax relating to items that may be 
reclassified 

248   248 

Other       5   5 
           
Total other comprehensive income for the 
period 

-667 - - -667 

           
Total comprehensive income / (loss) -361 93 5 -263 
           
Total comprehensive income attributable to 
the parent company 

-361 93 5 -263 
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Impact of changes in accounting policies on consolidated statement of financial position 
       December 

31, 2013 
(previously 
reported) 

Change in accounting policy December 
31, 2013 
(restated) 

January 1, 
2013 

(previously 
reported) 

Change in accounting policy January 1, 
2013 

(restated) 
       Longevity DAC  Longevity DAC  
Assets               
Intangible assets       81   81 85   85 
Investments       45.088   45.088 42.939   42.939 
Investments for account of policyholders 24.169   24.169 25.094   25.094 
Derivatives       11.804   11.804 18.286   18.286 
Investments in investment funds 195   195 187   187 
Investments in associates       19   19 21   21 
Investments in joint ventures       819   819 854   854 
Reinsurance assets       35   35 25   25 
Deferred tax assets       395 241  636 1.384 265  1.648 
Deferred expenses       138  3 141 178  -4 174 
Other assets and receivables       2.380   2.380 2.615   2.615 
Cash and cash equivalents       2.320   2.320 5.928   5.928 
Total assets       87.445 241 3 87.688 97.598 265 -4 97.858 
               
Equity and liabilities               
Equity       4.079 -832 2 3.249 4.940 -924 -3 4.013 
Insurance contracts       25.641 621  26.263 23.872 700  24.573 
Insurance contracts for account of 
policyholders 

      25.401 451  25.853 26.159 489  26.647 

Savings deposits       4.283   4.283 4.386   4.386 
Investment contracts       259   259 269   269 
Investment contracts for account of 
policyholders 

      31   31 2   2 

Derivatives       10.196   10.196 15.593   15.593 
Long-term borrowings and group loans       10.260   10.260 12.063   12.063 
Provisions       61   61 82   82 
Defined benefit liabilities       2.161   2.161 2.235   2.235 
Deferred tax liabilities       499  1 499 1.379  -1 1.378 
Other liabilities and accruals       4.572   4.572 6.619   6.619 
Total liabilities       83.366 1.073 1 84.439 92.658 1.189 -1 93.846 
Total equity and liabilities       87.445 241 3 87.688 97.598 265 -4 97.858 
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Impact of changes in accounting policies on consolidated statement of changes in 
equity 
 

 

December 
31, 2013 

(previously 
reported) 

Change in 
accounting policy 

December 
31, 2013 
(restated) 

January 1, 
2013 

(previously 
reported) 

Change in 
accounting policy 

January 
1, 2013 

(restated) 

   Longevity DAC     Longevity DAC   

                 

                 
Share capital 24     24 24     24 
Share 
premium 645     645 631     631 

Revaluation 
reserves 577     577 1.332     1.332 

Retained 
earnings 2.834 -832 2 2.005 2.953 -924 -3 2.026 

                 

                 
Total equity 4.079 -832 2 3.249 4.940 -924 -3 4.013 
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Impact of changes in accounting policies on consolidated cash flow statement  

 
2013 

(previously 
reported) 

Change in accounting 
policy 2013 

(restated) 
 Longevity DAC 
Income / (loss) before tax 403 117 6 526 

 
        

Results from financial transactions 416     416 
Amortization and depreciation 554   -6 547 
Impairment losses / (reversals) 28     28 
Income from joint ventures 7     7 
Income from associates -2     -2 
Remeasurements of defined benefit plans -74     -74 
Other -20     -20 

 
        

Adjustments of non-cash items 909 - -6 903 
Insurance and investment liabilities 1.968 -79   1.889 
Insurance and investment liabilities for account of 
policyholders -1.443 -38   -1.481 
Accrued expenses and other liabilities -1.628     -1.628 
Accrued income and prepayments 229     229 

 
        

Changes in accruals -873 -117 - -990 
Purchase of investments (other than money market 
investments) -11.181     -11.181 
Purchase of derivatives -61     -61 
Disposal of investments (other than money market 
investments) 8.061     8.061 
Disposal of derivatives 29     29 

Net purchase of investments for account of policyholders 1.282     1.282 
Net change in cash collateral -240     -240 

 
        

Cash flow movements on operating items not reflected 
in income -2.110 - - -2.110 
Tax paid 110     110 
Other 288     288 

 
        

Net cash flows from operating activities -1.273 - - -1.274 

 
        

Purchase of individual intangible assets (other than VOBA 
and future servicing rights) -21     -21 
Purchase of equipment and real estate for own use -15     -15 
Acquisition of subsidiaries, joint ventures and associates, net 
of cash -14     -14 
Disposal of equipment and real estate for own use 3     3 
Disposal of subsidiaries, joint ventures and associates, net of 
cash 1     1 
Dividend received from joint ventures and associates 47     47 

 
        

Net cash flows from investing activities 2 - - 2 
Changes in long-term borrowings and group loans -1.802     -1.802 
Changes in long-term loans and group loans -     - 
Dividends paid -500     -500 
Net change in repurchase agreements -34     -34 

 
        

Net cash flows from financing activities -2.336 - - -2.336 

 
        

Net increase / (decrease) in cash and cash 
equivalents -3.608 - - -3.608 
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year 5.928     5.928 
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year 2.320 - - 2.320 
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2.1.3. Future adoption of new IFRS accounting standards  
 
The following standards, amendments to existing standards and interpretations, published prior 
to January 1, 2015, were not early adopted by Aegon Nederland, but will be applied in future 
years: 

• IFRS 9 Financial Instruments*; and 
• IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers 

 
* Not yet endorsed by the European Union. 
 
IFRS 9 Financial Instruments 
The IASB issued the final version of IFRS 9 Financial Instruments in July 2014. IFRS 9 combines 
classification and measurement, the expected credit loss impairment model and hedge 
accounting. The standard will eventually replace IAS 39 and all previous versions of IFRS 9. 
Application is required for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2018. Under the 
Classification and Measurement component financial assets are measured at amortized cost, fair 
value through profit or loss or fair value through other comprehensive income, based on both the 
entity’s business model for managing the financial assets and the financial asset’s contractual 
cash flow characteristics. The classification and measurement of financial liabilities is unchanged 
from existing requirements apart from own credit risk. For financial liabilities that are measured 
at fair value through profit or loss, the changes which are attributable to the change in an entity’s 
own credit risk are presented in other comprehensive income, unless doing so would enlarge or 
create an accounting mismatch.  For the impairment component, the IASB included requirements 
for a credit loss allowance or provision which should be based on expected losses rather than 
incurred losses. On November 19, 2013, the IASB issued a new version of Hedge Accounting, 
which includes the new hedge accounting requirements. Macro hedging is decoupled from the 
hedge accounting component in order to avoid impact on the effective date or timing of the 
completion of the IFRS 9 project. IFRS 9 is expected to have a significant impact on the Group’s 
financial statements because it will likely result in a reclassification and remeasurement 
(including impairment) of Aegon’s financial assets. The full impact will only be clear after full 
assessment of the standard. 
 
IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers 
In May 2014, the IASB issued IFRS 15, Revenue from Contracts with Customers. IFRS 15 will 
replace IAS 18 Revenue, as well as other IFRIC and SIC interpretations regarding revenue unless 
the contracts are within the scope of other standards (for example, financial instruments, 
insurance contracts or lease contracts). The standard outlines the principles an entity shall apply 
to measure and recognize revenue and the related cash flows. The core principle is that an entity 
will recognize revenue at an amount that reflects the consideration to which the entity expects to 
be entitled in exchange for transferring goods or services to a customer. IFRS 15 will be effective 
for the Group on January 1, 2017, using either of two methods: a full retrospective approach with 
certain practical expedients or a modified retrospective approach with the cumulative effect of 
initially applying this standard recognized at the date of initial application with certain additional 
disclosures. We are evaluating the impact that adoption of this standard is expected to have on 
the Group’s financial statements. The full impact will only be clear after full assessment of the 
standard. 
 
The following amendments to the existing standard and interpretation, published prior to January 
1, 2015, which are not yet effective for or early adopted by Aegon Nederland, will not 
significantly impact the financial position or financial statements: 

• IFRS 10, IFRS 12 and IAS 28 - Investment Entities: Applying the Consolidation 
Exception*; 

• IFRS 10 and IAS 28 - Amendment Sale or Contribution of Assets between an Investor 
and its Associate or Joint Venture*; 

• IFRS 11 Accounting for Acquisitions of Interests in Joint Operations*; 
• IFRS 14 Regulatory Deferral Accounts*; 
• IAS 1- Amendment Disclosure Initiative*; 
• IAS 19 Employee Benefits – Amendment Employee Contributions*; 
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• IAS 27 Separate Financial Statements - Amendment Equity method in Separate Financial 
Statements*; 

• IAS 16 and IAS 38 Clarification of Acceptable Methods of Depreciation and Amortization*; 
• Annual improvements 2010-2012 Cycle*;  
• Annual improvements 2011-2013 Cycle*; and 
• Annual improvements 2012-2014 Cycle* 

 
* Not yet endorsed by the European Union 
 

2.2. Basis of consolidation 
 

2.2.1. Subsidiaries 
 
 
The consolidated financial statements include the financial statements of Aegon Nederland and its 
subsidiaries. Subsidiaries (including structured entities) are entities over which Aegon Nederland 
has control. Aegon Nederland controls an entity when Aegon Nederland is exposed to, or has 
rights to variable returns from its involvement with the entity and has the ability to affect those 
returns through its power over the entity. 
 
The assessment of control is based on the substance of the relationship between Aegon 
Nederland and the entity and, among other things, considers existing and potential voting rights 
that are substantive. For a right to be substantive, the holder must have the practical ability to 
exercise that right. 
 
The subsidiary’s assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities are measured at fair value on the 
acquisition date and are subsequently accounted for in accordance with the accounting principles 
of Aegon Nederland, which is consistent with IFRS. Intra-group transactions are eliminated. 
Intra-group losses are eliminated, except to the extent that the underlying asset is impaired. 
Non-controlling interests are initially stated at their share in the fair value of the net assets on 
the acquisition date and subsequently adjusted for the non-controlling share in changes in the 
subsidiary’s equity.  
 
The excess of the consideration paid to acquire the interest and the fair value of any interest 
already owned, over the share of Aegon Nederland in the net fair value of assets, liabilities and 
contingent liabilities acquired is recognized as goodwill. Negative goodwill is recognized directly in 
the income statement. If the fair value of the assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities acquired 
in the business combination has been determined provisionally, adjustments to these values 
resulting from the emergence of new evidence within twelve months after the acquisition date 
are made against goodwill. Contingent consideration is discounted and the unwinding is 
recognized in the income statement as an interest expense. Any changes in the estimated value 
of contingent consideration given in a business combination are recognized in the income 
statement. 
 
The identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities are stated at fair value when control is 
obtained.  
 
Subsidiaries are deconsolidated when control ceases to exist. Any difference between the net 
proceeds plus the fair value of any retained interest and the carrying amount of the subsidiary 
including non-controlling interests is recognized in the income statement. 
 

2.2.2. Investment funds 
 
 
Investment funds managed by Aegon Nederland in which Aegon Nederland holds an interest are 
consolidated in the financial statements if Aegon Nederland has power over that investment fund 
and it is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the investee and 
has the ability to affect those returns through its power over the investee. In assessing control, 
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all interests held by Aegon Nederland in the fund are considered, regardless of whether the 
financial risk related to the investment is borne by Aegon Nederland or by the policyholders 
(unless a direct link between the policyholder and the fund can be assumed). 
 
In determining whether Aegon Nederland has power the following has been considered: 

• Is the asset manager external or internal (i.e. an Aegon Nederland subsidiary); 
• Is the investment mandate broad or narrow; 
• Does the policyholder have legal rights to the separate assets in the investment vehicle 

(e.g. policyholders could have the voting rights related to these investments); 
• The governance structure, such as an independent board of directors, representing the 

policyholders, which has substantive rights (e.g. to elect or remove the asset manager); 
and 

• Rights held by other parties (e.g. voting rights of policyholders that are substantive or 
not). 

If the above assessment indicates that Aegon Nederland has power, it has been assessed 
whether Aegon Nederland has exposure or rights to variability of returns. The following items 
were assessed: 

• General account investment of Aegon Nederland; 
• Aegon Nederland’s investment held for policyholders; 
• Guarantees provided by Aegon Nederland on return of policyholders in specific 

investment vehicles; 
• Fees dependent on fund value (including, but not limited to, asset management fees); 

and 
• Fees dependent on performance of the fund (including, but not limited to, performance 

fees). 

For all investment funds, Aegon Nederland concluded that it does not control those investment 
funds, as Aegon Nederland has no power over the asset manager.  
 
If there is significant influence but no control, participations in investment funds held for general 
account are accounted for as associates in the line item ‘investments in investment funds’ using 
the equity method. Where there is no significant influence, participations are recognized as equity 
investments. Some of these investments in venture capital entities, mutual funds and investment 
funds are managed on the basis of market value and accounted for as financial assets at fair 
value through profit or loss. 
 
Investments in investment funds that are measured using the equity method are regarded as 
part of the investment portfolio. The income from these investment funds, where Aegon 
Nederland has significant influence (but no control) is recognized as investment income.  
 
Participations in investment funds held for account of policyholders are accounted for as 
‘investments for account of policyholder’ and measured at Fair Value Through profit or loss. 
Reference is made to 2.7 Investments for account of policyholders. 
 

2.2.3. Structured entities 
 
 
A structured entity is defined in IFRS 12 as “An entity that has been designed so that voting 
rights are not the dominant factor in deciding who controls the entity, such as when any voting 
rights relate to administrative tasks only and the relevant activities are directed by means of 
contractual arrangements.” In these instances the tests and indicators to assess control provided 
by IFRS 10 have more focus on the purpose and design of the investee (with relation to the 
relevant activities that most significantly affect the structured entity) and the exposure to 
variable returns, which for structured entities lies in interests through e.g. derivatives, and will 
not be focused on entities that are controlled by voting rights. 
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Aegon Nederland concluded for several structured entities that it controls those investees. For 
certain mortgage backed securitization deals Aegon Nederland has been involved in the design of 
the structured entities and also has the ability to use its power to affect the amount of the 
investee’s returns. Furthermore, Aegon Nederland fully services the investees and can therefore 
influence the defaults of the mortgage loan portfolios. In addition, for several of these 
securitization deals the majority of risks are maintained by Aegon Nederland. These factors 
contributed to the conclusion that Aegon Nederland has control. 
 

2.3. Foreign exchange translation 
 
 
Aegon Nederland’s financial statements are presented in Euro’s, which is Aegon Nederland’s 
functional currency. Transactions in foreign currencies are initially recorded at the functional 
currency rate prevailing at the date of the transaction. Aegon Nederland does not have 
investments in group entities of which the functional currency is not the euro. 
 
At the balance sheet date, monetary assets and monetary liabilities in foreign currencies and 
equity instruments in foreign currencies are translated to the functional currency at the closing 
rate of exchange prevailing on that date. Non-monetary items carried at cost are translated using 
the exchange rate at the date of the transaction, while assets carried at fair value are translated 
at the exchange rate when the fair value was determined. 
 
Exchange differences on monetary items are recognized in the income statement when they 
arise, except when they are deferred in other comprehensive income as a result of a qualifying 
cash flow. Exchange differences on non-monetary items carried at fair value are recognized in 
other comprehensive income or the income statement, consistently with other gains and losses 
on these items. 
 
 
 

2.4. Offsetting of assets and liabilities 
 
 
Financial assets and liabilities are offset in the statement of financial position when Aegon 
Nederland has a legally enforceable right to offset and has the intention to settle the asset and 
liability on a net basis or simultaneously. The legally enforceable right must not be contingent on 
future events and must be enforceable in the normal course of business and not be in the event 
of default, insolvency or bankruptcy of the company or counterpart. 
 
 

2.5. Intangible assets 
 

2.5.1. Goodwill 
 
 
Goodwill is recognized as an intangible asset for interests in subsidiaries and joint ventures 
acquired after January 1, 2004. Goodwill is measured as the positive difference between the 
acquisition cost and the interest of Aegon Nederland in the net fair value of the entity’s 
identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities. Subsequently, goodwill is carried at cost 
less accumulated impairment charges. It is derecognized when the interest in the subsidiary or 
joint venture is disposed.  
 

2.5.2. Value of business acquired 
 
 
When a portfolio of insurance contracts or insurance agency activities is acquired, whether 
directly from another insurance company or as part of a business combination, the difference 
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between the fair value and the carrying amount of the insurance liabilities is recognized as value 
of business acquired (VOBA).  
 
VOBA with respect to insurance contracts is amortized over the remaining duration of the 
acquired portfolio. The amortization period and pattern are reviewed at each reporting date; any 
change in estimates is recorded in the income statement. For all products, VOBA is assessed for 
recoverability at least annually and the portion determined not to be recoverable is charged to 
the income statement. VOBA is considered in the liability adequacy test (or LAT) for each 
reporting period. VOBA is derecognized when the related contracts are settled or disposed of.  
 
VOBA with respect to insurance agency activities is amortized on a straight line basis, taken into 
account the lapse rate in the portfolios. 
 

2.5.3. Software and other intangible assets 
 
 
Software and other intangible assets are recognized to the extent that the assets can be 
identified, are controlled by Aegon Nederland, are expected to provide future economic benefits 
and can be measured reliably.  
 
Aegon Nederland does not recognize internally generated intangible assets arising from research 
or internally generated goodwill, brands, customer lists and similar items. 
 
Software and other intangible assets are carried at cost less accumulated depreciation and 
impairment losses. Depreciation of the asset is over its useful life as the future economic benefits 
emerge and is recognized in the income statement as an expense. The depreciation period and 
pattern are reviewed at each reporting date, with any changes recognized in the income 
statement. 
 
An intangible asset is derecognized when it is disposed of or when no future economic benefits 
are expected from its use or disposal. 
 

2.6. Investments  
General account investments comprise financial assets (excluding derivatives) as well as 
investment in real estate. 
 

2.6.1. Financial assets, excluding derivatives 
 
 
Financial assets (excluding derivatives) are recognized on the trade date when Aegon Nederland 
becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument and are classified for accounting 
purposes depending on the characteristics of the instruments and the purpose for which they 
were purchased.  

Classification 
 
 
The following financial assets are measured at fair value through profit or loss: financial assets 
held for trading, financial assets managed on a fair value basis in accordance with the risk 
management and investment strategy of Aegon Nederland; and financial assets containing an 
embedded derivative that is not closely related to the host contract and that cannot be reliably 
bifurcated.  
In addition, in certain instances Aegon Nederland designates financial assets to this category 
when by doing so a potential accounting mismatch in the financial statements is eliminated or 
significantly reduced. 
 
Financial assets with fixed or determinable payments, that are not quoted in an active market 
and that Aegon Nederland does not intend to sell in the near future are classified as loans, other 
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than those for which the holder may not recover substantially all of its initial investment, other 
than because of credit deterioration, which are accounted for as available-for-sale. 
 

Measurement 
 
 
Financial assets are initially recognized at fair value excluding interest accrued to date plus, in 
the case of a financial asset not at fair value through profit or loss, any directly attributable 
incremental transaction costs. 
 
Loans and financial assets held-to-maturity are subsequently carried at amortized cost using the 
effective interest rate method.  
 
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are measured at fair value with all changes in 
fair value recognized in the line item ‘results from financial transactions’ in the income statement 
as incurred.  
 
Available-for-sale assets are recorded at fair value with unrealized changes in fair value 
recognized in other comprehensive income. The realized changes in fair value are recognized in 
the income statement. 

Amortized cost 
 
 
The amortized cost of a debt instrument is the amount at which it is measured at initial 
recognition minus principal repayments, plus or minus the cumulative amortization of any 
difference between the initial amount and the maturity amount, and minus any reduction for 
impairment.  
 
The effective interest rate method is a method of calculating the amortized cost and of allocating 
the interest income or expense over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate 
that discounts estimated future cash payments or receipts through the expected life of the debt 
instrument or, when appropriate, a shorter period to the net carrying amount of the instrument. 
When calculating the effective interest rate, all contractual terms are considered. Possible future 
credit losses are not taken into account. Charges and interest paid or received between parties to 
the contract that are an integral part of the effective interest rate, transaction costs and all other 
premiums or discounts are included in the calculation. 

Fair value 
 
 
The financial statements provide information on the fair value of all financial assets, including 
those carried at amortized cost where the fair values are provided in the notes to the financial 
statements. 
 
Fair value is defined as the amount that would be received from the sale of an asset or paid to 
transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement 
date under current market conditions (i.e. an exit price at the measurement date from the 
perspective of a market participant that holds the asset or owes the liability). For quoted financial 
assets for which there is an active market, the fair value is the bid price at the balance sheet 
date. In the absence of an active market, fair value is estimated by using present value based or 
other valuation techniques. Where discounting techniques are applied, the discount rate is based 
on current market rates applicable to financial instruments with similar characteristics. The 
valuation techniques that include unobservable inputs can result in a different outcome than the 
actual transaction price at which the asset was acquired. Such differences are not recognized in 
the income statement immediately but are deferred. They are released over time to the income 



Annual report 2014 
Aegon Nederland N.V. 

Page 48 of 199 
 

statement in line with the change in factors (including time) that market participants would 
consider in setting a price for the asset. Interest accrued to date is not included in the fair value 
of the financial asset. 

Derecognition 
 
 
A financial asset is derecognized when the contractual rights to the asset’s cash flows expire, 
Aegon Nederland retains the right to receive cash flows from the asset or has an obligation to 
pay received cash flows in full without delay to a third party and either has transferred the asset 
and substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership, or has neither transferred nor retained 
all the risks and rewards but has transferred control of the asset.  
 
Financial assets of which Aegon Nederland has neither transferred nor retained significantly all 
the risk and rewards are recognized to the extent of the Group’s continuing involvement. If 
significantly all risks are retained, the assets are not derecognized. 
 
On derecognition, the difference between the disposal proceeds and the carrying amount is 
recognized in the income statement as a realized gain or loss. Any cumulative unrealized gain or 
loss previously recognized in the revaluation reserve in shareholders’ equity is also recognized in 
the income statement. 

Collateral 
 
 
With the exception of cash collateral, assets received as collateral are not separately recognized 
as an asset until the financial asset they secure defaults. When cash collateral is recognized, a 
liability is recorded for the same amount. 

Securities lending and repurchase agreements 
 
 
Financial assets that are lent to a third party or that are transferred subject to a repurchase 
agreement at a fixed price are not derecognized as Aegon Nederland retains substantially all the 
risks and rewards of the asset. A liability is recognized for cash (collateral) received, on which 
interest is accrued. 
 
A security that has been received under a borrowing or reverse repurchase agreement is not 
recognized as an asset. A receivable is recognized for any related cash (collateral) paid by Aegon 
Nederland. The difference between sale and repurchase price is treated as investment income. If 
Aegon Nederland subsequently sells that security, a liability to repurchase the asset is recognized 
and initially measured at fair value. 
 

2.6.2. Real estate 
 
 
Real estate for investment purposes (or investments in real estate) is held to earn rentals or for 
capital appreciation, or both. Investments in real estate are initially recognized at cost. 
Subsequently, investments in real estate are measured at fair value with the changes in fair 
value recognized in the income statement. Investments in real estate are derecognized on sale or 
when no future benefits are expected from their use or disposal. The investments in real estate 
consists mainly of residential property. 
 
Investment property is revalued periodically by external valuators. The valuators use the 
guidelines issued by the Investment Property Databank (IPD) when appraising investment 
property. All investment property is revalued at least once a year.  
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When (re)appraising investment property, the valuator takes market developments into account, 
both at the macro and micro level, which have an impact on the value of the property, such as 
recent and expected general economic developments, the relation between supply and demand 
(national and local) for the property category and the development of rents and gross initial 
yields.  
 
There are three levels of valuation used by Aegon Nederland: 

a. Full valuation - at least every three years: an opinion of a valuator based on all possible 
value drivers and market conditions at a specific date. Value drivers in a full valuation 
include market information, legal and constructural information. 

b. Reappraisal - every year: a recalculation of the, at an earlier time made, full valuation. 
The same factors are considered, but less extensive. The object will be visited and also 
the value-determining factors are considered. For legal information and constructive 
information, however, only changes are considered with respect to the situation at the 
time of full valuation.  

c. Market technical update - quarterly. A reappraisal of the value of the investment property 
is conducted using a desktop valuation without visiting the object. The update consists of 
a re-calculation of the value on the basis of the market rent and the market return on the 
valuation date. The following value drivers are considered: gross initial yield (net initial 
yield), discount rate, exit yield, market rent, contractual rent, duration of lease, expected 
duration of the (future) vacancies and expected incentives for relating. For residential 
property, rental and sales turnover rate, the total value if vacant and the vacancy ratio 
are also considered. 

 
The fair value of the real estate portfolio is measured by external appraisers. The entire portfolio 
is covered by 5 appraisal agencies, per year, 20 % of the portfolio is rotated within this group. 
 
The fair value is based on the BAR / NAR (Bruto Aanvangsrendement/ Netto Aanvangsrendement 
or Gross/ Net Initial Yield) methodology. The manager of the real estate portfolio sends the 
required basis data to the appraisers where after the appraisers collect reference information in 
the market. The reference information could be recent transactions of similar real estate 
complexes or recent transactions of similar individual housing.  
 
Using all available information, the external appraisers determine the fair value of the real estate 
property by determining the BAR / NAR per property / complex housing (based on the specific 
characteristics of the dwellings appraised by them). 
 
The manager of the real estate property corroborates the outcome of the external appraisers’ fair 
value by making a confirmatory calculation based on the outcome of two scenario’s: 
1. Income based scenario; and  
2. Scenario based on reference transactions  
 
The highest outcome of these two scenarios is compared with the BAR / NAR calculations as 
provided by the external appraisers. If the difference between both outcomes is material, 
discussions with the external appraisers are held and either the confirmatory calculations or the 
appraised fair value is amended. 
 
Where large investment, renovation or conservation (maintenance) expenditures are expected 
between now and five years, the expected expenditures are explicitly included in the valuation. 
 
Income based scenario 
The income based scenario is a further detailing of BAR/NAR using property specific data. This 
approach requires the use of the discounted cash flow method and determination of the expected 
net rental income for at least a ten year period and the exit value at the end of the timeframe. 
The valuator estimates the net rental income by determining the gross market rent in the first 
year, based on market rent and adjusting for differences between contractual and market rent, 
rent concessions and vacancies. The operational costs, such as fixed expenses, property 
management and rental brokerage and maintenance expenses are deducted. 
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Scenario based on reference transactions 
Three reference transactions are used to determine the sale price free of rent and use. Reference 
transactions would be with similar objects. If there are not enough reference transactions 
available, transactions in comparable cities or historical transactions could also be used for 
reference. Within this scenario, the appraisers reduce the sales price of similar houses if the 
object being appraised is not free of a tenant. This reduction is based upon the difference 
between market sales of similar properties with and without rental contracts. The difference 
between these two has been between 20% and 25% in recent years. 
 
Specifics with respect to leasehold property (‘erfpacht’) 
Especially in the cities of Amsterdam, Rotterdam, The Hague and Utrecht relatively many lands 
have been sold in the past as leasehold. At each valuation it is important to determine the 
situation of the land the property has been build on (freehold or leasehold). In case of leasehold, 
the following general guideline is applicable: 

• If a canon (leasehold rent) is paid, this could be included as operating costs. 
• If the leasehold has been bought for a certain period, the leasehold can be take into the 

valuation as follows: 
o Assess the total property value as if it was build on private land and deduct the 

value of the bare ownership of the land. 
o The value of the bare ownership of the land equals the present value of the 

remaining canons plus the present value of the exit value of the land. 
• If the leasehold has been bought off indefinitely, there is no need for a correction in the 

calculation, unless market references contradict this. 
If available, municipal guidelines for the redemption of the canons are used as reference. 
 
Property under construction 
Aegon Nederland develops, via the joint venture AMVEST Vastgoed B.V, property itself with the 
intention to hold it as investments in real estate. During the construction phase both the land and 
the building are presented as investments in real estate. Property under construction is initially 
valued at directly attributable costs, plus a premium on the amount invested to cover internal 
expenses. On completion of the property is carried at fair value, or at an earlier time when the 
fair value can be determined reliably.  
 
The fair value of a partially completed investment property reflects the expectations of market 
participants of the value of the property when complete, less deductions for the costs required to 
complete the project and appropriate adjustments for profit and risk. The valuation and all key 
assumptions used in the valuation should reflect market conditions at the valuation date. All fair 
value gains and losses are recognized in the income statement. 
 
Maintenance costs and other subsequent expenditure 
Expenditure incurred after initial recognition of the asset is capitalized to the extent that the level 
of future economic benefits of the asset is increased. Costs that restore or maintain the level of 
future economic benefits are recognized in the income statement as incurred. 
 

2.7. Investments for account of policyholders 
 
 
Investments held for account of policyholders consist of investments in financial assets, as well 
as investments in real estate. Investment return on these assets is passed on to the 
policyholders. Also included are the assets held by consolidated investment funds that are 
backing liabilities towards third parties. Investments for account of policyholders are valued at 
fair value through profit or loss. 
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2.8. Derivatives 
 

2.8.1. Definition 
 
 
Derivatives are financial instruments classified as held for trading assets of which the value 
changes in response to an underlying variable, that require little or no net initial investment and 
are settled at a future date. 
 
Assets and liabilities may include derivative-like terms and conditions. With the exception of 
features embedded in contracts held at fair value through profit or loss, embedded derivatives 
that are not considered closely related to the host contract are bifurcated, carried at fair value 
and presented as derivatives. In assessing whether a derivative-like feature is closely related to 
the contract in which it is embedded, Aegon Nederland considers the similarity of the 
characteristics of the embedded derivative and the host contract. Embedded derivatives that 
transfer significant insurance risk are accounted for as insurance contracts. 
 
Derivatives with positive values are reported as assets and derivatives with negative values are 
reported as liabilities.  
 
 
 

2.8.2. Measurement 
 
 
All derivatives recognized on the statement of financial position are carried at fair value. 
 
The fair value is calculated net of the interest accrued to date and is based on market prices, 
when available. When market prices are not available, other valuation techniques, such as option 
pricing or stochastic modeling, are applied. The valuation techniques incorporate all factors that 
market participants would consider and are based on observable market data, to the extent 
possible. Fair value changes are recognized in the income statement. 
 

2.8.3. Hedge accounting 
 
 
As part of its asset liability management, Aegon Nederland enters into economic hedges to limit 
its risk exposure. These planned transactions are assessed to determine whether hedge 
accounting can and should be applied.  
 
To qualify for hedge accounting, the hedge relationship is designated and formally documented at 
inception, detailing the particular risk management objective and strategy for the hedge (which 
includes the item and risk that is being hedged), the derivative that is being used and how hedge 
effectiveness is being assessed. A derivative has to be effective in accomplishing the objective of 
offsetting either changes in fair value or cash flows for the risk being hedged. The effectiveness 
of the hedging relationship is evaluated on a prospective and retrospective basis using qualitative 
and quantitative measures of correlation. Qualitative methods may include comparison of critical 
terms of the derivative to the hedged item. Quantitative methods include a comparison of the 
changes in the fair value or discounted cash flow of the hedging instrument to the hedged item. A 
hedging relationship is considered effective if the results of the hedging instrument are within a 
ratio of 80% to 125% of the results of the hedged item. 
 
For hedge accounting purposes, a distinction is made between fair value hedges, cash flow 
hedges and hedges of a net investment in a foreign operation.  
 
Aegon Nederland currently only uses fair value hedge accounting.  
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Fair value hedge accounting  
Changes in the fair value of derivatives that are designated and qualify as fair value hedges are 
recognized in the profit and loss account, together with fair value adjustments to the hedged 
item attributable to the hedged risk (‘base adjustment’). If the hedge relationship no longer 
meets the criteria for hedge accounting, the cumulative base adjustment is, in the case of 
interest bearing instruments, amortized through profit or loss over the remaining duration of the 
hedged items or recognized directly when the hedged items are derecognized.  
 
Aegon Nederland applies fair value hedge accounting to portfolio hedges of interest rate risk (fair 
value macro hedging) under the EU ‘carve out’ of IFRS. The EU ‘carve out’ macro hedging 
enables a group of derivatives (or proportions thereof) to be viewed in combination and jointly 
designated as the hedging instrument and removes some of the limitations in fair value hedge 
accounting. Under the EU ‘carve out’, ineffectiveness in fair value hedge accounting only arises 
when the revised projection of the amount of cash flows in scheduled time buckets falls below the 
designated amount of that bucket. Aegon applies fair value hedge accounting for portfolio hedges 
of interest rate risk (macro hedging) under the EU ‘carve out’ to mortgage loans. Changes in the 
fair value of the derivatives are recognized in the profit and loss account, together with the fair 
value adjustment on the mortgages (hedged items) insofar as attributable to interest rate risk 
(the hedged risk). 
 

2.9. Investment in joint arrangements 
 
 
In general, joint arrangements are contractual agreements whereby the Group undertakes with 
other parties an economic activity that is subject to joint control. Joint control exists when it is 
contractually agreed to share control over an economic activity. Joint control exists only when 
decisions about the relevant activities require the unanimous consent of the parties sharing 
control. 
 
Investments in joint arrangements are classified as either joint operations or joint ventures 
depending on the contractual rights and obligations each investor has rather than the legal 
structure of the joint arrangement. Aegon Nederland has assessed the nature of its joint 
arrangements and determined them to be joint ventures. Joint ventures are accounted for using 
the equity method. 
 
Under the equity method of accounting, interests in joint ventures are initially recognized at cost, 
which includes positive goodwill arising on acquisition. Negative goodwill is recognized in the 
income statement on the acquisition date. If joint ventures are obtained in successive share 
purchases, each significant transaction is accounted for separately. 
 
The carrying amount is subsequently adjusted to reflect the change in the share of Aegon 
Nederland in the net assets of the joint venture and is subject to impairment testing. The net 
assets are determined based on the accounting policies of Aegon Nederland. Any gains and losses 
recorded in other comprehensive income by the joint venture are reflected in other reserves in 
shareholders’ equity, while the share in the joint ventures net income is recognized as a separate 
line item in the consolidated income statement. The share in losses of Aegon Nederland is 
recognized until the investment in the joint ventures' equity and any other long-term interest 
that are part of the net investment are reduced to nil, unless guarantees exist. 
 
Gains and losses on transactions between Aegon Nederland and the joint ventures are eliminated 
to the extent of the interest in the entity of Aegon Nederland, with the exception of losses that 
are evidence of impairment which are recognized immediately.  
 
On disposal of an interest in a joint venture, the difference between the net proceeds and the 
carrying amount is recognized in the income statement and gains and losses previously recorded 
directly in the revaluation reserve are reversed and recorded through the income statement. 
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2.10. Investment in associates 
 
 
Entities over which Aegon Nederland has significant influence through power to participate in 
financial and operating policy decisions, but which do not meet the definition of a subsidiary or 
joint venture, are accounted for using the equity method. Interests held by Aegon Nederland in 
venture capital entities, mutual funds and investment funds that are managed on a fair value 
basis, are accounted for as investments held at fair value through profit or loss. 
 
Interests in associates are initially recognized at cost, which includes positive goodwill arising on 
acquisition. Negative goodwill is recognized in the income statement on the acquisition date. If 
associates are obtained in successive share purchases, each significant transaction is accounted 
for separately. 
 
The carrying amount is subsequently adjusted to reflect the change in the share of Aegon 
Nederland in the net assets of the associate and is subject to impairment testing. The net assets 
are determined based on the accounting policies of Aegon Nederland. Any gains and losses 
recorded in other comprehensive income by the associate are reflected in other reserves in 
shareholders’ equity, while the share in the associate’s net income is recognized as a separate 
line item in the consolidated income statement. The share in losses of Aegon Nederland is 
recognized until the investment in the associate’s equity and any other long-term interest that 
are part of the net investment are reduced to nil, unless guarantees exist. 
 
Gains and losses on transactions between Aegon Nederland and the associate are eliminated to 
the extent of the interest in the entity of Aegon Nederland, with the exception of losses that are 
evidence of impairment which are recognized immediately.  
 
On disposal of an interest in an associate, the difference between the net proceeds and the 
carrying amount is recognized in the income statement and gains and losses previously recorded 
directly in the revaluation reserve are reversed and recorded through the income statement. 
 
 

2.11. Reinsurance assets 
 
 
Reinsurance contracts are contracts entered into by Aegon Nederland in order to receive 
compensation for losses on contracts written by Aegon Nederland (outgoing reinsurance). For 
contracts transferring sufficient insurance risk, a reinsurance asset is recognized for the expected 
future benefits, less expected future reinsurance premiums and a possible provision for doubtful 
debt. Reinsurance contracts with insufficient insurance risk transfer are accounted for as 
investment or service contracts, depending on the nature of the agreement. 
 
Reinsurance assets are measured consistently with the assumptions associated with the 
underlying insurance contracts and in accordance with the terms of each reinsurance contract. 
They are subject to impairment testing and are derecognized when the contractual rights are 
extinguished or expire or when the contract is transferred to another party. 
 
Aegon Nederland is not relieved of its legal liabilities when entering into reinsurance transactions, 
therefore the reserves relating to the underlying insurance contracts will continue to be reported 
on the statement of financial position during the run-off period of the underlying business. 
 
Reinsurance premiums, commissions and claim settlements are accounted for in the same way as 
the original contracts for which the reinsurance was concluded. The insurance premiums for the 
original contracts are presented gross of reinsurance premiums paid. 
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2.12. Deferred expenses  
 

2.12.1. Deferred policy acquisition costs (DPAC) 
 
 
DPAC relates to all insurance contracts as well as investment contracts with discretionary 
participation features and represents directly attributable costs that are related to the selling, 
underwriting and initiating of these insurance contracts. 
 
Acquisition costs are deferred to the extent that they are recoverable and are subsequently 
amortized based on factors such as expected gross profit margins.  
 
For all products, DPAC, in conjunction with VOBA where appropriate, is assessed for 
recoverability at least annually as part of the liability adequacy test for each reporting period. The 
portion of DPAC that is determined not to be recoverable is charged to the income statement. 
 
DPAC is derecognized when the related contracts are settled or disposed of. 
 

2.12.2. Deferred cost of reinsurance 
  
 
A deferred cost of reinsurance is established when Aegon Nederland enters into a reinsurance 
transaction. Aegon Nederland is not relieved of its legal liabilities, so the reserves relating to the 
underlying insurance contracts will continue to be reported on the consolidated statement of 
financial position during the run-off period of the underlying business. 
 
Gains or losses on buying reinsurance are amortized based on the assumptions of the underlying 
insurance contracts. The amortization is recognized in the income statement. 

 
 

2.13. Other assets and receivables 
Other assets and receivables include real estate held for own use, equipment, trade and other 
receivables, and prepaid expenses. Trade and other receivables are initially recognized at fair 
value and are subsequently measured at amortized cost. Equipment is initially carried at cost, 
depreciated on a straight line basis over its useful life to its residual value and is subject to 
impairment testing. 
 
Real estate held for own use is initially recognized at cost and subsequently carried at its 
revalued amount, which is the fair value at the date of revaluation less subsequent accumulated 
depreciation and impairment losses. Depreciation is calculated on a straight line basis over the 
useful life of a building. Land is not depreciated. On revaluation the accumulated depreciation is 
eliminated against the gross carrying amount of the asset and the net amount is restated to the 
revalued amount. Increases in the net carrying amount are recognized in the related revaluation 
reserve and are released to other comprehensive income over the remaining useful life of the 
property.  
 
Valuations of real estate held for own use are conducted with sufficient regularity to ensure the 
value correctly reflects the fair value at the balance sheet date. Valuations comply with the 
guidelines issued by IPD. For more information on the (re)valuing real estate, please see note 
2.6.2 ‘Real estate’. 
 
Real estate for own use is derecognized on sale or when no future benefits are expected from its 
use or disposal.  On disposal of an asset, the difference between the net proceeds received and 
the carrying amount is recognized in the income statement. Any remaining surplus attributable to 
real estate in own use in the revaluation reserve is transferred to retained earnings. 
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2.14. Cash and cash equivalents 
 
 
Cash comprises cash at banks and in-hand. Cash equivalents are short-term, highly liquid 
investments with original maturities of three months or less that are readily convertible to known 
cash amounts, are subject to insignificant risks of changes in value and are held for the purpose 
of meeting short-term cash requirements.  
 
Money market investments that are held for investment purposes (backing insurance liabilities, 
investment liabilities or equity based on asset liability management considerations) are not 
included in cash and cash equivalents but are presented as investments or investments for 
account of policyholders.  
 

2.15. Impairment of assets 
 
 
An asset is impaired if the carrying amount exceeds the amount that would be recovered through 
its use or sale. For tangible and intangible assets, financial assets and reinsurance assets, if not 
held at fair value through profit or loss, the recoverable amount of the asset is estimated when 
there are indications that the asset may be impaired. Irrespective of the indications, goodwill and 
other intangible assets with an indefinite useful life that are not amortized are tested at least 
annually. 
 
There are a number of significant risks and uncertainties inherent in the process of monitoring 
investments and determining if impairment exists. These risks and uncertainties include the risk 
that Aegon Nederland’s assessment of an issuer’s ability to meet all of its contractual obligations 
will change based on changes in the credit characteristics of that issuer and the risk that the 
economic outlook will be worse than expected or have more of an impact on the issuer than 
anticipated. Any of these situations could result in a charge against the income statement to the 
extent of the impairment charge recorded. 
 

2.15.1. Impairment of non-financial assets 
 
 
Assets are tested individually for impairment when there are indications that the asset may be 
impaired. For goodwill and intangible assets with an indefinite life, an impairment test is 
performed at least once a year or more frequently as a result of an event or change in 
circumstances that would indicate an impairment charge may be necessary. The impairment 
loss is calculated as the difference between the carrying and the recoverable amount of the 
asset, which is the higher of an asset’s value in use and its fair value less cost of disposal. The 
value in use represents the discounted future net cash flows from the continuing use and 
ultimate disposal of the asset and reflects its known inherent risks and uncertainties. The 
valuation utilized the best available information, including assumptions and projections 
considered reasonable and supportable by management. The assumptions used in the valuation 
involve significant judgments and estimates.  
 
Impairment losses are charged to shareholders’ equity to the extent that they offset a previously 
recorded revaluation reserve relating to the same item. Any further losses are recognized directly 
in the income statement. 
 
With the exception of goodwill and VOBA, impairment losses are reversed when there is evidence 
that there has been a change in the estimates used to determine the asset’s recoverable amount 
since the recognition of the last impairment loss. The reversal is recognized in the income 
statement to the extent that it reverses impairment losses previously recognized in the income 
statement. The carrying amount after reversal cannot exceed the amount that would have been 
recognized if no impairment had taken place.  
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Non-financial assets that only generate cash flows in combination with other assets and liabilities 
are tested for impairment at the level of the cash-generating unit. The goodwill acquired in a 
business combination, for the purpose of impairment testing, is allocated to cash-generating 
units, or groups of cash-generating units, that are expected to benefit from the synergies of the 
combination. The allocation is based on the level at which goodwill is monitored internally. When 
impairing a cash-generating unit, any goodwill allocated to the unit is first written-off and 
recognized in the income statement. The remaining impairment loss is allocated on a pro rata 
basis among the other assets, on condition that the resulting carrying amounts do not fall below 
the individual assets’ recoverable amounts. 
 

2.15.2. Impairment of debt instruments 
 
 
Debt instruments are impaired if there is objective evidence that a credit event has occurred 
after the initial recognition of the asset that has a negative impact on the estimated future cash 
flows. A specific security is considered to be impaired when it is determined that it is probable 
that not all amounts due (both principal and interest) will be collected as scheduled. Individually 
significant loans and other receivables are first assessed separately. All non-impaired assets 
measured at amortized cost are then grouped by credit risk characteristics and collectively tested 
for impairment.  
 
For debt instruments carried at amortized cost, the carrying amount of impaired financial assets 
is reduced through an allowance account. The impairment loss is calculated as the difference 
between the carrying and recoverable amount of the investment. The recoverable amount is 
determined by discounting the estimated probable future cash flows at the original effective 
interest rate of the asset. For variable interest debt instruments, the current effective interest 
rate under the contract is applied.  
 
For debt instruments classified as available-for-sale, the asset is impaired to its fair value. Any 
unrealized loss previously recognized in other comprehensive income is taken to the income 
statement in the impairment loss. After impairment the interest accretion on debt instruments 
that are classified as available-for-sale is based on the rate of return that would be required by 
the market for similar rated instruments at the date of impairment. 
 
Impairment losses recognized for debt instruments can be reversed if in subsequent periods the 
amount of the impairment loss decreases and that decrease can be objectively related to a credit 
event occurring after the impairment was recognized. For debt instruments carried at amortized 
cost, the carrying amount after reversal cannot exceed what the amortized cost would have been 
at the reversal date, had the impairment not been recognized. 
 

2.15.3. Impairment of equity instruments 
 
 
For equity instruments, objective evidence of impairment of an investment in an equity 
instrument classified as available-for-sale includes information about significant changes with an 
adverse effect that have taken place in the technological, market, economic or legal environment 
in which the issuer operates, and indicates that the cost of the investment in the equity 
instrument may not be recovered.  
A significant or prolonged decline in fair value below initial cost is also considered objective 
evidence of impairment and always results in a loss being recognized in the income statement. 
Significant or prolonged decline is defined by Aegon Nederland as an unrealized loss position for 
generally more than six months or a fair value of less than 80% of the cost price of the 
investment. Equity investments are impaired to the asset’s fair value and any unrealized gain or 
loss previously recognized in shareholders’ equity is taken to the income statement as an 
impairment loss. The amount exceeding the balance of previously recognized unrealized gains or 
losses is recognized in the income statement.  
If an available-for-sale equity security is impaired based upon Aegon’s qualitative or quantitative 
impairment criteria, any further declines in the fair value at subsequent reporting dates are 
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recognized as impairments. Therefore, at each reporting period, for an equity security that is 
determined to be impaired based upon Aegon’s impairment criteria, an impairment is recognized 
for the difference between the fair value and the original cost basis, less any previously 
recognized impairments. 
 
Impairment losses on equity instruments cannot be reversed. 
 

2.15.4. Impairment of reinsurance assets 
 
 
Reinsurance assets are impaired if there is objective evidence, as a result of an event that 
occurred after initial recognition of the reinsurance asset, that not all amounts due under the 
terms of the contract may be received. In such a case, the value of the reinsurance asset 
recoverable is determined based on the best estimate of future cash flows, taking into 
consideration the reinsurer’s current and expected future financial conditions plus any collateral 
held in trust for Aegon’s benefit. The carrying value is reduced to this calculated recoverable 
value, and the impairment loss recognized in the income statement. 
 

2.16. Equity 
 
 
Share capital is stated at par value. The share premium reserve, where applicable, relates to 
capital contributions which have occurred since incorporation without issuing new shares. The 
revaluation reserves represent the difference between the fair values of available-for-sale assets 
and (amortized) cost, taking into account income tax.  
 
Dividends and other distributions to holders of equity instruments are recognized directly in 
equity. A liability for dividends payable is not recognized until the dividends have been declared 
and approved. 
 

2.17. Insurance contracts 
 
 
Insurance contracts are accounted for under IFRS 4 – Insurance Contracts. In accordance with 
this standard, Aegon Nederland continues to apply the existing accounting policies that were 
applied prior to the adoption of IFRS, with certain modifications allowed by IFRS 4 for standards 
effective subsequent to adoption. Aegon Nederland applies in general accounting policies for 
insurance liabilities to the extent that it was allowed under Dutch Accounting Principles. 
 
Insurance assets and liabilities are valued in accordance with the accounting principles that were 
applied by Aegon Nederland prior to the transition to IFRS and with consideration of changes to 
standards effective subsequent to the date of transition to IFRS, as further described in the 
following paragraphs. The valuation methods are based on the general principle that the carrying 
amount of the net liability must be sufficient to meet any reasonably foreseeable obligation 
resulting from the insurance contracts.  
 
Insurance contracts are contracts under which Aegon Nederland accepts a significant risk – other 
than a financial risk – from a policyholder by agreeing to compensate the beneficiary on the 
occurrence of an uncertain future event by which he or she will be adversely affected. Contracts 
that do not meet this definition are accounted for as investment contracts. Aegon Nederland 
reviews homogeneous books of contracts to assess whether the underlying contracts transfer 
significant insurance risk on an individual basis. This is considered the case when at least one 
scenario with commercial substance can be identified in which Aegon Nederland has to pay 
significant additional benefits to the policyholder. Contracts that have been classified as 
insurance are not reclassified subsequently. 
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Insurance liabilities are recognized when the contract is entered into and the premiums are 
charged. The liability is derecognized when the contract expires, is discharged, disposed or 
cancelled.  
 
Insurance contracts are recognized as of the beginning of the coverage period. If the coverage 
period commences before all legal documents are signed and returned, the insurance contract 
shall still be recognized, if 

(a) the amount of revenue can be measured reliably: 
• The entity has agreed to the following with the other parties to the transaction: 

o each party’s enforceable rights regarding the service to be provided and 
received by the parties; 

o the consideration to be exchanged; and 
o the manner and terms of settlement, 

• From Aegon Nederland’s point of view, the date of the offer would be the date 
Aegon Nederland agreed to the above. However, this is not necessarily the date 
at which both parties have agreed to the terms. This could be but is not limited 
to:  

o a signed and returned offer; 
o an acceptance email from the client; 
o the receipt of  first deposits  

(b) it is probable that the economic benefits associated with the transaction will flow to the 
entity. 

 
In the unlikely event of an onerous contract, this contract is to be recognized at the earliest date 
of: 

(a) the beginning of the coverage period or  
(b) the date on which both parties have agreed to the terms (the same guidance as for 

profitable contracts applies). 
  
 
 

2.17.1. Life insurance contracts 
 
 
Life insurance contracts are insurance contracts with life-contingent benefits. The measurement 
of the liability for life insurance contracts varies depending on the nature of the product.  
 
Liabilities arising from traditional life insurance products that are offered by Aegon Nederland, 
particularly those with fixed and guaranteed account terms, are typically measured using the net 
premium method. Under this method, the liability is determined as the sum of the discounted 
value of the expected benefits and future administration expenses directly related to the 
contract, less the discounted value of the expected theoretical premiums that would be required 
to meet the future cash outflows based on the valuation assumptions used. The liability is based 
on current assumptions, although for the discount rate a fixed 3% or 4% is used. Furthermore, 
the liability for life insurance comprises reserves for unearned premiums and accrued annuity 
benefits payable. 
 
The liability for life insurance products includes the provision for future administration expenses, 
formed to cover the expected future expenses with respect to the period after premium payment, 
as well as a provision with respect to future expenses associated with processing benefits (such 
as annuities and pension payments). 
 
Terms and conditions, including participation features and expected lapse rates, are considered 
when establishing the insurance liabilities. Where Aegon Nederland has discretion over the 
amount or timing of the bonuses distributed resulting from participation features, a liability is 
recognized equal to the amount that is available at the balance sheet date for future distribution 
to policyholders. 
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In establishing the liability, guaranteed minimum benefits issued to the policyholder are 
measured as described in note 2.17.4 ‘Embedded derivatives’ or, if bifurcated from the host 
contract, as described in note 0 ‘Derivatives’. 
 
 

2.17.2. Deferred interest rebates 
 
For certain group pension contracts Aegon Nederland applies a correction ( rebate or a 
surcharge) to the premium receivable based on the expected interest that will be earned on the 
contract. the expected interest is normally calculated with reference to a portfolio of governance 
bonds. The rebate or surplus charge can be subject to additional conditions concerning actual 
returns or the continuation of the policy for a specified number of years. Rebates or surcharges 
that are deferred and amortized on a straight line basis as the expected interest is realized. The 
amortization in the income statement in 'policy holder claims and benefits'. The unamortized 
postion forms part of the insurance contract liability. 
 
 

2.17.3. Life insurance contracts for account of policyholders 
 
 
Life insurance contracts under which the policyholder bears the risks associated with the 
underlying investments are classified as insurance contracts for account of policyholders. The 
liability for the insurance contracts for account of policyholders is measured at the policyholder 
account balance. Contracts with unit-denominated payments are measured at current unit 
values, which reflect the fair values of the assets of the fund. In addition, the measurement of 
these insurance contracts also include provisioning for expected additional costs, such as 
expenses and longevity. 
 
 
 

2.17.4. Embedded derivatives 
 
 
Life insurance contracts typically include derivative-like terms and conditions. With the exception 
of policyholder options to surrender the contract at a fixed amount, contractual features that are 
not closely related to the insurance contract and that do not themselves meet the definition of 
insurance contracts are accounted for as derivatives.  
 
Guaranteed minimum benefits 
Certain life insurance contracts, issued by Aegon Nederland, contain guaranteed minimum 
benefits.  
Bifurcated guaranteed minimum benefits are classified as derivatives. 
An additional liability is established for guaranteed minimum investment returns on group 
pension plans with profit sharing and on traditional insurance contracts with profit sharing based 
on an external interest index, that are not bifurcated. These guarantees are measured at fair 
value. 
 

2.17.5. Shadow accounting 
 
 
Shadow accounting allows that all gains and losses on investments affect the measurement of 
the insurance assets and liabilities in the same way, regardless of whether they are realized or 
unrealized and regardless of whether the unrealized gains and losses are recognized in the 
income statement or directly in equity in the revaluation reserve. In some instances, realized 
gains or losses on investments have a direct effect on the measurement of the insurance assets 
and liabilities. For example, some insurance contracts include benefits that are contractually 
based on the investment returns realized by the insurer. In addition, realization of gains or losses 
on available-for-sale investments can lead to unlocking of VOBA or DPAC and can also affect the 
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outcome of the liability adequacy test to the extent that it considers actual future investment 
returns. For similar changes in unrealized gains and losses, shadow accounting is applied.  
 
If interest rate movements resulting in a unrealized gain or loss, triggers a shadow loss 
adjustment to VOBA, DPAC or the insurance liabilities, the corresponding adjustment is 
recognized through other comprehensive income in the revaluation reserve, together with the 
unrealized gain or loss.  
 
 

2.17.6. Non-life insurance contracts 
 
 
Non-life insurance contracts are insurance contracts where the insured event is not life-
contingent. For non-life products the insurance liability generally includes reserves for unearned 
premiums, unexpired risk, inadequate premium levels and outstanding claims and benefits. No 
catastrophe or equalization reserves are included in the measurement of the liability.  
 
The reserve for unearned premiums includes premiums received for risks that have not yet 
expired. The reserve is released over the term of the contract and is recognized as premium 
income.  
 
The liability for outstanding claims and benefits is established for claims that have not been 
settled and any related cash flows, such as claims handling costs. It includes claims that have 
been incurred but have not been reported to Aegon Nederland. The liability is calculated at the 
reporting date using statistical methods based on empirical data and current assumptions that 
may include a margin for adverse deviation.  
 
Liabilities for claims subject to periodic payment are calculated using actuarial methods 
consistent with those applied to life insurance contracts. Discounting is applied when measuring 
these insurance liabilities when there is a high level of certainty concerning the amount and 
settlement term of the cash outflows. 
 
The insurance liability for periodic payments ((Arbeidsongeschiktheidsverzekering (AOV) and Wet 
Inkomen en Arbeid (WIA)), is calculated on an ‘item by item’ basis using the 'KAZO' method. For 
AOV-payments, the calculation takes place according to the 'AOV-2000' principles, discounting 
the liability at a 3% discount rate. With respect to WIA the claims with respect to long-term sick 
leave (> 2 years) are calculated on an ‘item by item’ basis and discounted at the DNB curve. 
 

2.17.7. Liability Adequacy Testing  
Aegon Nederland performs an aggregate Liability Adequacy Test for both life and non-life 
insurance contracts together. 
 
Liability Adequacy Testing with respect to life insurance contracts 
 
 
At each reporting date the adequacy of the life insurance liabilities is assessed using a liability 
adequacy test. The liability is considered to be "adequate" if the current estimate of all 
contractual future cash flows is less than the insurance liability minus any related VOBA and 
DPAC plus the difference between carrying value and fair value of certain investments.  
 
All tests performed within Aegon Nederland are based on current estimates of all contractual 
future cash flows, including related cash flows from policyholder options and guarantees. A 
number of valuation methods are applied, including discounted cash flow methods, option pricing 
models and stochastic modeling.  
 
Aggregation levels are set at the level of portfolio of contracts that are subject to broadly similar 
risks and managed together as a single portfolio. Diversification benefits on the level of the group 
are taken into account. To the extent that the tests involve discounting of future cash flows, the 
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interest rate applied is based on market rates or is based on the expectation of the future return 
on investments. These future returns on investments take into account management’s best 
estimate related to the actual investments and, where applicable, reinvestments of these 
investments at maturity. 
 
To the extent that the account balances are insufficient to meet future benefits and expenses, 
any resulting deficiency is recognized in the income statement, initially by impairing the DPAC 
and VOBA and subsequently by establishing an insurance liability for the remaining loss, unless 
shadow loss recognition has taken place. The assumptions in the liability adequacy test contain a 
margin for risk. The risk margin is determined according to the cost of capital method. 
 
Additions to the insurance liability under the liability adequacy test can be reversed in subsequent 
periods when they have proven to be no longer necessary. 
 
Shadow loss recognition 
While using market interest rates for the valuation of debt securities will lead to a change in the 
revaluation reserve and comprehensive income, the result of using the same assumptions on the 
liabilities could lead to a deficiency in the liability adequacy test that should be recognized in the 
income statement. The deficiency of  insurance liability triggered by a decrease in interest rates 
is offset against the revaluation reserves to the extent that the revaluation reserve on debt 
securities will not become negative. 
 
See note 3.3 for more information on the used interest yield and mortality tables. 
 
Liability Adequacy Testing with respect to non-life insurance contracts 
 
 
At each reporting date the adequacy of the non-life insurance liabilities is assessed using a 
liability adequacy test. The liability is considered to be "adequate" if the current estimate of all 
contractual future cash flows is less than the insurance liability plus the difference between 
carrying value and fair value of certain investments. To the extent that the account balances are 
insufficient to meet future claims and expenses, additional liabilities are established and included 
in the liability for non-life insurance. 
 
Changes in expected claims that have occurred, but that have not been settled, are reflected by 
adjusting the liability for claims and future benefits. The reserve for unexpired risk is increased to 
the extent that the future claims and expenses in respect of current insurance contracts exceed 
the future premiums plus the current unearned premium reserve. 
 
Additions to the insurance liability under the liability adequacy test can be reversed in subsequent 
periods when they have proven to be no longer necessary. 
 

2.18. Savings deposits 
 
 
Savings deposits are stated at amortized cost (net of accrued interest). Accrued interest is 
recognized in the consolidated statement of financial position under 'other liabilities and accruals'. 
The balances are largely repayable on demand. The initial valuation of this item reasonably 
approximates fair value. 
 

2.19. Investment contracts 
 
 
Contracts issued by Aegon Nederland that do not transfer significant insurance risk, but do 
transfer financial risk from the policyholder to Aegon Nederland are accounted for as investment 
contracts. Depending on whether Aegon Nederland or the policyholder runs the risks associated 
with the investments allocated to the contract, the liabilities are classified as investment 
contracts or as investment contracts for account of policyholders. Investment contract liabilities 
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are recognized when the contract is entered into and are derecognized when the contract 
expires, is discharged or is cancelled. 
 
Contracts with unit-denominated payments are measured at current unit values, which reflect the 
fair values of the assets of the fund.  
 

2.20. Investment contracts for account of policyholders 
 
 
Investment contracts for account of policyholders are investment contracts for which the actual 
return on investments allocated to the contract is passed on to the policyholder.  
 
Investment contracts for account of policyholders are designated at fair value through profit or 
loss. Contracts with unit-denominated payments are measured at current unit values, which 
reflect the fair values of the assets of the fund. 
 

2.21. Long-term borrowings and group loans 
 
 
Long-term borrowings and group loans are initially recognized at their fair value excluding 
accrued interest and including directly attributable incremental transaction costs and are 
subsequently carried at amortized cost using the effective interest rate method, with the 
exception of specific borrowings that are measured at fair value through profit or loss to 
eliminate, or significantly reduce, an accounting mismatch, or specific borrowings which are 
carried at fair value as part of a fair value hedge relationship. Long-term borrowings and group 
loans are derecognized when Aegon Nederland’s obligation under the contract expires or is 
discharged or cancelled.  
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2.22. Provisions 

 
 
A provision is recognized for present legal or constructive obligations arising from past events, 
when it is probable that it will result in an outflow of economic benefits and the amount can be 
reliably estimated. Management exercises judgment in evaluating the probability that a loss will 
be incurred. 
 
The amount recognized as a provision is the best estimate of the expenditure required to settle 
the present obligation at the balance sheet date, considering all its inherent risks and 
uncertainties, as well as the time value of money. The estimate of the amount of a loss requires 
management judgment in the selection of a proper calculation model and the specific 
assumptions related to the particular exposure. The unwinding of the effect of discounting is 
recorded in the income statement as an interest expense. 
 
Onerous contracts 
With the exception of insurance contracts and investment contracts with discretionary 
participation features for which potential future losses are already considered in establishing the 
liability, a provision is recognized for onerous contracts in which the unavoidable costs of meeting 
the resulting obligations exceed the expected future economic benefits. The unavoidable costs 
under a contract reflect the least net cost of exiting from the contract, which is the lower of the 
cost of fulfilling it and any compensation or penalties arising from failure to fulfill it. 

Restructuring provisions 
 
 
Restructuring provisions comprise the direct expenditures arising from the restructuring, which 
are those that are both: 

(a) necessarily entailed by the restructuring; and 
(b) not associated with the ongoing activities of Aegon Nederland. 

 
The expenditures included in the restructuring provision are mainly employee expenses and these 
are based on the social plan. For Aegon Nederland, this means that a reassignment period of up 
to six months for surplus staff has been taken into account and that redundancy payments will be 
made to all surplus staff who cannot be relocated, irrespective of whether they find a new job 
within the reassignment period.  
 
Provisions for commissions 
This provision consists of ‘unearned’ commissions. These commissions have been received, but 
the activities to earn the commissions are still to be performed. Part of this provision is also the 
possible future repayment of upfront fees received. 
  

2.23. Assets and liabilities relating to employee benefits 
 

2.23.1. Short-term employee benefits 
 
 
A liability is recognized for the undiscounted amount of short-term employee benefits expected to 
be settled within one year after the end of the period in which the service was rendered. 
Accumulating short-term absences are recognized over the period in which the service is 
provided. Benefits that are not service-related are recognized when the event that gives rise to 
the obligation occurs. 
 

2.23.2. Post-employment benefits 
Aegon Nederland has issued defined contribution plans and defined benefit plans. A plan is 
classified as a defined contribution plan when Aegon Nederland has no further obligation than the 
payment of a fixed contribution. All other plans are classified as defined benefit plans. 
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Defined contribution plans 
 
 
The contribution payable to a defined contribution plan for services provided is recognized as an 
expense in the income statement. An asset is recognized to the extent that the contribution paid 
exceeds the amount due for services provided. 

Defined benefit plans 
 
 
Measurement 
The defined benefit obligation is based on the terms and conditions of the plan applicable on the 
balance sheet date. In measuring the defined benefit obligation Aegon Nederland uses the 
projected unit credit method and actuarial assumptions that represent the best estimate of future 
variables.  
 
Plan improvements are recognized in the income statement at the date when the plan 
improvement occurs. 
 
Plan assets are qualifying insurance policies and assets held by long-term employee benefit funds 
that can only be used to pay the employee benefits under the plan and are not available to the 
creditors of Aegon Nederland. They are measured at fair value and are deducted from the defined 
benefit obligation in determining the amount recognized on the statement of financial position.  
 
Assets held by Aegon Nederland backing the retirement benefits do not meet the definition of 
plan assets and as such were not deducted from the defined benefit obligation. Instead, these 
assets are recognized as general account assets. Consequently, the expected return on these 
assets also does not form part of the calculation of defined benefit expenses. 
 
Profit or loss recognition 
The cost of the defined benefit plans is determined at the beginning of the year and comprise the 
following components:  

• Current year service cost which is recognized in profit or loss; and  
• Net interest on the net defined benefit liability (asset) which is recognized in profit or 

loss. 
  
Remeasurements of the net defined benefit liability (asset) which are recognized in other 
comprehensive income are revisited quarterly. Remeasurements of the net defined benefit 
liability (asset) shall not be reclassified to profit or loss in a subsequent period. 
 
Any employee contributions are deducted from the current year service cost. Net interest on the 
net defined benefit liability (asset) shall be determined by multiplying the net defined benefit 
liability (asset) by the applicable discount rate. Net interest on the net defined benefit liability 
(asset) comprises interest income on plan assets and interest cost on the defined benefit 
obligation. Whereby interest income on plan assets is a component of the return on plan assets, 
and is determined by multiplying the fair value of the plan assets by the applicable discount rate. 
The difference between the interest income on plan assets and the actual return on plan assets is 
included in the remeasurement of the net defined benefit liability (asset). 
 
Remeasurements of the net defined benefit liability (asset) comprise of: 

• Actuarial gains and losses; 
• The return on plan assets, excluding amounts included in net interest on the net defined 

benefit liability (asset); and 
• Any change in the effect of the asset ceiling, excluding amounts included in net interest 

on the net defined benefit liability (asset). 
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Settlements 
Gains or losses on curtailments or settlements of a defined benefit plan comprise of the 
difference between: 

• The present value of the defined benefit obligation being settled, as determined on the 
date of settlement; and  

• The settlement price, including any plan assets transferred and any payments made 
directly by Aegon Nederland in connection with the settlement. 

 
Aegon Nederland recognizes gains or losses on the curtailment or settlement of a defined benefit 
plan when the curtailment or settlement occurs. 
 

2.23.3. Share-based payments 
 
 
Aegon Nederland has issued share-based plans that entitle employees to receive equity 
instruments issued by Aegon N.V. or cash payments based on the price of Aegon N.V. common 
shares.  
 
Some plans provide employees of Aegon Nederland with the choice of settlement. 
 
For share option plans that are equity-settled, the expense recognized is based on the fair value 
on the grant date of the share options, which does not reflect any performance conditions other 
than conditions linked to the price of the Group’s shares. The cost is recognized in the income 
statement, together with a corresponding increase in shareholders’ equity, as the services are 
rendered. During this period the cumulative expense recognized at the reporting date reflects 
management’s best estimate of the number of shares expected to vest ultimately. 
 
Share appreciation right plans are initially recognized at fair value at the grant date, taking into 
account the terms and conditions on which the instruments were granted. The fair value is 
expensed over the period until vesting, with recognition of a corresponding liability. The liability is 
remeasured at each reporting date and at the date of settlement, with any changes in fair value 
recognized in the income statement.  
 
Share option plans that can be settled in either shares or cash at the discretion of the employee 
are accounted for as a compound financial instrument, which includes a debt component and an 
equity component. 
 

2.24. Tax assets and liabilities 
Tax assets and liabilities are amounts payable and receivable by Aegon N.V., since Aegon N.V. 
heads the tax group. Aegon Global Investment Fund B.V. is not a member of the Aegon N.V. tax 
group. Optas Pensioenen N.V. is income tax exempt. 
 

2.24.1. Current tax assets and liabilities 
 
 
Tax assets and liabilities for current and prior periods are measured at the amount that is 
expected to be received from or paid to the taxation authorities, using the tax rates that have 
been enacted or substantively enacted by the reporting date.  
 
Aegon Nederland is a member of the Aegon N.V. tax group and settles its current tax liabilities 
with the head of the tax grouping as if it were an autonomous taxpayer. Aegon Nederland is 
jointly and severally liable for all tax liabilities of the entire tax group. Current taxes are settled in 
current account with the parent company. 
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2.24.2. Deferred tax assets and liabilities 
 
 
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognized for the estimated future tax effects of 
temporary differences between the carrying value of an item and its tax value, with the exception 
of differences arising from the initial recognition of goodwill and of assets and liabilities that do 
not impact taxable or accounting profits. A tax asset is recognized for tax loss carry forwards to 
the extent that it is probable at the reporting date that future taxable profits will be available 
against which the unused tax losses and unused tax credits can be utilized.  
 
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are reviewed at the balance sheet date and are measured at 
tax rates that are expected to apply when the asset is realized or the liability is settled. Since 
there is no absolute assurance that these assets will ultimately be realized, management reviews 
Aegon Nederland’s deferred tax positions periodically to determine if it is probable that the assets 
will be realized. Periodic reviews include, among other things, the nature and amount of the 
taxable income and deductible expenses, the expected timing when certain assets will be used or 
liabilities will be required to be reported and the reliability of historical profitability of businesses 
expected to provide future earnings. Furthermore, management considers tax-planning strategies 
it can utilize to increase the likelihood that the tax assets will be realized. These strategies are 
also considered in the periodic reviews. The carrying amount is not discounted and reflects the 
expectations of Aegon Nederland concerning the manner of recovery or settlement. 
 
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognized in relation to the underlying transaction either in 
the income statement, other comprehensive income or directly in equity. 
 

2.25. Other liabilities and accruals 
 
 
Other liabilities and accruals are initially recognized at fair value plus transaction costs. They are 
then recognized at amortized cost using the effective interest rate method. A debt is 
derecognized when the financial obligation is discharged or cancelled. Unless stated otherwise, 
deferred interest and other accruals are recognized at (amortized) cost. 
 

2.26. Contingent assets and liabilities 
 
 
Contingent assets are disclosed in the notes if the inflow of economic benefits is probable, but not 
virtually certain. When the inflow of economic benefits becomes virtually certain, the asset is no 
longer contingent and its recognition is appropriate.  
 
A provision is recognized for present legal or constructive obligations arising from past events, 
when it is probable that it will result in an outflow of economic benefits and the amount can be 
reliably estimated. If the outflow of economic benefits is not probable, a contingent liability is 
disclosed, unless the possibility of an outflow of economic benefits is remote. 
 

2.27. Premium income and premium outgoing reinsurance  
 
 
Gross premiums, including recurring and single premiums, from life and non-life insurance are 
recognized as revenue when they become receivable. For products where deposit accounting is 
required, the deposits are not reflected as premium income, but are recognized as part of the 
financial liability. 
 
Premium loadings for installment payments and additional payments by the policyholder towards 
costs borne by the insurer are included in the gross premiums. Rebates that form part of the 
premium rate, such as no-claim rebates, are deducted from the gross premium, others are 
recognized as an expense. Profit sharing amounts that are used to increase the insured benefits 
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are recognized as gross premiums. The insurance premiums for the original contracts are 
presented gross of reinsurance premiums paid. 
 
Unearned premiums are the portion of premiums written in a financial year that relate to risk 
periods after the reporting date. Unearned premiums are calculated pro rata. The proportion 
attributable to subsequent reporting periods is recognized in the reserve for unearned premiums. 
 
Reinsurance premiums are accounted for in the same way as the original contracts for which the 
reinsurance was concluded. 
 

2.28. Investment income 
 
 
For interest-bearing assets, interest is recognized as it accrues and is calculated using the 
effective interest rate method. Fees and commissions that are an integral part of the effective 
yield of the financial assets or liabilities are recognized as an adjustment to the effective interest 
rate of the instrument. Investment income includes the interest income and dividend income on 
financial assets carried at fair value through profit or loss.  
 
Investment income also includes dividends accrued and rental income due, as well as fees 
received for security lending. 
 
Investment income also includes dividends accrued and rental income due, as well as fees 
received for security lending. 
 

2.29. Fee and commission income 
 
 
Fees and commissions from investment management services and mutual funds, and from sales 
activities are recognized as revenue over the period in which the services are performed or for 
sales activities where services have been rendered. 
 

2.30. Benefits outgoing reinsurance 
 
 
Reinsurance claims are recognized as income when the related gross insurance claim is 
recognized in accordance with terms and conditions of the corresponding insurance contract. 
 

2.31. Policyholder claims and benefits 
 
 
Policyholder claims and benefits consist of claims and benefits paid to policyholders, including 
benefits in excess of account value for products for which deposit accounting is applied and the 
change in the valuation of liabilities for insurance and investment contracts. 
 
It includes internal and external claims handling costs that are directly related to the processing 
and settlement of claims. Amounts receivable in respect of salvage and subrogation are also 
considered.  
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2.32. Results from financial transactions 
Results from financial transactions include: 
 

2.32.1. Net fair value change of general account financial investments at fair 
value through profit or loss, other than derivatives 
 
 
Net fair value change of general account financial investments at fair value through profit or loss, 
other than derivatives include fair value changes of financial assets carried at fair value through 
profit or loss. The net gains and losses do not include interest or dividend income. 
  

2.32.2. Realized gains and losses on financial investments 
 
 
Gains and losses on financial investments include realized gains and losses on general account 
financial assets, other than those classified as at fair value through profit or loss.  
 

2.32.3. Results on real estate 
 
 
The gains and losses on real estate (both realized and unrealized) relate to the changes in fair 
value of the investments in real estate. 
 

2.32.4. Net fair value change of derivatives 
 
 
All changes in fair value are recognized in the income statement, unless the derivative has been 
designated as a hedging instrument in a cash flow hedge. Fair value movements of fair value 
hedge instruments are offset by the fair value movements of the hedged item, and the resulting 
hedge ineffectiveness, if any, is included in this line. In addition, the fair value movements of 
bifurcated embedded derivatives are included in this line. 
 

2.32.5. Net fair value change on for account of policyholder financial assets at 
fair value through profit or loss 
 
 
Net fair value change on for account of policyholder financial assets at fair value through profit or 
loss includes the fair value movements of investments held for account of policyholders. The net 
fair value change does not include interest or dividend income. 
 

2.32.6. Net foreign currency result 
 
 
Net foreign currency result comprises net foreign currency gains and losses. 
 

2.33. Profit sharing 
 
 
Profit sharing and rebates comprise the in the financial year reserved amounts for profit sharing 
to policyholders and premium rebates with profit sharing character. 
 

2.34. Commission and expenses   
Commission, staff and administration expenses incurred are allocated to the period to which they 
relate. Acquisition expenses are deferred to the extent that they are recoverable and 
subsequently amortized. See also note 2.12 ‘Deferred expenses’. VOBA is amortized as described 
in note 2.5.2 ‘Value of business acquired’.  
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2.35. Interest charges and related fees  
 
 
Interest charges and related fees include interest expense on loans and other borrowings. 
Interest expense on loans and other borrowings carried at amortized cost is recognized in the 
income statement using the effective interest method. Fees and commissions that form an 
integral part of the effective return on financial liabilities are recognized as an adjustment to the 
effective interest rate of the instrument. 
 

2.36. Income tax  
 
 
Income tax is calculated at the current rate on the pre-tax profits over the financial year, taking 
into account any temporary and permanent differences between the profit determination in the 
financial statements and the profit calculation for tax purposes. Taxes comprise deferred and 
current taxes on profit. Taxes on net income are recognized in the income statement, unless the 
taxes relate to items that are recognized directly in other comprehensive income. In the latter 
case, the taxes are also recognized in other comprehensive income. 
 

2.37. Leases 
 
 
Arrangements that do not take the form of a lease but convey a right to use an asset in return 
for a payment are assessed at inception to determine whether they are, or contain, a lease. This 
involves an assessment of whether fulfillment of the arrangement is dependent on the use of a 
specific asset and whether the purchaser (lessee) has the right to control the use of the 
underlying asset. 
 
Leases that do not transfer substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership are classified as 
operating leases. Payments made under operating leases, where Aegon Nederland is the lessee, 
are charged to the income statement on a straight line basis over the period of the lease. 
 
Where Aegon Nederland is the lessor under an operating lease (for instance with regard to the 
commercial leases on its real estate investment portfolio), the assets subject to the operating 
lease arrangement are presented in the statement of financial position according to the nature of 
the asset. Income from these leases are recognized in the income statement on a straight line 
basis over the lease term, unless another systematic basis is more representative of the time 
pattern in which use benefit derived from the leased asset is diminished. 
 

2.38. Events after the balance sheet date 
 
 
The financial statements are adjusted to reflect events that occurred between the balance sheet 
date and the date when the financial statements are authorized for issue, provided they give 
evidence of conditions that existed at the balance sheet date. Events that are indicative of 
conditions that arose after the balance sheet date are disclosed, but do not result in an 
adjustment of the financial statements themselves.  
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3. Critical accounting estimates and judgment in applying 
accounting policies 
 
 
 
Application of the accounting policies in the preparation of the financial statements requires 
management to apply judgment involving assumptions and estimates concerning future results or 
other developments, including the likelihood, timing or amount of future transactions or events. 
There can be no assurance that actual results will not differ materially from those estimates. 
Accounting policies that are critical to the financial statement presentation and that require 
complex estimates or significant judgment are described in the following sections. 
 

3.1. Continuity 
 
 
Management estimates that the organization has the resources to continue the business for the 
foreseeable future. Management is not aware of any material uncertainties which could give rise 
to doubt the continuity of the business. The financial statements are therefore based on the 
assumption that the organization will continue in business. 
 

3.2. Changes in estimates 
 
 
The following changes of estimates took place in the financial year. 
 

• In Q4 2014, Aegon Nederland changed the discount rate used in measuring the fair value 
of most of its derivative portfolio. Instead of using the 6 and 3-month swap curve, the 
OIS curve is now used. The change  was made in order to facilitate recent changes in 
collateral agreements whereas only highly liquid collateral became eligible. The discount 
rate curve is not changed for measuring derivatives which have alternate collateral 
agreements. The change in estimate has had a positive effect of EUR 80 million on 
income before tax. 

• During 2014, Aegon Nederland refined the method of measurement of the guarantee 
provision. Upon the dates of implementation, these model refinements resulted in a net 
decrease of the guarantee provision of EUR 14 million and a similar net positive impact 
on income before tax. This includes a loss of EUR 3 million before tax, which is related to 
prior year. 

 
 
 

  
3.3. Valuation of assets and liabilities arising from life insurance contracts 

 
 
The liability for life insurance contracts with guaranteed or fixed account terms is generally based 
on current assumptions or on the assumptions established at the inception of the contract. All 
contracts are subject to liability adequacy testing which reflects management’s current estimates 
of future cash flows (including investment returns). To the extent that the liability is based on 
current assumptions, a change in assumptions will have an immediate impact on the income 
statement. Also, if a change in assumption results in not passing the liability adequacy test, the 
entire deficiency is recognized in the income statement. To the extent that the deficiency relates 
to unrealized gains and losses on available-for-sale investments, the additional liability is 
recognized in the revaluation reserve in equity (see also note of the Liability Adequacy Testing). 
 
The liability adequacy test uses a discount rates that converge linearly in 10 years to an Ultimate 
Forward Rate of 4,25% from the last liquid point. The uniform last liquid point is set at 30 years. 
The discount rate includes a liquidity spread.  
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The rates used to discount the insurance liabilities on Aegon Nederland’s statement of financial 
position are determined using discount rates as contractually agreed, mainly 3% and 4%.  
 
Some insurance contracts without a guaranteed or fixed contract term contain guaranteed 
minimum benefits. Depending on the nature of the guarantee, it may either be bifurcated and 
presented as a derivative or be reflected in the value of the insurance liability in accordance with 
Dutch accounting principles. Given the dynamic and complex nature of these guarantees, 
stochastic techniques under a variety of market return scenarios are often used for measurement 
purposes. Such models require management to make numerous estimates based on historical 
experience and market expectations. Changes in these estimates will immediately affect the 
income statement. 
 
 
 
In addition, certain acquisition costs related to the sale of new policies and the purchase of 
policies already in force are recorded as DPAC and VOBA assets respectively and are amortized to 
the income statement over time. If the assumptions relating to the future profitability of these 
policies are not realized, the amortization of these costs could be accelerated and may even 
require write offs due to unrecoverability.  
 

3.3.1. Actuarial assumptions 
The main assumptions used in measuring DPAC, VOBA and the liabilities for life insurance 
contracts with fixed or guaranteed terms relate to mortality, morbidity, investment returns, 
future expenses and lapses.  

Mortality tables 
 
 
Mortality tables applied are generally developed based on a blend of company experience and 
industry wide studies, taking into consideration product characteristics, own risk selection 
criteria, target market and past experience. Mortality experience is monitored through regular 
studies, the results of which are fed into the pricing cycle for new products and reflected in the 
liability calculation when appropriate.  
 
 
 
For contracts insuring survivorship, allowance is made for further longevity improvements. 
Morbidity assumptions are based on own claims severity and frequency experience, adjusted 
where appropriate for industry information.  
 
 
 
For the liability adequacy test Aegon Nederland uses mortality tables that take into account 
expected future changes in life expectancy (the Aegon prospective mortality table). As of 2014, 
Aegon Nederland also uses this prospective table in its financial statements.  

Investment returns 
 
 
Investment assumptions are prescribed by the regulator, market observable or based on 
management’s future expectations. In the latter case, the anticipated future investment returns 
are set by management, considering available market information and economic indicators.  

Expenses 
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Assumptions on future expenses are based on the current level of expenses, adjusted for 
expected expense inflation.  

Lapses 
 
 
Surrender rates depend on product features, policy duration and external circumstances such as 
the interest rate environment and competitor and policyholder behavior. Reliable own experience, 
as well as industry published data, are used in establishing assumptions. Lapse experience is 
correlated to mortality and morbidity levels, as higher or lower levels of surrenders may indicate 
future claims will be higher or lower than anticipated. Such correlations are accounted for in the 
mortality and morbidity assumptions based on the emerging analysis of experience.  
 

3.4. Valuation of assets and liabilities arising from non-life insurance contracts 
 
 
The main assumptions used in measuring liabilities for accident and health non-life insurance 
contracts relate to morbidity (sick leave insurance and recoveries), mortality and future 
expenses. The main assumptions used for the other non-life branches relate to claims statistics 
(including incurred but not reported, or IBNR), investment return and future expenses. IBNR 
claims are claims that have occurred but that have not yet been reported to Aegon Nederland.  
 
Assumptions on morbidity are based on the company’s claims history, augmented where 
necessary with industry information or data from the Dutch Association of Insurers or the 
Employee Insurances Implementing Agency (UWV or Uitvoeringsinstituut Werknemers-
verzekeringen) (with respect to WIA). 
 
Assumptions on claims statistics are based on the company’s claims history, adjusted where 
necessary for expected benefits inflation. 
 
Assumptions on future expenses are based on the current level of expenses, adjusted for 
expected expense inflation. 
 
Lapse rates depend on product features, policy duration and external factors such as foreseeable 
competitor and policyholder behavior. Company experience and data published by the industry 
are used in establishing the assumptions. 
 

3.5. Determination of fair value and fair value hierarchy 
 
 
The following is a description of the methods of Aegon Nederland of determining fair value and a 
quantification of its exposure to assets and liabilities measured at fair value. 
 
Fair value is defined as the amount that would be received from the sale of an asset or paid to 
transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement 
date under current market conditions (i.e. an exit price at the measurement date from the 
perspective of a market participant that holds the asset or owes the liability). A fair value 
measurement assumes that the transaction to sell the asset or transfer the liability takes place 
either: 

(a)  in the principal market for the asset or liability; or  
(b)  in the absence of a principal market, in the most advantageous market for the asset or 
liability.   

 
 
 
Aegon Nederland uses the following hierarchy for measuring and disclosing the fair value of 
assets and liabilities: 
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• Level I: quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities that 
Aegon Nederland can access at the measurement date; 

• Level II: inputs other than quoted prices included within Level I that are observable for 
the asset or liability, either directly (that is, as prices) or indirectly (that is, derived from 
prices of identical or similar assets and liabilities) using valuation techniques for which all 
significant inputs are based on observable market data; and 

• Level III: inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data 
(that is, unobservable inputs) using valuation techniques for which any significant input is 
not based on observable market data. 

 
The best evidence of fair value is a quoted price in an actively traded market. In the event that 
the market for a financial instrument is not active or quoted market prices are not available, a 
valuation technique is used. 
 
The degree of judgment used in measuring the fair value of assets and liabilities generally 
inversely correlates with the level of observable valuation inputs. Aegon Nederland maximizes the 
use of observable inputs and minimizes the use of unobservable valuation inputs when measuring 
fair value. Financial instruments, for example, with quoted prices in active markets generally 
have more pricing observability and therefore less judgment is used in measuring fair value. 
Conversely, financial instruments for which no quoted prices are available have less observability 
and are measured at fair value using valuation models or other pricing techniques that require 
more judgment. 
 
The assets and liabilities categorization within the fair value hierarchy is based on the lowest 
input that is significant to the fair value measurement. 
 
The judgment as to whether a market is active may include, although not necessarily 
determinative, lower transaction volumes, reduced transaction sizes and, in some cases, no 
observable trading activity for short periods. In inactive markets, assurance is obtained that the 
transaction price provides evidence of fair value or determined that the adjustments to 
transaction prices are necessary to measure the fair value of the instrument. 
 
The majority of valuation techniques employ only observable market data, and so the reliability 
of the fair value measurement is high. However, certain assets and liabilities are valued on the 
basis of valuation techniques that feature one or more significant market inputs that are 
unobservable and, for such assets and liabilities; the derivation of fair value is more judgmental. 
An instrument in its entirety is classified as valued using significant unobservable inputs (Level 
III) if, in the opinion of management, a significant proportion of the instrument’s carrying 
amount is driven by unobservable inputs. “Unobservable” in this context means that there is little 
or no current market data available from which to determine the price at which an arm’s length 
transaction would be likely to occur. It generally does not mean that there is no market data 
available at all upon which to base a determination of fair value. The use of different 
methodologies or assumptions to determine the fair value of certain instruments (both financial 
and non-financial) could result in a different estimate of fair value at the reporting date. 
 
To operationalize the fair value hierarchy of Aegon Nederland, individual instruments (both 
financial and non-financial) are assigned a fair value level based primarily on the type of 
instrument and the source of the prices (e.g. index, third-party pricing service, broker, internally 
modeled). Periodically, this logic for assigning fair value levels is reviewed to determine if any 
modifications are necessary in the context of the current market environment. 
 

3.6. Goodwill 
 
 
Goodwill is reviewed and tested for impairment under a fair value approach. Goodwill must be 
tested for impairment at least annually or more frequently as a result of an event or change in 
circumstances that would indicate an impairment charge may be necessary. The recoverable 
amount is the higher of the value in use and fair value less costs to sell for a cash-generating 
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unit. Impairment testing requires the determination of the value in use or fair value less costs for 
each of the identified cash generating units of Aegon Nederland. The valuation utilized the best 
available information, including assumptions and projections considered reasonable and 
supportable by management. The assumptions used in the valuation involve significant 
judgments and estimates. 
 

3.7. Valuation of defined benefit plans 
 
 
The liabilities or assets recognized in the statement of financial position in respect of defined 
benefit plans is the difference between the present value of the projected defined benefit 
obligation at the balance sheet date and the fair value of plan assets. Assets held by Aegon 
Nederland backing the retirement benefits do not meet the definition of plan assets and as such 
were not deducted from the defined benefit obligation. Instead, these assets are recognized as 
general account assets.  
 
The present value of the defined benefit obligation is determined by discounting the estimated 
future cash flows using interest rates of high-quality corporate bonds that are denominated in the 
currency in which the benefits will be paid and that have terms to maturity that approximate the 
terms of the related pension liability. Actuarial assumptions used in the measurement of the 
liability include the discount rate, estimated future salary increases and estimated future pension 
increases. To the extent that actual experience deviates from these assumptions, the valuation of 
defined benefit plans and the level of pension expenses recognized in the future may be affected. 
 

3.8. Recognition of deferred tax assets 
 
 
Deferred tax assets are established for the tax benefit related to deductible temporary 
differences, carry forwards of unused tax losses and carry forwards of unused tax credits when in 
the judgment of management it is more likely than not that Aegon Nederland will receive the tax 
benefits. Since there is no absolute assurance that these assets will ultimately be realized, 
management reviews the deferred tax positions of Aegon Nederland periodically to determine if it 
is more likely than not that the assets will be realized. Periodic reviews include, among other 
things, the nature and amount of the taxable income and deductible expenses, the expected 
timing when certain assets will be used or liabilities will be required to be reported and the 
reliability of historical profitability of businesses expected to provide future earnings. 
Furthermore, management considers tax-planning strategies it can utilize to increase the 
likelihood that the tax assets will be realized. These strategies are also considered in the periodic 
reviews. 
 

3.9. Recognition of provisions 
 
 
Provisions are established for contingent liabilities when it is probable that a past event has given 
rise to a present obligation or loss and the amount can be reasonably estimated. Management 
exercises judgment in evaluating the probability that a loss will be incurred. The estimate of the 
amount of a loss requires management judgment in the selection of a proper calculation model 
and the specific assumptions related to the particular exposure. 
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4. Risk management  
 

4.1. Governance 
 
 
The main objective of the risk management structure at Aegon Nederland is to protect 
stakeholders, including customers, shareholders and employees, against ongoing obstacles to 
achieving their aims. The Executive Board and management recognize the importance of efficient 
and effective risk management systems. 
 
Aegon Nederland has a risk management structure in line with the Internal Control Framework of 
Aegon N.V. The risk management function has been designed with specific attention to operating, 
financial and underwriting risks. 
 
Aegon Nederland and each of its insurance subsidiaries has its own executive board and 
supervisory board. Aegon Bank also has its own Executive Board and a Supervisory Board. The 
Executive Board of Aegon Nederland participates in the Executive Boards of its insurance 
subsidiaries and in the Supervisory Board of its banking subsidiary. Reports are made to the 
shareholder and the regulator in accordance with the terms of the license.  
 

4.2. Capital and solvency 
 
 
Aegon Nederland manages its capital at an overall level and at the level of the legal entities with 
the aim of having a healthy financial position, now and into the future, even after sustaining 
losses from adverse market conditions. During 2014 and 2013, Aegon Nederland maintained 
capital to the highest of the levels required by the regulator, Standard & Poor’s requirements for 
‘very strong’ capitalization and also according to additional self-imposed economical 
requirements. Each of these capital requirements is computed differently.  
 
 
 
The insurance activities of Aegon Nederland are subject to the European Solvency I directives as 
implemented in the Netherlands. Aegon Nederland’s solvency ratio excluding banking activities 
was 215% at December 31, 2014 (2013: 239%). The decline in solvency ratio during 2014 was 
mainly caused by a refinement in fair value measurement methodology of mortgage loans in 
2014. This refinement had no impact on equity or profit or loss. 
Aegon Nederland’s insurance and banking subsidiaries held sufficient capital to meet the 
regulators’ and self-imposed requirements during 2014 and 2013.  
 
 
 
In addition to the Solvency I regime, Aegon Nederland has drawn up its ‘own risk framework’ in 
anticipation of the introduction of Solvency II, under which it is obliged to maintain sufficient 
capital to be able to meet its obligations with a 99,5% confidence level (Value at Risk). 
 

4.3. Product information 
 
 
This section summarizes the features of products sold by Aegon Nederland, giving details that 
offer insight into the commercial activities and associated risks. 
 

4.3.1. Insurance products for general account 
 
 
Aegon Nederland bears the insurance and investment risk on products for general account. The 
entity makes a result on interest, mortality, morbidity, lapses and expenses or a combination of 
them. 
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Traditional life insurance 
The traditional life insurance offered by Aegon Nederland is mainly endowment insurance, term 
and whole life insurance and pension and annuity policies. 
 
General 
 
 
A significant risk with the sale of traditional life insurance is mortality risk. The main 
determinants that can affect the frequency and timing of benefits are epidemics, natural or man-
made disasters or a general deterioration in death rates as a result of changes in lifestyle. The 
insured mortality risk can be forecast reasonably reliable in normal circumstances by careful 
acceptance and the large number of insured persons. The underwriting level used by the 
company depends on the materiality of the mortality risk in relation to other product features, 
the insured amount and the cost/benefit analysis of each product. 
 
In addition to the mortality risk, Aegon Nederland’s pension and annuity activities also bear a 
significant longevity risk; people are living longer due to better medical care and improved living 
conditions. 
 
Investing future recurring premiums and reinvestments at a market interest rate below the one 
incorporated in the actuarial assumptions is also a risk. Certain products also include a minimum 
interest guarantee that exposes Aegon Nederland to interest rate risk if low interest rates persist 
for a long time.  
 
Aegon Nederland’s policy on entering into insurance policies is designed to ensure that the risks 
accepted are sufficiently diversified in terms of the type of risk and benefit levels.  
 
 
 
The timing and extent to which policyholders cancel their policies is another risk in these 
products. Surrender at an early stage, before the acquisition costs have been fully recovered and 
without adequate clauses for recovering commissions, may cause losses.  
 
Endowment insurance 
 
 
This category includes various products that accumulate a cash value in combination with term 
life insurance. Premiums are paid at inception or over the term of the contract. 
 
The accumulation products pay benefits on the policy maturity date, subject to the survival of the 
insured. In addition, most policies also pay death benefits in the event of the death of the insured 
during the term of the contract. Premiums and amounts insured are established at inception of 
the contract. The amount insured can be increased as a result of profit sharing, if provided for 
under the terms and conditions of the product. 
 
Minimum interest guarantees exist for all generations of accumulation products, except for 
universal life type products for which premiums are invested solely in equity funds. Older 
products include a 4% guarantee, in 1999, the guarantee decreased to 3%, and in 2013 the 
guarantee decreased to 0%. 
 
There are different kinds of profit sharing arrangements. These are either paid in cash (mainly in 
the pension business, as described in the following section) or used to increase the amount 
insured. The levels for one common form of profit sharing are set by reference to external indices 
that are based on predefined portfolios of Dutch government bonds. The bonds included in the 
portfolio have different remaining durations and interest rates. Together they are considered an 
approximation of the long-term rate of return on high-quality Dutch financial investments.  
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Term and whole life insurance 
 
 
This insurance pays out death benefits in the event of the death of the insured during the term of 
the contract. Whole life insurance pays out death benefits in the event of death, regardless of the 
timing of this event. Premiums and amounts insured are established at inception of the contract 
and are guaranteed. The amount insured may be adjusted on request of the policyholder. In 
principle, term life insurance policies will not include profit sharing arrangements. Part of the 
portfolio of whole life insurance has profit sharing features which are based on external indices or 
return on related assets. 
 
Pension and annuity insurance 
 
 
This category includes products in the accumulation phase and in the payout phase. Payout 
commences at a date determined in the policy and usually continues until the death of the 
insured or the beneficiary. Premiums are paid at inception of the policy or during its accumulation 
phase. The contracts contain implicit minimum guarantees of 3% or 4%. 

Accident and health insurance 
 
 
Aegon Nederland offers disability and sick leave insurance. It does not offer products with 
extended health cover. The timing, frequency and amount of the insured claims are uncertain. If 
the premiums are not guaranteed, Aegon Nederland is entitled to increase them if this is justified 
by adverse results and historical experience. With group contracts, it is standard practice at the 
end of the contract period to propose a new premium for the new period, depending in part on 
the results and past experience. An additional risk lies in investing the recurring future premiums 
at interest rates that may be lower than was assumed when setting the premium for the product. 

Non-life insurance 
 
 
Aegon Nederland offers a wide range of non-life insurance products, including liability, household, 
automotive and fire protection. The risks covered by non-life insurance are uncertain events 
relating to the insured property. The timing, frequency and amount of the insured costs are 
uncertain. 
 

4.3.2. Life insurance for account of policyholders 
 
 
Life insurance for account of policyholders includes different types of insurance and pension 
products in which the death benefit and value of the policy depend on the results from an 
investment portfolio. The premiums may be invested in different funds with different risk and 
return profiles, such as equities, bonds and combinations of these or investment products with 
guaranteed repayment of principal and interest. The customer bears the investment risk. The 
value of the policy depends on the result on the investments the policyholder has selected. 
 
Aegon Nederland receives a fee for managing these assets and fees for mortality risk, other 
guarantees and expenses. The sensitivity of income from asset management is mainly in the 
withdrawals by policyholders of the assets being managed and volatility of the financial markets. 

Tontine plans 
 
Tontine plans, which are now in run-off, are unit-linked endowment policies in which profit 
sharing is based on the tontine system. Policyholders can invest premiums in a range of Aegon 
funds. The main characteristic of a tontine system is that on the death of the insured, the 
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balance is not paid out to the policyholder’s estate but is distributed at the end of the year to the 
surviving policyholders of the specific series to which the deceased policyholder belonged. In 
general, new tontine plan series started at the beginning of each calendar year. If the 
policyholder dies before maturity, Aegon Nederland pays death benefit to the next of kin equal to 
the premiums paid plus 4% compound interest, with a minimum of 110% of the fund value 
during the first half of the contract period.  

Separate account group contracts 
 
 
Separate account group contracts are large contracts holders that have an individually 
determined asset investment portfolio underlying the pension contract. The contracts are written 
with and without guarantee. The applicable guarantee usually consists of profit sharing being the 
minimum of the actuarial interest of either 3% or 4% or the realized return (on an amortized 
cost basis). If profit sharing turns into a loss, the minimum guarantee becomes effective, but the 
loss in any given year is carried forward to be offset against any future surpluses during the 
contract period. For guarantee contracts at market value, income at market value is monitored 
and the discount rate depends on the rate at inception of the contract.  
 
In general, the guarantee is dependent on the lives of the insured so that their pension benefit is 
guaranteed. Large contract holders also share in the underwriting results (mortality and 
disability). The contract term is usually five years and the premiums are fixed for that period. 
With separate accounts there is a guaranteed benefit for the employees. Aegon Nederland also 
bears a significant longevity risk with these group contracts. 

Unit-linked insurance 
 
 
With respect to Aegon Nederland's individual unit-linked policies, the amount insured at maturity 
or upon death has a minimum guaranteed return of 3% or 4% if the premium has been paid for a 
consecutive period of at least ten years and is invested in a mixed fund and/or fixed-income 
fund. No guarantees are given for equity investments only. 
 

4.3.3. Asset management and distribution activities 
 
 
Asset management by Aegon Nederland covers products that generate income from asset 
management fees. The sensitivity of income from asset management is mainly in withdrawals by 
policyholders of the assets being managed and movements in the financial markets. 
 
Aegon Nederland offers financial advice, asset management and administrative services. The 
financial advice activities cover the sale of insurance, pensions, mortgages, financing, savings 
and investment products. 
 

4.3.4. Mortgages 
 
 
Aegon Nederland offers mortgage loans to Dutch citizens with a mortgage right on real estate, an 
apartment right or a long lease situated in the Netherlands. The mortgage loans comprises of one 
of more loan types, like a Interest Only Mortgage, (Bank) Savings Mortgage, Annuity Mortgage, 
(Universal) Life Mortgage etc. Almost all loans are sold through the intermediary channel, 
whereby strict standards and requirements are applied for these intermediaries. The mortgage 
underwriting is done by Aegon Nederland according to the Dutch insurance Code of Conduct. This 
code, endorsed by Aegon Nederland as well as most other participants on the mortgage market, 
provides guidelines and best practices in terms of transparency, information to clients, suitability, 
as well as underwriting criteria. 
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The profit margin on mortgage loans consist of a spread between the client coupon and the 
funding rate, including risk spreads and cost spreads. The risk and cost spreads are added to the 
funding rate to cover the various risks related to the mortgage loans, like prepayment risk, credit 
risk and offer risk. The cost spreads are included to cover the various costs related to mortgage 
loans, like the cost of servicing the mortgage. 
 

4.3.5. Banking products 
 
 
Banking products comprise savings accounts and investment contracts. Aegon Nederland’s 
income consists of a margin on investments for savings products and a fee for savings and 
investment products. The savings accounts generally have few restrictions or conditions and so 
account holders have great flexibility in withdrawing their money. The banking products also 
include investment products on which management fees are charged. 
 

4.4. The risk management approach  
 
 
Risk management at Aegon Nederland is at the central and legal entity levels and is based in part 
on principles and policy laid down by Aegon N.V. Integrated risk management at Aegon 
Nederland contributes to the uniform definition of the scope and measurement of risks 
throughout Aegon Nederland.  
 
Risk Governance at Aegon Nederland has been set up on the ‘three lines of defense’ principle. 
The first line is responsible for managing and taking risk, the second line ensures that the first 
line accepts its risk management responsibilities and looks at all material risks. In the third line, 
the internal audit department provides independent assurance to management. 
 
The risk management structure at Aegon Nederland is part of the ‘second line of defense’ and 
features a clear hierarchical structure:  
 

1. Supervisory Board (including the Audit Committee); 
2. The Executive Board of Aegon Nederland; 
3. The Risk & Capital/Compliance Committee (RCC) and the Risk and Audit Committee 

(RAC). 
   
Risk Management operates within the above mentioned risk management framework. The 
Enterprise Risk Management (ERM) framework within Aegon Nederland includes the risk policy in 
use. Identifying, monitoring, reporting and managing risks is an integral part of the risk policy. 
Breaches of limits set in the risk policy are reported and addressed immediately.  
 
Aegon Nederland has developed a risk universe that categorizes risks inherent to the operating 
activities. This includes underwriting, operational and financial risks. Some of these risks arise 
from internal factors, such as inadequate compliance systems. Other factors, such as movements 
in interest rates or unexpected changes in mortality trends are of an external nature. These 
internal and external risks may affect operating activities, income, the value of investments and 
sales of certain products and services.  
 
Identified risks are managed within the Risk Control framework that ensures a minimum level of 
internal control at Aegon Nederland. The Risk Control framework focuses on financial and 
operational controls that offer assurance for the reliability, accuracy, timeliness, and quality of 
the internal and external reporting requirements that Aegon Nederland has to meet.  
 
All material risks are managed in accordance with the risk profile of Aegon Nederland. These risks 
are linked to the management decision-making process relating, for example, to the revision of 
the business objectives, redesign of risk and capital strategies and the adjustment of risk 
tolerance. Account is also taken of risks which cannot yet be quantified, but for which a prudent 
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capital buffer is required. Such risks are regarded as part of the identification and assessment 
process for new risks.  
 
Capital Management & Policies sets the target values for the capital level, given Aegon 
Nederland’s risk profile and desired rating. The aim of our asset management is to ensure that 
there are adequate capital resources to meet our future obligations and to allocate capital as 
efficiently as possible to support growth. 
 
Risks and potential threats to future solvency are evaluated in the Medium Term Plan (MTP) 
which considers the business plan for a period of three years. The MTP also includes various 
stress and scenario tests to offer more insight into how Aegon Nederland is affected by changes 
in macro and micro-economic factors. Thanks to these tests, Aegon Nederland can properly 
estimate the impact of different scenarios on its risk profile, business results and capital position.  
 
When considering Aegon Nederland’s exposure to new risks, a number of factors are analyzed, 
including external information, reported losses and the results of product analyses. Each new risk 
that may potentially have a material impact is reported to management and discussed in such a 
way that it can be prioritized. Management decides whether new risks should be included in the 
existing risk universe via the ERM framework. New risks are then incorporated in the existing 
Risk Management processes.  
 

4.4.1. IFRS sensitivities 
 
 
Results of Aegon Nederland’s sensitivity analyses are presented in the following paragraphs to 
show the estimated sensitivity of net income and equity to various scenarios. For each type of 
market risk, the analysis shows how net income and equity would have been affected by changes 
in the relevant risk variable that were reasonably possible at the reporting date. For each 
sensitivity test the impact of a reasonably possible change in a single factor is shown. 
Management action is taken into account to the extent that it is part of Aegon Nederland’s 
regular policies and procedures, such as established hedging programs. However, incidental 
management actions that would require a change in policies and procedures are not considered.  
 
Each sensitivity analysis reflects the extent to which the shock tested would affect management’s 
critical accounting estimates and judgment in applying Aegon Nederland’s accounting policies1. 
Market-consistent assumptions underlying the measurement of non-listed assets and liabilities 
are adjusted to reflect the shock tested. Although management’s short-term assumptions may 
change if there is a reasonably possible change in a risk factor, long-term assumptions will 
generally not be revised unless there is evidence that the movement is permanent. This fact is 
reflected in the sensitivity analyses provided below. 
 
The accounting mismatch inherent in IFRS is also apparent in the reported sensitivities. A change 
in interest rates has an immediate impact on the carrying amount of assets measured at fair 
value. However, the shock will not have a similar effect on the carrying amount of the related 
insurance liabilities that are measured based on prudent assumptions. Consequently, the 
different measurement bases for assets and liabilities lead to increased volatility in IFRS net 
income and equity. Aegon Nederland has classified a significant part of its investment portfolio as 
‘available-for-sale’, which is one of the main reasons why the economic shocks tested have a 
different impact on net income than on equity. Unrealized gains and losses on these assets are 
not recognized in the income statement but are booked directly to the revaluation reserves in 
equity, unless impaired. As a result, economic sensitivities predominantly impact equity but leave 
net income unaffected.  
 
The sensitivities do not reflect what the net income for the period would have been if risk 
variables had been different because the analysis is based on the exposures in existence at the 
reporting date rather than on those that actually occurred during the year. Nor are the results of 

                                                           
1 Please refer to note 3 for a description of the critical accounting estimates and judgments. 
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the sensitivities intended to be an accurate prediction of Aegon Nederland’s future equity or 
earnings. The analysis does not take into account the impact of future new business, which is an 
important component of Aegon Nederland’s future earnings. It also does not consider all methods 
available to management to respond to changes in the financial environment, such as changing 
investment portfolio allocations or adjusting premiums and crediting rates. Furthermore, the 
results of the analyses cannot be extrapolated for wider variations since effects do not tend to be 
linear. No risk management process can clearly predict future results. 
 
The sensitivity analyses below address investments for general account and guarantees issued by 
Aegon Nederland. Investments for risk of policyholders are for the account and risk of third 
parties and do not lead to an increase in Aegon Nederland’s exposures, other than in the form of 
possible guarantees. See note 0 ‘Derivatives’ and note 18 ‘Guarantees’ for more information on 
the guarantees issued. 
 

4.4.2. Currency exchange rate risk 
 
 
Aegon Nederland faces limited currency exchange risk on policies denominated in a currency 
other than the euro. Currency risk in the investment portfolios is managed using asset liability 
matching principles and hedged as far as possible.  
 

4.4.3. Interest rate risk 
 
 
Aegon Nederland’s policy is that the interest rate risk on its balance sheet must be kept as 
limited as possible on market consistent principles. Under current IFRS, this means that 
movements in interest rates may lead to movements in the (IFRS) capital as a result of the 
accounting mismatch, while the capital on market consistent principles is much less sensitive to 
interest rate movements. The IFRS result may also be sensitive to movements in interest rates 
despite hedging risks. Persistent low interest rates will lead to a lower return on reinvestments. 
Coupon income on existing investments will not change in those circumstances. The interest rate 
sensitivity of the guaranteed returns is largely hedged. 
 
Aegon Nederland manages its maturity mismatch (the difference between the average maturity 
of liabilities and the average maturity of investments) within given limits. The position is actively 
monitored and adjusted when necessary. Aegon Nederland manages interest rate risk closely, 
taking into account all complexity on the conduct of policyholders and management action, 
making active use of derivatives and other risk mitigation instruments. The use of derivatives is 
governed by Aegon Nederland’s derivatives policy. 
 
Under IFRS, unrealized gains in the value of the insurance liabilities consequent to a rise in 
interest rates are not reflected in net income and equity. If interest rates fall, there will be 
unrealized gains on certain investments which positively affect the net income and equity. If the 
liability adequacy test shows that the insurance liability in the statement of financial position is in 
deficit, this has to be supplemented through the revaluation reserves (shadow accounting) or 
through the income statement. 
 
For more information on derivatives, see note 4.4.10 ‘Derivatives risk’. 
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Interest rates at the end of each of the last five years 
 
      2014 2013 2012 2011 2010 
           
3-month US Libor      0,26% 0,25% 0,31% 0,58% 0,30% 
3-month Euribor      0,08% 0,29% 0,19% 1,36% 1,01% 
10-year US Treasury      2,17% 3,04% 1,78% 1,89% 3,30% 
10-year Dutch government      0,84% 2,35% 1,61% 2,39% 3,28% 
 
Sensitivity of interest rates 
 
 
The sensitivity analysis in the table below shows an estimate of the effect of a parallel shift in the 
yield curves on net income and equity. In general, increases in interest rates have a negative 
effect on shareholders’ equity and a positive impact on net income in the current year because it 
results in unrealized losses on investments that are carried at fair value. The rising interest rates 
would also cause the fair value of the available-for-sale bond portfolio to decline and the level of 
unrealized gains could become too low to support recoverability of the full deferred tax asset 
triggering an allowance charge to income. The offsetting economic gain on the insurance and 
investment contracts is however not fully reflected in the sensitivities because not any of these 
liabilities are not measured at fair value. Over time, the medium-term reduction in net income 
due to rising interest rates would be offset by higher net income in later years, all else being 
equal. Therefore, higher interest rates are not considered a long-term risk to Aegon Nederland. 
 
 
 
      2014  2013 
Parallel movement of 
yield curve 

     Estimated approximate effect  Estimated approximate effect 

      Net income Equity  Net income Equity 
           
Shift up 100 basis points      - -1.430  13 -1.066 
Shift down 100 basis points      - -421  -13 784 
 
 
 
The increased negative impact on equity in case of a upward interest rate shock compared to 
prior year is due to an increased fixed income portfolio only partly offset by the reversal of the 
applied shadow loss recognition in 2014. 
In case of a downward interest rate shock, the market value of the insurance liabilities increases. 
As there is no headroom left in the Liability Adequacy Test at year end 2014 a downward shock 
of interest rates directly leads to an increase of the insurance liabilities and as a consequence a 
decrease of Equity. The impact on equity is only partly offset by the increased revaluation 
reserve due to an increased market value of the fixed income portfolio. In 2013 the increased 
market value of the insurance liability was largely absorbed by the headroom in the LAT which 
explains the positive impact on equity in 2013. 
 
Due to the application Shadow loss recognition, the sensitivity of net income for parallel shifts in 
the yield curves remains limited. 
 
 
Impact own credit spread on guarantees 
 
 
The effect of the decrease in the own credit spread during 2014 (2013: decrease) was a increase 
of the liability for guarantees (financial guarantees and minimum investment return guarantees) 
by EUR 291 million (2013: reduction of EUR 190 million). Had the own credit spread been nil, the 
liability for guarantees would have been EUR 432 million higher (2013: EUR 466 million higher).  
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4.4.4. Credit risk 

 
 
As premiums and deposits are received, these funds are invested to pay for future policyholder 
obligations. For general account products, Aegon Nederland typically bears the risk for 
investment performance equaling the return of principal and interest. Aegon Nederland is 
exposed to credit risk on its general account fixed-income portfolio (debt securities, mortgages 
and private placements), over-the-counter derivatives and reinsurance contracts. Some issuers 
have defaulted on their financial obligations for various reasons, including bankruptcy, lack of 
liquidity, downturns in the economy, downturns in real estate values, operational failure and 
fraud. During the financial crisis, Aegon Nederland incurred significant investment impairments 
on Aegon Nederland’s investment assets due to defaults and overall declines in the capital 
markets. Further excessive defaults or other reductions in the value of these securities and loans 
could have a materially adverse effect on Aegon Nederland’s business, results of operations and 
financial condition.  
 
The tables that follows shows the maximum exposure of Aegon Nederland to credit risk from 
investments in general account financial assets as well as general account derivatives and 
reinsurance assets, collateral held and net exposure. Please refer to note 40 and 41.3 for further 
information on capital commitments and contingencies and on assets pledged, which may expose 
Aegon Nederland to credit risk. 
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Positions for general account in the balance sheet 
 
2014   Maximum Collateral received Net 
   exposure  exposure 
   credit risk Cash Securities Real Guarantees Master Surplus Total  
Amounts in EUR million      estate  netting collateral   
        agreement    
            
Shares   725 - - - - - - - 725 
Debt securities   22.709 - - - - - - - 22.709 
Mortgage loans   24.687 1.898 - 26.078 1.645 - -6.091 23.529 1.158 
Private loans   2.007 - - - - - - - 2.007 
Other loans   358 - - - - - - - 358 
Other financial assets   366 - - - - - - - 366 
Investments in inv. funds   115 - - - - - - - 115 
Derivatives with pos. values   23.751 2.537 - - - 20.842 - 23.378 373 
Reinsurance assets   30 - - - - - - - 30 
            
Total   74.748 4.434 - 26.078 1.645 20.842 -6.091 46.908 27.841 
 
2013   Maximum Collateral received Net 
   exposure  exposure 
   credit risk Cash Securities Real Guarantees Master Surplus Total  
Amounts in EUR million      estate  netting collateral   
        agreement    
            
Shares   450 - - - - - - - 450 
Debt securities   18.826 - - - - - - - 18.826 
Mortgage loans   22.653 1.702 - 26.293 1.763 - -7.813 21.945 708 
Private loans   1.710 - - - - - - - 1.710 
Other loans   346 - - - - - - - 346 
Other financial assets   293 - - - - - - - 293 
Investments in inv. funds   195 - - - - - - - 195 
Derivatives with pos. values   11.804 2.670 141 - - 8.993 - 11.804 - 
Reinsurance assets   35 - - - - - - - 35 
            
Total   56.313 4.372 141 26.293 1.763 8.993 -7.813 33.749 22.563 
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Debt securities 
Collateral for structured securities such as ABS, RMBS and CMBS is not included in the table 
above. Whilst collateral for structured securities is present, the collateral is however related to 
the cash flows for paying the principal and interest on the securities and not to mitigate credit 
risk. The credit risk management relating to structured securities is disclosed in the credit risk 
concentrations section of this note. 
 
 
Money market and short term investments 
The collateral reported for the money market and short term investments are related to tri-party 
repurchase agreements (repo’s). Within tri-party repo’s Aegon Nederland invests under short 
term reverse repurchase agreements and the counterparty posts collateral to a third party 
custodian. The collateral posted is typically high-quality short term securities and is only 
accessible to Aegon Nederland in the event the counterparty defaults. 
 
 
Mortgage loans 
The real estate collateral for mortgage loans comprises mainly residential properties. The 
collateral received for residential mortgages is measured as the foreclosure value which is 
indexed periodically.  
 
Cash collateral for mortgage loans includes the savings that have been received to redeem the 
underlying mortgage loans at redemption date. These savings reduce the credit risk for the 
mortgage loan as a whole.  
 
Guarantees that have been received regarding mortgage loans that fulfill certain criteria of the 
Dutch Mortgage Loan Guarantee (Nationale Hypotheek Garantie or NHG) are presented in the 
guarantees column. These specific mortgage loans are partly guaranteed by the Dutch 
Government Trust (Stichting Waarborgfonds Eigen Woningen). The guarantee encompasses the 
remaining debt for these mortgage loans, being the remainder of the mortgage loan (had this 
been an annuity-based repaid mortgage loan) minus the foreclosure value.  
 
The ‘surplus collateral’ column represents the surplus value of individual mortgage loans (where 
the value of the real estate is higher than the value of the mortgage loan) as Aegon Nederland is 
not entitled to this part of the collateral. 
 
 
Derivatives 
The master netting agreements column in the table relates to derivative liability positions which 
are used in Aegon’s credit risk management. The offset in the master netting agreements column 
includes balances where there is a legally enforceable right of offset, but no intention to settle 
these balances on a net basis under normal circumstances. As a result, there is a net exposure 
for credit risk management purposes. However, as there is no intention to settle these balances 
on a net basis, they do not qualify for net presentation for accounting purposes. 
 
Collateral 
Aegon Nederland has no assets received as non-cash collateral which can be sold or which 
themselves can serve as collateral without the owner of the assets being in default. 

Aegon Nederland also receives cash collateral or other financial assets for financial assets that 
have been transferred to another party under reverse repurchase agreements and securities 
lending transactions. See note 41 ‘Transfers of financial assets’ for more information.  
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Credit risk management 
 
 
Losses as a result of credit risk are a natural part of investing in fixed-income securities. The 
amount of and compensation for this risk are related. A significant management measure to 
avoid excessive credit risk is to diversify and limit exposure to individual issuers.  
 
Aegon N.V. operates a Credit Name Limit Policy under which limits are placed on its aggregate 
exposure to any one counterparty; limits are set at Aegon Nederland level. For further 
management of the credit risk, Aegon Nederland applies a credit limit covering all credit risks 
with each counterparty. All credit risks to a counterparty are totaled and then set against the 
credit limits. 
 
The limits also vary by a rating system which is a composite of the main rating agencies (S&P, 
Moody’s and Fitch) and Aegon Nederland’s internal rating of the counterparty. If an exposure 
exceeds the stated limit, the exposure must be reduced to the limit as soon as possible. 
Exceptions to these limits can only be made with explicit approval from Aegon Nederland’s Risk 
and Capital Committee. The policy is reviewed regularly. 
 
The ratings distribution of the general account investments is presented in the table in note 4.4.5 
‘Credit rating’. 
 
Aegon Nederland’s level long-term counterparty exposure limits, are as follows: 
 
In million EUR Limit 2014 Limit 2013  
AAA 270 270  
AA 270 270  
A 190 190  
BBB 125 125  
BB 75 75  
B 38 38  
CCC or lower 15 15  
 
The limits in this table are not applicable to sovereign exposures that are rated A or above. For 
these exposures Aegon N.V. has set limits which are only applicable and reported at a 
consolidated Aegon N.V. level2. Sovereign exposures (regardless of rating) that are issued by the 
government of the functional currency of the Regions’ business and also owned in that currency 
and sovereign exposures that are rated AAA by all three major agencies (S&P, Fitch and Moody’s) 
are exempt from the policy. 
 
When the exposure to a counterparty exceeds 75% it is considered to be at a warning level and 
the assets are monitored more closely. A warning and violation list is sent to portfolio managers 
on a weekly basis. In 2014 there have been no violations of the Credit Name Limit Policy. 
 

4.4.5. Credit rating 
 
 
The rating distribution of general account portfolios of Aegon Nederland, including reinsurance 
assets, are presented in the table that follows, organized by rating category and split by assets 
that are valued at fair value and assets that are valued at amortized cost. Disclosure of ratings 
follows a hierarchy of S&P, Moody’s, Fitch, Internal and National Association of Insurance 
Commissioners (NAIC). 
 
 
 
 

                                                           
2 A-rated: EUR 675 million; AA-rated EUR 900 million; AAA-rated: EUR 1.800 million 
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Investments for general account by rating 
 
2014       Amortized Fair Reinsurance Total 
       cost value assets 2014 
Sovereign exposure       277 15.583 - 15.859 
AAA       769 2.081 7 2.857 
AA       182 974 16 1.172 
A       238 1.627 6 1.870 
BBB       185 2.274 1 2.460 
BB       - 154 - 154 
B       - - - - 
CCC or lower       - 18 - 18 
Assets not rated       25.401 24.957 - 50.358 
Total on balance credit exposure       27.052 47.666 30 74.748 
           
Of which past due and / or impaired 
assets 

      550 49 - 599 

 
 
2013       Amortized Fair Reinsurance Total 
       cost value assets 2013 
Sovereign exposure       173 11.205 - 11.378 
AAA       506 1.289 7 1.802 
AA       143 1.008 19 1.170 
A       217 2.527 7 2.750 
BBB       181 2.505 1 2.687 
BB       3 203 - 207 
B       4 70 - 74 
CCC or lower       - 20 - 20 
Assets not rated       23.482 12.742 1 36.226 
Total on balance credit exposure       24.709 31.569 35 56.313 
           
Of which past due and / or impaired 
assets 

      558 42 - 599 

 
The ‘Assets not rated’ category relates to equities and derivatives (with positive value) at fair 
value and other financial assets at amortized cost (mainly mortgage loans). The ‘Sovereign’ 
category in this table is entirely government paper with a AAA rating. 
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4.4.6. Credit risk concentration 

The tables that follows presents specific credit risk concentration information for general account 
financial assets. 
 
Credit risk concentration – debt securities and money market investments 
 
        2014  2013 
           
ABSs- Collateralized Debt Obligations (CDO's)        1.859  1.379 
ABSs- Credit cards        8  47 
ABSs- Other        517  137 
Residential mortgage backed securities (RMBSs)        932  1.143 
Commercial mortgage backed securities (CMBSs)        118  82 
Investments in unconsolidated structured entities        3.434  2.787 
           
Financial - Banking        272  845 
Financial - Other        144  223 
Industrial        2.666  3.079 
Utility        609  687 
Sovereign exposure        15.583  11.205 
Total        22.709  18.826 
           
Of which past due and / or impaired assets        -  1 
 
Credit risk concentration – mortgage loans 
 
 
 
        2014  2013 
           
Agricultural        -  - 
Apartment        3.533  3.387 
Office        14  16 
Retail        -  15 
Other commercial        53  42 
Residential        21.087  19.194 
Total        24.687  22.653 
           
Of which past due and / or impaired assets        542  549 
 
 
 
Fair value of the mortgage loan portfolio:        2014  2013 
           
Fair value mortgage loans        28.755  26.114 
The LTV was approximately        94,7%  99,0% 
The part of the portfolio that is government guaranteed        59,8%  58,0% 
Delinquency's in the portfolio (defined as 60 days in arrears)        0,9%  1,2% 
Impairments during the year        4  22 
 
Unconsolidated structured entities 
 
 
Aegon Nederland’s unconsolidated structured entities (such as ABSs) are presented in the line 
item “Investments” of the statement of financial position. The composition of the structured 
entities portfolios of Aegon are widely dispersed looking at the individual amount per entity. This 
is shown in the following table together with the number of individual entities. 
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2014     Number of 

entities 
Carrying 
amount 

       
EUR 0 < 10 mln     92 365 
> EUR 10 < 25 mln     45 763 
> EUR 25 < 50 mln     25 914 
> EUR 50 < 75 mln     15 916 
> EUR 75 < 100 mln     3 277 
> EUR 100 < 150 mln     1 116 
> EUR 150 < 250 mln     - - 
> EUR 250 mln     - - 
At December 31     181 3.350 
       
 
 
 
2013      Number of 

entities 
Carrying 
amount 

        
EUR 0 < 10 mln      114 365 
> EUR 10 < 25 mln      58 964 
> EUR 25 < 50 mln      18 606 
> EUR 50 < 75 mln      6 354 
> EUR 75 < 100 mln      4 352 
> EUR 100 < 150 mln      1 146 
> EUR 150 < 250 mln      - - 
> EUR 250 mln      - - 
At December 31      201 2.787 
 
 
 
For the most significant structured entities the following table presents the maximum exposure 
to loss for Aegon Nederland by type of structured entity and by seniority of interest. Also 
shown are the amounts of losses that in each case would be absorbed first by investors whose 
interests rank junior to those of Aegon Nederland. If Aegon Nederland has interests in multiple 
tranches of one individual structured entity, Aegon Nederland’s maximum exposure to loss is 
excluded from the amount shown as potential losses borne by more junior interests. In each 
case, the amounts shown reflect the fair value of those interests as at the reporting date. 
Furthermore, the table presents a comparison of Aegon Nederland's interest with the total 
assets of those unconsolidated structured entities. The amount shown as total assets is based 
on the most current available information. 
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2014              
              

 Subordinated interests Mezzanine interests Senior interests Most senior interests Total Carrying amount of interest in 

structured entity 
Total 

 Max. 

exposure 

to loss 

Potential 

losses 

borne by 

more 

junior 

interests 

Max. 

exposure 

to loss 

Potential 

losses 

borne by 

more 

junior 

interests 

Max. 

exposure 

to loss 

Potential 

losses 

borne by 

more 

junior 

interests 

Max. 

exposure 

to loss 

Potential 

losses 

borne by 

more 

junior 

interests 

Maximum 

exposure 

to loss 

Potential 

losses 

borne by 

more 

junior 

interests 

Assets Liabilities Assets of 

structured 

entity 

              
Residential 

mortgage 

backed 

securities 

(RMBSs) 

- - - - - - 116 1.649 116 1.649 116  6.500 

Commercial 

mortgage 

backed 

securities 

(CMBSs) 

- - - - - - - - - - -  - 

Asset 

Backed 

Securities 

(ABSs) 

46 342 42 385 - - 188 503 277 1.230 277  1.302 

ABSs – 

Other 
- - - - - - - - - - -  - 

Total 46 342 42 385 - - 304 2.151 392 2.879 392 - 7.802 
              
 



Annual report 2014 
Aegon Nederland N.V. 

Page 91 of 199 
 

2013 Subordinated interests Mezzanine interests Senior interests Most senior interests Total Carrying amount of 

interest in structured 

entity 

Total 

 Max. 

exposure 

to loss 

Potential 

losses 

borne by 

more junior 

interests 

Max. 

exposure 

to loss 

Potential 

losses 

borne by 

more junior 

interests 

Max. 

exposure 

to loss 

Potential 

losses 

borne by 

more junior 

interests 

Max. 

exposure 

to loss 

Potential 

losses 

borne by 

more junior 

interests 

Maximum 

exposure 

to loss 

Potential 

losses 

borne by 

more junior 

interests 

Assets Liabilities Assets of 

structured 

entity 

              
Residential 

mortgage 

backed 

securities 

(RMBSs) 

- 19 36 6.049 - - 532 11.937 569 18.005 569 - 46.054 

Commercial 

mortgage 

backed 

securities 

(CMBSs) 

- - - - - - - - - - - - - 

Asset Backed 

Securities 

(ABSs) 

72 635 245 1.503 25 134 508 2.138 850 4.410 850 - 5.462 

ABSs – Other - - - - - - 40 - 40 - 40 - 1.713 
Total 73 654 282 7.552 25 134 1.080 14.075 1.459 22.415 1.459 - 53.229 
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For unconsolidated structured entities in which Aegon Nederland has an interest at reporting date, 
the following table presents total income received from those interests. The Investments column 
reflect the carrying values recognized in the statement of financial position of Aegon Nederland's 
interests in unconsolidated structured entities. Aegon Nederland did not recognize other interests 
in unconsolidated structured entities such as commitments, guarantees, provisions, derivative 
instruments or other liabilities. 
 
 
 
    2014 
Type of asset in 
unconsolidated entity 

   Commission 
and fees 

Interest 
income 

Total 
gains and 

losses 

Total Investments 

         
Residential mortgage backed 
securities 

- 16 46 61 932 

Commercial mortgage backed 
securities 

- 2 1 3 118 

Asset Backed Securities - 35 7 42 1.859 
ABS's - Other - 2 - 2 440 
Total    - 55 53 108 3.350 
 
 
 
Aegon Nederland did not provide financial or other support to unconsolidated structured entities. 
Nor does Aegon Nederland have intentions to provide financial or other support to unconsolidated 
structured entities in which Aegon Nederland has an interest or previously had an interest. 
  

4.4.7. Inflation risk 
 
 
Aegon Nederland offers products that cover inflation risk for policyholders. To hedge the inflation 
risks, Aegon Nederland invests in financial instruments of which the value depends on the rate of 
inflation. This significantly reduces Aegon Nederland’s net exposure to inflation risk. 
 

4.4.8. Past due and impaired financial assets 
 
 
The tables that follow provide information on past due or impaired financial assets for Aegon 
Nederland. A financial asset is past due when a counterparty has failed to make a payment when 
it was due under the contract. A financial asset is impaired and impairment losses are incurred if, 
and only if, there is objective evidence of impairment as a result of one or more events that 
occurred after the initial recognition of the asset and that event has an impact on the estimated 
future cash flows of the financial asset that can be reliably estimated.  
 
Aegon Nederland takes the following factors into account when deciding whether to impair 
financial assets: 

• significant financial difficulty of the issuer or obligor; 
• a breach of contract, such as a default or delinquency in interest or principal payments; 
• the lender, for economic or legal reasons relating to the borrower's financial difficulty, 

granting to the borrower a concession that the lender would not otherwise consider; 
• it becoming probable that the borrower will enter bankruptcy or other financial 

reorganization; 
• the disappearance of an active market for that financial asset because of financial 

difficulties; or 
• observable data indicating that there is a measurable decrease in the estimated future 

cash flows from a group of financial assets since the initial recognition of those assets, 
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although the decrease cannot yet be identified with the individual financial assets in the 
group. 

 
After the impairment loss is reversed in a subsequent period, the asset is no longer considered to 
be impaired.  When the terms and conditions of the financial assets have been renegotiated, the 
terms and conditions of the new agreement apply in determining whether the financial assets are 
past due. 
 
At year end, no collateral, except that for mortgage loans, was held for financial assets which 
were past due or which had undergone individual impairment. 
 
The carrying amount of the assets that are (partly) impaired is: 
 
Impaired financial assets  
 
 
        2014  2013 
           
Shares        49  40 
Mortgage loans        497  513 
Other        4  4 
Total        550  557 
 
 
 
The decrease in carrying amount in respect of impaired shares is fully caused by increased 
market values due to improved market conditions. The increase in carrying amount of the 
mortgage loans is caused by higher volumes and a deterioration of payment behavior. 
 
The carrying amount of the impaired financial assets is approximately equal to the fair value. The 
interest income from impaired assets was EUR 26 million (2013: EUR 28 million). 
 
Shares  
 
 
Objective evidence of impairment of an investment in an equity instrument classified as 
available-for-sale includes information about significant changes with an adverse effect that have 
taken place in the technological, market, economic or legal environment in which the issuer 
operates, and indicates that the cost of the investment in the equity instrument may not be 
recovered. A significant or prolonged decline in the fair value of an investment in an equity 
instrument below its cost is also objective evidence of impairment. Significant or prolonged 
decline is defined as an unrealized loss position for more than 6 months or a fair value of less 
than 80% of the original cost price of the investment. Additionally, as part of an ongoing process, 
the equity analysts actively monitor earnings releases, company fundamentals, new 
developments and industry trends for any signs of possible impairment. If an available-for-sale 
equity security is impaired based upon the qualitative or quantitative impairment criteria of 
Aegon Nederland, any further declines in the fair value at subsequent reporting dates are 
recognized as impairments. Therefore, at each reporting period, for an equity security that is 
determined to be impaired based upon the impairment criteria of Aegon Nederland, an 
impairment is recognized for the difference between the fair value and the original cost basis, 
less any previously recognized impairments.  
 
Debt securities 
 
 
Aegon Nederland regularly monitors industry sectors and individual debt securities for evidence 
of impairment. This evidence may include one or more of the following: 1) deteriorating market 
to book ratio, 2) increasing industry risk factors, 3) deteriorating financial condition of the issuer, 
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4) covenant violations, 5) high probability of bankruptcy of the issuer or 6) recognized credit 
rating agency downgrades. Additionally, for asset-backed securities, cash flow trends and 
underlying levels of collateral are monitored. A security is impaired if there is objective evidence 
that a loss event has occurred after the initial recognition of the asset that has a negative impact 
on the estimated future cash flows. A specific security is considered to be impaired when it is 
determined that not all amounts due (both principal and interest) will be collected as 
contractually scheduled. 
 
Past due but not impaired financial assets 
 
 
2014       0-6 

months 
6-12 

months 
> 1 year 2014 

           
Mortgage loans       37 3 4 45 
Other loans       - - 4 4 
Total       38 3 8 49 
 
2013       0-6 

months 
6-12 

months 
> 1 year 2013 

           
Mortgage loans       31 3 2 36 
Other loans       - - 4 4 
Total       31 3 7 41 
 
 
 

4.4.9. Equity market risk and other investments risk 
 
Fluctuations in the equity, real estate and capital markets have affected Aegon Nederland’s 
profitability, capital position and sales of equity related products in the past and may continue to 
do so. Exposure to equity, real estate and capital markets exists in both assets and liabilities. 
Asset exposure exists through direct equity investment, where Aegon Nederland bears all or most 
of the volatility in returns and investment performance risk. Equity market exposure is also 
present in insurance and investment contracts policyholder accounts where funds are invested in 
equities, backing variable annuities, unit-linked products and mutual funds. Although most of the 
risk remains with the policyholder, lower investment returns can reduce the asset management 
fee earned by Aegon Nederland on the asset balance in these products. In addition, some of this 
business has minimum return or accumulation guarantees. Aegon Nederland also operates an 
Investment and Counterparty Policy that limits the Group’s overall counterparty risk exposure. 
 
The general account equity, real estate and other non-fixed-income portfolio of Aegon Nederland 
is as follows:  
 
        2014  2013 
           
Equity funds        717  440 
Common shares        7  8 
Preferred shares        -  - 
Hedge funds        1  1 
General account shares        725  450 
           
Investments in real estate        1.069  810 
Other financial assets        366  293 
Investments in investment funds        115  195 
Total        2.275  1.748 
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The investments in real estate mainly comprise residential property. 
 
The tables that follow present specific market risk concentration information for general 
account shares: 
 
        2014  2013 
           
Consumer cyclical        -  - 
Consumer non-cyclical        -  - 
Financials        4  - 
Funds        717  441 
Industries        -  - 
Resources        -  - 
Technology        -  - 
Other        4  8 
Total        725  450 
           
Of which past due and / or impaired assets        49  40 
 
Information on closing levels of certain major indices at the end of the last five years 
The table that follows sets forth the closing levels of certain major indices at the end of the last 
five years. 
 
      2014 2013 2012 2011 2010 
           
S&P 500      2.059 1.848 1.426 1.258 1.258 
Nasdaq      4.736 4.177 3.020 2.605 2.653 
FTSE 100      6.566 6.749 5.898 5.572 5.900 
AEX      424 402 343 312 355 

Sensitivity analysis of net income and equity to equity markets 
 
The sensitivity analysis of net income and equity to changes in equity prices is presented in the 
table below. The sensitivity of equity and net income to changes in equity markets reflects 
changes in the market value of Aegon Nederland’s portfolios and the strengthening of the 
provisions for guaranteed minimum benefits, when applicable. 
 
 
      2014  2013 
      Estimated approximate effect  Estimated approximate effect 
      Net income Equity  Net income Equity 
           
Equity increase 10%      - 18  5 35 
Equity decrease 10%      -4 -18  -8 -35 
Equity increase 20%      - 37  10 70 
Equity decrease 20%      -9 -37  -17 -70 
 
 
 
The impact of the upward and downward equity shocks are lower compared to 2013 because the 
private equity portfolio was further reduced by Aegon Nederland during 2014. 
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4.4.10. Derivatives risk 
 
 
Aegon Nederland uses financial derivatives, such as interest rate swaps, options, futures and 
currency contracts to hedge risks relating to investments for general account and loans. Not all 
risks to which Aegon Nederland is exposed can be adequately managed using derivatives. In 
addition, a counterparty in a derivative contract may fail to meet its obligations towards Aegon 
Nederland. Either situation can have significant adverse consequences for Aegon Nederland’s 
operations, operating results and financial position. 
 
Aegon Nederland operates a policy to monitor the use of derivatives. This policy sets out the 
control, authorization, implementation and monitoring requirements for using these instruments 
and also stipulates the necessary credit risk limiting actions using derivatives. In general, credit 
risk with derivatives is reduced by collateral requirements in the contract. 
 
 
See note 18 ‘Guarantees’ for more detailed disclosures.  
 

4.4.11. Liquidity risk 
 
 
Liquidity risk is inherent in much of Aegon Nederland’s activity. Each asset purchased and liability 
assumed has its own liquidity characteristics. Although most liabilities are of a long-term nature 
and will not create an unexpected short-term liquidity requirement, some can be called on 
demand. In normal circumstances, a significant proportion of the investment portfolio can be 
quickly converted into liquid assets but some assets, such as private loans, mortgage loans, real 
estate and holdings in unlisted enterprises are not highly liquid. If Aegon Nederland requires 
more than the normal amount of cash at short notice, it may have difficulty selling these 
investments at attractive prices or in a timely manner.  
 
Aegon Nederland and its subsidiaries operate a liquidity risk policy that focuses on holding 
sufficient highly liquid assets so that liquidity requirements can be met both in normal market 
conditions and in extreme situations resulting from unforeseen circumstances.  
 
Aegon Nederland receives premiums from policyholders and, in exchange, is required to make 
payments at a later time if certain conditions are met. The amounts received are invested 
primarily in fixed-income assets. Investments in less liquid assets may lead to an increase in 
expected income from the investment portfolio, but are more difficult to convert into cash if an 
unexpected payment has to be made to a policyholder or contract holder. Internal liquidity tests 
are designed to quantify this risk and ensure that there is sufficient liquidity even under extreme 
conditions. The aim of the internal liquidity test is to compare the liquidity requirement against 
the amount available in a number of scenarios.  
 
Management uses this information for insight into the liquidity position and may, if necessary, 
make adjustments.  
The liquidity position is tested in the following scenarios: 

1. Base scenario, assuming current market conditions; this is the ‘business as usual’ 
situation. 

2. Stressed liquidity scenario, in which both liabilities and assets are stressed. This assumes 
extreme withdrawals of liabilities as a result of an immediate and full letter downgrade of 
both Aegon's long-term financial health and short-term credit ratings. Furthermore, 
assets suffer an immediate capital market shock resulting in an initial inability to sell 
investments other than ‘highly liquid’ ones. At the same time, assets and liabilities are 
assumed to have a permanent 3% parallel increase in (risk-free) interest rate. 
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Coverage ratio 
Liquidity risk management includes calculating a ‘coverage ratio’ for each scenario. The coverage 
ratio is defined as actual liquidity divided by the liquidity requirement. 
 
Liquidity risk management ensures that the coverage ratio under stressed liquidity scenario is at 
least 1.25 for the first 30 days and 1.0 for the rest of the tested two-year period. If the coverage 
ratio falls below these levels for any tested period, an action plan has to be drawn up by the 
management to adjust the liquidity position when the relevant scenario actually arises.  
 
Warning levels are defined as: 1.66 coverage ratio for the first 30 days and 1.33 for the rest of 
the tested two-year period for under stressed liquidity scenario. If the coverage ratio in any 
tested period falls below an warning level, this is reported to the management.  
 
Internal reports are made on whether Aegon Nederland has adequate liquidity at the stressed 
liquidity scenario. If the coverage ratio falls below the fail level, management action and its effect 
on the coverage ratio are also reported.  
 
Available liquidity 
Available liquidity is determined by modeling the asset cash flows. These include but are not 
limited to: 
• Diarized (contractual) repayments and coupon payments; 
• Expected advance payments on certain categories of assets, such as early repayment of 
mortgage loans; 
• Expected extensions of maturity on certain categories of assets; 
• Sales proceeds on assets taking into account a maximum haircut of 1% compared with the 
current mid-rate. 
 
Some cash flows are fixed and/or highly probable, while others depend on the specific market 
conditions involved in the scenarios. For example, it is assumed in the stresses liquidity scenario 
that assets other than highly liquid sovereign or corporate bonds which are explicitly and fully 
guaranteed by the local authorities cannot be sold in the first 6 months.  
 
Required liquidity  
The required liquidity is computed by modeling the cash flows from liabilities. These include but 
are not limited to: 
• Diarized (contractual) repayments at maturity; 
• Diarized benefits and claims; 
• Non-diarized full or partial withdrawal of assets at call; 
• Use of policy loans; 
• Periodic premium payments and potential changes in them; 
• New business activities. 
 
For liabilities too, some cash flows are fixed and stable but most will vary considerably when a 
different liquidity scenario is applied. There will usually be little new commercial activity if Aegon 
Nederland’s rating is cut and the situation in the financial market deteriorates. The amount of 
cash provided as collateral for some derivative transactions will then also increase. 
 
 
Results of the coverage ratios 
Aegon Nederland holds EUR 15,2 billion (2013: EUR 7,9 billion) of general account investments in 
money market products and sovereign bonds that are readily saleable or redeemable on demand 
in the event of a liquidity shortfall. It is also possible to use such bonds as the basis for 
repurchase contracts so that liquidity can be drawn from the market. The afore mentioned 
amounts are based upon Aegon Nederland’s internally used definitions when testing the liquidity. 
 
The coverage ratio is calculated after modeling the expected cash flows for assets and liabilities 
for each period of up to two years. The results of the coverage ratio, available liquidity divided by 
the required liquidity, show that Aegon Nederland had sufficient liquidity in different scenarios 
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and for all tested periods at year-end 2014. Aegon Nederland’s coverage ratio at year-end 2014 
was not below the warning nor the fail level for stressed liquidity scenario. 
 
On the basis of operating cash flows and the income from financial assets, therefore, Aegon 
Nederland expects to be able to continue to meet its liabilities. 
 
The tables below on contractual maturities of liabilities do not provide information on liabilities 
held for the account and risk of policyholders as Aegon Nederland does not run a liquidity risk on 
them.  

Maturity analysis liabilities – gross undiscounted contractual cash flows (for non-
derivatives) 
 
 
The tables below show the remaining contractual maturities for each category of financial liability. 
When the counterparty has a choice of when an amount is paid, the liability is included on the 
basis of the earliest date on which it can be required to be paid. Financial liabilities that are 
payable on demand with a given delay are reported in the category ‘On demand’. If there is a 
notice period, Aegon Nederland has to assume that notice is given immediately and the 
repayment is presented at the earliest date after the end of the notice period. When the amount 
payable is not fixed, the amount reported is determined by reference to the conditions existing at 
the reporting date. For example, if the amount payable varies with changes in an index, the 
amount disclosed may be based on the level of the index at the reporting date. 
 
 
 
2014     On 

demand 
< 1 1 < 5 5 < 10 > 10 Total 

      year year year year 2014 
           
Long-term loans and group 
loans 

610 5.784 5.568 1.094 2 13.058 

Savings deposits and 
investment contracts 

3.592 216 936 720 199 5.663 

Investment contracts for 
account policyholders 

- - - - 114 114 

Other financial liabilities 1.240 1.949 46 24 45 3.304 
Total     5.442 7.949 6.551 1.839 360 22.140 
 
2013     On 

demand 
< 1 1 < 5 5 < 10 > 10 Total 

      year year year year 2013 
           
Long-term loans and group 
loans 

- 3.089 7.164 2 6 10.261 

Savings deposits and 
investment contracts 

3.797 194 167 195 189 4.542 

Investment contracts for 
account policyholders 

- - - - 31 31 

Other financial liabilities 994 1.536 476 575 67 3.647 
Total     4.791 4.819 7.807 772 292 18.481 
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Expected undiscounted cash flows relating to insurance and investment contracts 
 
Aegon Nederland’s liquidity management is based on expected claims, benefit payments rather 
than on the contractual maturities. The projected cash benefit payments in the table below are 
based on management’s best estimates of the expected gross benefits and expenses, partially 
offset by the expected gross premiums, fees and charges relating to the existing business in 
force.  
 
Estimated cash benefit payments are based on mortality, morbidity and lapse assumptions 
comparable with Aegon Nederland’s historical experience, modified for recently observed trends. 
Actual payment obligations may differ if experience varies from these assumptions. The cash 
benefit payments are presented on an undiscounted basis and are before deduction of tax and 
before reinsurance. 
 
The liability amount in the financial statements reflects the discounting for interest as well as 
adjustments for the timing of other factors as described above. As a result, the sum of the cash 
benefit payments shown for all years in the table exceeds the corresponding liability amounts 
included in notes 16 and 17 on ‘Insurance contracts’ and ‘Insurance contracts for account of 
policyholders’. 
  
 
 
2014      < 1 1 < 5 5 < 10 > 10 Total 
      year year year year 2014 
           
Insurance contracts  1.471 5.198 6.167 34.716 47.552 
Insurance contracts for account 
policyholders 

 1.258 4.853 4.745 23.716 34.572 

Savings deposits and investment 
contracts 

 878 2.572 2.067 679 6.196 

Investment contracts for account 
policyholders 

- - - 114 114 

Total      3.607 12.623 12.979 59.224 88.434 
 
 
 
2013      < 1 1 < 5 5 < 10 > 10 Total 
      year year year year 2013 
           
Insurance contracts  1.372 4.844 5.947 33.199 45.362 
Insurance contracts for account 
policyholders 

 884 4.536 4.951 28.869 39.240 

Savings deposits and investment 
contracts 

 740 1.452 253 2.238 4.684 

Investment contracts for account 
policyholders 

- - - 31 31 

Total      2.996 10.832 11.152 64.336 89.317 

Maturity analysis – derivatives (contractual cash flows) 
 
 
The table below shows the liquidity analysis for derivative financial instruments, based on the 
undiscounted contractual net cash inflows and outflows on derivative instruments that settle on a 
net basis, and the undiscounted gross inflows and outflows on those derivatives that require 
gross settlement. 
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For gross settled derivatives, cash flows are presented in the table below for both the ‘paying leg’ 
and the ‘receiving leg’. The credit risk on the ‘receiving leg’ is mitigated by collateral and ISDA 
‘master netting’ agreements as explained for ‘credit risk’. 
 
This table includes all financial derivatives regardless of whether they have a positive or a 
negative value. For interest rate derivatives only cash flows related to the ‘paying leg’ are taken 
into account for determining the gross undiscounted cash flows. 
 
 
 
2014     On demand < 1 1 < 5 5 < 10 > 10 Total 
      year year year year 2014 
           
Cash inflows   - 3.269 8.149 16.396 40.980 68.794 
Cash outflows   - -3.059 -8.757 -16.441 -36.629 -64.886 
           
2013     On demand < 1 1 < 5 5 < 10 > 10 Total 
      year year year year 2013 
           
Cash inflows   - 3.307 17.129 25.290 52.562 98.287 
Cash outflows   - -3.269 -16.501 -24.850 -50.270 -94.890 
 

4.4.12. Underwriting risk 

General information 
 
 
Aegon Nederland’s earnings depend significantly upon the extent to which the actual claims 
experience differs from the assumptions used in setting the prices for products and establishing 
the technical liabilities and liabilities for claims. To the extent that actual claims experience is less 
favorable than the underlying assumptions used in establishing such liabilities, income would be 
reduced. Furthermore, if these higher claims were part of a permanent trend, Aegon Nederland 
may be required to increase liabilities, which could reduce income. In addition, certain acquisition 
costs related to the sale of new policies and the purchase of policies already in force have been 
recorded as assets on the statement of financial position and are being amortized into income 
over time. If the assumptions relating to the future profitability of these policies (such as future 
claims, investment income and expenses) are not realized, the amortization of these costs could 
be accelerated and may even require write offs due to unrecoverability. This could have a 
materially adverse effect on Aegon Nederland’s business, results of operations and financial 
condition. 
 
Sources of underwriting risk include policy lapses and policy claims (such as mortality and 
morbidity). In general, Aegon Nederland is at risk if policy lapses increase as sometimes Aegon 
Nederland is unable to fully recover up front expenses in selling a product despite the presence of 
commission recoveries or surrender charges and fees. For mortality and morbidity risk, Aegon 
Nederland sells certain types of policies that are at risk if mortality or morbidity increases, such 
as term life insurance and accident insurance, and sells certain types of policies that are at risk if 
mortality decreases (longevity risk) such as annuity products. Aegon Nederland is also at risk if 
expenses are higher than assumed by management. 
 
Aegon Nederland monitors and manages its underwriting risk by underwriting risk type. 
Attribution analysis is performed on earnings and reserve movements in order to understand the 
source of any material variation in actual results from what was expected. Aegon Nederland’s 
business units also perform experience studies for underwriting risk assumptions, comparing 
Aegon Nederland’s experience to industry experience as well as combining Aegon Nederland’s 
experience and industry experience based on the depth of the history of each source to Aegon 
Nederland’s underwriting assumptions. Where policy charges are flexible in products, Aegon 
Nederland uses these analyses as the basis for modifying these charges, with a view to maintain 
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a balance between policyholder and shareholder interests. Aegon Nederland also has the ability 
to (partly) reduce expense levels over time by reducing the number of employees, thus 
mitigating unfavorable expense variation. 
 
Reinsurance policy 
 
 
For non-life, Aegon Nederland mainly reinsured its property, marine and motor third party 
liability business. For property insurance, an “excess of loss” contract is in place with a retention 
level of EUR 3 million for each separate risk and EUR 20 million for each windstorm event. For 
Transport and Motor insurance, an “excess of loss” contract is in place with a retention level of 
EUR 2,5 million for each separate risk. For Marine insurance there is also an “excess of loss” 
contract in place with a retention level of EUR 2 million for each separate risk.  
 
 
 
Notes to the table 
 
 
Sensitivity analysis of net income and shareholders’ equity to various underwriting risks is shown 
in the table that follows. The sensitivities represent an increase or decrease of mortality and 
morbidity rates over best estimate. Increases in mortality rates lead to an increase in the level of 
benefits and claims. The impact on net income and shareholders’ equity of sales transactions of 
investments required to meet the higher cash outflow is reflected in the sensitivities. A change in 
actual experience with mortality or morbidity rates may not lead to a change in the assumptions 
underlying the measurement of the insurance liabilities as management may recognize that the 
change is temporary. Life insurers are also exposed to longevity risk. Increased life expectation 
above Aegon Nederland’s assumed life expectation at the time of underwriting negatively impacts 
its results. 
 
 
 
      2014  2013 
      Estimated approximate effect  Estimated approximate effect 
      Net income Equity  Net income Equity 
           
20% increase in lapse rates   1 1  6 6 
20% decrease in lapse rates   -1 -1  -6 -6 
10% increase in mortality rates   -15 -15  -17 -17 
10% decrease in mortality rates   15 15  17 17 
10% increase in morbidity rates   -4 -4  -7 -7 
10% decrease in morbidity rates   4 4  7 7 
           

Longevity 
 
 
Aegon Nederland hedges the risk of future longevity increases in the Netherlands related to a 
part of its insurance liabilities. Aegon Nederland bought a longevity index derivative to hedge 
these risks. The longevity derivative will pay out if in a certain number of years the mortality 
rates have decreased more than a predetermined percentage compared to the base scenario at 
the moment of signing the contract. Payout of the derivative is defined based on a 'cumulative 
cash index', which represents the cumulative payout to a predefined (synthetic) insured 
population in relation to the expected payout (in the base scenario) to this same population. Both 
parties in the contract have the possibility to terminate the contract after ten years (early 
termination clause). The payout is maximized at a predetermined percentage compared to the 
base scenario. 
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Aegon Nederland also hedges longevity risks using reinsurance contracts. Aegon Nederland 
reinsured part of its longevity risk in 2013 at Blue Square Reinsurance, a 100% subsidiary of 
Aegon N.V. Within the whole of Aegon group this reinsurance is combined with protection for 
catastrophe mortality in the US and an additional longevity index derivative was purchased for 
the remaining longevity risk. 
 

4.4.13. Other risks 

Catastrophes 
 
 
The operating results and financial position can be adversely affected by natural and man-made 
disasters such as hurricanes, riots, fires and explosions. Generally, Aegon Nederland seeks to 
reduce its exposure to these events through individual risk selection, monitoring risk 
accumulation and purchasing reinsurance. However, such events could lead to considerable 
financial loss. Furthermore, natural disasters, terrorism and fires could disrupt Aegon Nederland’s 
operations and result in significant loss of property, substantial personnel losses and the 
destruction of company and customer information. 
 

Legislation and regulation 
 
 
Aegon Nederland’s insurance and banking activities are subject to comprehensive regulation and 
supervision. Changes in current legislation and regulation of insurance and banking products may 
affect Aegon Nederland’s products and operations. Changes in regulations on pensions and 
employee benefits, social security, financial services and taxation may adversely affect Aegon 
Nederland’s ability to sell new products or its claims exposure on existing ones. Additionally, new 
or amended legislation or regulations may be more restrictive or result in higher costs than lead 
to higher costs than is currently the case. 

Legal proceedings 
 
 
Aegon Nederland faces significant risks of litigation and regulatory investigations and actions in 
connection with its activities. Increasingly in recent years, the financial services sector has faced 
litigation, regulatory investigations and actions from a range of governmental and regulatory 
bodies relating to generally accepted practices in the industry. A judgment on a large claim or 
strict measures by regulatory bodies may have serious consequences for Aegon Nederland’s 
operations, operating results and financial position. 
 
 
 
Certain current and former customers, and groups representing customers have initiated 
litigation, and certain groups are encouraging others to bring lawsuits against Aegon and other 
insurers, in respect of certain products including unit-linked products (so called 
‘beleggingsverzekeringen’). Aegon has defended and Aegon intends to continue defending itself 
vigorously when we believe claims are without merit. 
   



Annual report 2014 
Aegon Nederland N.V. 

Page 103 of 199 
 

5. Intangible assets 
        2014  2013 
           
Goodwill        22  23 
VOBA insurance contracts        31  37 
VOBA intermediary portfolios        11  21 
Software        5  - 
        70  81 
 
2014           
     Goodwill VOBA VOBA Software  Total 
Cost      ins. contr interm. portf.   2014 
           
At January 1  64 74 164 -  303 
Additions  2 - 1 1  4 
Other movements  - - - 43  43 
At December 31     66 74 166 44  350 
           
2014           
     Goodwill VOBA VOBA Software  Total 
Accumulated 
depreciation 

     ins. contr interm. portf.   2014 

           
At January 1  41 37 143 -  222 
Depreciation / 
amortization through 
income statement 

    2 5 11 4  23 

Other movements  - - - 35  35 
At December 31     43 43 154 40  280 
           
Net book value at 
December 31 

    22 31 11 5  70 

 
 
2013           
     Goodwill VOBA VOBA Software  Total 
Cost      ins. contr interm. portf.   2013 
           
At January 1  48 74 160 14  296 
Additions  17 - 4 -  21 
Other movements  - - - -14  -14 
At December 31     64 74 164 -  303 
           
2013           
     Goodwill VOBA VOBA Software  Total 
Accumulated 
depreciation 

     ins. contr interm. portf.   2013 

           
At January 1  29 32 136 14  211 
Depreciation / 
amortization through 
income statement 

    12 5 7 -  24 

Other movements  - - - -14  -14 
At December 31     41 37 143 -  222 
           
Net book value at 
December 31 

    23 37 21 -  81 
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The other movement concerns a reclassification of back office software from equipment to 
intangible assets. 
 
Goodwill relates to the acquisition of the Unirobe Meeùs Groep (UMG) and is tested for 
impairment annually, considering the higher of the value in use and fair value less costs to sell.  
 
With the exception of goodwill, all intangible assets have a finite useful life and are amortized 
accordingly.  
 
VOBA insurance contracts and intermediary portfolio’s currently recognized is amortized over the 
duration of the related contracts with an average remaining amortization period of 5,4 years. 
 
Amortization and depreciation through the income statement is included in note 0 ‘Commissions 
and expenses’. None of the intangible assets have titles that are restricted or have been pledged 
as collateral for liabilities. 
 

6. Investments 
Investments for general account comprise financial assets, excluding derivatives, as well as 
investments in real estate and investments in investment funds accounted for according to the 
equity method. For a summary of all financial assets and financial liabilities at fair value through 
profit or loss see note 39.2. 
 
 
 
       Note 2014  2013 
           
           
Available-for-sale financial assets (AFS)        23.132  19.307 
Loans (amortized cost)        27.052  24.709 
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 
(FVTPL) 

       667  262 

Total financial assets, excluding derivatives        50.852  44.278 
Investments in real estate        1.069  810 
Total investments        51.921  45.088 
Investments in investment funds        115  195 
Total investments for general account        52.036  45.284 
 

6.1. Financial assets, excluding derivatives 
 
 
 
2014     AFS Loans FVTPL Total  Fair value 
           
Shares     58 - 667 725  725 
Debt securities     22.709 - - 22.709  22.709 
Money market and short-
term investments 

          

Mortgage loans     - 24.687 - 24.687  28.755 
Private loans     - 2.007 - 2.007  2.381 
Deposits with financial 
institutions 

    - 225 - 225  225 

Policy loans     - 6 - 6  6 
Other     366 127 - 493  493 
At December 31     23.132 27.052 667 50.852  55.293 
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2013     AFS Loans FVTPL Total  Fair value 
           
Shares     188 - 262 450  450 
Debt securities     18.826 - - 18.826  18.826 
Money market and short-
term investments 

          

Mortgage loans     - 22.653 - 22.653  26.114 
Private loans     - 1.710 - 1.710  1.792 
Deposits with financial 
institutions 

    - 204 - 204  204 

Policy loans     - 8 - 8  8 
Other     293 134 - 427  427 
At December 31     19.307 24.709 262 44.278  47.821 
 
 
 
        2014  2013 
           
Current        3.402  2.766 
Non-current        47.450  41.512 
Total financial assets, excluding derivatives        50.852  44.278 
 
Reference is made to note 39 for information on fair value measurement. 
 
In 2014, Aegon updated the fair value calculation of its Dutch mortgage loans based on 
additional market observable data. This resulted in an increase in the discount rate used to 
present value the future cash flows, mainly driven by an increase in the cost of funds. The 
carrying value, at amortized cost, of Dutch mortgage loans on Aegon’s balance sheet has not 
been impacted by the update of the fair value calculation. 
 
 
 
Certain mortgage loans shown within the category amortized loans are designated in portfolio fair 
value interest rate hedging relationships, and are fair valued with respect to the hedged interest 
rate. This resulted in a higher carrying value of EUR 435 million as at December 31, 2014 (2013: 
EUR -/- 124 million). Total fair value movement of the mortgage loan portfolio due to hedge 
accounting was EUR 559 million during 2014 (2013: EUR -/- 176 million). 
 
None of the financial assets has been reclassified during the financial year. 
 
Other loans comprise deposits with insurance companies with respect to reinsurance agreements. 
These are not freely available.  
 
 
 

6.2. Loans allowance 
 
During 2013 Aegon Nederland started to invest in a portfolio of consumers Loans, these are part 
of private loans. Below are the allowances that relate to these type of loans. 
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Loan allowance account 
Movements on the loan allowance account during the year were as follows: 
 
        2014  2013 
           
At January 1        114  94 
Addition charged to income statement        8  16 
Amounts written off        -14  -4 
Other movements        -  8 
At December 31        108  114 
 
 

6.3. Investments in real estate 
        2014  2013 
           
At January 1        810  860 
Additions        369  8 
Transfers from other headings           
Disposals        -108  -19 
Fair value gains / (losses)        -2  -39 
Other        -  - 
At December 31        1.069  810 
 
 
Aegon Nederland’s investments in real estate consists mainly of residential property. Aegon 
Nederland has entered into long-term residential property leases that can be terminated subject 
to a short-term notice by the tenant. Although most rental contracts have a clause that stipulates 
that the annual rent can be increased based on a fixed schedule or market conditions, for the 
majority of these residences the possibility of increasing rent is limited.  Under Dutch law, the 
maximum annual rent increase on residential property rented in the affordable housing segment3 
is specified by the Dutch national government and equals the annual inflation rate plus a small 
margin.  
 
There are no restrictions on the realizability of investment property or the remittance of income 
and proceeds of disposal. 
 
The entire portfolio of investments in real estate was appraised during the reporting period by 
independent external valuators. 
 
Rental income 
Rental income is reported as part of investment income in the income statement, see note 28 
‘Investment income’. Additional information on rental income is presented in the table below: 
 
        2014  2013 
           
Theoretical rental income        62  60 
Minus: missed rental income on vacant investment property        2  2 
Gross rental income        60  58 
Direct operating expenses of property that generated rental 
income 

       -17  -15 

Direct operating expenses of property that did not generate 
rental income 

       -  - 

Net income on real estate        43  43 
 

                                                           
3 The maximum monthly rent in the affordable housing segment (‘liberalisatiegrens’ or ‘huurtoeslaggrens’) as of January 1, 
2014 is EUR 699,48. 
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6.4. Investments in investment funds 
 
 
Investments for general account in investment funds are measured using the equity method. The 
market value of investments held in investment funds is their carrying amount. Aegon Nederland 
has no control over these funds. 
 
Other interests accounted in accordance with the equity method are presented in note 9 
‘Investments in associates’. 
 
 
        2014  2013 
           
Assets        115  196 
Liabilities        -  -1 
Revenues        40  - 
Net income        39  -8 
  
 

7. Investments for account of policyholders 
 
 
 
Investments for account of policyholders comprises financial assets held by investment funds to 
meet obligations to third parties. Investment returns on these assets are passed on to the 
policyholder. 
 
 
The fees for managing these investments are included in note 29 ‘Fee and commission income’. 
For a summary of all financial assets and financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss see 
note 39.2. 
 
 
 
        2014  2013 
           
Shares        9.949  8.834 
Debt securities        13.453  11.630 
Other        3.683  3.705 
        27.086  24.169 
 
 
 
Almost all equities and bonds for account of policyholders are listed. The item ‘Other’ is chiefly 
cash and cash equivalents, a portfolio of mortgage loans, accruals and investments managed by 
third parties in respect to co-insurance and reinsurance pension contracts. 
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8. Derivatives 
 
 
 
     Note Derivative asset  Derivative liability 
      2014 2013  2014 2013 
           
Derivatives not designated in a 
hedge 

     23.748 11.729  21.970 10.117 

Derivatives designated as cash flow 
hedges 

          

Derivatives designated as fair 
value hedges 

     3 75  611 79 

Total      23.751 11.804  22.581 10.196 
 
 
 
        2014  2013 
           
Current        -19  4 
Non-current        1.189  1.605 
Total net derivatives        1.171  1.609 
 
For a summary of all financial assets and financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss see 
note 39.2. 
 
 

8.1. Use of derivatives 
 
Derivatives not designated in a hedge – general account 
 
 
 
      Derivative asset  Derivative liability 
      2014 2013  2014 2013 
           
Derivatives held as an economic hedge      23.748 11.729  20.231 8.931 
Bifurcated embedded derivatives      - -  1.739 1.186 
Total      23.748 11.729  21.970 10.117 
 
 
 
Aegon Nederland uses derivative instruments as a part of its asset liability management strategy: 
the risk management of all assets and liabilities. They may relate to an existing asset or liability 
or a future reinvestment risk. Derivatives are classified as economic hedges to the extent that 
they do not qualify for hedge accounting or where Aegon Nederland has elected not to apply 
hedge accounting. In all cases, they are in accordance with internal risk guidelines and are 
closely monitored for continuing compliance with these guidelines.  
 
Embedded derivatives that are not closely related to the host contracts have been bifurcated and 
are recorded at fair value in the statement of financial position, along with derivatives not used 
as hedges. These bifurcated embedded derivatives are embedded in unit-linked insurance 
contracts in the form of guarantees for minimum benefits. 
 
The fair value of derivatives on both the asset and liability side of the statement of financial 
position increased during 2014. This increase is mainly caused by a further decrease in market 
interest rates in combination with the practice of Aegon Nederland to buy swaps and swaptions to 
offset certain derivative positions rather than unwinding the positions as a whole. Although these 
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new swaps create a full economic offset with existing swaps, the positive and negative 
derivatives cannot be offset under IFRS and increased both the asset and liability side. 
 
 
Interest rate derivatives are used to manage interest risk positions. These contracts are 
designated as economic hedges with respect to these risks. The main types of derivatives used 
for this are interest rate swaps, swaptions, caps/floors and forward rate agreements/futures. 
Currency contracts are used to manage Aegon Nederland’s positions in net foreign currency 
investments. The main types of derivatives used for this are cross-currency swaps and currency 
forward contracts. Other derivatives are used to manage risks relating to equities and credit. The 
main types of derivatives used for this are equity swaps, options, futures and credit derivatives. 
 
For more information on the guarantees refer to note 18 ‘Guarantees’. 
 
 
In the first quarter of 2012, Aegon Nederland entered into a derivative to partially hedge its 
longevity risk. The derivative, with a notional amount of EUR 12 billion, becomes in the money if 
- over 20 years - realized mortality rates are more than 7,5% lower than pre-defined mortality 
tables. The derivative is measured at fair value through profit or loss in accordance with IAS 39. 
The value of the longevity derivative is calculated using an internal model as there is no active 
market for this type of derivative. 
 

The day one gain to be recognized related to the index linked swap derivative was EUR 13,4 
million as of January 1, 2012, which is amortized in 20 years on a straight line basis. As at 
December 31, 2014, EUR 11,4 million remains after amortization. 
 
CDO’s and CDS’s 
Aegon Nederland has entered into free-standing credit derivative transactions (Single Tranche 
Synthetic CDOs and Single Name Credit Default Swaps - CDSs). The positions outstanding at the 
end of the year were: 
 
 
 
      2014  2013 
      Notional Fair value  Notional Fair value 
           
Synthetic CDO's      - -  20 20 
Credit Default Swaps      -13 -  -13 - 
Total      -13 -  7 20 
           
           
Credit derivative disclosure by 
quality 

          

      2014  2013 
      Notional Fair value  Notional Fair value 
           
AAA      - -  - - 
AA      - -  - - 
A      -13 -  7 20 
BBB      - -  - - 
BB      - -  - - 
B or lower      - -  - - 
Not rated      - -  - - 
Total      -13 -  7 20 
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Certain derivatives are used to add risk by selling protection in the form of single name and index 
based credit default swaps and tranches of synthetic collateralized debt obligations. Another 
strategy used is to synthetically replicate corporate and sovereign credit exposures with credit 
derivatives. This involves the purchase of high quality low risk assets and the sale of credit 
derivatives. The table above provides a breakdown to credit quality of these credit derivatives. 
 
Derivatives designated as fair value hedges 
 
 
Aegon Nederland’s fair value hedges consist of interest rate swaps that are used to protect 
against changes in the fair value of fixed-rate instruments due to movements in market interest 
rates. Gains and losses on derivatives designated under fair value hedge accounting are 
recognized in the income statement. The effective portion of the fair value change on the hedged 
item is also recognized in the income statement. As a result, only the net accounting 
ineffectiveness has an impact on the net result. This offset is only possible when using the EU 
carve-out on hedge accounting. 
 
The table below summarizes the effect of the fair value hedges.  
 
 
        2014  2013 
           
Fair value changes mortgage loans recognized in income 
statement under the EU carve-out 

       559  -176 

Offsetted amount of fair value changes recognized on 
derivatives used as hedging instrument 

       -558  173 

Total accounting ineffectivenes under the EU carve-out 
recognized in the income statement 

       -  -3 

           
           
Fair value of outstanding derivatives designated under fair 
value hedge accounting was: 

          

        2014  2013 
           
Presented as asset        3  75 
Presented as liability        611  78 
Total        -607  -3 
 
 
 

9. Investments in associates 
 
 
        2014  2013 
           
At January 1        19  21 
Disposals        -  -1 
Share in net income        1  2 
Dividend        -1  -2 
Share in changes in associates's equity        1  -1 
Other        -  -1 
At December 31        19  19 
 
 
 
All associates are unlisted and are accounted for using the equity method and are considered to 
be non-current. The investments in associates include stakes in insurance companies that are 
required to maintain a minimum solvency margin based on local directives. Such restrictions can 
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affect the ability of these associates to transfer funds in the form of cash dividends, or repayment 
of loans or advances, and therefore, there can be no assurance that these restrictions will not 
become a limitation in the future. There are no unrecognized shares of losses in associates. The 
financial statements of all associates have the same reporting date as the Group. 
 
Summarized financial information of material associates 
 
 
 
        2014  2013 
Summarized statement of financial position           
Current assets        19  22 
Non-current assets        91  88 
Total assets        110  110 
           
Current liabilities        2  2 
Non-current liabilities        47  48 
Total liabilities        49  49 
           
Net assets        61  61 
           
Summarized statement of comprehensive income           
           
Revenues        10  17 
           
Profit or loss from continuing operations        4  10 
Income tax expense or income        -1  -2 
Post-tax profit / (loss) from continuing operations        3  7 
Post-tax profit / (loss) from discontinued operations           
Other comprehensive income        2  -3 
Total comprehensive income        6  4 
           
Dividends received from associates        -1  -2 
 
The summarized financial information presented above are the amounts included in the IFRS 
financial statements of the 33,3% associate ‘N.V. Levensverzekering-Maatschappij ‘De Hoop’.     
A reconciliation of the summarized financial information to the carrying amounts of the associates 
is as follows: 
 
 
 
        2014  2013 
           
Net assets of associates as presented above        61  61 
Net assets of associates excluding fair value adjustments        61  61 
           
Group share of net assets of associates, excluding fair value 
adjustments 

       20  20 

Dividend received from associates        -1  -2 
Fair value adjustments           
Carrying amount of investments in material associates        19  18 
 
Refer to note 13.3  ‘Receivables’ for the loans to associates. Refer to note 43.2 ‘Investments in 
associates and joint ventures’ for a listing of the principal investments in associates and the 
percentage holding of Aegon Nederland. 
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10. Investments in joint ventures 
 
 
 
        2014  2013 
           
At January 1        819  854 
Additions        6  14 
Share in net income        23  -7 
Dividend        -59  -45 
Share in changes in joint ventures's equity        -  3 
At December 31        789  819 
 
 
 
All joint ventures are unlisted and are accounted for using the equity method and are considered 
to be non-current. There are no unrecognized shares of losses in joint ventures. The financial 
statements of all joint ventures have the same reporting date as the group.  
 
The summarized financial information presented below are the amounts included in the IFRS 
financial statements of the joint ventures adjusted for fair value adjustments made at the time of 
acquisition and for differences in accounting policies. 
 
Summarized financial information of material joint ventures  
Aegon Nederland considers its investment in AMVEST Vastgoed B.V. (AMVEST) a material joint 
venture. The summarized financial information presented below are the amounts included in the 
IFRS financial statements of AMVEST on 100% basis. 
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        2014  2013 
           
Summarized statement of financial position           
Cash and cash equivalents        111  52 
Other current assets        221  178 
Total current assets        332  230 
           
Non-current assets        1.739  1.990 
           
Total assets        2.071  2.219 
           
Current financial liabilities excluding trade payables and 
other provisions 

       -  - 

Other current liabilities        55  67 
Total current liabilities        55  67 
           
Non-current financial liabilities excluding trade payables and 
other provisions 

       428  504 

Other non-current liabilities        10  11 
Total non-current liabilities        438  514 
           
Total liabilities        494  582 
           
Net assets        1.577  1.637 
           
Summarized statement of comprehensive income           
           
Revenues        73  79 
Depreciation and amortization        -  -1 
Interest income           
Interest expense        -11  -12 
           
Profit or loss from continuing operations        40  -15 
Income tax expense or income        6  - 
Post-tax profit or loss from continuing operations        46  -15 
Post-tax profit or loss from discontinued operations           
Other comprehensive income        -  -6 
Total comprehensive income        46  -21 
           
Dividends received from joint ventures        -59  -45 
 
Refer to note 43.2 ‘Investments in associates and joint ventures’ for a listing of the principal 
investments in joint ventures and the percentage holding of Aegon Nederland. 
 
 
 
A reconciliation of the summarized financial information to the carrying amounts of the joint 
venture is as follows: 
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        2014  2013 
           
Net assets of joint venture as presented above        1.577  1.637 
Net assets of joint venture excluding fair value adjustments           
Group share of net assets of joint venture, excluding fair 
value adjustments 

       789  819 

Fair value adjustments           
Carrying amount of investments in joint ventures        789  819 
 

11. Reinsurance assets 
 
 
 
        2014  2013 
           
Life insurance general account        13  15 
Life insurance for account of policyholders        -  - 
Non-life insurance        17  20 
At December 31        30  35 
           
Current        6  - 
Non-current        24  35 
        30  35 
 
Amounts due from reinsurers in respect of claims already paid by Aegon Nederland on contracts 
that are reinsured are included in note 13.3 ‘Receivables. 
 
Movements during the year in reinsurance assets 
 
 
 
2014      Life insurance Non-life  Total 
      General For account insurance   
      account policyholders    
           
At January 1  15 - 20  35 
Gross premiums and deposits  4 - 16  20 
Changes in unearned premiums    -16  -16 
Insurance liabilities released  -7 -   -7 
Incurred related to current year    1  1 
Release for claims settled prior years    -4  -4 
At December 31  13 - 17  30 
 
 
 



Annual report 2014 
Aegon Nederland N.V. 

Page 115 of 199 
 

2013      Life insurance Non-life  Total 
      General For account insurance   
      account policyholders    
           
At January 1  12 - 13  25 
Gross premiums and deposits  6 - 16  22 
Changes in unearned premiums    -16  -16 
Unwind of discount / interest credited  1 - -  1 
Insurance liabilities released  -12 -   -13 
Changes to valuation of expected future benefits  - -   - 
Incurred related to current year    7  7 
Other movements  8 - -  8 
At December 31  15 - 20  35 
 
 
 
In December 2013, Aegon Levensverzekering entered into a longevity reinsurance contract with 
Blue Square Re, a 100% owned subsidiary of Aegon N.V., Aegon Nederland’s ultimate parent 
company. The contract reinsures a specified portfolio of insurance contracts against possible 
future mortality improvements. The size of the underlying portfolio is EUR 1.2 billion. Blue Square 
Re will pay benefits as long as the participants live and receive fixed payments from Aegon 
Levensverzekering. EUR 29,5 million was recognized as deferred cost of reinsurance with regard 
to this reinsurance contract, which will be amortized over the duration of the underlying 
insurance contracts. The amortization pattern is based on the cash flows of the fixed paying leg 
at contract inception. As at 31-12-2014 EUR 26,2 million remains (31-12-2013: EUR 27,8 million) 
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12. Deferred expenses  
 
 
 
2014        Deferred Deferred cost Total 
        acquisition costs of reinsurance  
           
At January 1    141  141 
Costs deferred    10  10 
Amortization through income statement    -37  -37 
At December 31        114 - 114 
           
Current        22  22 
Non-current        92  92 
        114 - 114 
           
           
           
2013        Deferred Deferred cost Total 
        acquisition costs of reinsurance  
           
At January 1    174  174 
Costs deferred    13  13 
Amortization through income statement    -46  -46 
At December 31        141 - 141 
           
Current        23  23 
Non-current        118  118 
        141 - 141 
 
The carrying amounts disclosed reasonably approximate the fair values at year end. 
 
 
 

13. Other assets and receivables 
 
 
 
       Note 2014  2013 
           
Real estate held for own use        99  103 
Equipment        72  76 
Receivables        1.808  1.633 
Accrued income        554  568 
Total        2.533  2.380 
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13.1. Real estate for own use 
        2014  2013 
Cost           
           
At January 1        136  136 
Revaluations        -1  - 
At December 31        135  136 
           
Accumulated depreciation           
At January 1        33  31 
Depreciation through income statement        2  2 
Other        1  - 
At December 31        36  33 
           
Net book value at December 31        99  103 
 
The entire portfolio of investments in real estate was appraised in 2012. All was appraised by 
independent external valuators real estate held for own use is revalued at least once in three 
years. Key assumptions in determining the fair value were the rental income and the lease term 
of the property.  
 
If the cost model had been applied as a measurement policy, the carrying amount would have 
been EUR 99 million (2013: EUR 103 million).  
 
The useful life of real estate held for own use is between 40 and 50 years. Real estate held for 
own use has not been provided as collateral for liabilities nor are ownership rights restricted. 
 
Depreciation through the income statement is included in note 0 ‘Commissions and expenses’.  
 
 

13.2. Equipment 
 
        2014  2013 
Cost           
At January 1        219  210 
Additions        19  15 
Disposals        -2  -6 
Other        -42  - 
At December 31        194  219 
           
Accumulated depreciation           
At January 1        143  127 
Depreciation through income statement        15  18 
Disposals        -2  -2 
Other        -34  - 
At December 31        121  143 
           
Net book value at December 31        72  76 
 
 
 
The other movements concerns a reclassification of back office software from Equipment  to 
intangible assets. 
 
No equipment has been provided as collateral for liabilities nor are ownership rights restricted. 
Assets are depreciated over their useful life, a period of three to fifteen years. 
 
Depreciation through the income statement is included in note 0 ‘Commissions and expenses’.  
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13.3. Receivables 

 
 
 
        2014  2013 
           
Receivables from reinsurers        4  10 
Reverse repurchase agreements        903  981 
Investment debtors        592  429 
Receivables from policyholders        278  127 
Receivables from brokers and agents        29  33 
Income tax receivable        1  3 
Current account with parent company        -  14 
Other        69  101 
Provision for doubtful debts        -68  -64 
Total        1.808  1.633 
           
Current        1.760  1.533 
Non-current        48  94 
Total        1.808  1.627 
 
The carrying amounts disclosed reasonably approximate the fair values at year-end. 
 
 
Information on provision for doubtful debts: 
 
 
 
        2014  2013 
           
Policyholders, brokers and agents        30  26 
Trade receivables        38  38 
Total        68  64 
           
Movement schedule           
           
        2014  2013 
           
At January 1        64  75 
Additions charged to earnings        5  1 
Used during the year        -1  -12 
Unused amounts reversed through the income statement        -1  - 
At December 31        68  64 
 

13.4. Accrued income 
 
 
 
        2014  2013 
           
Accrued interest        501  499 
Prepaid expenses        28  48 
Deferred acquisition expenses non-life insurance        26  21 
At December 31        554  568 
 
The account ‘Accrued income’ is classified entirely as current assets. The carrying amounts 
disclosed reasonably approximate the fair values at year-end. 
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14. Cash and cash equivalents 

 
 
 
        2014  2013 
           
Cash at bank and in hand        556  337 
Short-term deposits        3.736  1.255 
Money market investments        2.974  723 
Short-term collateral        4  5 
Total        7.271  2.320 
 
 
 
The carrying amounts disclosed reasonably approximate the fair values at year-end. The 
collateral relates to securities lending and repurchase agreements and margins on derivatives 
transactions. A corresponding liability to repay the cash is recognized in other liabilities. 
 
 
 
 
Investment of cash collateral received is restricted through limitations on credit worthiness, 
duration, approved investment categories and borrower limits. Aegon Nederland earns a share of 
the spread between the collateral earnings and the rebate paid to the borrower of the securities. 
Income from securities lending programs was approximately EUR 372 thousand (2013: EUR 
1.185 thousand). 
 
The weighted effective interest rate on short-term deposits was 0.015 % (2013: 0.204%) and 
these deposits have an average maturity of 21.6 days (2013: 17.6 days). 
 
We refer to note 41 ‘Transfers of financial assets’ for more information on collateral and reverse 
repurchase obligations. 
 
Deposits with De Nederlandsche Bank (DNB) 
 
 
Cash and cash equivalents include cash and demand balances held at DNB. DNB requires Aegon 
Bank to place 1% of their deposits with agreed maturity or the savings accounts (without 
restrictions to withdraw their money) in an account with DNB. This deposit is renewed twelve 
times per year, based on an updated valuation of total assets. The average minimum required 
balance on deposit at DNB was EUR 38 million as at the end of 2014 (2013: EUR 35 million). The 
interest rate is approximately 0,05% (2013: 0,25%). These deposits are therefore not freely 
available. Other cash and cash equivalents are unrestricted. Due to the nature of this asset the 
total amount classifies as current assets. 
 
 
 
        2014  2013 
           
Average balance on deposit with DNB at year-end  105.918  126.771 
Average minimum required balance on deposit by DNB for year-end period  37.980  34.550 
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15. Equity 
 
 
        2014  2013 
           
Share capital        24  24 
Share premium        645  645 
Revaluation reserves        2.393  577 
Retained earnings        2.006  2.004 
Total        5.067  3.249 
 

15.1. Share capital 
 
        2014  2013 
           
Authorized share capital        50  50 
Not issued        26  26 
        24  24 
 
 
The authorized share capital is EUR 50 million, divided into 100.000 shares of EUR 500 nominal 
value each, of which 47.194 shares have been issued and fully paid. There have been no changes 
since the previous financial year. In 2014, Aegon Nederland paid no dividend to Aegon N.V. (In 
2013: EUR 500 million dividend, EUR 10.595 per share).  
 
 
Under Dutch law, the amount that is available to pay dividends consists of equity less the 
outstanding share capital and reserves required by law. The insurance and banking regulator 
(DNB) restricts distributions of capital. 
 
 
The financial statements of Aegon Nederland includes the Optas Pensioenen N.V. holds statutory 
reserves of EUR 1.050 million (2013: EUR 997 million) which are restricted.  
The statutory reserve of Optas Pensioenen N.V. has accrued by EUR 297 million (2013: EUR 245 
million) since Optas N.V. and its subsidiaries were acquired in 2007. On January 13th 2015, the 
court granted the request to release the restriction. 
 
 

15.2. Share premium 
 
 
 
        2014  2013 
           
At January 1        645  631 
Capital contributions        -  13 
At December 31        645  645 
 
 
 
The capital contribution in 2013 was provided to Aegon Nederland from its parent company in 
order to provide  compensation for loss of branches in France and Spain which were disposed of 
upon request of the parent company.  
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15.3. Revaluation reserves 
 
 
 
        2014  2013 
           
At January 1   577  1.332 
Gross revaluation   2.913  -656 
Net (gains) / losses transferred to income statement   -427  -351 
Tax effect   -668  248 
Other movements   -1  5 
At December 31        2.393  577 
 
 
 
The revaluation reserves comprise unrealized gains and losses on these investments, net of tax. 
Upon sale of available-for-sale securities, the realized result is recognized through the income 
statement. Upon sale of real estate held for own use, the cumulative revaluation is taken direct 
to retained earnings. In the event of impairments, the unrealized loss is recognized through the 
income statement. There are restrictions on the distribution to shareholders of the revaluation 
reserve on real estate and revaluations relating to financial instruments that are not actively 
traded / quoted.  
 
 
        2014  2013 
           
Shares        43  143 
Debt securities        2.464  338 
Cash flow hedge        -4  -4 
Participations        87  82 
Investments in associates        18  17 
Shadow accounting        -216  - 
Total AFS investments        2.393  576 
Real estate held for own use        -  1 
Total revaluation reserves        2.393  577 
 
 
 
 
 

16. Insurance contracts 
 
 
 
       Note 2014  2013 
           
Life insurance        30.403  24.874 
Non-life insurance           
- Unearned premiums and unexpired risks        142  142 
- Outstanding claims        980  913 
- Incurred but not reported claims        294  334 
Total insurance contracts        31.821  26.263 
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16.1. Life insurance 
 
Movements during the year in life insurance 
 
 
 
Movements during the year:        2014  2013 
           
At January 1   24.874  23.255 
Gross premiums   2.809  2.213 
Unwind of discount / interest credited   868  811 
Insurance liabilities released   -1.622  -1.637 
Changes in valuation of expected future benefits   3.033  -1.167 
Portfolio transfers and acquisitions   191  1.119 
Expense loadings released   -95  -107 
Net exchange differences   4  -16 
Movement unamortized interest rate rebates   295  394 
Other   48  7 
At December 31   30.403  24.874 
 
 
 
The insurance contract liabilities increased with 5,529 million. This increase is mainly 
explained by the change in valuation of expected future benefits. Driver behind this 
increase is the declined interest rates leading to an increased value of the guarantees.  
 
The liability adequacy test were performed in 2014 (and 2013) on the insurance 
contract. 
Due to the deficiency in 2014, the insurance contract liabilities were increased by EUR 
230 million (2013: EUR nil). This addition to the insurance contract liabilities was set off 
against the revaluation reserve by applying shadow accounting. For more information 
see note 2.17.5 “shadow accounting”. Due to the deficiency in the liability adequacy 
test 2014, the insurance liabilities as per the end 2014 are de facto measured at 
accounting principles used in the liability adequacy test. 
 
The estimates used in de liability adequacy test, are based on the following items: 
 

-      For the liability adequacy test Aegon Nederland uses mortality tables that take into 
account expected future changes in life expectancy (the Aegon prospective mortality 
table). As of 2014, Aegon Nederland also uses this prospective table in its financial 
statements.  
 

-      The liability adequacy test uses a swap curve with a liquidity spread, and including an 
ultimate forward rate (UFR),  to discount future cash flows, whilst the insurance liabilities 
on Aegon Nederland statement of financial position are determined using discount rates 
as contractually agreed, mainly 3% and 4%. The liquidity spread defined by Aegon N.V. 
is deemed suitable for Aegon Nederland. 

 
-      Assumptions on future expenses are based on the current level of expenses, adjusted 

for expected expense inflation.  
 

-      The assumptions in the liability adequacy test contain a margin for risk. 
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Movements during the year in deferred rebates granted and/or future interest compensation 
granted 
 
        2014  2013 
           
At January 1    245  -150 
Rebates granted and/or future interest compensation 
granted during the year 

       302  386 

Amortization through income statement        -7  9 
At December 31        539  245 
 
The deferred rebates granted and/or future interest compensation granted reduce the insurance 
liabilities of Aegon Nederland. 
 
The correction to the premium payable on deferred rebates granted and/or future interest 
compensation granted during the year products was a surplus in 2013 and 2014. As a result of 
the low interest rate environment, policyholders paid a surplus on the premium where previously 
a premium discount was given.  
 
The life insurance liabilities include the provision for interest guarantees. See note 40.2 ‘Other 
commitments and contingencies’ for more information. 
 

16.2. Non-life insurance 
 
 
 
        2014  2013 
           
Accident and health insurance        854  822 
General insurance        563  568 
Total        1.417  1.389 
 
Movements during the year in non-life insurance 
 
 
 
        2014  2013 
           
At January 1   1.389  1.318 
Gross premiums - existing and new business   734  730 
Changes in valuation of expected future claims   -733  -747 
Changes in incurred but not reported claims   -40  6 
Unwind of discount / interest credited   10  10 
Incurred related to current year   353  358 
Incurred related to prior years   189  169 
Release for claims settled current year   -189  -195 
Release for claims settled prior years   -294  -258 
Other   -  - 
At December 31   1.417  1.389 
           
           
Run off result        2014  2013 
           
Accident and health insurance        55  13 
General insurance        -6  -18 
        49  -5 
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A net release from the non-life claims reserve is shown as a negative figure and a net addition as 
a positive figure. 
 
Claims history (gross and net) 
 
 
 2014 2013 2012 2011 2010 2009 2008 2007 2006 2005 Total 
            
Estimated 
gross 
cumulative 
claims, 
before 
reinsurance 

           

            
Year-end 
financial year 

514 542 522 471 479 479 505 462 427 419  

            
After 1 year - 600 563 506 514 492 496 479 429 465  
After 2 years - - 547 494 494 473 457 442 384 419  
After 3 years - - - 479 466 465 454 429 395 384  
After 4 years - - - - 482 469 440 416 373 373  
After 5 years - - - - - 464 396 401 363 384  
After 6 years - - - - - - 395 381 354 381  
After 7 years - - - - - - - 375 349 378  
After 8 years - - - - - - - - 345 376  
After 9 years - - - - - - - - - 375  
            
Estimated 
cumulative 
claims 

514 600 547 479 482 464 395 375 345 375  

Cumulative 
payments 

-189 -365 -380 -362 -392 -389 -342 -330 -313 -352  

 325 235 167 117 90 75 52 45 32 23 1.161 
Outstanding 
claims prior 
year 
(<2005) 

          114 

            
Outstanding 
claims in 
financial 
statements 
(including 
IBNR) 

          1.275 
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 2014 2013 2012 2011 2010 2009 2008 2007 2006 2005 Total 
            
Estimated 
net 
cumulative 
claims, 
after 
reinsurance 

           

            
Year-end 
financial year 

513 535 518 471 479 478 501 462 427 419  

            
After 1 year - 594 559 504 514 492 495 479 428 464  
After 2 years - - 544 492 492 471 455 442 383 418  
After 3 years - - - 478 464 465 453 429 395 384  
After 4 years - - - - 480 469 439 416 373 373  
After 5 years - - - - - 464 395 401 363 384  
After 6 years - - - - - - 393 381 354 381  
After 7 years - - - - - - - 375 349 378  
After 8 years - - - - - - - - 345 376  
After 9 years          375  
            
Estimated 
cumulative 
claims 

513 594 544 478 480 464 393 375 345 375  

Cumulative 
payments 

-190 -365 -380 -362 -392 -389 -341 -330 -313 -352  

 323 229 164 116 88 75 52 45 32 23 1.147 
Outstanding 
claims prior 
year 
(<2005) 

          111 

            
Outstanding 
claims in 
financial 
statements 
(including 
IBNR) 

          1.258 
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17. Insurance contracts for account of policyholders 
 
Movements during the year in insurance contracts for account of policyholders 
 
 
 
        2014  2013 
           
At January 1   25.853  26.647 
Gross premiums   1.173  1.301 
Unwind of discount / interest credited   2.030  904 
Change in unit linked account value   613  299 
Insurance liabilities released   -1.881  -1.831 
Changes in valuation of expected future benefits   1.169  -377 
Portfolio transfers and acquisitions   -202  -944 
Expense loadings released   -148  -155 
Other   -36  8 
At December 31   28.569  25.853 
 

18. Guarantees 
 
For financial reporting purposes Aegon Nederland distinguishes between the following types of 
minimum guarantees: 

• Financial guarantees. These guarantees are treated as bifurcated embedded derivatives, 
valued at fair value and presented as derivatives (refer to note 18.1); 

• Minimum investment return guarantees: these guarantees are not bifurcated from their 
host contracts, valued at fair value and presented together with the underlying insurance 
contracts (refer to note 18.2). 

 
18.1. Financial guarantees 

 
 
Individual variable unit-linked products have a minimum benefit guarantee if premiums are 
invested in certain funds. The sum insured at maturity or upon the death of the beneficiary has a 
minimum guaranteed return (in the range of 3% to 4%) if the premium has been paid for a 
consecutive period of at least ten years and is invested in a mixed fund and/or fixed-income 
funds. No guarantees are given for equity investments only.  
 
The following table provides information on the liabilities for financial guarantees for minimum 
benefits, net of present value of the expected future premiums that are received to cover these 
guarantees: 
 
 
 
        2014  2013 
           
At January 1        1.181  1.323 
Changes in valuation of expected future benefits   552  -142 
At December 31        1.733  1.181 
           
Account value        7.743  10.326 
Net amount at risk        1.967  894 
 
Balances are included in the derivatives liabilities on the face of the statement of financial 
position; refer to note 0 ‘Derivatives’. 
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The net amount at risk represents the difference between the amount payable under the 
guarantees and the account value at balance sheet date. Account value reflects the actual fund 
value for the policyholders. 
 

18.2. Minimum investment return guarantees 
 
 
The traditional life and pension products offered by Aegon Nederland include various products 
that accumulate a cash value. Premiums are paid by customers at inception or over the term of 
the contract. The accumulation products pay benefits on the policy maturity date, subject to 
survival of the insured. In addition, most policies also pay death benefits if the insured dies 
during the term of the contract. The death benefits may be stipulated in the policy or depend on 
the gross premiums paid to date. Premiums and amounts insured are established at inception of 
the contract. The amount insured can be increased as a result of profit sharing, if provided 
for under the terms and conditions of the product. Minimum interest guarantees exist for all 
generations of traditional accumulation products written. Older generations contain a 4% 
guarantee; in recent years the guarantee has decreased to 3%. 
 
The traditional group pension contracts offered by Aegon Nederland include large group insurance 
contracts that have an individually determined asset investment strategy underlying the pension 
contract. The guarantee given is that the profit sharing is the maximum of 0% and the realized 
return on an asset portfolio specified in the policy conditions adjusted for technical interest rates 
ranging from 3% to 4%. If the adjusted return is negative, the 0% minimum is effective, but the 
loss in any given year is carried forward to be offset against any future surpluses within the 
contract period. In general, a guarantee is given for the life of the underlying employees so that 
their pension benefit is guaranteed. Large group contracts also share technical results (mortality 
risk and disability risk). The contract period is typically five years and the premiums are fixed 
over this period. 
 
These guarantees are valued at fair value and are included as part of insurance liabilities with the 
underlying host insurance contracts. 
 
The following table provides information on the liabilities for guarantees that are included in the 
valuation of the host contracts, net of the present value of the expected future premiums that 
are received to cover these guarantees.  
 
 
 
        2014  2013 
           
At January 1        2.462  3.684 
Changes in valuation of expected future benefits   2.971  -1.222 
Paid guarantee benefits        -  - 
At December 31        5.433  2.462 
           
Account value        18.794  14.557 
Net amount at risk        4.871  1.461 
 
The net amount at risk represents the sum of the differences between the guaranteed and actual 
amount that is credited to the policyholders. For Individual policies only positive differences are 
included, for Group pensions contracts carry forwards of negative differences are recognized. 
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18.3. Fair value measurement of guarantees 
 
 
The fair values of guarantees mentioned above are calculated as the present value of future 
expected guarantee payments to policyholders less the present value of assessed rider fees 
attributable to the guarantees.  
 
Aegon Nederland utilizes different risk management strategies to mitigate the financial impact of 
the valuation of these guarantees on the results including asset and liability management and 
derivative hedging strategies to hedge certain aspects of the market risks embedded in these 
guarantees. 
Guarantees valued at fair value contributed a net loss before tax of EUR 3,571 million (2013: 
profit of EUR 1,178 million) to earnings. 
 
 
 
The main drivers of this loss before tax are negative results related to decreases in risk free rates 
of EUR 3,899 million (2013: EUR 1,242 million gain), EUR 291 million loss related to decreasing 
own credit spread (2013: EUR 190 million loss) and EUR 1 million related to increases in equity 
volatilities (2013: EUR 32 million gain).  
 
Hedges related to these guarantee reserves contributed fair value profits of EUR 3,552 million to 
income before tax (2013: EUR 1,296 million loss). 
 
Guarantee reserves increased EUR 3,522 million in 2014 (2013: decrease of EUR 1,365 million). 
 
Refer to note 39.1.8 for information on the determination of the fair value of these guarantees. 
 
Sensitivities on guarantees 
 
 
 
        2014  2013 
           
Estimated approximate effect on guarantees:           
           
Credit spread  + 20 bp      -288  -168 
  -  20 bp      379  178 
           
Equity volatility  +   5 %      44  72 
  -    5 %      -38  -63 
           
 
 
 
The sensitivity of guarantees to credit spread increased during 2014 due to the increased 
absolute value of the guarantees. The sensitivity of equity volatility shocks were lower compared 
to 2013 because Aegon Nederland hedges part of the equity volatility risk since 2014.  
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19. Savings deposits 
 
 
 
        2014  2013 
           
At January 1        4.283  4.386 
Deposits        2.708  1.338 
Withdrawals        -1.651  -1.537 
Interest credited        74  97 
At December 31        5.414  4.283 
 
 
 
The savings deposits comprise savings accounts and deposits. The savings accounts generally 
have few restrictions or conditions and so account holders have great flexibility in withdrawing 
their money. The fair value of the savings deposits is EUR 5,542 million (2013: 4,299 million). 
 

20. Investment contracts 
 
 
 
        2014  2013 
           
At January 1        259  269 
Withdrawals        -10  -10 
At December 31        249  259 
 
 
 
This item relates to the VGMI contract and is repaid evenly over 26 years starting from 2012. The 
fair value as at December 31, 2014 is EUR 273 million (2013: EUR 270 million). 
 
 

21. Investment contracts for account of policyholders 
 
 
 
        2014  2013 
           
At January 1        31  2 
Deposits        73  28 
Revaluation        11  1 
At December 31        114  31 
 
 
 
This item consist of the investments held for account of the participants of Aegon PPI B.V. These 
liabilities are non-current. 
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22. Long-term borrowings and group loans 
 
 
 
        2014  2013 
           
Debentures and other loans        9.865  7.420 
Intercompany loan with parent company        3.194  2.841 
Total        13.058  10.260 
           
Current        6.394  3.089 
Non-current        6.664  7.172 
        13.058  10.260 
 
 
 
All loans are measured at amortized cost. It is assumed that the carrying amount of short-term 
loans and loans with a variable coupon interest rate is equal to fair value. 
 

22.1. Debentures and other long term loans 
 
 
 
During 2014, residential mortgage backed securities (RMBSs) were issued under the Dutch 
SAECURE program (SAECURE 14 and SAECURE 15)  for a total amount of EUR 2,809 million 
(2013: EUR 1,365 million). 
 
During 2013, residential mortgage backed securities (RMBSs) were issued under the Dutch 
SAECURE program for a total amount of EUR 750 million, while an amount of EUR 1.168 million 
was repaid. In addition, Aegon redeemed USD 750 million senior notes which matured. 
 
The table below represents the carrying amount of all debentures and other long term loans 
outstanding. 
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 Coupon Coupon Issue / FORD Legal 2014 2013 
 rate date maturity  maturity   
     date   
        
EUR 1.018 million 
‘SAECURE 7’ RMBS 
Note 

floating quarterly 2010 / 15 Aug. 
2015 

Aug. 
2093 

773 825 

EUR 842 million 
‘SAECURE 9’ RMBS 
Note 

floating quarterly 2010 / 16 March 
2016 

Sep. 
2092 

624 670 

EUR 1.500 million 
‘SAECURE 10’ RMBS 
Note 

floating quarterly 2011 / 16 Febr. 
2016 

Febr. 
2094 

1.196 1.269 

USD 600 million 
'SAECURE 11' RMBS 
Note 

floating quarterly 2012 / 15 Jul. 
2015 

Jul. 
2092 

434 404 

EUR 212 million 
'SAECURE 11' 
RMBS Note 

floating quarterly 2012 / 15 Jul. 
2015 

Jul. 
2092 

186 196 

EUR 1.365 million 
'SAECURE 12' RMBS 
Note 

floating quarterly 2012 / 17 Oct. 
2017 

Oct. 
2092 

1.233 1.297 

EUR 750 million 
'SAECURE 13 
NHG' RMBS Note 

floating quarterly 2013 / 18 Feb. 
2018 

Nov. 
2093 

1.041 738 

EUR 1.367 million 
'SAECURE 14' 
RMBS Note 

floating quarterly 2014 / 19 Jan. 
2019 

Jan. 
2092 

1.319 - 

EUR 1.443 million 
'SAECURE 15' 
RMBS Note 

floating quarterly 2014 / 20 Jan. 
2020 

Jan. 
2092 

1.440 - 

EUR 1.500 million 
LTRO with ECB 

floating 26-2-2015 2012 / 15 - - 1.500 1.500 

Loan facilities 
warehouse 
mortgage loans 

floating monthly 2013 / 15   114 510 

Other - - - - - 5 11 
        
Total      9.865 7.420 
        
(1) Interest on the Longer-Term Refinancing Operation is based on the ECB Main Refinancing Operation 
interest which is 0,05% as at December 2014. 
 
 
The RMBS securities were issued under the Dutch SAECURE program. The net proceeds were 
used to finance a part of the existing Dutch mortgage portfolio of Aegon Nederland. FORD stands 
for the first optional redemption date. All these notes are fully collateralized by mortgage loans 
which are part of the general account investment of Aegon Nederland. 
 
In addition, Aegon Hypotheken B.V., a subsidiary of Aegon Nederland, has undrawn committed 
loan facilities of EUR 2.136 million at a variable interest rate for a period of more than one year 
(2013: EUR 1.240 million). 
 
 
LTRO 
On March 1, 2012, Aegon Nederland borrowed EUR 1,5 billion from the European Central Bank, 
under its Long Term Refinancing Operation (LTRO) program. The borrowing has a 3 year term; 
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the interest rate per year end is 0,05%. The borrowing is fully collateralized with debt securities. 
The funds were mainly used to fund the mortgage loan production of Aegon Nederland. 
 
Notes 
On December 28, 2014 Aegon bank called the notes of SAECURE 8 NHG B.V. and repurchased all 
the underlying mortgages of the SPE. 
 
On March 27, 2013 Aegon Bank sold EUR 1,1 billion of mortgage loans to a SPE. Aegon Bank 
purchased all of the debt securities issued by the SPE, SAECURE 13 NHG B.V. Aegon Bank 
controls this SPE and therefore the SPE is consolidated by Aegon Bank. Aegon Bank has privately 
placed EUR 193 million (2013: 100 million) of the Class A1 tranche and EUR 848 million (2013 
EUR 650 million) of the Class A2 tranche. The balance of both tranches will be retained by Aegon 
Bank.  
 
 

22.2. Intercompany loans 
 
 
These are loans drawn by entities of the Aegon Nederland group and comprise loans with Aegon 
Derivatives N.V. of EUR 610 million (2013: EUR 2.392 million) and Aegon N.V. of EUR 46 million 
(2013: EUR 449 million).  
 
The loan with Aegon Derivatives N.V. is cash collateral received under derivatives transactions. 
Aegon Derivatives N.V. settles this collateral with external parties on behalf of Aegon Nederland. 
The derivative transactions are for ordinary operations. The collateral is the consequence of 
movements in market values on derivatives and is settled daily. 
 
The loans with Aegon N.V. are current loans. 
 
 
 

23. Provisions 
 
Movements in provisions 
 
 
 
2014     Restructuring Commissions Legal Other  Total 
       procedures   2014 
           
At January 1 13 33 2 13  61 
Additions charged to earnings 7 1 1 101  109 
Used during the year -14 -2 -1 -2  -19 
At December 31 7 31 2 112  152 
 
 
 
Following the positive verdict of the Dutch Court on the jointly - by Aegon and representatives of 
the Dutch harbor workers and employers- submitted request to remove the restrictive condition 
of the statutory reserve, Aegon recognized a provision of € 95 million for improvements of the 
pensions held by OPTAS (part of the other provisions). 
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2013     Restructuring Commissions Legal Other  Total 
       procedures   2013 
           
At January 1 36 34 3 10  82 
Additions charged to earnings 7 1 - 4  12 
Unused amounts reversed through 
the income statement 

-1 - - -  -1 

Used during the year -29 -2 -1 -  -32 
At December 31 13 33 2 13  61 
 
 
 
        2014  2013 
           
Current        120  46 
Non-current        32  16 
        152  61 
 

24. Defined benefit plans 
 
 
 
        2014  2013 
           
Retirement benefit plans        2.774  2.119 
Other post-employment benefit plans        46  42 
Total        2.820  2.161 
 
Movements during the year in defined benefit plans 
 
 
 
2014       Retirement Other 

post-
empl. 

 Total 

       benefit 
plans 

benefit 
plans 

 2014 

           
At January 1       2.119 42  2.161 
Defined benefit expenses       74 8  81 
Remeasurements of defined benefit plans       654 -  654 
Contributions by plan participants       11 -  11 
Benefits paid       -84 -4  -87 
At December 31       2.774 46  2.820 
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2013       Retirement Other 
post-
empl. 

 Total 

       benefit 
plans 

benefit 
plans 

 2013 

           
At January 1       2.191 44  2.235 
Defined benefit expenses       118 2  120 
Remeasurements of defined benefit plans       -116 -  -117 
Contributions by plan participants       11 -  11 
Benefits paid       -84 -4  -88 
At December 31       2.119 42  2.161 
 
Amounts recognized in the statement of financial position as at December 31, 2014 and 2013 
 
The table below shows the movements during the year of the present value of the wholly 
unfunded obligations. 
 
 
 
        2014  2013 
           
At January 1   2.161  2.235 
Current year service costs        48  46 
Interest expense (based on discount rate)        79  81 
Remeasurement of the net defined liability:           
- Actuarial gains and losses arising from changes in demographic 
assumptions 

   -  -40 

- Actuarial gains and losses arising from changes in financial 
assumptions 

   654  -77 

Past service cost        -45  -7 
Gains and losses on settlement           
Contributions by the employer           
Contributions by plan participants        11  11 
Benefits paid        -87  -88 
Amounts paid in respect of settlement           
Other        -  - 
           
At December 31        2.820  2.161 
 
 
 
Assets held by Aegon Nederland backing retirement benefits do not meet the definition of plan 
assets and as such were not deducted in calculating this amount. Instead, these assets are 
recognized as general account assets. Consequently, the return on these assets does not form 
part of the calculation of defined benefit expenses. 
 
Defined benefit expenses 
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2014       Retirement Other 
post-
empl. 

 Total 

       benefit 
plans 

benefit 
plans 

 2014 

           
Current year service cost  58 -  59 
Past service cost  -51 6  -45 
Interest cost  77 1  79 
Actuarial (gains) / losses recognized  - -  - 
Other  - -  - 
Total defined benefit expenses  84 8  92 
 
 
 
2013       Retirement Other 

post-
empl. 

 Total 

       benefit 
plans 

benefit 
plans 

 2013 

           
Current year service cost  56 -  57 
Past service cost  -7 -  -7 
Interest cost  80 2  81 
Actuarial (gains) / losses recognized  - -  - 
Other  - -  - 
Total defined benefit expenses  129 2  131 
 
Defined benefit expenses are included in note 0 ‘Commissions and expenses’ in the income 
statement. 
 
 
 
Retirement benefit plans 
Aegon Nederland has a number of defined benefit plans and a small number of defined 
contribution plans. The defined benefit plans are governed by the Management Board of Aegon 
Nederland. The Management Board has the full power and discretion to administer the plan 
including developing investment policy and managing assets for the plans (although these assets 
do not qualify as ‘plan assets’ as defined by the IASB), deciding questions related to eligibility 
and benefit amounts, and any disputes that may arise from plan participants and for complying 
with the plan provisions, and legal requirements related to the plan and its operation. Aegon 
Nederland runs, in principle, full actuarial and investment risk regarding the defined benefit 
plans. A part of this risk can be attributed to plan participants by lowering indexation or by 
increasing employee contributions. 
 
Investment strategies are established based on asset & liability studies. The overall goal is to 
maximize total investment returns to provide sufficient funding for the present and anticipated 
future benefit obligations within the constraints of a prudent level of portfolio risk. These studies 
use for example return objectives, various investment instruments. Investment restrictions are 
updated regularly. They result in asset allocation mix and hedges.  
 
The contributions to the retirement benefit plan of Aegon Nederland are paid by both the 
employees and the employer, with the employer contribution being variable4. The benefits 
covered are retirement benefits, disability, death and survivor pension and are based on an 
average salary system. The defined benefit plans were unfunded by EUR 2.774 million at 
December 31, 2014. (2013: EUR 2.119 million). As the assets held by Aegon Nederland for 

                                                           
4 Aegon Nederland deducts employee contributions from the total pension expenses. 
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retirement benefits do not meet the definition of plan assets, they were not deducted in 
calculating this amount. Instead, these assets are recognized as general account assets. 
Consequently, the return on these assets do not form part of the calculation of defined benefit 
expenses.  
 
Plan amendments 
The Dutch government has reduced the limits for tax-free pension accruals with effect from 
January 1, 2015. For career average pension arrangements, the maximum permitted accrual rate 
is 1.875% which is capped for salaries above EUR 100,000. Aegon adjusted its pension 
arrangement to reflect these governmental changes. Besides this, Aegon adjusted the indexation 
scheme for both current (active members) and former employees (pensioners and deferred 
members) as of January 1, 2015 and made several other adjustments in the pension 
arrangement. The defined benefit obligation as at December 31, 2014 is measured including 
these adjustments made, resulting in an increase in profit or loss of EUR 46 million before tax. 
 
Other post-employment benefit plans 
Aegon Nederland also has a post-retirement medical plan that contributes to the health care 
coverage of employees and beneficiaries after retirement. For this plan, Aegon Nederland has the 
responsibility to administer the plan in accordance with its terms, and decides questions related 
to eligibility and determines plan provisions and benefit amounts.  In addition, Aegon Nederland 
has the obligation to interpret the provisions of the plans, and to comply with any statutory 
reporting and disclosure requirements.  Finally, Aegon Nederland reviews the terms of the plans 
and make changes to the plans if and when appropriate.  The liability related to this plan 
amounted to EUR 46 million at December 31, 2013. (2013: EUR 42 million). 
 
The weighted average duration of the defined benefit obligation is 19,1 years (2013: 15,9 years). 
 
Actuarial assumptions used to determine benefit obligations at year-end 
The principal actuarial assumptions that apply for the year ended December 31 are as follows: 
 
 2014   2013   
     
Demographic actuarial assumptions  Aegon 2013 

prospective table  
Aegon 2013 

prospective table  
Mortality rate      
     
Financial actuarial assumptions:     
Discount rate 2,25%  3,70%  
Salary increase rate 1,95%  2,25%  
Price inflation 1,95%  2,00%  
     
The principal actuarial assumptions have an effect on the amounts reported for the defined 
benefit obligation. A change as indicated in the table below in the principal actuarial assumptions 
would have the following effects on the defined benefit obligation per year-end: 
 
2014 
In EUR million 

Estimate approximate effects on 
the defined benefit obligation  

 +  -   
     
Demographic actuarial assumptions  -74  83  
Mortality rate      
     
Financial actuarial assumptions:     
Discount rate -526  564  
Salary increase rate 16  -16  
Price inflation 2  -2  
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Demographic assumptions:  
 
2013 
In EUR million 

Estimate approximate effects on 
the defined benefit obligation  

 +  -   
     
Demographic actuarial assumptions  -48  54  
Mortality rate      
     
Financial actuarial assumptions:     
Discount rate -331  359  
Salary increase rate 16  -16  
Price inflation -2  1  
 
Demographic assumptions:  
  
Mortality (shock + / - 10% mortality rate) 
The mortality table used is the projected Aegon 2013 table. Changing the mortality rates changes 
the cash flow expectations. Increasing (decreasing) the mortality rates for one year decreases 
(increases) the defined benefit obligation. Using the same discount rate, but other expected cash 
flows determines the quantitative effect. 
   
Financial assumptions:   
 
Discount rate (shock + / - 100 basis points) 
The discount rate used in determining the defined benefit obligation is based on high quality (AA 
rated) corporate bonds. Increasing (decreasing) the discount rate decreases (increases) the 
value of the defined benefit obligation. 
 
Salary increase rate (shock + / - 100 basis points) 
The benefits covered under the plans are based on an average salary system. Changing the 
salary increase rate changes the expected benefits. Increasing (decreasing) the salary increase 
rate increases (decreases) the value of the defined benefit obligation. 
 
Price inflation (shock + / - 100 basis points)  
The benefits covered under the plans are (for a major part) dependent on price inflation 
(indexation). Changing the expected price inflation rate changes the expected benefits. 
Increasing (decreasing) price inflation rate increases (decreases) the value of the defined benefit 
obligation. 
 
The above sensitivity analysis is based on a change in an assumption while holding all other 
assumptions constant. In practice, this is unlikely to occur, and changes in some of the 
assumptions may be correlated. When calculating the sensitivity of the defined benefit obligation 
to significant actuarial assumptions the same method (present value of the defined benefit 
obligation calculated with the projected unit credit method at the end of the reporting period) has 
been applied as when calculating the defined benefit obligation recognized within the statement 
of financial position. 
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Estimated future benefits 
 
 
 
       Retirement Other 

post-
empl. 

 Total 

       benefit 
plans 

benefit 
plans 

  

           
2015       81 4  84 
2016       82 4  85 
2017       83 4  87 
2018       85 3  88 
2019       86 3  90 
2020-2024       467 15  482 
 
Expected contributions 
The contributions to the defined benefit plans for the next annual reporting period are expected 
to be in line with current years contributions. 
 
 

25. Deferred tax 
 
 
 
        2014  2013 
           
Deferred tax assets     662  636 
Deferred tax liabilities     1.067  499 
Total net deferred tax liability / (asset)        405  -137 
 
Movement in deferred tax 
 
 
2014    Real 

estate 
Financial Insurance Def. 

expenses 
Defined Other Total 

     assets contracts VOBA and benefit  2014 
       intang. 

assets 
plan   

           
At January 1 319 166 -626 6 -10 8 -137 
Charged to 
income 
statement 

-3 -84 -2 2 -23 6 -104 

Charged to 
equity 

-1 646 - - - - 646 

Other - - - - - - - 
At December 
31 

316 729 -628 8 -33 14 405 

           
Deferred tax 
assets 

- - -628 - -33 - -662 

Deferred tax 
liabilities 

316 729 - 8 - 14 1.067 
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2013    Real 
estate 

Financial Insurance Def. 
expenses 

Defined Other Total 

     assets contracts VOBA and benefit  2013 
       intang. 

Assets 
plan   

           
At January 1 309 1.054 -1.529 2 -120 13 -270 
Charged to 
income 
statement 

10 -625 903 5 109 -5 397 

Charged to 
equity 

- -263 - - - - -263 

Other - - - - - - - 
At December 
31 

319 166 -626 6 -10 8 -137 

           
Deferred tax 
assets 

- - -626 - -10 - -636 

Deferred tax 
liabilities 

319 166 - 6 - 8 499 

 
 
 
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are netted if there is a legally enforceable right to net current 
tax assets and liabilities and the deferred tax items relate to the same taxation authority. 
 
Deferred tax assets are recognized for temporary differences, carry forward of unused tax losses 
and carry forward of unused tax credits when, in the opinion of management, it is probable that 
they can be utilized. 
 
All deferred taxes are non-current. 
 
 
 
The deferred tax asset position increased in 2014; this was mainly caused by the 
increase in revaluation reserve formed for AFS assets. 
 
Deferred tax liabilities for prepayments and other taxes payable on the undistributed profits of 
certain subsidiaries are not recognized. Undistributed profits totaled EUR 1.759 million in 2014 
and 2013, with a potential tax claim of EUR 440 million. 
 
Loss carryforward 
 
 
At year-end, there were no deferred tax assets for pre-consolidation losses available for carry 
forward against future taxable profits (2013: nil). 
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26. Other liabilities and accruals 
 
 
 
       Note 2014  2013 
Other liabilities        3.939  4.453 
Accruals        121  119 
Total        4.060  4.572 
 

26.1. Other liabilities 
 
 
        2014  2013 
           
Payables due to policyholders        901  931 
Payables out of reinsurance        78  110 
Investment creditors        490  111 
Income tax payable        -  - 
Social security and taxes payable        52  51 
Current account with parent company        50  - 
Current account with Aegon Nederland N.V.        -  - 
Cash collateral   907  986 
Repurchase agreements        1.049  1.984 
Other creditors        411  280 
Total        3.939  4.453 
           
Current        3.856  3.352 
Non-current        83  1.102 
        3.939  4.453 
 
 
The carrying amounts disclosed reasonably approximate fair value at year-end. 
 
 
Part of other creditors is the obligation of EUR 13 million on share plans (2013: EUR 12 million). 
 

26.2. Accruals 
 
 
This item relates to accrued interest with a term of less than one year. The carrying amount 
disclosed reasonably approximates the fair value at year-end. 
 
 
 

27. Premium income and premiums to reinsurers 
 
 
 
      2014  2013 
      Gross Reinsurance  Gross Reinsurance 
           
Life      3.982 4  3.515 7 
Non-life      734 16  730 16 
Total      4.716 20  4.245 23 
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28. Investment income 
 
 
 
        2014  2013 
           
Investment income related to general account        1.753  1.638 
Investment income for account of policyholders        802  662 
Investment income out of investment funds        11  8 
        2.566  2.308 
 
Investment income consists of: 
 
 
 
        2014  2013 
Interest income out of:           
- Debt securities        1.008  1.072 
- Loans        1.198  1.075 
- Investments in investment funds        11  8 
- Other investments        13  15 
Dividend income from shares        292  96 
Rental income from real estate        43  43 
Total        2.566  2.308 
           
Interest income accrued on impaired financial assets        26  28 
Interest income on financial assets that are not carried at 
fair value through profit or loss 

       1.714  1.611 

 
Investment income from financial assets held for general account: 
 
 
 
        2014  2013 
           
Available-for-sale        497  505 
Loans        1.206  1.083 
Fair value through profit or loss        1  - 
Real estate        43  43 
Derivatives        6  -8 
Other        -  15 
Total        1.753  1.638 
 

29. Fee and commission income 
 
 
 
        2014  2013 
           
Commissions from intermediary activities        186  192 
Fee income from asset management        75  76 
Administration fee income        67  63 
Other        -  - 
 
Total 

       328  331 
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30. Results from financial transactions 
 
 
 
        2014  2013 
           
Net fair value change of general account financial 
investments FVTPL, other than derivatives 

       2  33 

Realized gains / (losses) on financial investments   427  352 
Gains / (losses) on investments in real estate   -2  -39 
Net fair value change of derivatives   2.769  -1.293 
Net fair value change on financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 
for account of policyholder 

 3.207  356 

Net foreign currency gains / (losses)    -19  2 
Total        6.386  -589 
 
Net fair value change of general account financial investments at fair value through profit or loss, 
other than derivatives comprise: 
 
 
        2014  2013 
           
Shares        2  33 
Debt securities and money market investments        -  - 
Total        2  33 
 
Realized gains and losses on financial investments 
 
        2014  2013 
           
Shares (AFS)        114  23 
Debt securities and money market investments (AFS)        269  299 
Investments in investment funds        45  30 
Loans        -  - 
Total        427  352 
 
Net fair value change of derivatives comprise: 
 
 
        2014  2013 
           
Net fair value change on free standing derivatives  3.511  -1.366 
Net fair value change on embedded derivatives  -553  145 
Ineffective portion of hedge transactions to which hedge 
accounting is applied 

       -  -3 

Fair value changes on economic hedges for which no hedge accounting is 
applied 

 -189  -69 

Total        2.769  -1.293 
           
The ineffective portion of hedge transactions to which 
hedge accounting is applied comprises: 

       2014  2013 

           
Fair value change on hedging instruments in a fair value hedge  -558  173 
Fair value change on hedged items in fair value hedge  559  -176 
Ineffectiveness fair value hedge        -  -3 
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The third line includes the fair value movements of bifurcated embedded derivatives (minimum 
guarantees on unit-linked policies) and the fair value of derivatives to hedge certain risks in these 
guarantees and the guarantees included in group contracts and traditional products. 
 
Net fair value change on for account of policyholder financial assets at fair value through profit or 
loss  
 
        2014  2013 
           
Shares        881  1.183 
Debt securities and money market investments        2.326  -642 
Other        -  -185 
Total        3.207  356 
 
 

31. Other income 
 
 
There was no other income in 2013 and 2014. 
 
 

32. Policyholder claims and benefits 
 
 
 
        2014  2013 
           
Claims and benefits paid to policyholders        3.853  3.815 
Change in valuation of liabilities for insurance and 
investment contracts 

       8.181  681 

Total        12.034  4.496 
 
 
 
Policyholder claims and benefits, includes claims and benefits in excess of account value for 
products for which deposit accounting is applied and the change in valuation of liabilities for 
insurance and investment contracts. Claims and benefits fluctuates mainly as a result of 
changes in technical provisions resulting from fair value changes on for account of 
policyholder financial assets included in Results from financial transactions. 
 
The change in valuation of liabilities for insurance and investment contracts include a loss of EUR 
2.971 million (2013: gain of EUR 1.222 million) regarding fair value movements of guarantees. 
 
 

33. Profit sharing and rebates 
 
 
 
        2014  2013 
           
Surplus interest bonuses        1  2 
Profit appropriated to policyholders        7  15 
Total        8  17 
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34. Commissions and expenses 
 
        2014  2013 
           
Commissions        163  172 
Employee expenses        474  470 
Administration expenses        285  301 
Deferred expenses        -10  -13 
Amortization of deferred expenses        37  46 
Amortization of VOBA        17  12 
Total        965  988 
 
Administration expenses 
 
Administration expenses include depreciation and amortization. See the breakdown below. 
 
 
        2014  2013 
           
Depreciation of equipment        13  11 
Depreciation of software        6  7 
Depreciation of real estate held for own use        2  2 
Total        21  20 
 
Employee expenses 
 
        2014  2013 
           
Salaries        215  211 
Post-employment benefit costs        121  123 
Social security charges        37  36 
Other personnel costs        95  93 
Shares, share appreciation rights, share options and LTIP        6  7 
Total        474  470 
 
 
 
Employees 
 
The average number of employees is 4.369, including 287 agents (2013: 4.384, including 307 
agents).  
 
 
Long term incentive plans 
 
As per 2011 the structure of Long Term Incentives scheme changed. Senior managers within 
Aegon Nederland, not classified as ‘Identified Staff’, have been granted the conditional right to 
receive Aegon shares if certain performance indicators are met and depending on continued 
employment of the individual employee to whom the rights have been granted.  
The shares were conditionally granted at the beginning of the year at the average share price on 
the Euronext stock exchange in Amsterdam during the period between December 15 preceding a 
plan year and January 15 of a plan year. The performance indicators apply over a performance 
period of one year and consist of financial and non-financial targets set by the Supervisory Board 
or the local remuneration committees. Following the performance year shares are allocated based 
on actual performance. A vesting period of two years applies after which the shares are 
transferred to the individual employees. Ex post assessment is not applicable to this group of 
employees. 
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Variable compensation Identified Staff 
Members of the Executive Board and the Management Board as well as other selected jobholders 
have been defined as “Identified Staff” in accordance with new rules, guidelines and 
interpretations. Of these, the Capital Requirements Directive III (CRD III) remuneration 
principles, the 2010 Guidelines on Remuneration Policies and Practices by the Committee of 
European Banking Supervisors (CEBS) and the 2011 Decree on Sound Remuneration Policy by De 
Nederlandsche Bank (Regeling beheerst beloningsbeleid WFt 2011 - Rbb) are prominent 
examples. The rules have been adopted in Aegon’s Global Remuneration Framework for Identified 
Staff. After the performance period, and based on the framework, variable compensation is 
partially made available and partly deferred. Variable compensation is paid in both cash and in 
Aegon N.V. shares. The shares were conditionally granted at the beginning of the year at the 
average share price on the NYSE Euronext stock exchange in Amsterdam during the period 
between December 15 preceding a plan year and January 15 of the plan year. The performance 
indicators apply over a performance period of one year and consist of Group and / or Reporting 
Unit targets (both financial and non-financial) set by the Supervisory Board or the local 
remuneration committees and personal/strategic targets. For Members of the Executive Board 
and the Management Board all variable compensation has vested after three years following the 
performance period. At vesting the variable compensation is transferred to the individual 
employees. Additional holding periods may apply for vested shares. Members of the Executive 
Board and the members of the Management Board who are based in the Netherlands are not 
entitled to execute any transactions regarding the shares for a period of three years following 
vesting (with the exception of shares sold to meet income tax obligations). 
 
In compliance with regulations under Dutch law, no transactions regarding the shares can be 
exercised in blackout periods. 
 
In 2014, 565.011 shares were conditionally granted (at target performance level) to participants 
in the 2014 Variable Compensation Plan for Identified Staff. The shares were granted using the 
share price of EUR 6,739. 
 
In 2013, 701.438 shares were conditionally granted (at target performance level) to participants 
in the 2013 Variable Compensation Plan for Identified Staff. The shares were granted using the 
share price of EUR 4,917. As per December 31, 2014, 255.115 shares had vested. Additional 
holding periods of up to 3 years may apply. 446.323 shares are unvested and will vest in future 
years. 
 
Following the 2012 performance year 1.286.327 shares were allocated to participants in the 2012 
Variable Compensation Plan for Identified Staff. The shares were granted using the share price of 
EUR 3,126. As per December 31, 2014, 631.422 shares had vested. Additional holding periods of 
up to 3 years apply. 510.051 shares are unvested and will vest in future years. 
 
Following the 2011 performance year 598.445 shares were allocated to participants in the 2011 
Variable Compensation Plan for Identified Staff. The shares were granted using the share price of 
EUR 4,727. As per December 31, 2014, 351.480 shares had vested. Additional holding periods of 
up to 3 years apply. 86.379 shares are unvested and will vest in future years. 
 
All share plans are recognized in the financial statements of Aegon Nederland using the ‘equity 
settled’ method under IFRS 2, since they use the shares of Aegon N.V.  
 
The liability related to the above mentioned plans was EUR 13,4 million and is measured at 
market value at each reporting date and recognized in other creditors (2013: EUR 11,8 million). 
The related expenses were EUR 2,7 million (2013: 3,4 EUR million). 
 
Share appreciation rights and share options 
 
Share appreciation rights and share options 
Senior executives of Aegon Nederland, as well as other Aegon employees, have been offered both 
share appreciation rights and share options. These share appreciation rights and share options 
have been granted at an exercise price equal to the market price of the shares at the date of the 
grant. The rights and options granted in 2006 - 2008 vest after three years and can only be 
exercised during the four years after the vesting date. Vesting and exercisability depend on 
continuing employment of the individual employee to whom the rights and options have been 
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granted. Option plans are settled in equity, whilst stock appreciation rights are settled in cash or 
provide the employee with the choice of settlement. 
 
After 2008 no share option or share appreciation rights were granted. 
 
In compliance with regulations under Dutch law, share appreciation rights and share options 
cannot be exercised in blackout periods. 
 
No SARs and share options were granted after 2008. With regard to the SARs and options 
granted before 2009, no share options were exercised and no SARs were paid during 2011, 2012 
and 2013. Similarly, no cash is received from exercise of share options during 2011, 2012 and 
2013. 
 
 
 
 
Share options 
The following table presents the movement in number of share options, as well as the breakdown 
by the year in which they were granted.  
 
The costs related to the share options amount are nil (2013: nil). 
 
 
 

           
2014       Number of 

share 
options 

Weighted 
average 
exercise price 
in EUR 

Weighted 
average 
remaining 
contractual term 
in years 

Aggregate 
intrinsic in 
EUR 

Outstanding at 
January 1 

      2.090.968 11,61 0,75 0,00 

Forfeited/Cancelled       -106.728 8,93   
Expired       -925.854 14,98   
Outstanding at 
December 31 

      1.058.386 8,93 0,19 0,00 

Exercisable at 
December 31 

      1.058.386 8,93 0,19 0,00 

           
           
2013       Number of 

share 
options 

Weighted 
average 
exercise price 
in EUR 

Weighted 
average 
remaining 
contractual term 
in years 

Aggregate 
intrinsic in 
EUR 

Outstanding at 
January 1 

      3.206.977 12,30 1,30 0,00 

Forfeited/Cancelled       -202.506 11,79   
Expired       -913.503 14,00   
Outstanding at 
December 31 

      2.090.968 11,61 0,75 0,00 

Exercisable at 
December 31 

      2.090.968 11,61 0,75 0,00 
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Remuneration Executive Board 
 
 
Current and former members of the Executive Board are regarded as key management 
personnel. The remuneration for current and former directors charged to the company in the 
financial year pursuant to Section 383:1 of Book 2 of the Netherlands Civil Code is set out below 
(amounts in euros). 
 
 
 
        2014  2013 
Current Executive Board members           
Gross salary and social security contributions        3.156.386  2.304.026 
Pension premium        550.958  411.950 
Other benefits        108.765  99.398 
Total        3.816.109  2.815.375 
           
        2014  2013 
Former Executive Board members           
Gross salary and social security contributions        -  78.136 
Pension premium        -  - 
Other benefits        -  395.000 
Total        -  473.136 
           
Total former and current directors        3.816.109  3.288.510 
 
 
 
Share appreciation rights, share options and LTIP for members of the Executive Board 
 
 
The share options, share appreciation rights and Long term incentive plans (LTIPs) offered to 
current members5 of the Executive Board are presented in the table and paragraphs below. 
  

Year  
Exercise 
price 
EUR 

Number 
Jan. 1, 
2014 

Forfeited Exercised 
Number 
Dec. 31, 
2014 

Date granted Exercisable 

2007- SOR 14,93 50.000 50.000 - 50.000 12 maart 2007 - 
2008- SOR 8,93 50.000 - - 50.000 10 maart 2008 50.000 
 
As of 2010 rights have been granted to directors in the form of Long-term Incentive Plans. 

 
Under the 2011 LTIP, members of the Executive Board were granted the right to receive (a 
maximum of) 182.328 shares along with EUR 0,8 million in cash if certain performance indicators 
were met. In 2012 130.087 shares were eventually granted, along with EUR 0,6 million in cash. 
These shares and cash are transferred to the board members in phases in the period 2012 to 
2015. 
 
Under the 2012 LTIP, members of the Executive Board were granted the right to receive (a 
maximum of) 285.854 shares along with EUR 1,0 million in cash if certain performance indicators 
were met. In 2013 246.876 shares were eventually granted, along with EUR 0,8 million in cash. 
These shares and cash are transferred to the board members in phases in the period 2013 to 
2016. 
 

                                                           
5 The rights of new board members have been added in the information presented and those of resigned 
board members have been removed. 
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Under the 2013 LTIP, members of the Executive Board were granted the right to receive (a 
maximum of) 175.283 shares along with EUR 0,9 million in cash if certain performance indicators 
were met. In 2014 144.444 shares were eventually granted, along with EUR 0,7 million in cash. 
These shares and cash will be transferred to the board members in phases in the period 2014 to 
2017.  
 
In 2014 former Executive Board members received 28.832 shares out of the 2011 and 2012 
plans, along with 122 thousand in cash. 
 
Under the 2014 LTIP, members of the Executive Board were granted the right to receive (a 
maximum of) 94.400 shares along with EUR 0,6 million in cash if certain performance indicators 
were met. In 2015 the actual numbers of shares and amount of cash granted will be determined. 
These shares and cash will be transferred to the board members in phases in the period 2015 to 
2018.  
 
 
Mortgage loans Executive Board 
 
 
On the reporting date, members of the Executive Board had mortgage loans totaling EUR 5,66 
million from a company associated with Aegon Nederland (2013: EUR 5,74 million) at interest 
rates ranging from 1,7% variable to 4,6% in line with the terms and conditions available to the 
employees of Aegon Nederland. Repayments of EUR 75.000 were received in 2014 (2013: EUR 
40.000). 
 
 
 
 
 
Remuneration Supervisory Board 
 
 
Members and former members of the Supervisory Board are regarded as key management 
personnel. The remuneration for current and former supervisory board members charged to the 
company in the financial year pursuant to Section 383:1 of Book 2 of the Netherlands Civil Code 
was EUR 134 thousand (2013: EUR 135 thousand). This remuneration consists entirely of gross 
pay and the employer’s share of social security charges. The member of the Supervisory Board 
employed by Aegon N.V. did not receive any remuneration for his membership.  
 
No payments were made in connection with severance schemes; no remuneration or rights 
attaching to shares were granted. 
 
Mortgage loans Supervisory Board 
 
 
On the reporting date, none of the supervisory board members had mortgage loans from a 
company associated with Aegon Nederland. 
 
Remuneration Independent Auditor 
 
 
PricewaterhouseCoopers Accountants N.V. has served as Aegon Nederland’s independent public 
auditor during 2014 and audited these financial statements. The fees for services rendered to 
Aegon Nederland need not be disclosed in this Annual Report, based on article 382a.3 of Book 2 
of the Netherlands Civil Code. The aggregate fees for professional services and other services 
rendered by PricewaterhouseCoopers Accountants N.V. to the whole group of Aegon N.V. are 
disclosed in the Annual Report of Aegon N.V. 
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35. Impairment charges / (reversals) 
 
 
 
        2014  2013 
Impairment charges comprise:           
Financial assets AFS        -  - 
Loans        8  16 
Other        -  13 
Total        8  30 
           
Reversals of impairment charges comprise:           
Financial assets AFS        -  - 
Loans        -  - 
Total        -  - 
           
Net impairment charges / (reversals)        8  29 
 
 

36. Interest charges and related fees 
 
 
 
        2014  2013 
           
Borrowings        103  96 
Short-term liabilities and deposits        113  94 
Total        216  191 
           
Interest charges accrued on financial assets and liabilities 
not carried at fair value through profit or loss 

       216  191 

 
37. Other charges 

 
 
 
The other charges in 2014 consist of several addition reservation. The foremost is the 
restructuring provisioning of EUR 95 million caused by the agreement reached between Aegon 
and BPVH – a foundation representing Dutch harbor workers and employers in April 2014. The 
court granted this request on January 13, 2015. Accordingly, Aegon recognized a provision of 
EUR 95 million at December 31, 2014. Furthermore there are additions for the SNS resolution 
charge of EUR 9 million, crisis tax of EUR 2 million and the reorganization of EUR 7 million. The 
other charges in 2013 consist of an additional reservation of the restructuring provisioning of EUR 
10 million and an expected additional payout to the Koersplan policyholders due to a ruling of the 
Supreme Court of EUR 25 million.  
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38. Income tax 
 
 
 
        2014  2013 
           
Current tax           
- current year        256  -149 
- adjustments to prior year        26  - 
           
Deferred tax           
- origination / (reversal) of temporary differences        -116  273 
- changes in tax rates / bases        -  -2 
- recognition of previously not recognize tax losses / deductible taxes   -  - 
- adjustment to prior year        -  - 
Income tax for the period (income) / charge        166  122 
 
Reconciliation between standard and effective income tax: 
 
 
 
           
        2014  2013 
           
Income before tax        653  526 
Income tax calculated using weighted average applicable 
statutory rates 

       163  131 

           
Difference due to the effects of:           
- non-taxable income        -24  -9 
- non-tax deductible expenses        -  - 
- changes in tax rates / bases        -  -2 
- differences in tax rates        1  - 
- adjustments to prior years        26  - 
- tax effect of (profit) / losses from associates        -  - 
Income tax for the period (income) / charge        166  122 
In 2014, Aegon received several tax returns over 2009-2013, resulting in an additional tax 
payable of EUR 26 million. 
 
 
 
The weighted average applicable statutory tax rate for Aegon Nederland in 2014 and 2013 was 
25% and will remain the same in 2015. 
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        2014  2013 
           
Items that will not be reclassified to profit and loss:           
Changes in revaluation reserve real estate held for own use        -  - 
Remeasurements of defined benefit plans        -163  29 
        -164  29 
           
Items that may be reclassified subsequently to profit 
and loss: 

          

Gains / losses on revaluation of available-for-sale 
investments 

       744  -174 

Gains / losses transferred to the income statement on 
disposal and impairment of available-for-sale investments 

       -75  -75 

Changes in cash flow hedging reserve        -  1 
Movement in foreign currency translation and net foreign 
investment hedging reserve 

          

Other           
        668  -248 
           
Total income tax related to components of other 
comprehensive income 

       505  -219 

           
 

39. Fair value of assets and liabilities 
 
 
 
The estimated fair values of assets and liabilities of Aegon Nederland correspond with the 
amounts that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly 
transaction between market participants at the measurement date. When available, Aegon 
Nederland uses quoted market prices in active markets to determine the fair value of 
investments and derivatives. In the absence of an active market, the fair value of investments in 
financial assets is estimated by using other market observable data, such as corroborated 
external quotes and present value or other valuation techniques. An active market is one in 
which transactions are taking place regularly on an arm’s length basis. A fair value measurement 
assumes that an asset or liability is exchanged in an orderly transaction between market 
participants, and accordingly, fair value is not determined based upon a forced liquidation or 
distressed sale. 
 
Valuation techniques are used when Aegon Nederland determines the market is inactive or 
quoted market prices are not available for the asset or liability at the measurement date. 
However, the fair value measurement objective remains the same, that is, to estimate the price 
at which an orderly transaction to sell the asset or to transfer the liability would take place 
between market participants at the measurement date under current market conditions (i.e. an 
exit price at the measurement date from the perspective of a market participant that holds the 
asset or owes the liability). Therefore, unobservable inputs reflect the own assumptions of Aegon 
Nederland about the assumptions that market participants would use in pricing the asset or 
liability (including assumptions about risk). These inputs are developed based on the best 
information available.  
 
Aegon Nederland employs an oversight structure over valuation of financial assets and liabilities 
that includes appropriate segregation of duties. Senior management, independent of the 
investing functions, is responsible for the oversight of control and valuation policies and for 
reporting the results of these policies. For fair values determined by reference to external 
quotation or evidenced pricing parameters, independent price determination or validation is 
utilized to corroborate those inputs. Further details of the validation processes are set out below.  
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Valuation of financial assets and liabilities is based on a pricing hierarchy, in order to maintain a 
controlled process that will systematically promote the use of prices from sources in which Aegon 
Nederland has the most confidence, where the least amount of manual intervention exists and to 
embed consistency in the selection of price sources. Depending on asset type the pricing 
hierarchy consists of a waterfall that starts with making use of market prices from indices and 
follows with making use of third-party pricing services or brokers. 
 
 

39.1. Fair value hierarchy 
 
 
The table below provides an analysis of assets and liabilities recorded at fair value on a recurring 
basis by level of the fair value hierarchy. 
 
 
 
2014      Level Level Level  Total 
      I II III  2014 
           
Assets carried at fair value      
           
AFS investments           
- Shares      1 - 57  58 
- Debt securities      15.392 5.502 1.815  22.709 
- Other      - 341 25  366 
           
Equity method investments           
- Investments in investment funds      28 - 86  115 
           
Real estate held for own use      - - 99  99 
           
FVTPL investments           
- Shares      1 666 -  667 
- Debt securities      - - -  - 
- Investments account policyholders      15.877 9.747 1.461  27.086 
- Derivatives      - 23.669 82  23.751 
- Investments in real estate        1.069  1.069 
           
Total assets      31.300 39.925 4.694  75.920 
           
Liabilities carried at fair value           
- Investment contracts account 
policyholders 

     - -114 -  -114 

- Derivatives      15 20.826 1.739  22.581 
           
Total liabilities      15 20.712 1.739  22.466 
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2013      Level Level Level  Total 
      I II III  2013 
           
Assets carried at fair value      
           
AFS investments           
- Shares      140 - 47  188 
- Debt securities      10.970 6.356 1.499  18.826 
- Other      - 293 -  293 
           
Equity method investments           
- Investments in investment funds      29 - 166  195 
           
Real estate held for own use      - - 103  103 
           
FVTPL investments           
- Shares      61 201 -  262 
- Debt securities      - - -  - 
- Investments account policyholders      14.663 7.839 1.644  24.146 
- Derivatives      18 11.657 129  11.804 
- Investments in real estate        810  810 
           
Total assets      25.882 26.347 4.398  56.628 
           
Liabilities carried at fair value           
- Investment contracts account 
policyholders 

     - -32 -  -32 

- Derivatives      - 9.010 1.186  10.196 
           
Total liabilities      - 8.978 1.186  10.164 

Significant transfers between Level I and II 
 
 
Aegon Nederland’s policy is to record transfers of assets and liabilities between Level I and Level 
II at their fair values as of the beginning of each reporting period. During 2014, no significant 
amount of assets was transferred from Level I to Level II. Inflation linked bonds of EUR 44.5 
million were transferred from level II to level I due to the liquidity characteristics and the 
underlying sovereign exposure. 

Movements in Level III financial instruments measured at fair value 
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2014    As at Result 

income 
Result Purchases Sales Transfers As at Result 

 1-1-2014 statement OCI   between 31-12-

2014 
year-end 

         I/II and III   
            
Assets 

carried at 

fair value 

        

            
AFS 

investments 
        

- Shares 47 3 11 - -4 - 57 - 
- Debt 

securities 
1.499 11 -11 1.008 -461 -232 1.815 - 

- Other - - - 31 -6 - 25 - 
            
Equity 

method 

investments 

        

- Investments 

in investment 

funds 

166 22 -13 - -89 - 86 - 

            
Real estate 

held for own 

use 

103 -2 -1 -1 -  99  

            
FVTPL 

investments 
        

- Shares - - - - - - - - 
- Debt 

securities 
- - - - - - - - 

- Investments 

account 

policyholders 

1.644 95 - 386 -593 -71 1.461 90 

- Derivatives 129 -47 - - - - 82 -47 
- Investments 

in real estate 
810 -2  369 -108  1.069  

            
Total assets 4.398 81 -14 1.791 -1.260 -302 4.694 43 
            
Liabilities 

carried at 

fair value 

        

- Investment 

contracts 

account 

policyholders 

- - - - - - - - 

- Derivatives 1.186 553 - - - - 1.739 553 
            
Total 

liabilities 
1.186 553 - - - - 1.739 553 
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2013    As at Result 

income 
Result Purchases Sales Transfers As at Result 

 1-1-2013 statement OCI   between 31-12-

2013 
year-end 

         I/II and III   
            
Assets 

carried at 

fair value 

        

            
AFS 

investments 
        

- Shares 41 - 7 - -1 - 47 - 
- Debt 

securities 
645 -3 -3 744 -98 214 1.499 - 

- Other - - - - - - - - 
            
Equity 

method 

investments 

        

- Investments 

in investment 

funds 

161 3 12 - -11 - 166 - 

            
Real estate 

held for own 

use 

105 -2 - - -  103  

            
FVTPL 

investments 
        

- Shares - - - - - - - - 
- Debt 

securities 
- - - - - - - - 

- Investments 

account 

policyholders 

1.368 105 - 231 -194 134 1.644 115 

- Derivatives 167 -39 - - - - 129 -39 
- Investments 

in real estate 
860 -39  8 -19  810  

            
Total assets 3.347 26 17 983 -322 348 4.398 76 
            
Liabilities 

carried at 

fair value 

        

- Investment 

contracts 

account 

policyholders 

- - - - - - - - 

- Derivatives 1.331 -145 - - - - 1.186 -145 
            
Total 

liabilities 
1.331 -145 - - - - 1.186 -145 

 
The total gains / (losses) in the last column relate to the total income in the financial year during 
which the financial instrument was held as Level III instrument. 
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Significant transfers between Levels I/II and Level III 
 
 
Aegon Nederland’s policy is to record transfers of assets and liabilities between Level I, Level II 
and Level III at their fair values as of the beginning of each reporting period. 
 
During 2014, there were no financial instruments transferred from Level II to Level III. Several 
securities, mainly CDO’s and RMBS (EUR 231,6 million) have been transferred because they 
could be corroborated with market data in 2014 in comparison to 2013. 
 
With regard for the investments for account of policyholders, there were: 

- transfers from level II to level I with regards to Thai shares of EUR 0,8 million 
- no transfers from level I to level II 
- transfers of EUR 70 million of private loans from level II to level III because not all 

market observable data could be corroborated with other market data 
- transfers of EUR 142 million of securities (ABS) from level III to level II because in 2014 

their value could be corroborated with Bloomberg data, which was not the case in 2013. 
- no transfers from level I to level III 

Significant unobservable assumptions  
The table below presents information about the significant unobservable inputs used for recurring 
fair value measurements for certain Level III assets and liabilities.  
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2014    Carrying 

amount 
Valuation 
technique 

Significant 
unobservable 

input* 

Range Weighted 
average 

         
         
Assets carried at fair 
value 

        

         
AFS investments         
Shares    57 Broker quote n.a. n.a. n.a. 
Debt securities - ABS    1.727 Broker quote n.a. n.a. n.a. 
Debt securities - ABS    88 Discounted 

cash flow 
Liquidity premium 3%-

8% 
7,88% 

         
Equity method 
investments 

        

Investments in investment 
funds 

   86 Broker quote n.a. n.a. n.a. 

         
FVTPL         
Derivatives    82 Discounted 

cash flow 
Mortality n.a. n.a. 

Investments in real estate    1.069 External 
appraiser 

n.a. n.a. n.a. 

Real estate for own use    99 External 
appraiser 

n.a. n.a. n.a. 

         
Total assets at fair 
value 

   3.208     

         
Liabilities carried at fair 
value 

        

Derivatives         
- Bifurcated embedded 
derivatives in insurance 
contracts 

   1.739 Discounted 
cash flow 

Credit spread n.a. n.a. 

         
Total liabilities at fair 
value 

   1.739     
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2013    Carrying 

amount 
Valuation 
technique 

Significant 
unobservable 

input* 

Range Weighted 
average 

         
         
Assets carried at fair 
value 

        

         
AFS investments         
Shares    47 Broker quote n.a. n.a. n.a. 
Debt securities - ABS    1.340 Broker quote n.a. n.a. n.a. 
Debt securities - ABS    159 Discounted 

cash flow 
Liquidity premium 3%-

8% 
6,62% 

         
Equity method 
investments 

        

Investments in investment 
funds 

   166 Broker quote n.a. n.a. n.a. 

         
FVTPL         
Derivatives    129 Discounted 

cash flow 
Mortality n.a. n.a. 

Investments in real estate    810 External 
appraiser 

n.a. n.a. n.a. 

Real estate for own use    103 External 
appraiser 

n.a. n.a. n.a. 

         
Total assets at fair 
value 

   2.754     

         
Liabilities carried at fair 
value 

        

Derivatives         
- Bifurcated embedded 
derivatives in insurance 
contracts 

   1.186 Discounted 
cash flow 

Credit spread n.a. n.a. 

         
Total liabilities at fair 
value 

   1.186     

 
* Not applicable (n.a.) has been included when no significant unobservable assumption has been 
identified and used or if the unobservable assumptions were not available. 
 
 
Investments for account of policyholders are excluded from the table above and from the 
disclosure regarding reasonably possible alternative assumptions. Policyholder assets, and their 
returns, belong to policyholders and do not impact the net income or equity of Aegon Nederland. 
The effect on total assets is offset by the effect on total liabilities. 

Effect of changes in significant unobservable assumptions to reasonably possible 
alternatives  
 
 
The following table shows the sensitivity of the fair value of Level III instruments to changes in 
key assumptions, by class of instrument. The effect of an increase of a reasonable possible 
alternative assumption on the carrying amount is shown in the column ‘positive’ and a decrease 
in the column ‘negative’. 
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2014    Carrying 

amount 
Significant 

unobservable 
input 

Note Effect of reasonably possible alternative 
assumptions 

       positive negative 
Assets 
carried at 
fair value 

        

         
AFS 
investments 

        

Debt 
securities - 
ABS 

   88 Liquidity 
premium 

a 8 -8 

         
FVTPL         
Derivatives    82 Mortality b 14 -13 
         
Liabilities 
carried at 
fair value 

        

Derivatives         
- Bifurcated 
embedded 
derivatives in 
insurance 
contracts 

   1.739 Credit 
spread 

c 54 -52 

 
 
         
2013    Carrying 

amount 
Significant 

unobservable 
input 

Note Effect of reasonably possible alternative 
assumptions 

       positive negative 
Assets 
carried at 
fair value 

        

         
AFS 
investments 

        

Debt 
securities - 
ABS 

   159 Liquidity 
premium 

a 18 -18 

         
FVTPL         
Derivatives    129 Mortality b 11 -17 
         
Liabilities 
carried at 
fair value 

        

Derivatives         
- Bifurcated 
embedded 
derivatives in 
insurance 
contracts 

   1.186 Credit 
spread 

c 34 -33 
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The table above presents the impact on a fair value measurement of a change in an 
unobservable input for financial instruments. The impact of changes in inputs may not be 
independent; therefore the descriptions provided below indicate the impact of a change in an 
input in isolation. 
 

a. The primary unobservable assumptions used in fair value measurement of asset backed 
securities is in general a liquidity premium in the discount rate. Changing the liquidity 
premium changes the discount rate when using the discounted cash flow model. 
Increasing or decreasing the liquidity premium respectively decreases or increases the 
value of the investment. Aegon Nederland adjusted the discount rate with 100 basis 
points up or down for this input. 

b. The derivative included is a longevity index derivative of Aegon Levensverzekering. Most 
significant unobservable inputs are mortality tables. The mortality table used to 
determine the fair value of this derivative is the projected Aegon 2013 table. Changing 
the mortality rates changes the cash flow expectations from this derivative. Increasing 
(decreasing) the mortality rates decreases (increases) the value of the investment. 
Aegon Nederland adjusted longevity with 2% up or down for this input, compared to the 
prospective mortality table in determining the value of this derivative.  

c. To determine the fair value of the bifurcated embedded derivatives related to guarantees, 
a discount rate is used including own credit spread. An increase in the own credit spread 
results in lower valuation, while a decrease results in a higher valuation of the embedded 
derivatives. Aegon Nederland increased or decreased the own credit spread by 20 basis 
points. 

Fair value information about assets and liabilities not measured at fair value 
 
 
The following table presents the carrying values and estimated fair values of assets and liabilities, 
excluding assets and liabilities which are carried at fair value on a recurring basis. 
 
Certain financial instruments that are not carried at fair value are carried at amounts that 
approximate fair value, due to their short-term nature and generally negligible credit risk. These 
instruments include cash and cash equivalents, short-term receivables and accrued interest 
receivable, short-term liabilities, and accrued liabilities. These instruments are not included in the 
table below. 
 
Furthermore, for certain financial instruments disclosed in the table below, the carrying amounts 
of reasonably approximate the disclosed fair values at year-end. Therefore the unobservable 
inputs regarding the fair value are listed as not applicable (n.a.). 
 
In 2014, Aegon Nederland updated the fair value calculation of its Dutch mortgage loans based 
on additional market observable data. This resulted in an increase in the discount rate used to 
present value the future cash flows, mainly driven by an increase in the cost of funds. 
 
Besides the valuation of the mortgages there have not been changes in valuation techniques 
used to measure the fair value of these assets and liabilities. 
 
All of the instruments disclosed in the table are held at amortized cost. 
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2014     Carrying 
amount 

December 
31 

Total 
estimated 
fair value, 
December 

31 

Level of fair value hierarchy Valuation 
technique 

Unobservable 
inputs 

       Level I Level II Level III   
Assets            
            
Mortgage loans 24.687 28.755 - - 28.755 Discounted 

cash flow 
Liquidity 
premium; 
spreads for 
credit risk, 
expenses and 
prepayments, 
lapse 
assumptions 

Private loans 2.007 2.381 - - 2.381 Discounted 
cash flow 

- 

Deposits 
with 
financial 
institutions 

    225 225 n.a. n.a. n.a. n.a. n.a. 

Policy 
loans 

    6 6 n.a. n.a. n.a. n.a. n.a. 

            
Liabilities            
Savings deposits 5.414 5.542 - - 5.542 Discounted 

cash flow 
- 

Investment contracts 249 273 - - 273 Discounted 
cash flow 
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2013     Carrying 
amount 

December 
31 

Total 
estimated 
fair value, 
December 

31 

Level of fair value hierarchy Valuation 
technique 

Unobservable 
inputs 

       Level I Level II Level III   
Assets            
            
Mortgage loans 22.653 26.114 - - 26.114 Discounted 

cash flow 
Liquidity 
premium; 
spreads for 
credit risk, 
expenses and 
prepayments, 
lapse 
assumptions 

Private loans 1.710 1.792 - - 1.792 Discounted 
cash flow 

- 

Deposits 
with 
financial 
institutions 

    204 204 n.a. n.a. n.a. n.a. n.a. 

Policy 
loans 

    8 8 n.a. n.a. n.a. n.a. n.a. 

            
Liabilities            
Savings deposits 4.283 4.299 - - 4.299 Discounted 

cash flow 
- 

Investment contracts 259 270 - - 270 Discounted 
cash flow 

 

            
 
The description of Aegon Nederland’s methods of determining fair value and the valuation 
techniques are described on the following pages. 
 

39.1.1. Shares 
 
 
When available, Aegon Nederland uses quoted market prices in active markets to determine the 
fair value of its investments in shares. Fair values for unquoted shares are estimated using 
observations of the price/earnings or price/cash flow ratios of quoted companies considered 
comparable to the companies being valued. Valuations are adjusted to account for company-
specific issues and the lack of liquidity inherent in an unquoted investment. Illiquidity 
adjustments are generally based on available market evidence. In addition, a variety of other 
factors are reviewed by management, including, but not limited to, current operating 
performance, changes in market outlook and the third-party financing environment. 
 

39.1.2. Real estate funds, private equity funds and hedge funds 
 
 
The fair values of investments held in non-quoted investment funds are determined by 
management after taking into consideration information provided by the fund managers. Aegon 
Nederland reviews the valuations each month and performs analytical procedures and trending 
analyses to ensure the fair values are appropriate.  
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39.1.3. Debt securities 
 
 
The fair values of debt securities are determined by management after taking into consideration 
several sources of data. When available, Aegon Nederland uses quoted market prices in active 
markets to determine the fair value of its debt securities. As stated previously, Aegon 
Nederland’s valuation policy utilizes a pricing hierarchy which dictates that publicly available 
prices are initially sought from indices and third party pricing services. In the event that pricing is 
not available from these sources, those securities are submitted to brokers to obtain quotes. The 
majority of brokers’ quotes are non-binding. As part of the pricing process, Aegon Nederland 
assesses the appropriateness of each quote (i.e., as to whether the quote is based on observable 
market transactions or not) to determine the most appropriate estimate of fair value. Lastly, 
securities are priced using internal cash flow modeling techniques. These valuation methodologies 
commonly use the following inputs: reported trades, bids, offers, issuer spreads, benchmark 
yields, estimated prepayment speeds, and/or estimated cash flows. 
 
To understand the valuation methodologies used by third-party pricing services Aegon Nederland 
reviews and monitors the applicable methodology documents of the third-party pricing services. 
Any changes to their methodologies are noted and reviewed for reasonableness. In addition, 
Aegon Nederland performs in-depth reviews of prices received from third-party pricing services 
on a sample basis. The objective for such reviews is to demonstrate that Aegon Nederland can 
corroborate detailed information such as assumptions, inputs and methodologies used in pricing 
individual securities against documented pricing methodologies. Only third-party pricing services 
and brokers with a substantial presence in the market and with appropriate experience and 
expertise are used. 
 
Third-party pricing services will often determine prices using recently reported trades for identical 
or similar securities. The third-party pricing service makes adjustments for the elapsed time from 
the trade date to the balance sheet date to take into account available market information. 
Lacking recently reported trades, third-party pricing services and brokers will use modeling 
techniques to determine a security price where expected future cash flows are developed based 
on the performance of the underlying collateral and discounted using an estimated market rate.  
 
Periodically, Aegon Nederland performs an analysis of the inputs obtained from third-party 
pricing services and brokers to ensure that the inputs are reasonable and produce a reasonable 
estimate of fair value. The asset specialists and investment valuation specialists consider both 
qualitative and quantitative factors as part of this analysis. Several examples of analytical 
procedures performed include, but are not limited to, recent transactional activity for similar debt 
securities, review of pricing statistics and trends and consideration of recent relevant market 
events. Other controls and procedures over pricing received from indices, third-party pricing 
services, or brokers include validation checks such as exception reports which highlight 
significant price changes, stale prices or un-priced securities. Additionally Aegon Nederland 
performs back testing on a sample basis. Back testing involves selecting a sample of securities 
trades and comparing the prices in those transactions to prices used for financial reporting. 
Significant variances between the price used for financial reporting and the transaction price are 
investigated to explain the cause of the difference and to adjust the models if necessary. 
 
Credit ratings are also an important consideration in the valuation of securities and are included 
in the internal process for determining the view of Aegon Nederland of the risk associated with 
each security. However, Aegon Nederland does not rely solely on external credit ratings and 
there is an internal process, based on market observable inputs, for its view of the risks 
associated with each security. 
 
Aegon Nederland’s portfolio of private placement securities (held at fair value under the 
classification of available-for-sale or fair value through profit or loss) is valued using a matrix 
pricing methodology. The pricing matrix is obtained from a third-party service provider and 
indicates current spreads for securities based on weighted average life, credit rating, and industry 
sector. Each month, Aegon Nederland’s asset specialists review the matrix to ensure the spreads 
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are reasonable by comparing them to observed spreads for similar bonds traded in the market. 
Other inputs to the valuation include coupon rate, the current interest rate curve used for 
discounting and an illiquidity premium to account for the illiquid nature of these securities. The 
illiquidity premiums are determined based upon the pricing of recent transactions in the private 
placements market; comparing the value of the privately offered security to a similar public 
security. The impact of the illiquidity premium for private placement securities to the overall 
valuation is insignificant. 
 
Aegon Nederland’s portfolio of debt securities can be subdivided in Sovereign debt, Residential 
mortgage-backed securities (RMBS), Commercial mortgage-backed securities (CMBS), Asset 
backed securities (ABS), and Corporate bonds. Below relevant details in the valuation 
methodology for these specific types of debt securities are described. 
 
Sovereign debt 
When available, Aegon Nederland uses quoted market prices in active markets to determine the 
fair value of its sovereign debt investments. When Aegon Nederland cannot make use of quoted 
market prices, market prices from indices or quotes from third-party pricing services or brokers 
are used. 
 
Residential mortgage-backed securities (RMBS), commercial mortgage-backed securities (CMBS) 
and asset-backed securities (ABS) 
Valuations of RMBS, CMBS and ABS are monitored and reviewed on a monthly basis. Valuations 
per asset type are based on a pricing hierarchy which uses a waterfall approach that starts with 
market prices from indices and follows with making use of third-party pricing services or brokers. 
The pricing hierarchy is dependent on the possibilities of corroboration of the market prices. If no 
market prices are available Aegon Nederland uses internal models to determine fair value. 
Significant inputs included in the internal models are generally determined based on relative 
value analyses, which incorporate comparisons to instruments with similar collateral and risk 
profiles. Market standard models may be used to model the specific collateral composition and 
cash flow structure of each transaction. The most significant unobservable input is illiquidity 
premium which is embedded in the discount rate. 
 
Corporate bonds 
Valuations of corporate bonds are monitored and reviewed on a monthly basis. The pricing 
hierarchy is dependent on the possibility of corroboration of market prices when available. If no 
market prices are available, valuations are determined by a discounted cash flow methodology 
using an internally calculated yield. The yield is comprised of a credit spread over a given 
benchmark. In all cases the benchmark is an observable input. The credit spread contains both 
observable and unobservable inputs. Aegon Nederland starts by taking an observable credit 
spread from a similar bond of the given issuer, and then adjust this spread based on 
unobservable inputs. These unobservable inputs may include subordination, liquidity and 
maturity differences. 
 
Corroboration 
On a quarterly basis level classifications are assigned to all securities. Those securities that have 
been priced by non-binding broker quotes are classified level II/III at first instance and are 
corroborated in order to assign the proper level. Aegon Nederland compares the received quote 
against all available other evidence. If differences between the price used to measure the 
security and two additional prices are within a 3% difference range a level II is assigned, 
otherwise the security is classified as being level III. If quotes were not to be corroborated and 
did not seem to reflect a fair value, measures are taken to get a more reliable valuation; these 
securities always classify as level III.  
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39.1.4. Mortgage loans, policy loans and private loans 
 
 
For private loans, fixed interest mortgage loans and other loans originated by Aegon Nederland, 
the fair value used for disclosure purposes is estimated by discounting expected future cash flows 
using a current market rate applicable to financial instruments with similar yield, credit quality 
and maturity characteristics. The market rate is adjusted for expenses, liquidity, credit risk, 
prepayment rates and lapse assumptions.  
 
The fair value of floating interest rate mortgage loans, policy loans and private placements used 
for disclosure purposes is assumed to be approximated by their carrying amount, adjusted for 
changes in credit risk. Credit risk adjustments are based on market observable credit spreads if 
available, or management’s estimate if not market observable. 
 
 

39.1.5. Real estate 
 
 
Valuations of both investments in real estate and real estate held for own use are conducted in 
full by independent external appraisers at least every three to five years and reviewed at least 
once a year by qualified internal appraisers to ensure the value correctly reflects the fair value at 
the balance sheet date. Appraisals are different for each specific local market, but are based on 
market guidelines such as International Valuation Standards, Uniform Standards of Professional 
Appraisal Practice or guidelines issued by the Investment Property Databank. Valuations are 
mostly based on active market prices, adjusted for any difference in the nature, location or 
condition of the specific property. If such information is not available, other valuation methods 
are applied, considering the value that the property’s net earning power will support, the value 
indicated by recent sales of comparable properties and the current cost of reproducing or 
replacing the property. Discount rates used in the valuation of real estate reflect the risk 
embedded in the projected cash flows for the asset being valued. Capitalization rates represent 
the income rate for a real estate property that reflects the relationship between a single year’s 
net operating income expectancy and the total property price or value. For property held for own 
use, appraisers consider the present value of the future rental income cash flows that could be 
achieved had the real estate been let out. 
 
 

39.1.6. Money market and other short-term investment and deposits with 
financial institutions 
 
 
The fair value of assets maturing within a year is assumed to be approximated by their carrying 
amount adjusted for credit risk where appropriate. Credit risk adjustments are based on market 
observable credit spreads if available, or management’s estimate if not market observable. 
 
 

39.1.7. Derivatives 
 
 
Where quoted market prices are not available, other valuation techniques, such as option pricing 
or stochastic modeling, are applied. The valuation techniques incorporate all factors that a typical 
market participant would consider and are based on observable market data when available. 
Models are validated before they are used and calibrated to ensure that outputs reflect actual 
experience and comparable market prices.  
 
Fair values for exchange-traded derivatives, principally futures and certain options, are based on 
quoted market prices in active markets. Fair values for over-the-counter (OTC) derivative 
financial instruments represent amounts estimated to be received from or paid to a third party in 
settlement of these instruments. These derivatives are valued using pricing models based on the 
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net present value of estimated future cash flows, directly observed prices from exchange-traded 
derivatives, other OTC trades, or external pricing services. Most valuations are derived from swap 
and volatility matrices, which are constructed for applicable indices and currencies using current 
market data from many industry standard sources. Option pricing is based on industry standard 
valuation models and current market levels, where applicable. The pricing of complex or illiquid 
instruments is based on internal models or an independent third party. For long-dated illiquid 
contracts, extrapolation methods are applied to observed market data in order to estimate inputs 
and assumptions that are not directly observable. To value OTC derivatives, management uses 
observed market information, other trades in the market and dealer prices.  
 
Aegon Nederland normally mitigates counterparty credit risk in derivative contracts by entering 
into collateral agreements where practical and in ISDA6 master netting agreements to offset 
credit risk exposure. In the event no collateral is held by Aegon Nederland or the counterparty, 
the fair value of derivatives is adjusted for credit risk based on market observable spreads. 
Changes in the fair value of derivatives attributable to changes in counterparty credit risk were 
not significant.  
 
Aegon Nederland has a certain OTC derivative that is a longevity derivative. The payout of the 
longevity derivative is linked to an annually publicly available mortality table. The derivative is 
measured using the present value of the best estimate of expected payouts of the derivative plus 
a risk margin. The best estimate of expected payouts is determined using best estimate of 
mortality developments. Aegon Nederland determined the risk margin by stressing the best 
estimate mortality developments to quantify the risk and applying a cost-of-capital methodology. 
The most significant unobservable input used in measuring the fair value of these derivatives is 
the (projected) mortality development. 
 
 

39.1.8. Embedded derivatives in insurance contracts including guarantees 
 
 
All bifurcated guarantees for minimum benefits in insurance contracts are carried at fair value. 
These relate mainly to minimum interest guarantees on insurance products.  
 
Since the price of these guarantees is not quoted in any market, the fair values of these 
guarantees are calculated as the present value of future expected payments to policyholders less 
the present value of assessed rider fees attributable to the guarantees. Given the complexity and 
long-term nature of these guarantees which are unlike instruments available in financial markets, 
their fair values are determined by using stochastic techniques under a variety of market return 
scenarios. A variety of factors are considered including own credit spread, expected market rates 
of return, equity and interest rate volatility, correlations of market returns, discount rates and 
actuarial assumptions. The most significant unobservable input is the own credit spread. 
 
The expected returns are based on risk-free rates. Aegon Nederland added a premium to reflect 
the credit spread as required. The own credit spread is set by using the credit default swap (CDS) 
spreads of a reference portfolio of life insurance companies (including Aegon), adjusted to reflect 
the subordination of senior debt holders at the holding company level to the position of 
policyholders at the operating company level (who have priority in payments to other creditors).  
 
In 2013, Aegon updated the way it extrapolates yield curves beyond market observable 
maturities. The discount rates converge linearly in 10 years to an Ultimate Forward Rate of 
4.25% from the last liquid point. The uniform last liquid point for all Aegon’s major currencies 
(USD, GBP and EUR) is set at 30 years.  
 
Since many of the assumptions are unobservable and are considered to be significant inputs to 
the liability valuation, the liability included in future policy benefits has been reflected within 
Level III of the fair value hierarchy. 

                                                           
6 International Swaps and Derivatives Associations 
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See also note 18 ‘Guarantees’.  
 

39.1.9. Embedded derivatives in bank products 
 
 
Some bifurcated derivatives embedded in bank products are not quoted on an active market. 
Valuation techniques are used to determine the fair values of these derivatives. Given the 
dynamic and complex nature of the cash flows relating to these derivatives, their fair values are 
often determined by using stochastic techniques under a variety of market return scenarios. A 
variety of factors are considered, including expected market prices and rates of return, equity 
and interest rate volatility, credit risk, correlations of market returns, discount rates and actuarial 
assumptions. 
 
The expected returns are based on risk-free interest rates, such as the London Inter-Bank 
Offered Rate (LIBOR) yield curve or the current rates on Dutch government bonds. Market 
volatility assumptions for each underlying index are based on observed market implied volatility 
data and/or observed market performance. As required for discounting cash flows, Aegon 
Nederland applies a credit spread to the risk-free interest rate when computing the guarantee 
provisions. This own credit spread is derived from the spread used in the market for Credit 
Default Swaps in a reference portfolio of European life insurers (including Aegon N.V.).  
 

39.1.10. Savings deposits and investment contracts 
 
 
Savings deposits and investment contracts issued by Aegon Nederland are either carried at fair 
value (if they are designated as financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss) or 
amortized cost (with fair value being disclosed in the notes to the consolidated financial 
statements). 
 
Similar to embedded derivatives in insurance contracts, certain investment products are not 
quoted in active markets and their fair values are determined by using valuation techniques. 
Because of the dynamic and complex nature of these cash flows, stochastic or similar techniques 
under a variety of market return scenarios are often used. A variety of factors are considered, 
including expected market rates of return, market volatility, correlations of market returns, 
discount rates and actuarial assumptions. 
 
The expected returns are based on risk-free rates, such as the current London Inter-Bank Offered 
Rate (LIBOR) swap rates and associated forward rates or the current rates on local government 
bonds. Market volatility assumptions for each underlying index are based on observed market 
implied volatility data and/or observed market performance. Correlations of market returns for 
various underlying indices are based on observed market returns and their inter-relationships 
over a number of years preceding the valuation date. Current risk-free spot rates are used to 
determine the present value of expected future cash flows produced in the stochastic projection 
process. 
 
Assumptions on customer behavior, such as lapses, included in the models are derived in the 
same way as the assumptions used to measure insurance liabilities. 
 

39.1.11. Other borrowings 
 
 
Other borrowings are either carried at fair value (if they are designated as financial liabilities at 
fair value through profit or loss) or amortized cost (with fair value being disclosed in the notes to 
the consolidated financial statements). For the determination of the fair value of the borrowings, 
the level hierarchy as described by IFRS is used. The preferred method of obtaining the fair value 
of the fair value option bonds is the quoted price (Level I). In case markets are less liquid or the 
quoted prices are not available, an internal model is used, using parameters which are market 
observable (Level II).  Aegon Nederland uses a discounted cash flow method including yield 
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curves such as deposit rates, floating rate and 3-month swap rates. In addition Aegon Nederland 
includes the own credit spread based on Aegon’s credit default swap curve. 
 

39.2. Summary of financial assets and financial liabilities at fair value through profit 
or loss 
 
 
 
The table that follows summarizes the carrying amounts of financial assets and financial liabilities 
that are classified as at fair value through profit or loss, with appropriate distinction between 
those financial assets and financial liabilities held for trading and those that, upon initial 
recognition, were designated as at fair value through profit or loss. 
 
 
 
      2014  2013 
      Trading Designated  Trading Designated 
           
Investments for general account   15 1.211  16 70 
Investments for account of policyholders   - 27.086  - 24.169 
Derivatives with positive values      23.748 3  11.729 75 
Total financial assets at FVTPL   23.763 28.300  11.746 24.313 
           
      2014  2013 
      Trading Designated  Trading Designated 
           
Investment contracts   - 249  - 259 
Investment contracts for account of 
policyholders 

  - 114  - 31 

Liabilities for guarantees    5.433   2.462 
Derivatives with negative values      20.236 2.344  8.935 1.261 
Total financial liabilities at FVTPL   20.236 8.141  8.935 4.013 
 
Gains and losses recognized in the income statement on financial assets and financial liabilities 
classified as at fair value through profit or loss can be summarized as follows: 
 
 
      2014  2013 
      Trading Designated  Trading Designated 
           
Net gains and losses      3.398 2.582  -1.306 403 
      
 
Investments for general account 
 
 
Aegon Nederland manages certain portfolios on a total return basis which have been designated 
at fair value through profit or loss. This includes portfolios of investments in limited partnerships 
and limited liability companies (primarily hedge funds) for which the performance is assessed 
internally on a total return basis.  
 
 
Investments for general account backing insurance and investment liabilities, that are carried at 
fair value with changes in the fair value recognized in the income statement, are designated at 
fair value through profit or loss. Aegon Nederland elected to designate these investments at fair 
value through profit or loss, as classification of these financial assets as available-for-sale would 
result in accumulation of unrealized gains and losses in a revaluation reserve within equity whilst 
changes to the liability would be reflected in net income (accounting mismatch). 
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Investments for account of policyholders 
 
 
Investments held for account of policyholders comprise assets that are linked to various 
insurance and investment contracts for which the financial risks are borne by the customer. 
Under the accounting policies of Aegon Nederland these insurance and investment liabilities are 
measured at the fair value of the linked assets with changes in the fair value recognized in the 
income statement. To avoid an accounting mismatch the linked assets have been designated as 
at fair value through profit or loss. 
 
In addition, the investments for account of policyholders include with profit assets, where an 
insurer manages these assets together with related liabilities on a fair value basis in accordance 
with a documented policy of asset and liability management. In accordance with Aegon 
Nederland’s accounting policies, these assets have been designated as at fair value through profit 
or loss. 
 
Investment contracts for account of policyholders 
With the exception of the financial liabilities with discretionary participating features that are not 
subject to the classification and measurement requirements for financial instruments, all 
investment contracts for account of policyholders that are carried at fair value or at the fair value 
of the linked assets are included in the table above. 
 
Derivatives 
 
 
With the exception of derivatives designated as a hedging instrument, all derivatives held for 
general account and held for account of policyholders are included in the table above. 
 
 
 
No loans and receivables were designated at fair value through profit or loss. 
 
Changes in the fair value of financial liabilities designated at fair value through profit or loss were 
not attributable to changes in credit spread, with the exception of the life contingent guarantees. 
There are also no differences between the carrying amounts of these financial liabilities and the 
contractual amounts payable at maturity (net of surrender penalties).  
 
 

40. Commitment and contingencies 
 

40.1. Investments contracted 
 
 
In the normal course of business, Aegon Nederland has committed itself through purchase and 
sale transactions of investments, mostly to be executed in the course of 2015. The amounts 
represent the future outflow and inflow, respectively, of cash related to these investment 
transactions that are not reflected in the statement of financial position 
 
Mortgage loans commitments represent undrawn mortgage loan facility provided and outstanding 
proposals on mortgages. The sale of mortgage loans relates to pre-announced redemptions on 
mortgage loans. 
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Contracted purchases        2014  2013 
           
Real estate        -  - 
Shares        -  - 
Debt securities        -  - 
Private loans        -  - 
Mortgage loans        300  316 
Other        -  - 
 
 
 
Contracted sales        2014  2013 
           
Real estate        5  3 
Shares        -  - 
Debt securities        -  - 
Private loans        -  - 
Mortgage loans        63  44 
Other        -  - 
 

40.2. Other commitments and contingencies 
 
 
 
Guarantees given        2014  2013 
           
Standby letters of credit        34  29 
Other guarantees        14  14 
 
 
 
Aegon Nederland is part of the Nederlandse Herverzekeringmaatschappij voor Terrorismeschade 
N.V. and consequently pays its share of the reinsurance premium and other expenses. The letters 
of credit shown above relate chiefly to the guarantee issued by Aegon Nederland for its share in 
the excess risk of the Nederlandse Herverzekeringmaatschappij voor Terrorismeschade N.V. 
 
In addition to the above guarantees, guarantees have been issued for compliance with 
contractual obligations such as investment mandates of investment funds.  
 

40.3. Legal and arbitrary proceedings, regulatory proceedings and actions 
 
 
Aegon Nederland is involved in litigation in the ordinary course of business, including litigation 
where compensatory or punitive damages and mass or class relief are sought. Current and 
former customers, both institutional as well as individual, and groups representing customers, 
initiate litigation. Also, certain groups encourage others to bring lawsuits in respect of products.  
 
Aegon Nederland has established litigation policies to deal with the claims, defending when the 
claim is without merit and seeking to settle in certain circumstances. There can be no assurances 
that Aegon Nederland will be able to resolve existing litigation in the manner it expects or that 
existing or future litigation will not result in unexpected liability. 
 
These products including share leasing products and unit-linked insurance. With respect to the 
share-leasing products, Aegon Nederland is applying the guidelines in the ‘Duisenberg scheme’ 
published in June 2006 to the extent they apply to its lease portfolio.  
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Certain of the products Aegon Nederland sells are complex and involve significant investment 
risks that may be assumed by Aegon’s customers. Aegon has have received claims from certain 
current and former customers, and groups representing customers, in respect of certain 
products. Aegon has in the past agreed to make payments, in some cases substantial, or 
adjustments to policy terms to settle those claims or disputes if we believed it was appropriate to 
do so. 
 
In addition, the insurance industry has routinely been the subject of litigation, investigations, 
regulatory activity and challenges by various governmental and enforcement authorities and 
policyholder advocate groups concerning certain practices.  
 
Aegon Nederland has received inquiries from local authorities and policyholder advocate groups. 
In the normal course of business, reviews of processes and procedures are undertaken to ensure 
that customers have been treated fairly, and to respond to matters raised by policyholders and 
their representatives. There is a risk that Aegon Nederland is not able to resolve some or all such 
matters in the manner that it expects. In certain instances, Aegon Nederland modified business 
practices in response to such inquiries or the findings thereof. Aegon Nederland has also sought 
and intend to continue to seek to settle certain claims, including via policy modifications, in 
appropriate circumstances, such as the settlement Aegon reached in July 2009 with Stichting 
Verliespolis and Stichting Woekerpolis, two major customer interest groups. In May 2012, Aegon 
announced that it would accelerate certain product improvements that reduce future costs and 
that increase policy value for its customers with unit-linked insurance policies consistent with the 
agreements Aegon announced in July 2009. With these measures, Aegon committed to the ‘best 
of class’ principles of the Dutch Ministry of Finance for certain existing unit-linked products. These 
principles are the result of an industry-wide review by the Ministry of the various agreements 
reached between individual insurance companies and customer interest groups in relation to unit-
linked insurance policies. The Ministry made a strong appeal to all industry participants to apply 
its principles. Aegon had previously made substantial product improvements to the unit-linked 
insurance policies which its Dutch business sold before January 1, 2008. Aegon’s approach was to 
settle compensation with clients when the policy expires. However, to comply with the Ministry’s 
principles, Aegon undertook to make direct additions to policy values before year-end 2012. 
While parties such as the Ombudsman Financiële Dienstverlening (the Netherlands financial 
services industry ombudsman) support the arrangement, it is uncertain whether the public 
debate on the adequacy generally of the arrangements reached with customer interest groups, as 
well as the discussions in the Dutch Parliament, will not be continued in the future and lead to re-
examination and adjustment of the settlements made. It is not yet possible to determine the 
direction or outcome of any further debate, including what actions, if any, Aegon Nederland may 
take in response thereto, or the impact that any such actions may have on the business of Aegon 
Nederland, results of operations and financial position. 
 
Proceedings in which Aegon Nederland is involved 
 
 
In June, 2013, the Dutch Supreme Court denied Aegon’s appeal from a ruling of the Court of 
Appeal with respect to a specific Aegon unit-linked product, the “Koersplan”-product. As a result 
of the Dutch Supreme Court’s denial of appeal, Aegon compensated the approximately 35,000 
holders of KoersPlan-products who were plaintiffs in the litigation. In June 2014, Aegon 
announced to also compensate holders of KoersPlan-products that were not plaintiffs in the 
litigation. The compensation amounts to the difference, if any, between the amount of premium 
charged by Aegon for a comparable risk charged for stand-alone death benefit coverage over the 
same period, and the potentially higher premium actually charged by Aegon.  
 
In late March 2014, consumer interest group Vereniging Woekerpolis.nl filed a new claim against 
Aegon in court. The claim relates to a range of unit-linked products of Aegon, challenging a 
variety of elements of these products on multiple legal grounds. At this time it is not practicable 
for Aegon to quantify a range or maximum liability, if any. 
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Generally speaking, individual customers as well as policyholder advocate groups and their 
representatives, continue to focus on the fees and charges included in products, as well as 
transparency aspects. Aegon Nederland expects this to remain an industry issue for the 
foreseeable future. In September 2013, the Klachteninstituut Financiële Dienstverlening (KIFID), 
rendered an interim decision against another insurance company in the Netherlands. KIFID is an 
independent body that offers an alternative forum for customers to file complaints or claims over 
financial services. Its decisions may be appealed to the courts. In its interim decision, KIFID 
found that the consumer had not been adequately informed of the so-called initial costs 
embedded within its unit linked policy, nor of the leverage component thereof, and challenged 
the contractual basis for the charges. There are claims pending with KIFID filed by customers 
over Aegon Nederland’s products and that arguably include similar allegations. If KIFID were to 
finally decide unfavorably and that decision were to be upheld by a court, there can be no 
assurances that ultimately the aggregate exposure to Aegon Nederland of such adverse decision 
would not have a material adverse effect on Aegon Nederland’s results of operations or financial 
position if the principles underlying any such decision were to be applied also to our products. 
 
 
 
Deposit guarantee scheme 
The deposit guarantee scheme is a scheme that guarantees certain bank deposits of account 
holders in the event that a bank fails in the Netherlands. The scheme provides security for 
deposits up to a maximum of EUR 100.000 per account holder per bank, irrespective of the 
number of accounts. In the case of a joint account with two persons, it applies per person as a 
maximum. The scheme covers almost all savings accounts, current accounts and short-term 
deposits, but not shares or bonds. If, when a credit institution fails, insufficient funds remain to 
pay its account holders the guaranteed amounts in full or at all, DNB will make payment up to 
the above-mentioned maximum amounts. This total amount will then be refunded to DNB by the 
banks in accordance with a cost allocation scheme.  
 
The Ministry of Finance and DNB are engaged in the creation of a fund for the financing of the 
Deposit Guarantee Scheme. The change is occasioned by the experience of the credit crisis and 
upcoming European legislation. Under the new funding method, banks will pay risk-weighted ex 
ante contributions to the DGS. This new policy is to take effect on 1 July 2015. 
 
 

40.4. Capital commitments 
 
 
        2014  2013 
           
Share of contingent liabilities incurred in relation to interests in joint ventures  18  12 
 
 
 
The above liabilities not shown in the statement of financial position relate to investment 
obligations entered into by AMVEST (in real estate development projects). 
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40.5. Future lease payments 
The future non-cancellable subleases relate to office space lease and car lease from third 
parties. These are specified in the table below. 
 
 
 
        2014  2013 
           
Not later than 1 year        10  10 
Between 1 and 5 years        17  25 
Later than 5 years        2  4 
        29  39 
 

41. Transfers of financial assets  
 
 
 
Transfers occur when Aegon Nederland transfers contractual rights to receive cash flows of 
financial assets or when Aegon Nederland retains the contractual rights to receive the cash flows 
of the transferred financial asset, but assumes a contractual obligation to pay the cash flows to 
one or more recipients in that arrangement.  
 
In the normal course of business Aegon Nederland is involved among others in the following 
transactions: 

1. Transferred financial assets that are not derecognized in their entirety: 
a. Securities lending; whereby Aegon Nederland legally (but not economically) 

transfers assets and receives cash and non-cash collateral. The transferred assets 
are not derecognized. The obligation to repay the cash collateral is recognized as 
a liability. The non-cash collateral is not recognized; 

b. Repurchase activities; whereby Aegon Nederland receives cash for the 
transferred assets. The financial assets are legally (but not economically) 
transferred, but are not derecognized. The obligation to repay the cash received 
is recognized as a liability. 

2. Transferred financial assets that are derecognized in their entirety and Aegon Nederland 
does not have a continuing involvement (normal sale); 

3. Transferred financial assets that are derecognized in their entirety, but where Aegon 
Nederland has a continuing involvement: 

a. Securitizations whereby mortgage loans are transferred to a securitization vehicle 
which is not part of the Group and where Aegon Nederland has a continuing 
involvement in the transferred assets. 

4. Collateral accepted in the case of securities lending, reverse repurchase agreement and 
derivative transactions; 

5. Collateral pledged in the case of (contingent) liabilities, repurchase agreements, 
securities borrowing and derivative transactions. 

 
The following disclosures provide details for transferred financial assets that are not derecognized 
in their entirety, transferred financial asset that are derecognized in their entirety, but where 
Aegon Nederland has a continuing involvement and assets accepted and pledged as collateral. 
 

41.1. Transferred financial assets that have not been derecognized in their entirety 
 
 
The following table reflects the carrying amount of financial assets that have been transferred to 
another party in such a way that part or all of the transferred financial assets do not qualify for 
derecognition. Furthermore, it reflects the carrying amounts of the associated liabilities. 
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2014     Available-for-sale 

financial assets 
Financial assets at fair value through profit 

or loss 
Loans and 

receivables 
     Shares Debt 

securities 
Shares Debt 

securities 
Investments for 

account of 

policyholders 

Mortgage loans 

Carrying amount of 

assets 
 - 1.057 - - 2.516 - 

Carrying 

amount of 

associated 

liabilities 

(on 

balance) 

    - -1.049 - - -1.689 - 

Carrying 

amount of 

associated 

liabilities 

(off 

balance) 

    - - - - -907 - 

           
2013     Available-for-sale 

financial assets 
Financial assets at fair value through profit 

or loss 
Loans and 

receivables 
     Shares Debt 

securities 
Shares Debt 

securities 
Investments for 

account of 

policyholders 

Mortgage loans 

Carrying amount of 

assets 
 - 2.110 - - 2.534 - 

Carrying 

amount of 

associated 

liabilities 

(on 

balance) 

    - -1.984 - - -1.517 - 

Carrying 

amount of 

associated 

liabilities 

(off 

balance) 

    - - - - -1.126 - 

 
Securities lending and repurchase activities 
 
 
The table above includes financial assets that have been transferred to another party under 
security lending and repurchase activities.  
 
Aegon Nederland retains substantially all risks and rewards of those transferred assets, this 
includes credit risk, settlement risk, country risk and market risk. The assets are transferred in 
return for cash collateral or other financial assets. Non-cash collateral is not recognized in the 
statement of financial position. Cash collateral is recorded on the statement of financial position 
as an asset and an offsetting liability is established for the same amount as Aegon Nederland is 
obligated to return this amount upon termination of the lending arrangement. Cash collateral is 
usually invested in pre-designated high quality investments. The sum of cash and non-cash 
collateral is typically greater than the market value of the related securities loaned. 
 
When transferring non-cash financial assets to another party under security lending and 
repurchase activities, the counterparty has the right to sell or repledge the full amount. 
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Aegon Nederland can receive collateral related to derivative transactions that it enters into. The 
credit support agreement will normally dictate the threshold over which collateral needs to be 
pledged by Aegon Nederland or its counterparty. Transactions requiring Aegon Nederland or its 
counterparty to post collateral are typically the result of over-the-counter derivative trades, 
comprised mostly of interest rate swaps, currency swaps and credit swaps. Refer to the credit 
risk section in note 4.4.4 ‘Credit risk’ for details on collateral received for derivative transactions.  
 
Assets accepted 
 
Aegon Nederland receives collateral related to securities lending and reverse repurchase 
activities. Non-cash collateral is not recognized in the statement of financial position. To the 
extent that cash is paid for reverse repurchase agreements, a receivable is recognized for the 
corresponding amount. 
 
The following table analyses the fair value of the assets received in relation to securities lending 
and reverse repurchase activities. These activities are conducted under terms that are usual and 
customary to standard securities lending activities, as well as requirements determined by 
exchanges where the bank acts as intermediary. 
 
 
 
Securities lending        2014  2013 
           
Carrying amount of transferred financial assets     2.516  2.534 
Fair value of cash collateral received     -907  -1.126 
Fair value of non-cash collateral received     -1.689  -1.517 
Net exposure        -81  -109 
           
Non-cash collateral that can be sold or repledged in the 
absence of default 

       1.689  1.517 

Non-cash collateral that has been sold or transferred        -  - 
 
 
 
Reverse repurchase agreements        2014  2013 
           
Cash paid for reverse repurchase agreements     3.877  1.704 
Fair value of non-cash collateral received     -3.877  -1.704 
Net exposure        -  - 
           
Non-cash collateral that can be sold or repledged in the 
absence of default 

       3.877  1.704 

Non-cash collateral that has been sold or transferred        -  - 
 
 
 

41.2. Transferred financial assets that are derecognized in their entirety, but where 
Aegon Nederland has continuing involvement 
 
 
Aegon Nederland has no transferred financial assets that are derecognized in their entirety, but 
where it has continuing involvement as per year-end 2014 and 2013. 
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41.3. Assets pledged 
 
 
Aegon Nederland pledges assets that are on its statement of financial position in securities 
borrowing transactions, in repurchase transactions and against long-term borrowings. In 
addition, in order to trade derivatives on the various exchanges, Aegon Nederland posts margin 
as collateral.  
 
These transactions are conducted under terms that are usual and customary to standard long-
term borrowing, derivative and securities borrowing activities, as well as requirements 
determined by exchanges where a bank acts as intermediary. 
 
Non-cash financial assets that are borrowed or purchased under agreement to resell are 
not recognized in the statement of financial position. 
 
To the extent that cash collateral is paid, a receivable is recognized for the 
corresponding amount. If other non-cash financial assets are given as collateral, these 
are not derecognized. 
 
The following table analyzes the carrying amount of collateral pledged and the corresponding 
amounts. 
 
 
 
Assets pledged for repurchase agreements        2014  2013 
           
Cash received     1.049  1.984 
Pledged non-cash collateral     -1.057  -2.110 
Net exposure        -8  -126 
 
As part of Aegon Nederland’s mortgage loan funding program, EUR 8.2 billion (2013: EUR 5.4 
billion) have been pledged as security for notes issued (refer to note 22 ‘Borrowings and group 
loans’). In addition, in order to trade derivatives on the various exchanges, Aegon Nederland 
posts margin as collateral.  
 
 

42. Offsetting, enforceable master netting arrangements and similar 
arrangements 
 
 
 
The table below provides details relating to the effect or potential effect of netting arrangements, 
including rights of set-off associated with the entity's recognized financial assets and recognized 
financial liabilities. 
 
Financial assets and liabilities are offset in the statement of financial position when Aegon 
Nederland has a legally enforceable right to offset and has the intention to settle the asset and 
liability on a net basis, or to realize the asset and settle the liability simultaneously.  
 
Aegon Nederland mitigates credit risk in derivative contracts by entering into collateral 
agreements, where practical, and in ISDA master netting agreements for each of the legal 
entities of Aegon Nederland to facilitate Aegon Nederland’s right to offset credit risk exposure. 
The credit support agreement will normally dictate the threshold over which collateral needs to 
be pledged by Aegon Nederland or its counterparty. Transactions requiring Aegon Nederland or 
its counterparty to post collateral are typically the result of over-the-counter derivative trades, 
comprised mostly of interest rate swaps, currency swaps and credit swaps. These transactions 
are conducted under terms that are usual and customary to standard long-term borrowing, 
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derivative, securities lending and securities borrowing activities, as well as requirements 
determined by exchanges where the bank acts as intermediary. 
 
Financial assets subject to offsetting, enforceable master netting arrangements and similar 
agreements 
 
 
 

2014        Related amounts not set off 

in the statements of financial 

position 

Net 

amount 

     Gross 

amounts of 

recognized 

financial 

assets 

Gross amounts 

of recognized 

financial 

liabilities set off 

in the statement 

of financial 

position 

Net amounts of 

financial assets 

presented in 

the statement 

of financial 

position 

Financial 

instruments 
Cash 

collateral 

received 

(excluding 

surplus 

collateral) 

 

           
Derivatives     23.670 - 23.670 20.842 2.537 292 
           
At 

December 

31 

    23.670 - 23.670 20.842 2.537 292 

           
2013        Related amounts not set off 

in the statements of financial 

position 

Net 

amount 

     Gross 

amounts of 

recognized 

financial 

assets 

Gross amounts 

of recognized 

financial 

liabilities set off 

in the statement 

of financial 

position 

Net amounts of 

financial assets 

presented in 

the statement 

of financial 

position 

Financial 

instruments 
Cash 

collateral 

received 

(excluding 

surplus 

collateral) 

 

           
Derivatives     11.676 - 11.676 7.819 2.507 1.350 
           
At 

December 

31 

    11.676 - 11.676 7.819 2.507 1.350 
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43. Group companies 
 

43.1. Subsidiaries 
 
 
 
The organization chart of Aegon Nederland and its principal subsidiaries at year-end 2014 was as 
follows:  
 

All companies are directly or indirectly wholly-owned, unless stated otherwise, and are involved 
in insurance or asset management or services related to these activities. Aegon Nederland’s 
voting power in these subsidiaries is equal to its shareholding.  

The principal subsidiaries are: 

• Aegon Bank N.V., Utrecht 
• Aegon Levensverzekering N.V., The Hague 
• Aegon Leven Beleggingen B.V., The Hague 
• Aegon Hypotheken B.V., The Hague 
• Aegon d.s.s. a.s., Bratislava (Slowakije) 
• Aegon Schadeverzekering N.V., The Hague 
• Aegon Spaarkas N.V., The Hague 
• Aegon Vastgoed Holding B.V., The Hague 
• Optas Pensioenen N.V., The Hague 
• TKP Pensioen B.V., Groningen 
• Unirobe Meeùs Groep B.V., The Hague 

 
Aegon Nederland has issued a statement of liability pursuant to Section 403 of Book 2 of the 
Netherlands Civil Code for the following group companies: 
  

• Aegon Bedrijfsfinanciering B.V.   
• Aegon Custody B.V.   
• Aegon Financiële Diensten B.V.   
• Aegon Global Investment Fund B.V.   
• Aegon Infrastructure Services Nederland B.V.   
• Aegon Innovation Investments B.V.   
• Bagon B.V.   
• Van Nierop Assuradeuren N.V.   

 
The list of subsidiaries and associates required by Sections 379 and 414 of Book 2 of the 
Netherlands Civil Code has been registered with the Trade Register in The Hague. 
 

Aegon Nederland 
N.V. 

Aegon Bank N.V. 
Aegon 

Levensverzekering  
N.V. 

Aegon Vastgoed 
Holding B.V. 

Optas Pensioenen 
N.V. 

Aegon d.s.s. a.s. 
Slovakia 

Aegon Leven 
Beleggingen B.V. 

Unirobe Meeùs 
Groep B.V. 

Aegon 
Schadeverzekering 

N.V. 
Aegon Spaarkas 

N.V. TKP Pensioen B.V. Aegon 
Hypotheken. B.V. Aegon PPI B.V. 
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43.2. Investments in associates and joint ventures 
 
Associates 
 
 
 
The principal associates are: 

• N.V. Levensverzekering-Maatschappij 'De Hoop’, The Hague (33,3%); 
• Meetingpoint B.V., Hilversum (16,7%); 

 
Meeting Point is an initiative of several insurers each of whom has an equal share in control and 
holding in the capital. As decisions must be taken unanimously before they can be carried out, 
Aegon Nederland believes that significant influence can be exercised over Meetingpoint B.V. 
 
Joint ventures 
 
 

• AMVEST Vastgoed B.V., Utrecht (50%), property management and real estate 
• AMVEST Residential Core Fund I en II, (49,43%), real estate 
• AMVEST Residential Dynamic Fund, (50%), real estate 
• AMVEST Living & Care Fund (50%), real estate 

 
AMVEST Vastgoed B.V. is the fund manager of the funds. 
 
The other major participant in the joint venture, Stichting Pensioenfonds Zorg en Welzijn in Zeist, 
has equal interests in the entities mentioned above.  
 

43.3. Investments in investment funds 
 
 
The principal general account investments in investment funds (Aegon funds) are: 
 

• Pelargos Asia Alpha Fund  
• Pelargos Japan Alpha Fund  
• Aegon Private Equity Fund  
• AEAM Money Market Euro Fund 

 
43.4. Investments in structured entities 

 
 
The following structured entities are group companies and have been consolidated. The 
structures entities relate to the securitization of mortgage loans. The contractual agreements 
with these entities do not include provisions in which Aegon Nederland could be required to 
provide financial support in certain circumstances. Aegon Nederland has not provided, nor has 
intentions to provide, financial or other support without having a contractual obligation to do so.  
 

• SAECURE 7 B.V. 
• SAECURE 8 NHG B.V. 
• SAECURE 9 B.V. 
• SAECURE 10 B.V. 
• SAECURE 11 B.V. 
• SAECURE 12 B.V. 
• SAECURE 13 NHG B.V. 
• SAECURE 14 B.V. 
• SAECURE 15 B.V. 
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44. Related party transactions 
 
 
 
Entities in the Aegon N.V. group carry out a range of transactions with each other. The main ones 
are described below. 
 
Aegon Nederland administers the payroll for employees working for Aegon N.V. in the 
Netherlands. The total employee benefits recharged were EUR 51 million (2013: EUR 51 million). 
Aegon Nederland also charged EUR 5 million of expenses to Aegon N.V. for the use of the Aegon 
office in The Hague and for human resource support (2013: EUR 5 million). Aegon Nederland has 
paid EUR 5 million to its subsidiary Aegon Levensverzekering for the rental of the Aegon offices in 
The Hague (2013: EUR 5 million). In the consolidated income statement, the rental income of 
Aegon Levensverzekering is recognized in note 28 ‘Investment income’ whilst the rent paid by 
Aegon Nederland is included in note 34 ‘Commissions and expenses’. 
 
At the end of the year, Aegon Nederland had a current account payable with Aegon N.V. of 
EUR 50 million (2013: receivable of EUR 14 million), see note 13 ‘Other assets and receivables’. 
At the end of 2014, Aegon Nederland had intercompany loans with group companies of 
EUR 2.583 million (2013: EUR 2.841 million), see note 22.2 ‘Intercompany loans’ for further 
information. In 2014, EUR 5 million (2013: EUR 3 million) of interest on the intercompany current 
account was charged through the income statement. 
 
Investment and derivative activities are undertaken through Aegon Investment Management B.V. 
and securities custody through Aegon Custody B.V. Costs are recharged on normal commercial 
terms. The recharge was EUR 40 million (2013: EUR 42 million). 
 
Through Aegon Levensverzekering, Aegon Nederland has lent bonds to Aegon N.V. The market 
value of the bonds was EUR 30 million at year end 2014 (2013: EUR 140 million). Collateral was 
received in cash. 
 
In 2014, Aegon N.V. recharged Aegon Nederland EUR 12 million in overheads and program 
expenses (2013: EUR 18 million). In turn, Aegon Nederland recharged these expenses to its 
group companies.  
 
Aegon N.V. charged Aegon Nederland EUR 1 million (2013: EUR 1 million) for corporate 
insurances related to Director and Officers Liability and Fraud.  
 
In January 2013, Aegon Levensverzekering entered into an indemnity swap with an external 
pension fund. With this swap Aegon Levensverzekering took over the longevity risk of this 
pension fund by paying benefits as long as the participants live and receive fixed payments from 
the external pension fund. The longevity risk of this contract is fully reinsured by Blue Square Re, 
a 100% owned subsidiary of Aegon N.V. The premium income of this contract amounts to EUR 
0.4 million annually and the contract has a maximum duration of 40 years. 
 
In December 2013, Aegon Levensverzekering entered into a longevity reinsurance contract with 
Blue Square Re. The contract reinsures a specified portfolio of insurance contracts against 
possible future mortality improvements. The size of the underlying portfolio is EUR 1.2 billion. 
Blue Square Re will pay benefits as long as the participants live and receive fixed payments from 
Aegon Levensverzekering. EUR 64 million is recognized as deferred cost of reinsurance with 
regard to this reinsurance contract, which will be amortized over the duration of the underlying 
insurance contracts. 
 
Employees of Aegon Nederland, including key management personnel, may make use of 
financing and insurance facilities at prices available to agents. The benefit to the employees is 
equivalent to the margin made by agents. The conditions for these products are the same for key 
management personnel and other staff. 
 



Annual report 2014 
Aegon Nederland N.V. 

Page 181 of 199 
 

Aegon Nederland participates in the treasury and derivative valuation services of Aegon N.V. The 
interest rate swaps that Aegon Nederland uses to mitigate interest rate risk are concluded with 
Aegon Derivatives N.V. Aegon Nederland has received cash collateral on derivative positions via 
Aegon Derivatives N.V, see also note 26 ‘Other liabilities and accruals.’ 
 
Aegon Nederland is a member of the Aegon N.V. tax group and settles its current tax liabilities 
with the head of the tax grouping as if it were an autonomous taxpayer. Aegon Nederland is 
jointly and severally liable for all tax liabilities of the entire Aegon N.V. tax group. It also uses the 
tax expertise of Aegon N.V. 
 
Until 2008 Aegon N.V. granted the employees of Aegon Nederland options and share appreciation 
rights (SAR) as disclosed in note 34 ‘Commissions and expenses’. Since 2010, the Executive 
Board and ‘Identified Staff’ have been granted long-term incentive plans. The remuneration of 
the Executive Board is disclosed in note 34 ‘Commissions and expenses’. 
 
Aegon Nederland did not pay dividend to Aegon N.V. in 2014 (2013: EUR 500 million).  
 
 
 
 
 

45. Events after the balance sheet date 
 
 
 
Aegon and BPVH – a foundation representing Dutch harbor workers and employers – reached an 
agreement in April 2014 to jointly file a request with a Dutch court to remove the restrictions on 
the capital of the harbor workers’ former pension fund Optas. Upon the court granting this 
request, Aegon would, amongst others 

1. make a payment of EUR 80 million to BPVH;  
2. over the coming years Aegon will contribute up to EUR 20 million to help mitigate the 

effect of an announced reduction in the tax-free pension allowance in the Netherlands. 
This agreement ends a dispute, that began when the Optas pension fund was transformed into an 
insurance company, that was subsequently acquired by Aegon in 2007.  
The court granted this request on January 13th 2015. Accordingly, Aegon recognized a provision 
of EUR 95 million at December 31, 2014 covering the agreed compensation as referred to above. 
As per the agreement announced on April 14 2014, Aegon Nederland (the parent company) made 
a payment of € 80 million to BPVH, as well as offering harbor workers more favorable pension 
conditions. 
 
There were no other events after the balance sheet date that give further information on the 
situation pertaining on the reporting date. 
 
  

http://www.aegon.com/en/Home/Investors/News-presentations/Press-Releases/2014/harbor-workers-pension-capital/
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Report of the Executive Board 
See page 6 of the annual report for the Report of the Executive Board. 
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Statement of financial position 
 
(before profit appropriation) 
 
 
     Note 31-12-

2014 
 31-12-

2013 
 1-1-2013 

           
Amounts in EUR million           
           
Assets           
           
Investments     3 2.266  1.848  2.011 
Shares in group companies     4 8.244  7.262  7.739 
Investments in associates     5 -  -  1 
Long-term loans to group companies 6 607  600  600 
Deferred tax assets     13 35  11  120 
Other assets and receivables     7 692  489  342 
Cash and cash equivalents     8 218  309  206 
           
Total assets      12.062  10.519  11.019 
           
           
Equity and liabilities           
           
Equity     9      
- Share capital      24  24  24 
- Share premium      645  645  631 
- Revaluation reserves      2.368  552  1.331 
- Other legal reserves      298  245  238 
- Remeasurement of defined benefit plans      -706  -216  -303 
- Retained earnings      1.951  1.595  1.686 
- Net income / (loss)      487  404  406 
Total equity      5.067  3.249  4.013 
           
           
Long-term borrowings from group companies     10 850  850  850 
Provisions     11 96  6  23 
Defined benefit liabilities 12 2.820  2.161  2.235 
Deferred tax liabilities 13 94  33  183 
Other liabilities and accruals     14 3.135  4.219  3.715 
Total liabilities      6.995  7.270  7.006 
           
Total equity and liabilities      12.062  10.519  11.019 
 
Amounts for December 31, 2013 and January 1, 2013 have been restated for the changes in 
accounting policies as disclosed in note 2 of the Notes to the financial statements. 
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Income statement 
 
 
 
      2014  2013 
Amounts in EUR million         
         
Net income / (loss) group companies      373  574 
Other income / (loss) after tax      114  -170 
         
Net income / (loss)      487  404 
 
Amounts for the year 2013 have been restated for the changes in accounting policies as disclosed 
in note 2 of the Notes to the financial statements.  
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Notes to the financial statements 
 

1. General information 
 
 
 
Aegon Nederland N.V., incorporated and domiciled in the Netherlands, is a limited liability 
company organized under Dutch law and recorded in the Commercial Register of The Hague 
under its registered address at Aegonplein 50, 2591 TV The Hague. Aegon Nederland N.V. is a 
100% subsidiary of Aegon N.V. in The Hague, which is the ultimate parent of the group. 
 
Aegon Nederland N.V. and its subsidiaries are active in life insurance and pensions operations, 
savings and investment products, asset management operations, accident and health insurance, 
general insurance, banking operations, mortgages, pension administration and intermediary 
activities.  
 

2. Summary of significant accounting policies 
 

2.1. Basis of preparation 
 
 
The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with accounting principles in the 
Netherlands as embodied in Part 9 of Book 2 of the Netherlands Civil Code. Based on article 
2:362.8 of the Netherlands Civil Code, the valuation principles applied are based on International 
Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) as adopted by the European Union (EU), as used for the 
preparation of the consolidated financial statements of Aegon Nederland. 
 
With regard to the income statement of Aegon Nederland, article 402, Part 9 of Book 2 of the 
Netherlands Civil Code has been applied, allowing a simplified format. 
 
For the accounting policies we refer to the accounting policies set out in note 2 of the 
consolidated financial statements. These also apply to the separate financial statements unless 
stated otherwise. 
 

2.2. Changes in presentation 
There were no changes in presentation during the year.  
 

2.3. Group companies 
 
 
The group companies are stated at their net asset value, determined on the basis of IFRS as 
applied in the consolidated financial statements of the Group. For details on the accounting 
policies applied for the group companies refer to the consolidated financial statements. 
 

2.4. Equity 
 
 
In addition to the notes in the consolidated financial statements it is reported that revaluation 
reserves include legal reserves in respect of group companies. Net increases in net asset value of 
the subsidiaries are accounted for in the revaluation reserves since their first inclusion, less any 
amounts that can be distributed without legal restrictions. 
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3. Investments 
 
 
     2014  2013 
        
        
Available for sale debt securities     1.373  1.214 
Loans (amortized cost)     305  341 
Investments in mutual funds other financial assets     341  293 
Investments in real estate     247  - 
Total investments     2.266  1.848 
        
Current     361  319 
Non-current     1.905  1.529 
Total     2.266  1.848 
 
 
2014  Debt Mortgage Private Investments Other Total 
  securities loans loans in real estate financial  
      assets  
        
At January 1  1.214 163 178 - 293 1.848 
Acquisitions  230 - 1 254 31 516 
Disposals  -385 -9 -28 - -28 -450 
Revaluation  317   -7 45 355 
Amortized  -3     -3 
(Reversal of) 
impairments 

       

Realized in the income 
statement 

       

At December 31  1.373 154 151 247 341 2.266 
        
        
2013  Debt Mortgage Private Investments Other Total 
  securities loans loans in real estate financial  
      assets  
        
At January 1  1.379 170 176 - 286 2.011 
Acquisitions  279 1 7 - 97 384 
Sales  -337 -8 -5 - -92 -442 
Revaluation  -102 - - - 2 -100 
Amortized  -5 - - - - -5 
Realized in the income 
statement 

 - - - - - - 

        
At December 31  1.214 163 178 - 293 1.848 
 
 
 
The company has insured it's pension obligation with Aegon Levensverzekeringen N.V.. The 
investments represent the investments related to the defined benefit plan of Aegon Nederland 
N.V. held in the separated accounts of Aegon Levensverzekeringen N.V. 
 
The investments relate to the defined benefit plan of Aegon Nederland. The category ‘other 
financial assets’ comprise investments in mutual funds. 
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4. Group companies 
 
 
     2014  2013 
        
At January 1     7.262  7.739 
Capital contributions and acquisitions     15  124 
Divestments and liquidations     -  - 
Net income / (loss) for the financial year     373  574 
Dividends received     -995  -500 
Revaluations     1.589  -675 
Other     -  - 
At December 31     8.244  7.262 
 
 
 
Description main events 2014 

• A capital contribution of EUR 10 million for the strengthening of the capital of Aegon PPI 
BV took place during 2014. 

• A capital contribution of EUR 0,1 million for the strengthening of the capital of Aegon 
bedrijfsfinanciering BV took place during 2014. 

• A capital contribution of EUR 5 million the strengthening of the capital for the 
strengthening of the capital of Aegon Innovation Investments BV took place during 2014. 

• Dividend has been received to the amount of EUR 5,5 million from TKP Pensioen BV in 
the beginning of 2014. 

• Dividend has been received to the amount of EUR 989 million from Aegon Global 
Investment Fund BV halfway the year of 2014. 

 
 
Refer to note 44 ‘Related party transactions’ for information on dividends received. For a list of 
names and locations of the most important shares in group companies, refer to note 43 ‘Group 
companies’ of the consolidated financial statements. The legally required list of participations as 
set forth in article 379 of Book 2 of the Netherlands Civil Code has been registered with the 
Commercial Register of The Hague. 
 

5. Investments in associates 
 
 
 
This item is considered to be non-current and relates to the investment in Meetingpoint B.V. for 
16,7%. The investment in EAH Holding B.V. was sold in 2013. 
 

6. Long-term loans to group companies 
 
     2014  2013 
        
At January 1     600  600 
Repayments     7  - 
At December 31     607  600 
 
 
 
This item relates entirely to the subordinated loan Aegon Levensverzekering received in 2007 
from Aegon Nederland. This loan was originally EUR 850 million and has an indefinite duration; 
the term of notice is five year. The subordination is to other creditors. The interest rate is 6%. In 
September 2010 EUR 250 million was repaid after approval of DNB. 
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7. Other assets and receivables 
 
     2014  2013 
        
Equipment     48  52 
Income tax receivable     6  - 
Receivables     6  24 
Accrued income     67  80 
Receivables from group entities     -  150 
Current account with Aegon N.V.     -  14 
Other     565  169 
     692  489 
        
Current     127  320 
Non-current     565  169 
Total     692  489 
 
In the category 'Other' in the other assets and receivables an amount of EUR EUR 565 
million (2013: EUR 169 million) represents the value of the contract with Aegon 
Levensverzekeringen for the pension plan, that exceeds the value of the investments (as 
disclosed in note 3 ‘Investments’) and the cash depots (as included in note 8 ‘Cash and 
cash equivalents’) attributed to the contract. The other assets and receivables have a 
maturity of less than one year. 
 

8. Cash and cash equivalents 
 
The cash items include an amount of EUR 222 million (2013: EUR 236 million) of cash 
held in the segregated accounts at Aegon Levensverzekeringen that is related to the 
pension plan of Aegon Nederland. 
 
The remaining cash items are not subject to restrictions. 
 

9. Equity 
 
     2014  2013 
        
Share capital     24  24 
Share premium     645  645 
Remeasurement of defined benefit plans     -706  -216 
Revaluation reserves     2.368  552 
Other legal reserves     298  245 
Retained earnings     1.951  1.595 
Net income / (loss)     487  404 
At December 31     5.067  3.249 
 
Amounts for the year 2013 have been restated for the changes in accounting policies as disclosed 
in note 2 of the Notes to the financial statements. 
 
The voluntary changes in accounting policies, as mentioned in Note 2 of the notes to the financial 
statements, had a negative net impact on equity of EUR 927 thousand as per 1-1-2013 and a 
positive impact on the 2013 result (after tax) of EUR 98 million. This is restated in the 
comparable figures. 
 
 
 
The revaluation reserves for available-for-sale financial assets comprise unrealized gains and 
losses on these investments, net of tax. Upon sale of available-for-sale securities, the realized 
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result is recognized through the income statement. In the event of impairments, the unrealized 
loss is recognized through the income statement.  
 
As at December 31, 2014 the Optas Pensioenen had a deficiency in the liability adequacy test of 
EUR 175 million (2013: EUR 146 million). The resulting additions to the insurance contract 
liabilities was partly set off against the revaluation reserve by applying shadow accounting. In 
2013 (EUR 62 million) and 2014 (EUR 147 million) the available revaluation reserves were 
completely used to offset part of the deficit in the liability adequacy tests. 
  
For more information see note 2.12.5 “shadow accounting” and note 13 “insurance contracts”. 
 
 
 
Optas Pensioenen N.V. holds statutory reserves of EUR 1.050 million (2013: EUR 997 million), 
which are restricted. The financial statements of Aegon Nederland include an other legal reserve 
of EUR 297 million related to the accumulated increase in the statutory reserve of Optas 
Pensioenen N.V. since Optas N.V. and its subsidiaries were acquired (2013: EUR 245 million). On 
January 13th 2015, the court granted the request to release the restriction. 
 
 
 
Included in the revaluation reserves is EUR 4 million (2013: EUR 4 million) relating to the 
revaluation of the equity investments of Aegon Schadeverzekering where it participates because 
of its insurance activities. These entities are not listed on an equity market. 
 
Refer to note 0 ‘Equity’ of the consolidated financial statements for more information on equity. 
 

9.1. Share capital 
 
 
 
        2014  2013 
           
Authorized share capital        50  50 
Not issued        26  26 
        24  24 
 
 
 
The authorized share capital is EUR 50 million, divided into 100.000 shares of EUR 500 nominal 
value each, of which 47.194 shares have been issued and fully paid. There have been no changes 
since the previous financial year. In 2014, Aegon Nederland paid no dividend to Aegon N.V. (In 
2013: EUR 500 million dividend, EUR 10.595 per share).  
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9.2. Statement of changes in equity 
 
2014 Share 

capital 

Share 

premium 

Remeasuremen

t of defined 

benefit plans 

Revaluation 

reserves 

Other 

legal 

reserves 

Retained 

earnings 

Net 

income / 

(loss) 

Total 

         
At January 1 24 645 -216 552 245 1.595 404 3.249 
         
Net income 
2013 retained 

     404 -404 - 

Net income 
2014 

      487 487 

Total net 
income / 
(loss) 

- - - - - 404 83 487 

         
Changes 
revaluation 
subsidiaries 

   1.589    1.589 

Changes 
revaluation 
reserves 

   227    227 

Transfers legal 
reserves 

    53 -53  - 

Remeasuremen
t of defined 
benefit plans 

  -490     -490 

Other      5  5 
Other 
comprensive 
income / 
(loss) 

- - -490 1.816 53 -48 - 1.331 

         
Capital 
contribution 

       - 

Dividend 
common shares 

       - 

Equity 
changes from 
relation with 
shareholder 

- - - - - - - - 

         
At December 
31 

24 645 -706 2.368 298 1.951 487 5.067 
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2013 Share 

capital 

Share 

premium 

Remeasureme

nt of defined 

benefit plans 

Revaluatio

n reserves 

Other legal 

reserves 

Retained 

earnings 

Net 

income / 

(loss) 

Total 

         
At January 1 24 631 -303 1.331 238 1.686 406 4.013 
         
Net income 
2012 retained 

-   - - 406 -406 - 

Net income 
2013 

- -  - - - 404 404 

Total net 
income / 
(loss) 

- - - - - 406 -2 404 

         
Changes 
revaluation 
subsidiaries 

- - - -675 - - - -675 

Changes 
revaluation 
reserves 

- - - -104 - - - -104 

Transfers legal 
reserves 

- - - - 7 -7 - - 

Remeasurement 
of defined 
benefit plans 

- - 87 - - - - 87 

Other - - - - - 10 - 10 
Other 
comprensive 
income / 
(loss) 

- - 87 -779 7 3 - -682 

         
Capital 
contribution 

 14      14 

Dividend 
common shares 

- - - - - -500 - -500 

Equity 
changes from 
relation with 
shareholder 

- 14 - - - -500 - -486 

         
At December 
31 

24 645 -216 552 245 1.595 404 3.249 

 
10. Long-term loans from group companies 

 
 
 
Optas Pensioenen gave Aegon Nederland a loan of EUR 850 million in 2007 with an interest rate 
of 6% and an indefinite maturity. Loans of group companies are considered to be non-current. 
There have been no repayments in 2014 and 2013. 
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11. Provisions 
 
 
2014     Restructuring Other Total 
     provision provisions 2014 
        
At January 1 6 - 6 
Additions charged to earnings 1 95 96 
Used during the year -6  -6 
At December 31 1 95 96 
2013     Restructuring Other Total 
     provision provisions 2013 
        
At January 1 23 - 23 
Additions charged to earnings 3 - 3 
Used during the year -20 - -20 
At December 31 6 - 6 
        
     2014  2013 
        
Current     83  6 
Non-current     13  - 
At December 31     96  6 
 

12. Defined benefit liabilities 
 

Refer to note 24 of the consolidated financial statements for information on the defined benefit 
liabilities. 
 

13. Deferred tax 
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2014 Real Financial Insurance Deferred Defined Other Total 
 Estate assets contracts expenses, benefit  2014 
    intang. assets plan   
        
At January 1 - 21 - - -11 12 22 
Charged to 
income 
statement 

-2 -3 -  -22 7 -20 

Charged to 
equity 

 57     57 

At 
December 
31 

-2 75 - - -33 19 59 

        
Deferred tax 
assets 

-2 - - - -33 - -35 

Deferred tax 
liabilities 

- 75 - - - 19 94 

        
        
2013 Real Financial Insurance Deferred Defined Other Total 
 Estate assets contracts expenses, benefit  2013 
    intang. assets plan   
        
At January 1 - 83 81 3 -120 16 63 
Charged to 
income 
statement 

- -19 -81 -3 109 -4 2 

Charged to 
equity 

- -43 - - - - -43 

At 
December 
31 

- 21 - - -11 12 22 

        
Deferred tax 
assets 

- - - - -11 - -11 

Deferred tax 
liabilities 

- 21 - - - 12 33 

 
14. Other liabilities and accruals 

 
 
     2014  2013 
        
Current account with Aegon N.V.     50  - 
Current account with other group companies     2.909  4.104 
Income tax payable     -  11 
Other liabilities     176  104 
     3.135  4.219 
        
Current     3.128  4.214 
Non-current     7  5 
Total     3.135  4.219 
 
The other liabilities have a maturity of less than one year. 
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15. Remuneration Executive and Supervisory Board 
 
Refer to note 0 of the consolidated financial statements for information on the remuneration of 
the Executive and Supervisory Board. 
 

16. Remuneration Independent Auditor 
 
Refer to note 0 of the consolidated financial statements for information on the remuneration of 
the independent Auditor. 
 

17. Employees 
 
Refer to note 0 of the consolidated financial statements for information on the number of 
employees. 
 

18. Related party transactions 
 
 
 
The following transactions among the Aegon Nederland Group entities are of significance from 
the perspective of the separate financial statements of Aegon Nederland. 
 
Aegon Nederland has a current account facility with the subsidiaries of the Aegon Nederland 
group. At year end, the amount of EUR 3 billion (2013: EUR 4 billion) was drawn upon this 
facility. The interest paid on this facility amounts to EUR 110 million (2013: EUR 111 million). 
Optas Pensioenen, a subsidiary of Aegon Levensverzekering,  granted a loan of EUR 850 million 
to Aegon Nederland in 2007 for an indefinite period at an interest rate of 6% and a term of notice 
of one month. The accrued interest on the intercompany loan at December 31, 2014 was EUR 51 
million (2013: EUR 51 million).  
 
In 2007 Aegon Levensverzekering received a subordinated loan from Aegon Nederland of EUR 
600 million for an indefinite period. The loan has a term of notice of five year. The subordination 
is to other creditors. The interest rate is 6%. The accrued interest on the intercompany loan at 
December 31, 2014 was EUR 36 million (2013: EUR 36 million). 
 
Aegon Nederland provides its group companies with staff and facilities at cost. All intra-group 
transactions are accounted for through the current account with group companies (in the 
separate financial statements). The total recharge was EUR 283 million (2013: EUR 282 million). 
 
In 2014, Aegon N.V. recharged Aegon Nederland EUR 12 million in overheads and program 
expenses (2013: EUR 18 million). In turn, Aegon Nederland recharged these expenses to its 
group companies.  
 
Aegon Nederland has a defined benefit pension plan for its employees which is administered by 
Aegon Levensverzekering. The premium paid by Aegon Levensverzekering was EUR 41 million 
(2013: EUR 50 million). 
 
 
 
 
Refer to note 44 of the consolidated financial statements for more information on the related 
party transactions. 
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19. Commitments and contingencies 
 
Refer to note 40 of the consolidated financial statements for more information on commitment 
and contingencies. 
 

20. Events after the balance sheet date 
 
 
 
 
Aegon and BPVH – a foundation representing Dutch harbor workers and employers – reached an 
agreement in April 2014 to jointly file a request with a Dutch court to remove the restrictions on 
the capital of the harbor workers’ former pension fund Optas. Upon the court granting this 
request, Aegon would, amongst others 

3. make a payment of EUR 80 million to BPVH;  
4. over the coming years Aegon will contribute up to EUR 20 million to help mitigate the 

effect of an announced reduction in the tax-free pension allowance in the Netherlands. 
This agreement ends a dispute, that began when the Optas pension fund was transformed into an 
insurance company, that was subsequently acquired by Aegon in 2007.  
The court granted this request on January 13th 2015. Accordingly, Aegon recognized a provision 
of EUR 95 million at December 31, 2014 covering the agreed compensation as referred to above. 
As per the agreement announced on April 14 2014, Aegon Nederland (the parent company) made 
a payment of € 80 million to BPVH, as well as offering harbor workers more favorable pension 
conditions. 
 
There were no other events after the balance sheet date that give further information on the 
situation pertaining on the reporting date. 
 
  

http://www.aegon.com/en/Home/Investors/News-presentations/Press-Releases/2014/harbor-workers-pension-capital/
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Other information 
 
Statutory provisions regarding profit appropriation 
 
 
 
Appropriation of profit will be determined in accordance with article 28 of the Articles of 
Association of Aegon Nederland N.V. The relevant provisions read as follows: 
 

1. The profit made in a financial year shall be at the disposal of the Annual General 
Meeting. 

2. Distribution of profit shall take place after adoption of the financial statements which 
show this to be permissible. 

3. The Annual General Meeting may resolve to make interim distributions and/or 
distributions charged to a reserve of the company. 

4. Distributions on shares may only take place up to the amount of the distributable 
equity. 

5. A shareholder’ claim to a distribution on shares shall lapse after a period of five 
years. 

 
Proposal for profit appropriation 
 
 
 
A proposal will be put to the General Meeting of Shareholders to appropriate the result for the 
financial year as follows: 
 
Addition to the retained earnings   487   _______ 
Net result   487 
 
This proposal has not yet been incorporated in the financial statements. 
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1006 BJ Amsterdam, The Netherlands 
T: +31 (0) 88 792 00 20, F: +31 (0) 88 792 96 40, www.pwc.nl 
  

‘PwC’ is the brand under which PricewaterhouseCoopers Accountants N.V. (Chamber of Commerce 34180285), PricewaterhouseCoopers Belastingadviseurs N.V. (Chamber 
of Commerce 34180284), PricewaterhouseCoopers Advisory N.V. (Chamber of Commerce 34180287), PricewaterhouseCoopers Compliance Services B.V. (Chamber of 
Commerce 51414406), PricewaterhouseCoopers Pensions, Actuarial & Insurance Services B.V. (Chamber of Commerce 54226368), PricewaterhouseCoopers B.V. (Chamber 
of Commerce 34180289) and other companies operate and provide services. These services are governed by General Terms and Conditions (‘algemene voorwaarden’), which 
include provisions regarding our liability. Purchases by these companies are governed by General Terms and Conditions of Purchase (‘algemene inkoopvoorwaarden’). At 
www.pwc.nl more detailed information on these companies is available, including these General Terms and Conditions and the General Terms and Conditions of Purchase, 
which have also been filed at the Amsterdam Chamber of Commerce. 

Independent auditor’s report 

To: The annual general meeting of shareholders and supervisory board of Aegon Nederland N.V.  

  

  
Report on the financial statements 2014 
    
Our opinion 
In our opinion: 
• the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view of the financial position of                               

Aegon Nederland N.V. and its subsidiaries (‘the Group’) as at 31 December 2014 and of its result 
and cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting 
Standards as adopted by the European Union (EU-IFRS) and with Part 9 of Book 2 of the Dutch 
Civil Code; 

• the stand-alone financial statements give a true and fair view of the financial position of                                  
Aegon Nederland N.V. as at 31 December 2014 and of its results for the year then ended in 
accordance with Part 9 of Book 2 of the Dutch Civil Code. 

 
What we have audited 
We have audited the accompanying 2014 financial statements of Aegon Nederland N.V. (‘the 
Company’) based in The Hague. The financial statements include the consolidated financial 
statements and the stand-alone financial statements of the Company.  

The consolidated financial statements comprise: 
• the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 December 2014; 
• the consolidated income statement, the consolidated statement of comprehensive income, the 

consolidated statement of changes in equity and the consolidated cash flow statement for the 
year then ended; and  

• the notes, comprising a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory 
information. 
 

The stand-alone financial statements comprise: 
• the statement of financial position as at 31 December 2014; 
• the income statement for the year then ended; and 
• the notes, comprising a summary of the accounting policies and other explanatory information. 

The financial reporting framework that has been applied in the preparation of the financial statements 
is EU-IFRS and the relevant provisions of Part 9 of Book 2 of the Dutch Civil Code for the consolidated 
financial statements and Part 9 of Book 2 of the Dutch Civil Code for the stand-alone financial 
statements. 
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The basis for our opinion 
We conducted our audit in accordance with Dutch law, including the Dutch Standards on Auditing.                  
Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the “Our responsibilities for the 
audit of the financial statements” section of our report. 

We are independent of the Company in accordance with the “Verordening inzake de onafhankelijkheid 
van accountants bij assurance-opdrachten” (ViO) and other relevant independence regulations in the 
Netherlands. Furthermore we have complied with the “Verordening gedrags- en beroepsregels 
accountants” (VGBA) and other relevant regulations. 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis 
for our opinion. 

  
Our audit approach 
Overview 
We designed our audit by determining materiality and assessing the risks of material misstatement in 
the financial statements. In particular, we looked at where management made subjective 
judgements, for example in respect of significant accounting estimates such as assets and liabilities 
arising from insurance contracts and the fair value of certain assets and liabilities that involved 
making assumptions and considering future events that are inherently uncertain. As in all of our 
audits, we also addressed the risk of management override of internal controls, including evaluating 
whether there was evidence of bias by the directors that may represent a risk of material 
misstatement due to fraud. Furthermore, we addressed information technology general controls 
(‘ITGCs’) that are the policies and procedures used by the Company to ensure information technology 
(‘IT’) operates as intended and provides reliable data for financial reporting purposes.  … 

   

 
Materiality 

• Overall materiality is set at €54 million.  
We utilise quantitative and qualitative measures and performed a 
stakeholder analysis that includes the perspective of the parent 
company, policy holders creditors and regulators for assessing 
suitable benchmarks and thresholds for determining overall 
materiality.  

Audit scope 
• we conducted audit work in all significant business operations 

within the Aegon Nederland N.V. group structure; 
• we as a group engagement team have audited all regulated 

banking and insurance entities within the Aegon Nederland 
group. 

Key audit matters 
The following were key audit matters:  

• valuation of insurance contracts and insurance contracts for 
account of policyholders including the design and application of 
complex valuation models and the economic and actuarial 
assumptions that support the calculation; 

• fair value of ‘hard to value’ investments; 
• uncertainty in policyholder claims and litigation; 
• transition as auditors including audit of opening balances; 
• changes in accounting policies. 

 

http://searchdatacenter.techtarget.com/definition/IT
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Materiality 
The scope of our audit is influenced by our application of materiality. Our audit opinion aims on 
providing reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free from material 
misstatement. Misstatements may arise due to fraud or error. They are considered to be material if, 
individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic 
decisions of users taken on the basis of the financial statements. 

We established certain quantitative thresholds for materiality. These, together with qualitative 
considerations, helped us to determine the scope of our audit and the nature, timing and extent of 
our audit procedures and to evaluate the effect of identified misstatements on our opinion.  

Based on our professional judgement, we determined materiality for the financial statements as a 
whole as follows:  

Overall group materiality €54 million 
How we determined it At the planning phase of our audit we performed a 

stakeholder analysis that identifies suitable 
benchmarks and thresholds for determining overall 
materiality for the statutory financial statements. 

Our evaluation of overall materiality has been based 
on applying 2% of equity, less revaluation reserves. 
This resulted in an overall materiality of approximately 
€54 million. 

The materiality allocated to the company as agreed 
with its parent company, Aegon N.V. is €54 million.  
 

Rationale for benchmark 
applied 

Capital e.g. Solvency is the key measurement for 
policy holders, creditors and regulators. Accordingly, 
we use a percentage of the Company’s equity, less 
revaluation reserves as a quantitative benchmark. 
The allocated materiality to the company agreed with 
its parent company Aegon N.V. reflects its 
shareholders perspective on the financial performance 
of the company’s operations, is based on profit before 
tax and is also used for group reporting purposes.   

  

During the course of our audit we continuously reassess the appropriateness of the materiality levels, 
based on factors such as the financial performance of the Company, organizational changes and other 
changing risk factors, ongoing risk assessments, key audit findings and/or adjustments.  

We also take misstatements and or possible misstatements into account that, in our judgement, are 
material for qualitative reasons. For example, certain items, such as related party transactions, 
management remuneration disclosures and going concern disclosures are subject to lower materiality 
levels when planning and executing our audit procedures as they are of particular interest to the 
reader of the financial statements and may otherwise not be subject to audit procedures in the 
context of the group as a whole.  

We agreed with the audit committee of the supervisory board that we would report to them 
misstatements identified during our audit above €2,7 million as well as misstatements below that 
amount that, in our view, warrant reporting for qualitative reasons. 
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The scope of our group audit 
Aegon Nederland N.V. is the parent of a group of entities. The financial information of this group is 
included in the consolidated financial statements of Aegon Nederland N.V. The Group is structured 
predominantly along business lines led by separate management teams which report to the                      
executive board of Aegon Nederland N.V.   

Considering our ultimate responsibility for the opinion we are responsible for the direction, 
supervision and performance of the Group audit. In this context, we tailored the scope of our audit to 
ensure that we performed sufficient work to be able to issue an opinion on the financial statements as 
a whole, taking into account the operational structure of the group, the significance and/or risk profile 
of components or activities, the accounting processes and controls, and the industry in which the 
group operates. Also, we ensured that the audit team included the right skills and competencies 
which are needed for the audit of a diverse financial institution. Accordingly, our audit team included 
industry expertise in life and non-life insurance, banking and asset management, as well as 
specialists including actuaries, IT auditors, treasury, tax, and valuation specialists.  

The group’s accounting process is structured around a centralized finance function that supports the 
individual insurance and banking operations within the Aegon Nederland Group, called business lines. 
The finance function maintains all accounting records and controls and reports to senior management 
and the parent company through an integrated consolidation and reporting system. In establishing 
the overall approach to the group audit, we determined the type of work that needed to be performed 
at each of the business lines units by our audit team. 

In our view, due to their significance and/or risk characteristics, all regulated banking and insurance 
entities within the Aegon Nederland group as disclosed in note 43 of the consolidated financial 
statements, required a full scope audit of their financial information. Specific audit procedures on 
certain balances and transactions were also performed in relation to other components to ensure we 
obtained appropriate coverage across all account balances. For all group companies the group 
engagement team performed that work.  

We make use of other audit firms for certain assets or operations which are managed by parties not 
fully controlled by Aegon Nederland. This relates for example to the company’s holdings in real estate 
managed by Amvest Vastgoed. We determine the level of involvement we need to have in the audit 
work for those assets and operations to be able to conclude whether sufficient appropriate audit 
evidence has been obtained as a basis for our opinion on the company’s financial statements as a 
whole. 

By performing the procedures above we have obtained sufficient and appropriate audit evidence 
regarding the financial information of the group to provide a basis for our opinion on the consolidated 
financial statements. 

Key audit matters 
Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most significance in 
the audit of the financial statements. We have communicated the key audit matters to the 
supervisory board, but they are not a comprehensive reflection of all matters that were identified by 
our audit and that we discussed. We described the key audit matters and included a summary of the 
audit procedures we performed on those matters. 

The key audit matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the financial statements as a 
whole, and in forming our opinion thereon. We do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.  
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Key audit matter   How our audit addressed the matter       
Valuation of insurance contracts and 
insurance contracts for account of 
policyholders including the design 
and application of complex valuation 
models and the economic and 
actuarial assumptions that support 
the calculation 
Refer to Note 2.17 ‘Summary of 
significant accounting policies-insurance 
contracts’, Note 16 ‘Insurance contracts’ 
and Note 17 ‘Insurance contracts for 
account of policyholders’. 
The Company has significant insurance 
contract liabilities stated at €60 billion at         
31 December 2014 representing 55% of 
the Company’s total liabilities, which 
mostly relates to Life and Pension 
products. This is an area that involves 
significant judgement over uncertain 
future outcomes, including primarily the 
timing and ultimate full settlement of 
long term policyholder liabilities.     
Consistent with the insurance industry,                    
the Company uses valuation models to 
support the calculations of the insurance 
contract liabilities. The complexity of the 
models may give rise to errors as a result 
of inadequate/incomplete data or the 
design or application of the models.   
Economic assumptions such as 
investment return and interest rates and 
actuarial assumptions such as mortality, 
morbidity and customer behaviour are 
key inputs used to estimate these long-
term liabilities. Significant judgement is 
applied in setting these assumptions.    

           During 2014, the Company continued a                  
multi-year review of their actuarial 
models focusing first on those considered 
high risk. This model update in 
combination with the Company’s actuarial 
and economic assumptions update 
resulted in certain charges being 
recorded for the year as explained in 
Note 3 ‘Critical accounting estimates and 
judgment in applying accounting policies’.   

  We used our own actuarial specialists to 
assist us in performing our audit 
procedures.  
In particular, our audit focused on the 
models considered more complex and/or 
requiring significant judgement in the 
setting of assumptions such as the 
corporate pension guarantees.   
We assessed the design and tested the 
operating effectiveness of internal controls 
over the actuarial process including 
management’s determination and approval 
process for setting of economic and 
actuarial assumptions.                             
We assessed the Company’s validation of 
certain models considered higher risk by 
the Company as a result of complexity 
and/or magnitude. We also assessed and 
tested the internal controls over the 
Company’s actuarial analyses including 
estimated versus actual results and 
experience studies.  
We assessed the experience analyses 
performed by the Company in their 
assumption setting processes. Our 
assessments included challenging, as 
necessary, specified economic and 
actuarial assumptions considering 
management’s rationale for the actuarial 
judgments applied along with comparison 
to applicable industry experiences. 
We considered the appropriateness of 
actuarial  judgements used in the models, 
which may vary depending on the product 
and/or the specifications of the product,  
and also the compliance of the models with 
the applicable accounting standards.  
Furthermore we performed audit 
procedures to determine the models and 
systems were calculating the insurance 
contracts liabilities accurately and 
completely.    
We tested  the validity of management’s 
liability adequacy testing which is a key 
test performed to check that the liabilities 
as well as the recovery of the balances for 
deferred acquisition costs and value of 
business acquired are adequate as 
compared to the expected future 
contractual obligations. Our work on the 
liability adequacy tests included assessing 
the reasonableness of the projected cash 
flows and challenging the assumptions 
adopted in the context of both the 
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Key audit matter   How our audit addressed the matter       
Company and industry experience and 
specific product features. 
We also assessed the adequacy of the 
disclosures.  

Fair value of ‘hard to value’ 
investments  
Refer to Note 2.6 ‘Summary of significant 
accounting policies-investments’ and Note 
39 ‘Fair value of assets and liabilities’’. 
The Company’s investment portfolio 
including net  derivative assets totalling 
EUR 80 billion represents 69% of the 
Company’s total assets.  Quoted prices 
from liquid market sources can be 
obtained for a large portion of the 
portfolio. 
The area that involved significant audit 
effort and judgement was the valuation 
of illiquid instruments, which are valued 
based on models and assumptions that 
are not observable by third parties. These 
instruments are generally considered 
model based level II and level III 
investments as included in Note 39 ‘Fair 
value of assets and liabilities’. Our 
procedures considered both the positions 
that are presented at fair value on the 
balance sheet and those positions carried 
at amortized cost on the balance sheet, 
but for which fair value is required to be 
disclosed.   
The risk was not uniform for all 
investment types and was considered 
greatest for derivatives, direct and 
indirect investments in real estate, 
mortgage loans, asset backed securities; 
hedge funds, private equity funds and 
other alternative investments; and 
unlisted equity and debt securities.   

       We used our internal valuation specialists 
to assist us in performing our audit 
procedures. 
We assessed the design and tested the 
operating effectiveness of internal controls 
over the investments’ process including 
management’s determination and approval 
of assumptions and methodologies used in 
model-based calculations, controls over 
data integrity and change management for 
internally operated valuation models and 
management’s review of valuations 
provided by external experts or data 
vendors. 
We assessed pricing model methodologies 
against industry practice and valuation 
guidelines. 
We performed our own independent price 
checks using external quotes where 
available for illiquid positions. 
We compared assumptions used against 
appropriate benchmarks and pricing 
sources, investigated significant differences 
and performed our own independent 
valuations where applicable. 
We evaluated the cash flow and other 
relevant testing performed by the 
Company in order to identify any 
impairment in relation to investments. 
We also assessed whether the disclosures 
in the consolidated financial statements in 
relation to valuation of investments are 
compliant with the relevant accounting 
requirements. 

We also assessed whether the Company’s 
disclosures in the consolidated financial 
statements in relation to the valuation of 
investments are compliant with the 
relevant accounting requirements. 

Uncertainties in policyholder claims 
and litigation 
Refer to Note 40 ‘Commitments and 
contingencies’. 
The insurance industry is seeing 
increasing consumer activism and 
regulatory scrutiny over product design 
and selling practices.  
The Company has encountered claims and 

          We gained an understanding of the 
policyholders’ claims and litigations though 
discussions with management including 
general legal counsel, review of minutes of 
board meetings and by reviewing the 
accounts for legal expenses.   

        We have read the internal position papers 
prepared by the Company.  We also 
obtained lawyers’ letters to the extent 
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Key audit matter   How our audit addressed the matter       
litigations in this respect.  Depending on 
the actual legal position and expectations 
from management, claims, including 
litigation related, are either provided for 
as a liability or reflected as contingent 
liabilities in the notes to the financial 
statements. The Company uses external 
legal experts where applicable to evaluate 
its legal positions.  

considered necessary for our audit.  For all 
(potentially) material claims we tested the 
underlying facts and circumstances 
considered relevant for the legal advisors 
to come to their assessments and assessed 
the best estimate of outflows as 
determined by the Company.  We also 
assessed the completeness and adequacy 
of the related disclosures. 
We also assessed the completeness and 
adequacy of the related disclosures to 
determine they were in accordance with 
EU-IFRS.  

Transition as auditors including audit 
of opening balances 
Initial audit engagements involve a 
number of considerations not associated 
with recurring audits. Additional planning 
activities and considerations necessary to 
establish an appropriate audit strategy 
and audit plan include:  

• gaining an initial understanding of the 
Company and its business including its 
control environment and information 
systems, sufficient to make audit risk 
assessments and develop the audit 
strategy and plan; 

• obtaining sufficient appropriate audit 
evidence regarding the opening 
balances including the selection and 
application of accounting principles; 
and 

• communicating with the previous 
auditors. 

  

  Prior to becoming the Company’s auditors 
in 2014, we developed a comprehensive 
transition plan starting in August 2013 to 
understand the connection between the 
Company’s strategy, the related business 
risks and the way this impacts the 
Company’s financial reporting and internal 
controls framework. Our transition plan 
included amongst others: 

• close interaction with the previous 
auditor, including a process of file 
reviews and formal hand over 
procedures as prescribed by our 
professional standards; 

• active knowledge sharing with the 
Finance, Risk and Internal Audit 
functions to understand their 
perspectives on the business, 
(emerging) risks and key findings from 
their work; 

• attendance of formal clearance 
meetings with senior management and 
the Audit Committee during the Q3 
2013 and Q4 2013 quarterly and year-
end financial closing and reporting 
process; 

• evaluation of key accounting positions 
and audit matters from prior years. 
Review of management’s control 
documentation to assist in obtaining an 
understanding of the Company’s 
financial reporting and business 
processes; 

• introduction meetings with the Dutch 
Central Bank as the key regulator of the 
Company’s insurance and banking 
operations. 

We discussed and agreed our audit plan 
with the Company’s Audit Committee in 
May 2014 and we reported status, progress 
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Key audit matter   How our audit addressed the matter       
and key findings from our audit process on 
a quarterly basis.  

Changes in accounting policies 
As of 1 January 2014, the Company has 
amended its policy to account for 
longevity risk and deferral of policy 
acquisition costs as referred to in Note 
2.1.2 to the consolidated financial 
statements.  

 

 For these changes, we have audited 
whether IAS 8 has been applied 
appropriately and adequately and have 
concluded that these items are correctly 
classified as change in accounting policies.  
 

       The retrospective application of these 
accounting changes have been audited by 
the preceding auditor as part of their 2013 
audit and were covered by our file review 
procedures as part of our audit transition.  
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Responsibilities of the executive board and the supervisory board 
The executive board is responsible for: 
• the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in accordance with EU-IFRS and 

with Part 9 of Book 2 of the Dutch Civil Code; 
• the preparation of the executive board’s report in accordance with Part 9 of Book 2 of the                                 

Dutch Civil Code; 
• such internal control as the executive board determines is necessary to enable the preparation of 

financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 
 

As part of the preparation of the financial statements, the executive board  is responsible for 
assessing the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern. Based on the financial reporting 
frameworks mentioned, the executive board  should prepare the financial statements using the going 
concern basis of accounting unless the executive board either intends to liquidate the Company or to 
cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so. The executive board should disclose 
events and circumstances that may cast significant doubt on the Company’s ability to continue as a 
going concern in the financial statements.  
 
The supervisory board is responsible for overseeing the Company’s financial reporting process. 

 
  

Our responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements 
Our responsibility is to plan and perform an audit engagement to obtain sufficient and appropriate 
audit evidence to provide a basis for our opinion. Our audit has been performed with a high but not 
absolute level of assurance which makes it possible that we did not detect all errors and frauds. 
Therefore our opinion provides reasonable assurance. 

A more detailed description of our responsibilities is set out in the appendix to our report. 
 
  
Report on other legal and regulatory requirements 
  
Our report on the executive board’s report and the other information 
Pursuant to the legal requirements of Part 9 of Book 2 of the Dutch Civil Code (concerning our 
obligation to report about the executive board’s report and other information): 
• we have no deficiencies to report as a result of our examination whether the executive board’s 

report, to the extent we can assess, has been prepared in accordance with Part 9 of Book 2 of 
this Code, and whether the information as required by Part 9 of Book 2 of the Dutch Civil Code 
has been annexed; 

• we report that the executive board’s report, to the extent we can assess, is consistent with the 
financial statements. 
 

  
Our appointment 
We were appointed as auditors of Aegon Nederland N.V. and its subsidiaries by the supervisory board 
following the passing of a resolution by the shareholders of its parent company to elect PwC as group 
auditor of Aegon N.V. at the annual meeting held on 15 May 2013. The audit 2014 was our first year’s 
audit. 

Amsterdam, 21 April 2015 
PricewaterhouseCoopers Accountants N.V.  

Original has been signed by E.L. Rondhout RA 
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Appendix to our auditor’s report on the financial statements 2014 of Aegon Nederland N.V. 
  
In addition to what is included in our auditor’s report we have further set out in this appendix our 
responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements and explained what an audit involves. 

The auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements 
We have exercised professional judgment and have maintained professional scepticism throughout 
the audit in accordance with Dutch Standards on Auditing, ethical requirements and independence 
requirements. Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial 
statements as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. Our audit 
consisted, among others of: 
• identifying and assessing the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether 

due to fraud or error, designing and performing audit procedures responsive to those risks, and 
obtaining audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The 
risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting 
from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or 
the intentional override of internal control; 

• obtaining an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit 
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an 
opinion on the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control; 

• evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting 
estimates and related disclosures made by the executive board; 

• concluding on the appropriateness of the executive board’s use of the going concern basis of 
accounting, and based on the audit evidence obtained, concluding whether a material uncertainty 
exists related to events and/or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Company’s 
ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are 
required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the financial 
statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are 
based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report and are made in the 
context of our opinion on the financial statements as a whole. However, future events or 
conditions may cause the Company to cease to continue as a going concern; 

• evaluating the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including 
the disclosures, and evaluating whether the financial statements represent the underlying 
transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation. 

We communicate with the audit committee of the supervisory board regarding, among other matters, 
the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant 
deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit.  

We provide the audit committee of the supervisory board with a statement that we have complied 
with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence, and to communicate with them all 
relationships and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and 
where applicable, related safeguards.  

From the matters communicated with the audit committee of the supervisory board, we determine 
those matters that were of most significance in the audit of the financial statements of the current 
period and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report 
unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare 
circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report because the 
adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest 
benefits of doing so. A precondition is that the Company has not publicly disclosed information about 
the matter. 
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